
Federal Subsistence Board 
Meeting Materials

January 22–24, 2013

2011 USFWS Alaska Fish Photo Contest entry submitted by A. R. Nanouk. 



Table of Contents
Page

Agenda 1
FP13-16 4
FP13-18/23 14
FP13-24 37
FP13-19 57
FP11-18 78
FP13-20 92
FP13-21 102
Yukon-Northern Area Maps 107
FP13-01 110
FP13-03 124
FP13-06/07/08 142
FP13-09/10 165
FP13-11 176
FP11-08 206
FP13-13 232
FP13-14 255
FP13-15 270
FP13-17 285
FP13-22 299
FP09-05 310
FP13-02 336
FP13-12 344



DRAFT
FEDERAL SUBSISTENCE BOARD

PUBLIC MEETING AGENDA 
January 22– 24, 2013

8:30 a.m.– 5:00 p.m. Daily
Anchorage, Alaska

1. Call to Order and Introductions

2. Corrections/Additions to the Agenda

3. Information Sharing

4. Board Discussion of Council Topics with Regional Advisory Council Chairs or their Designees

5. Public Comment Period on Non-Agenda Items (This opportunity is available at the beginning of 
each day)

6. Fisheries Resource Monitoring Plan Call for Proposals

7. Budget Briefi ng

8. Memorandum of Understanding Update

9. Kootznoowoo, Inc. Extraterritorial Jurisdiction Petition Update

10. Rural/Nonrural Review Update 

11. Tribal Consultation Implementation Update

12. Report to the Board on Fiscal Year 2012 Tribal Consultations

13. Tribal Consultation: Fisheries Regulatory Proposals and Other Issues. (Representatives of 
Tribes may consult with the Board in person or by teleconference starting at 1:00 p.m., January 22)

14. Public Comment Period on Consensus Agenda Items (This opportunity is available at the 
beginning of each day)

15. 2012–2014 Subparts C&D Proposals (Fisheries Regulations)
a. Announcement of Consensus Agenda (see detailed agenda that follows)
b. Board deliberation and action on Non-Consensus Agenda items (see detailed agenda that 

follows)
c. Adoption of Consensus Agenda

16. Schedule of Next Federal Subsistence Board Meetings

a.  Work session (MOU)

b.  Public meeting

17. Other Business

18. Adjourn

Note: The meeting will be held daily from 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. or until the Board calls a recess for 
the day, or completes its work. To participate by teleconference, dial 1-888-455-5897, the passcode 
is 3344290. Listen-only access to the meeting will be provided through internet streaming. The link to 
the internet stream will be posted to the Federal Subsistence Management Program’s website (http://
alaska.fws.gov/asm/board.cfml) approximately one week prior to the meeting. Updates on the Board’s 
progress through the agenda can be obtained on the internet stream or by calling 1-800-478-1456, or in 
Anchorage at 786-3888.

1Federal Subsistence Board Meeting



FEDERAL SUBSISTENCE BOARD
NON-CONSENSUS AGENDA PROPOSALS

Procedure for considering proposals:
1. Analysis (Lead author)
2. Summary of written public comments (Regional Advisory Council Coordinator)
3. Open fl oor to public testimony
4. Regional Advisory Council recommendation (Chair or designee)
5. Alaska Department of Fish and Game comments (State Liaison)
6. Interagency Staff Committee comments (ISC Chair)
7. Board discussion with Council Chairs and State Liaison
8. Federal Subsistence Board action

Proposal Description Species Page
Yakutat/Southeast
FP13-16 Eliminate fi sh marking requirements Salmon 4
FP13-18 Revise drainage harvest limits Steelhead 14
FP13-23 Reduce Klawock River harvest limits Steelhead 14
FP13-24 Restrict designated fi shers on Klawock River All species 37
FP13-19 Revise Stikine River harvest limits Sockeye 57
FP11-18 Close specifi c areas to eulachon harvest Eulachon 78
FP13-20 Establish harvest limits, methods and means Eulachon 92
FP13-21 Establish 35 lb annual limit per person Eulachon 102
Yukon
FP13-01 Rescind  Federal permit requirement Chinook 110
FP13-03 Revise harvest limit Pike 124
FP13-06 Revise customary trade regulations Chinook 142
FP13-07 Revise customary trade regulations Chinook 142
FP13-08 Revise customary trade regulations All fi sh 142
FP13-09 Prioritize use Chinook 165
FP13-10 Prioritize use Chinook 165
FP13-11 Defi ne “signifi cant commercial enterprise” Chinook 176
FP11-08 Deferred—prohibit customary trade Chinook 206
Chignik
FP13-13 Open closed areas Salmon 232
Kodiak
FP13-14 Revise pot size limitations Crab 255
Cook Inlet
FP13-15 Ninilchik fi sh wheel All fi sh 270

2 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting



FEDERAL SUBSISTENCE BOARD
CONSENSUS AGENDA PROPOSALS

The following proposals have been included on the consensus agenda. These are proposals for which 
there is agreement among Federal Subsistence Regional Advisory Councils, the Federal Interagency Staff 
Committee, and the Alaska Department of Fish and Game concerning Board action. Anyone may request 
that the Board remove a proposal from the consensus agenda and place it on the regular agenda. The 
Board retains fi nal authority for removal of proposals from the consensus agenda. The Board will take 
fi nal action on the consensus agenda after deliberation and decisions on all other proposals.

Proposal Description Species Recommendation Page
Yakutat/Southeast
FP13-17 Eliminate fi sh marking requirements Salmon Oppose 285
FP13-22 Eliminate harvest limits for Kake residents Salmon Oppose 299
FP09-05 Close Federal public waters of Makhnati 

Island
Herring Oppose 310

Yukon
FP13-02 Revise marking requirements Chinook Support 336
Chignik
FP13-12 Revise methods and means Chinook Oppose 344

3Federal Subsistence Board Meeting



4 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-16

FP13-16 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-16 requests elimination of all requirements to remove 

fins to identify subsistence caught salmon in the Southeastern and 
Yakutat Areas. Submitted by Mike Jackson of the Organized Village of 
Kake

Proposed Regulation §___.27(e)(13)(x) You shall immediately remove both lobes of the 
caudal (tail) fin of all salmon when taken.

§_.27(e)(12)(ix)You must remove both lobes of the caudal (tail) fin 
from subsistence-caught salmon when taken.

OSM Conclusion Support

Southeast Regional Council 
Recommendation

Support Proposal FP13-16 with modification to rescind the 
requirement for the Southeastern Alaska Area but retain the 
requirement for Yakutat Area. 

The proposed regulation would read:

§___.27(e)(13)(x) You shall immediately remove both lobes of 
the caudal (tail) fin of all salmon when taken.

§_.27(e)(12)(ix)You must remove both lobes of the caudal 
(tail) fin from subsistence-caught salmon when taken.

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendation and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal. The Interagency 
Staff Committee noted that, if adopted, this proposal will result in a 
divergence between Federal and State regulation, and may increase 
regulatory complexity in the area.

ADF&G Comments Oppose

Written Public Comments 1 Support



5Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-16

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-16

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-16, submitted by Mike Jackson of the Organized Village of Kake, requests elimination 
of all requirements to remove fins to identify subsistence caught salmon in the Southeastern and Yakutat 
Areas.

DISCUSSION

The proponent believes that removing fins from subsistence caught salmon interferes with traditional 
means of handling, processing, and preserving fish and is an unnecessary burden on subsistence users and 
that the effectiveness of the requirement is outweighed by the lawful use of subsistence caught salmon 
and the immediate need to fin clip every single salmon that is caught. Marking fish imposes a burden on 
subsistence users that is not imposed on sport and commercial fishermen.

The proponent states that residents of Kake have limited access to commercial buyers. (Jackson 2012. 
pers. comm.) In the Southeastern Area, the subsistence limits are so low it is not economically viable to 
sell a catch that has cost someone gas and personal time to process (Littlefield 2012, pers. comm.). The 
proponent of this proposal contends that Federally qualified subsistence users are burdened with a non-
traditional and disrespectful mutilation of their food. (Jackson 2012, pers. comm.).

Existing Federal Regulation

For the Southeastern Alaska Area:

§___.27(e)(13)(x) You shall immediately remove both lobes of the caudal (tail) fin of all salmon 
when taken.

For the Yakutat Area:

§_.27(e)(12)(ix)You must remove both lobes of the caudal (tail) fin from subsistence-caught 
salmon when taken.

Proposed Federal Regulation

§___.27(e)(13)(x) You shall immediately remove both lobes of the caudal (tail) fin of all salmon 
when taken.

§_.27(e)(12)(ix)You must remove both lobes of the caudal (tail) fin from subsistence-caught 
salmon when taken.

Existing State Regulation

5 AAC 01.690 and 5AAC 01.740 Subsistence fishermen must remove the dorsal fin from 
subsistence-caught salmon when taken. 

State regulation makes it unlawful to buy or sell subsistence taken fish [5AAC 01.010 (d)]. 



6 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-16

Extent of Federal Public Waters

For purposes of this discussion, the phrase “Federal public waters” is defined as those waters described 
under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR 100.3. 

This regulation, if adopted, would apply to all Federal public waters in the Southeastern Alaska Area 
between a line projecting southwest from the westernmost tip of Cape Fairweather and Dixon Entrance. 

The regulation would also apply to all Federal public waters in the Yakutat Area, between Cape Suckling 
and Cape Fairweather. Bureau of Land Management lands in these area allow subsistence fishing only on 
non-navigable waters. Subsistence uses are not permitted in the following National Park Service lands: 
Glacier Bay National Park, Klondike Gold Rush National Historical Park and Sitka National Historical 
Park. 

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

All salmon customary and traditional use determinations for the Southeastern Alaska and Yakutat areas 
apply (See Appendix A).

Regulatory History

Fin clipping regulations were adopted by the Federal Subsistence Board (Board) from State subsistence 
regulations in the fall of 1998. The fin clipping requirement for the Southeastern Alaska and Yakutat 
Areas were changed from the dorsal fin to the pelvic fin when Federal subsistence fisheries regulations 
were published in 2000. In 2006, proposal FP06-26 was submitted by John Littlefield requesting the 
elimination of fin clipping requirements in the Southeastern Alaska and Yakutat Areas. The Southeast 
Alaska Regional Advisory Council (Council) supported the elimination of fin clipping requirements. 
However, the Board during its deliberations during its 2006 public meeting adopted a modification to 
require clipping of both lobes of the caudal fin instead of the pelvic fin since testimony from the Council 
chairman that the pelvic fins were important in processing salmon in the Southeastern Alaska and Yakutat 
areas. (FSB 2006).

Federal subsistence fishing regulations require the removal of fins of subsistence taken salmon in Districts 
1, 2, and 3 of the Yukon River Area, Kenai Peninsula, Bristol Bay and Upper Copper Areas. 

Effects of the Proposal

If this proposal is adopted, it would have no effect on State salmon subsistence marking requirements. 
Most salmon harvested for subsistence purposes in the Southeastern Alaska and Yakutat Areas are 
harvested under State permits in State jurisdiction. 

The reason for clipping fins of subsistence harvested salmon is to prevent those fish from entering 
the commercial marketplace. If the proposal is adopted, State and Federal regulations would further 
diverge in both the Southeastern Alaska and Yakutat areas. In the Yakutat Area, there are commercial 
and subsistence fisheries which occur simultaneously in the same area under state jurisdiction. In the 
Southeastern Alaska Area, State managed commercial and subsistence fisheries are geographically and 
temporally separated from Federal subsistence salmon fisheries. Commercial fish retailers and processors 
purchase salmon in the round and are aware that these fin-clipped fish cannot be commercially sold. 
In addition, salmon caught from Federal jurisdiction (freshwater) generally have low or no value to 
commercial buyers compared to salmon caught in State jurisdiction (marine waters). Forest Service law 



7Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-16

enforcement had received a complaint in the past from the public that subsistence caught fish that were 
not properly marked, as required by regulation, were entering commercial markets in the Yakutat Area. 
However, it was unclear whether the complaint stemmed from activities undertaken under Federal or 
State jurisdiction (FWS 2006, FSB 2006).

Forest Service law enforcement has found general compliance by subsistence users while enforcing the 
current regulation (FWS 2006). The proposal to rescind the marking requirement could hamper both State 
and Federal law enforcement efforts to control the unlawful sale of subsistence caught salmon into the 
commercial market (Bryden 2012, pers. comm.).

The concern of subsistence fish entering the commercial markets could be addressed by requiring sport 
and commercial users to mark fish. Although this option may be feasible for sport fishermen, it is not 
feasible for commercial fishermen with very large catches to mark fish, and marked fish are less desirable 
in the commercial markets. Shifting the marking burden to other fisheries is best addressed with a 
proposal to the Alaska Board of Fisheries. 

The Stikine River Federal subsistence salmon fishery would be affected by this proposal. Subsistence 
users would no longer be required to remove both lobes of the caudal fin of salmon when caught. 

OSM CONCLUSION

Support Proposal FP13-16.

Justification

Federal subsistence salmon fisheries in the Southeastern and Yakutat management areas are temporally 
and geographically separated from State managed commercial and subsistence fisheries. The marking 
requirement does seem burdensome and disrespectful to cultural life ways; and, that the Federal 
subsistence sockeye harvest limits in the Southeast Alaska Area are so low that it is not economically 
viable to sell a household limit of sockeye after the time and cost of harvesting them is considered, as the 
proponent contends. In addition, salmon caught in Federal jurisdiction (freshwater) generally are of low 
or no value when compared to salmon caught is State jurisdiction (marine waters)

LITERATURE CITED 

Bryden, J. 2012. Lead Law Enforcement Officer, Personal Communication, Chugach National Forest. AK.

FSB 2006 Transcripts of Federal Subsistence Board Proceedings January 10-13, 2006. Office of Subsistence 
Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK. .

FWS. 2006. Staff Analysis FP06-26. Pages 362-369 in Federal Subsistence Board Meeting Materials January 10-13, 
2006 Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK. 575 pages.

Jackson, M. 2012. Organized Village of Kake, Personal Communication , Kake , AK.

Littlefield, J. 2012. Sitka Tribe of Alaska. Personal Communication, Sitka, AK. 



8 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-16

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations
Area Species Determination

District 1
Section 1E in waters of the Naha 
River and Roosevelt Lagoon

Salmon, Dolly 
Varden, trout, 
smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents of the City of Saxman.

District 1
Section 1F in Boca de Quadra 
in waters of Sockeye Creek and 
Hugh Smith Lake within 500 
yards of the terminus of Sockeye 
Creek

Salmon, Dolly 
Varden, trout, 
smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents of the City of Saxman.

Districts 2, 3, and 5
And waters draining into those 
districts.

Salmon, Dolly 
Varden, trout, 
smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents living south of Sumner Strait and west of 
Clarence Strait and Kashevaroff Passage.

District 5
North of a line from Point Barrie 
to Boulder Point

Salmon, Dolly 
Varden, trout, 
smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents of the City of Kake and in Kupreanof Island 
drainages emptying into Keku Strait south of Point 
White and north of the Portage Bay boat harbor.

District 6 
And waters draining into that 
district

Salmon, Dolly 
Varden, trout, 
smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents living south of Sumner Strait and west of 
Clarence Strait and Kashevaroff Passage; residents of 
drainages fl owing into District 6 north of the latitude of 
Point Alexander (Mitkof Island); residents of drainages 
fl owing into Districts 7 & 8, including the communities 
of Petersburg & Wrangell; and residents of the 
communities of Meyers Chuck and Kake.

District 7
And waters draining into that 
district

Salmon, Dolly 
Varden, trout, 
smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents of drainages flowing into District 6 north of 
the latitude of Point Alexander (Mitkof Island); residents 
of drainages flowing into Districts 7 & 8, including the 
communities of Petersburg & Wrangell; and residents of 
the communities of Meyers Chuck and Kake.

District 8 
And waters draining into that 
district

Salmon, Dolly 
Varden, trout, 
smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents of drainages flowing into Districts 7&8, 
residents of drainages flowing into District 6 north of 
the latitude of Point Alexander (Mitkof Island), and 
residents of Meyers Chuck.

District 9
Section 9A 

Salmon, Dolly 
Varden, trout, 
smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents of the City of Kake and in Kupreanof Island 
drainages emptying into Keku Strait south of Point 
White and north of the Portage Bay boat harbor.

District 9
Section 9B north of the latitude 
of Swain Point

Salmon, Dolly 
Varden, trout, 
smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents of the City of Kake and in Kupreanof Island 
drainages emptying into Keku Strait south of Point 
White and north of the Portage Bay boat harbor.

District 10 West of a line from 
Pinta Point to False Point Pybus

Salmon, Dolly 
Varden, trout, 
smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents of the City of Kake and in Kupreanof Island 
drainages emptying into Keku Strait south of Point 
White and north of the Portage Bay boat harbor.

continued on next page

Appendix A



9Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-16

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations
Area Species Determination

District 12
Section 12A, the area south of a 
line from Fishery Point to South 
Passage Point

Salmon, Dolly 
Varden, trout, 
smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents of the City of Angoon and along the western 
shore of Admiralty Island north of the latitude of Sand 
Island, south of the latitude of Thayer Creek, and west of 
134°30’ West longitude, including Killisnoo Island.

District 12
Section 12A, excluding the area 
south of a line from Fishery 
Point to South Passage point

All fish  ● Residents of drainages fl owing into Districts 12 and 14.

District 12
Section 12B

All fi sh  ● Residents of drainages fl owing into Districts 12 and 14.

District 13
Section 13A south of the latitude 
of Cape Edward

Salmon, Dolly 
Varden, trout, 
smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents of the City and Borough of Sitka in drainages 
that empty into Section 13B, north of the latitude of 
Dorothy Narrows.

District 13
Section 13A, excluding the area 
south of the latitude of Cape 
Edward

All fish  ● Residents of drainages flowing into Sections 13A, 13B, 
and District 14.

District 13
Section 13B north of the latitude 
of Redfish Cape.

Salmon, Dolly 
Varden, trout, 
smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents of the City and Borough of Sitka in drainages 
that empty into Section 13B north of the latitude of 
Dorothy Narrows.

District 13
Section 13C

Salmon, Dolly 
Varden, trout, 
smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents of the City and Borough of Sitka in drainages 
that empty into Section 13B north of the latitude of 
Dorothy Narrows.

District 13
Section 13C east of the longitude 
of Point Elizabeth

Salmon, Dolly 
Varden, trout, 
smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents of the City of Angoon and along the western 
shore of Admiralty Island north of the latitude of Sand 
Island, south of the latitude of Thayer Creek, and west of 
134°30’ West longitude, including Killisnoo Island.

District 14 All fish  ● Residents of drainages flowing into Sections 12A, 13A, 
and District 14.

Remainder of the Southeastern 
Alaska Area

Dolly Varden, 
trout, smelt, and 
eulachon

 ● Residents of Southeastern Alaska and Yakutat Areas.

Salmon  ● All rural residents.

Appendix A (Continued)



10 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-16

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION

SOUTHEAST ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL 

Council Recommendation: Support Proposal FP13-16 with modification to rescind the requirement for 
the Southeastern Alaska Area but retain the requirement for Yakutat Area.

The proposed regulation would read:

§___.27(e)(13)(x) You shall immediately remove both lobes of the caudal (tail) fin of all salmon 
when taken.

§_.27(e)(12)(ix)You must remove both lobes of the caudal (tail) fin from subsistence-caught 
salmon when taken.

Justification: The Council recommended approving this proposal as modified because harvest practices 
in the Yakutat Area are much more closely tied to the commercial fishery than in the Southeast Alaska 
Area where the subsistence fisheries have little or no association with an ongoing commercial fishery.  
The Council made several relevant observations:

1) A salmon caught by a subsistence fisher has much more value to that person as food rather than 
the value it would have in the commercial market because of the time and effort expended to cap-
ture the fish.

2) Because these fish are taken in fresh water, there is little or no commercial value in the fish.  
Because of their condition, there would not be a problem with fish entering the commercial 
market even if there was a provision that allowed a person to sell the fish commercially.

3) Anyone selling fish to a commercial buyer must have a CFEC commercial fishing permit.  Failure 
to properly document the sale of a salmon has significant criminal and administrative conse-
quences to both the seller and buyer.

4) There is no provision to mark subsistence taken halibut and no requirement to mark sport taken 
salmon or halibut.

5) The Federal subsistence fishery is the smallest component of the total harvest and the one with 
the least opportunity to sell a fish commercially.

6) It is not customary to cut fins from a subsistence taken fish.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendation and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal. The Interagency Staff Committee noted that, if adopted, this 
proposal will result in a divergence between Federal and State regulation, and may increase regulatory 
complexity in the area.



11Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-16

ADF&G Comments on FP13-16 
Page 1 of 2 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-16:  Rescind marking requirements to remove both lobes of the caudal 
(tail) fin for subsistence-caught salmon when taken in Yakutat and Southeast Alaska areas.  
 
Introduction:  The Organized Village of Kake submitted this proposal to eliminate the 
regulations that require federally-taken subsistence-caught salmon in the Yakutat and Southeast 
Alaska areas to be marked by removing both lobes of the caudal (tail) fin when the fish is taken.   
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  If this proposal is adopted, federal subsistence users in the 
Yakutat and Southeast Alaska areas would not be required to mark their subsistence-caught 
salmon.  However, federally-qualified subsistence salmon users would put themselves at risk of 
receiving a citation if they catch salmon on state or private land and do not mark them as 
required by state regulation.  
 
The proponent maintains that requiring the immediate clipping of fins from subsistence-caught 
salmon when taken is not needed, is inconsistent with customary and traditional practices, and is 
an unfair and unnecessary burden on subsistence fishers.  The proponents question the 
effectiveness of the fin-clipping requirement and suggest that the lawful use of subsistence-
caught salmon far outweighs the burden subsistence fishers face when trying to immediately cut 
fins from each salmon taken.  In addition, they point out that there are already regulations 
prohibiting the commercial sale [§_  .27(c)(J3)(i)] and purchase [§_  .27(c)(13)(ii)] of 
subsistence-caught fish, the use of subsistence-caught fish for bait [§_  .27(c)(15)], and the 
possession of subsistence-taken and sport-taken salmon on the same day [§_  .27(i)(J2)(viii) and 
§_  .27(i)(13)(xi)]].  Proponents also state that it is unlikely that individuals would comply with 
this fin-clipping requirement if they were planning some unlawful use for their subsistence-
caught salmon.  This regulation is disliked because it is difficult to cut both lobes of the caudal 
fin from a live salmon immediately after they are taken.   
 
Proponents submitted this regulation change to simplify federal subsistence fishing regulations.  
The proposer reports that this fin-removal requirement has been a confusing and troublesome 
regulation for subsistence salmon users in the Yakutat and Southeast Alaska areas and the cause 
of needless enforcement citations in recent years. 
 
If this proposal is adopted, subsistence users could be detrimentally affected by unethical users 
who catch fish under the premise of subsistence uses only for resale, which would, in turn, 
remove those fish from subsistence uses. 
 
Impact on Other Users:  Without a marking requirement, commercial salmon buyers would be 
unable to differentiate between commercially-caught salmon and subsistence-caught salmon, and 
may inadvertently sell a subsistence resource.  The original intent of this fin-clipping regulation 
was to help minimize the commercial sale of subsistence-caught salmon and the mixing of 
subsistence-caught fish with fish from other fisheries.  Unregulated and unenforceable 
commercial sales from subsistence fisheries could potentially reduce the quantity of fish 
available for spawning escapement and/or for subsistence uses.   



12 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-16

ADF&G Comments on FP13-16 
Page 2 of 2 

Opportunity Provided by State:  Under state regulations, subsistence is the priority 
consumptive use and salmon may be harvested throughout most of the Yakutat and Southeast 
Alaska areas.  State subsistence fishing opportunity is directly linked to abundance and is not 
restricted unless run size is inadequate to meet escapement needs. 
 
Conservation Issues:  There are no stocks of concern in Southeast Alaska at this time.   
 
Enforcement Issues:  Without a marking requirement, enforcement officers would be unable to 
differentiate between commercially-caught salmon and subsistence-caught salmon, and may 
inadvertently allow for sale of subsistence-caught salmon to the commercial market without 
prosecution.  The original intent of this fin-clipping regulation was to help minimize commercial 
sale of subsistence-caught salmon and mixing of subsistence-caught fish with fish from other 
fisheries. 
 
State regulations require subsistence-taken salmon in the Yakutat (5 AAC 01.690) and Southeast 
Alaska (5 AAC 01.740) areas all be marked by immediate removal of the dorsal fin when taken.  
Passage of this proposal would put federal regulations in conflict with existing state regulations 
for marking of subsistence-taken salmon. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  The Federal Subsistence Board does not have the authority to regulate 
nonfederally-qualified users participating in fisheries on waters outside of federal subsistence 
jurisdiction.  While standing on state and private lands (including state-owned submerged lands), 
or when fishing on state-managed marine waters persons must comply with state law and cannot 
harvest under conflicting federal regulations.  Enforcement difficulties and user confusion -- 
concerning where and how federal regulations that are different than state regulations apply -- 
will result unless detailed maps and explanations specific to the area are provided. 
 
Other Issues:  On state or private lands or on state-managed marine waters where federal 
subsistence fisheries are not authorized to occur, the federal board does not have authority to 
supersede to state commercial and subsistence fisheries regulations unless a full closure is 
required for a conservation purpose within water of claimed federal jurisdiction. Proposed 
changes to state commercial and subsistence fisheries must be submitted to the Alaska Board of 
Fisheries.  
 
In 2005, the Southeast Regional Subsistence Advisory Council supported a similar proposal 
(FP06-26), but it was opposed by the Interagency Staff Committee and Federal Subsistence 
Board.  Federal staff opposed the proposal because the marking requirement is effective in 
preventing illegal sales of subsistence-caught fish.  Federal law enforcement has also received “a 
number of complaints from the public” that illegal sale of unmarked fish was occurring.  Passage 
of proposals FP06-26 and/or FP13-16 would make the situation worse. 
     
Recommendation:  Oppose. 
 
 
 
 



13Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-16

WRITTEN PUBLIC COMMENTS

Support. The Wrangell-St. Elias National Park Subsistence Resource Commission unanimously supports 
the proposal with the modification that it apply only to Southeast Alaska and not to the Yakutat area. 
In the Yakutat area, subsistence, sport and commercial harvests can all occur at the same time, and 
consequently a marking requirement is needed.



14 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

FP13-18/23 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-18 requests that household harvest limits be placed 

on individual streams within the Prince of Wales (POW)/Kosciusko 
Islands subsistence steelhead fisheries along with removing the 
overall harvest quotas for the fisheries. Proposal FP13-23, submitted 
by James See, requests that household harvest limits be placed on 
the Klawock River during the POW/Kosciusko Islands subsistence 
steelhead fisheries. Submitted by the Southeast Alaska Subsistence 
Regional Advisory Council

Proposed Regulation FP13-18

§___.27(i)(13) (xix) You may take steelhead trout on Prince of Wales 
and Kosciusko Islands in streams designated under the terms of 
Federal subsistence fishing permits. You must obtain a separate 
permit for the winter and spring seasons. 

A) The winter season is December 1 through the last day of February, 
with a harvest limit of two fish per household. However, only 1 
(one) steelhead may be harvested by a household from a particular 
drainage. You may use only a dip net, handline, spear, or rod and 
reel. The winter season may be closed when the harvest level cap 
of 100 steelhead for Prince of Wales/Kosciusko Islands has been 
reached. You must return your winter season permit within 15 days 
of the close of the season and before receiving another permit for 
a Prince of Wales/Kosciusko steelhead subsistence fishery. The 
permit conditions and systems to receive special protection will be 
determined by the local Federal fisheries manager in consultation 
with ADF&G. 

(B) The spring season is March 1 through May 31, with a harvest 
limit of five fish per household. However, only 2 (two) steelhead may 
be harvested by a household from a particular drainage. You may 
use only a dip net, handline, spear, or rod and reel. The spring season 
may be closed prior to May 31 if the harvest quota of 600 fish minus 
the number of steelhead harvested in the winter subsistence steelhead 
fishery is reached. You must return your spring season permit within 
15 days of the close of the season and before receiving another permit 
for a Prince of Wales/Kosciusko steelhead subsistence fishery. The 
permit conditions and systems to receive special protection will be 
determined by the local Federal fisheries manager in consultation 
with ADF&G. 

continued on next page



15Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

WP13-18/23 Executive Summary (continued)
FP13-23

§___.27(i)(13) (xix) You may take steelhead trout on Prince of Wales 
and Kosciusko Islands in streams designated under the terms of 
Federal subsistence fishing permits. You must obtain a separate 
permit for the winter and spring seasons. 

A) The winter season is December 1 through the last day of February, 
with a harvest limit of two fish per household. However, only 1 
(one) steelhead may be harvested by a household from the Klawock 
River. You may use only a dip net, handline, spear, or rod and reel. 
The winter season may be closed when the harvest level cap of 100 
steelhead for Prince of Wales/Kosciusko Islands has been reached. 
You must return your winter season permit within 15 days of the close 
of the season and before receiving another permit for a Prince of 
Wales/Kosciusko steelhead subsistence fishery. The permit conditions 
and systems to receive special protection will be determined by the 
local Federal fisheries manager in consultation with ADF&G. 

(B) The spring season is March 1 through May 31, with a harvest 
limit of five fish per household. However, only 2 (two) steelhead may 
be harvested by a household from the Klawock River. You may use 
only a dip net, handline, spear, or rod and reel. The spring season 
may be closed prior to May 31 if the harvest quota of 600 fish minus 
the number of steelhead harvested in the winter subsistence steelhead 
fishery is reached. You must return your spring season permit within 
15 days of the close of the season and before receiving another permit 
for a Prince of Wales/Kosciusko steelhead subsistence fishery. The 
permit conditions and systems to receive special protection will be 
determined by the local Federal fisheries manager in consultation 
with ADF&G.

OSM Conclusion Support Proposal FP13-18
Oppose Proposal FP13-23

Southeast Regional Council 
Recommendation

Support Proposal FP13-18
No action taken on Proposal FP13-23

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposals and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposals.

ADF&G Comments Neutral on Proposals FP13-18 and FP13-23

Written Public Comments None



16 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-18 and 23

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-18, submitted by the Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council (Council), 
requests that household harvest limits be placed on individual streams within the Prince of Wales (POW)/
Kosciusko Islands subsistence steelhead fisheries along with removing the overall harvest quotas for the 
fisheries. Proposal FP13-23, submitted by James See, requests that household harvest limits be placed on 
the Klawock River during the POW/Kosciusko Islands subsistence steelhead fisheries. 

DISCUSSION

The proponent of FP13-18 believes the proposal will address potential conservation issues where a single 
stream may be subject to high harvest rates. The proponent’s intent is provide additional conservation 
by preventing a person from taking their entire harvest limit from any one stream and then using the 
designated fishing permit system to take multiple limits from the same stream. The proponent also 
believes that the overall harvest quotas for the winter and spring fisheries could be removed with the 
proposed reduction in household harvest limits from a particular drainage.

The proponent of FP13-23 believes the proposal is necessary to provide for conservation of steelhead 
within the Klawock River and for the overall Federal subsistence fishery. The proponent wrote in his 
proposal, “To reduce steelhead subsistence limits, POW Island for winter and spring fishery on Klawock 
River/POW Island.” Clarification with the proponent on this statement revealed that although he is 
concerned with the Klawock River, he believed the proposal could benefit other POW drainages if the 
same type of regulation was in place by specific drainage. The proponent is supportive of subsistence 
fishing opportunity for steelhead and believes the proposal would provide for conservation while allowing 
for continued subsistence harvest opportunity on POW. Unlike the Council proposal, this proponent is not 
seeking to change the overall harvest quota.

Both proposals are a result of a situation that occurred during the 2011 winter subsistence steelhead 
fishery on the Klawock River. Steelhead harvests from POW drainages are managed for a ten percent 
harvest based on what is estimated to return to the system. Potential issues arose during the fishery due to 
the Federal designated fishing permit. The Federal designated fishing permit allows a Federally qualified 
subsistence user to fish for and harvest any species of fish on behalf of another Federally qualified user. 
The designated fisher may fish for any number of subsistence users, but may not have more than two 
harvest limits in their possession at any one time. Although the specific subsistence fishery permits are 
issued to households, the designated fishing permit is issued to individuals. Several individuals from the 
same household were noted harvesting multiple household harvest limits during the same day. Although 
harvesting up to two household possession limits within the same day is legal under the terms of the 
Federal designated fishing regulation, the potential to easily overharvest steelhead from drainages before 
Federal managers can act has now increased dramatically. The winter 2011 situation was discovered at 
the end of the fishery, which resulted in the Federal manager implementing Special Action 13-SH-02-12 
during the spring fishery. This action reduced the harvest limit and instituted a bait prohibition on the 
Klawock River to allow for continued subsistence opportunity while providing for conservation.



17Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

Existing Federal Regulation

§___.27(i)(13) (xix) You may take steelhead trout on Prince of Wales and Kosciusko Islands 
under the terms of Federal subsistence fishing permits. You must obtain a separate permit for the 
winter and spring seasons. 

(A) The winter season is December 1 through the last day of February, with a harvest limit of 
two fish per household. You may use only a dip net, handline, spear, or rod and reel. The winter 
season may be closed when the harvest level cap of 100 steelhead for Prince of Wales/Kosciusko 
Islands has been reached. You must return your winter season permit within 15 days of the close 
of the season and before receiving another permit for a Prince of Wales/Kosciusko steelhead 
subsistence fishery. The permit conditions and systems to receive special protection will be 
determined by the local Federal fisheries manager in consultation with ADF&G. 

(B) The spring season is March 1 through May 31, with a harvest limit of five fish per household. 
You may use only a dip net, handline, spear, or rod and reel. The spring season may be closed 
prior to May 31 if the harvest quota of 600 fish minus the number of steelhead harvested in 
the winter subsistence steelhead fishery is reached. You must return your spring season permit 
within 15 days of the close of the season and before receiving another permit for a Prince of 
Wales/Kosciusko steelhead subsistence fishery. The permit conditions and systems to receive 
special protection will be determined by the local Federal fisheries manager in consultation with 
ADF&G. 

Proposed Federal Regulation

FP13-18

§___.27(i)(13) (xix) You may take steelhead trout on Prince of Wales and Kosciusko Islands in 
streams designated under the terms of Federal subsistence fishing permits. You must obtain a 
separate permit for the winter and spring seasons. 

A) The winter season is December 1 through the last day of February, with a harvest limit of two 
fish per household. However, only 1 (one) steelhead may be harvested by a household from a 
particular drainage. You may use only a dip net, handline, spear, or rod and reel. The winter 
season may be closed when the harvest level cap of 100 steelhead for Prince of Wales/Kosciusko 
Islands has been reached. You must return your winter season permit within 15 days of the close 
of the season and before receiving another permit for a Prince of Wales/Kosciusko steelhead 
subsistence fishery. The permit conditions and systems to receive special protection will be 
determined by the local Federal fisheries manager in consultation with ADF&G. 

(B) The spring season is March 1 through May 31, with a harvest limit of five fish per household. 
However, only 2 (two) steelhead may be harvested by a household from a particular drainage. 
You may use only a dip net, handline, spear, or rod and reel. The spring season may be closed 
prior to May 31 if the harvest quota of 600 fish minus the number of steelhead harvested in 
the winter subsistence steelhead fishery is reached. You must return your spring season permit 
within 15 days of the close of the season and before receiving another permit for a Prince of 
Wales/Kosciusko steelhead subsistence fishery. The permit conditions and systems to receive 
special protection will be determined by the local Federal fisheries manager in consultation with 
ADF&G. 



18 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

FP13-23

§___.27(i)(13) (xix) You may take steelhead trout on Prince of Wales and Kosciusko Islands in 
streams designated under the terms of Federal subsistence fishing permits. You must obtain a 
separate permit for the winter and spring seasons. 

A) The winter season is December 1 through the last day of February, with a harvest limit of two 
fish per household. However, only 1 (one) steelhead may be harvested by a household from 
the Klawock River. You may use only a dip net, handline, spear, or rod and reel. The winter 
season may be closed when the harvest level cap of 100 steelhead for Prince of Wales/Kosciusko 
Islands has been reached. You must return your winter season permit within 15 days of the close 
of the season and before receiving another permit for a Prince of Wales/Kosciusko steelhead 
subsistence fishery. The permit conditions and systems to receive special protection will be 
determined by the local Federal fisheries manager in consultation with ADF&G. 

(B) The spring season is March 1 through May 31, with a harvest limit of five fish per household. 
However, only 2 (two) steelhead may be harvested by a household from the Klawock River. 
You may use only a dip net, handline, spear, or rod and reel. The spring season may be closed 
prior to May 31 if the harvest quota of 600 fish minus the number of steelhead harvested in 
the winter subsistence steelhead fishery is reached. You must return your spring season permit 
within 15 days of the close of the season and before receiving another permit for a Prince of 
Wales/Kosciusko steelhead subsistence fishery. The permit conditions and systems to receive 
special protection will be determined by the local Federal fisheries manager in consultation with 
ADF&G.

Existing State Regulations

Subsistence

5 AAC 01.730 (i) The department shall not issue a permit for the taking of steelhead trout, but 
steelhead trout taken incidentally by gear operated under the terms of a subsistence permit for 
salmon are legally taken and possessed for subsistence purposes. The holder of a subsistence 
salmon permit must report any steelhead trout taken in this manner on his or her permit calendar.

Sport Fishing

5 AAC 47.022 General provisions for seasons and bag, possession, annual, and size limits for the 
fresh waters of the Southeast Alaska Area.

(b) In the fresh waters east of the longitude of Cape Fairweather: 

(4) steelhead may be taken from January 1–December 31; Bag limit of 1 fish; Possession limit 
of two fish; must be 36 inches or greater in length; Annual limit of two fish; A harvest record is 
required as specified in 5AAC 47.024(C).

Extent of Federal Public Waters

For purposes of this discussion, the phrase “Federal public waters” is defined as those waters described 
under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR 100.3. They include waters within the exterior boundary of the Tongass 



19Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

National Forest in the Southeastern Alaska Area excluding marine waters. Federal waters involved are 
those of the Tongass National Forest, excluding marine waters, on POW (Map 1). 

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations

Residents living south of Sumner Strait and west of Clarence Strait and Kashevaroff Passage have 
a positive customary and traditional use determination for steelhead in Districts 2, 3, and 5 and 
waters draining into those districts. Residents living south of Sumner Strait and west of Clarence 
Strait and Kashevaroff Passage; residents of drainages flowing into District 6 north of the latitude of 
Point Alexander (Mitkof Island); residents of drainages flowing into Districts 7 and 8, including the 
communities of Petersburg and Wrangell; and residents of the communities of Meyers Chuck and Kake 
have a positive customary and traditional use determination for steelhead in District 6 and waters draining 
into that district.

Regulatory History

State Regulatory History

Although there are customary and traditional use determinations for steelhead in State subsistence 
regulations for portions of Districts 3B and 3C, and all of Districts 7 and 8 in Southeast Alaska, State 
regulations prohibit issuing subsistence permits for steelhead. However, steelhead taken incidentally 
under the terms of a subsistence permit for salmon may be legally retained. Permit holders are required to 
report any steelhead incidentally taken, but are not required to mark them by clipping fins. 

From 1978 through 1992, the sport fishing daily harvest and possession limit was one steelhead per 
day. During the 1993/94 regulatory cycle for Southeast Alaska, the Alaska Board of Fisheries modified 
sport and commercial fishing regulations. Region-wide sport fishing regulations were changed to allow 
a harvest of one fish per day and two fish per year, 36 inches or greater in length to reduce the harvest. 
However, the daily harvest limit was two fish if at least one has a clipped adipose fin, as evidenced by 
a healed scar. There was no size limit for steelhead with a clipped adipose fin. A clipped adipose fin 
identified a hatchery produced steelhead. The Alaska Board of Fisheries also prohibited the use of bait 
from Nov. 16–Sept. 14. Lastly, the sale of steelhead caught in commercial net fisheries was prohibited. 
In commercial purse seine and gillnet fisheries of Southeast Alaska, Commercial Fisheries Entry 
Commission permit holders may now retain steelhead for personal use, but not sell them. Steelhead 
caught in the commercial troll fishery (typically from July through September) may be sold. 

During the 2003 Alaska Board of Fisheries cycle, the region-wide sport regulation for steelhead was 
revised. The revision was a regulatory “housekeeping” action, submitted by ADF&G, to specify that the 
two fish daily harvest limit would only apply to the Klawock River and Ketchikan Creek: the only two 
locations where adipose clipped steelhead may be found.

In January 2006, the Alaska Board of Fisheries adopted a regulation (5AAC 33.395) that gave authority 
to the Commissioner of ADF&G to require steelhead harvested in the commercial salmon fisheries and 
retained for personal use to be reported on fish tickets. The intent of the regulation was to account for the 
harvest of all steelhead trout. The Commissioner has only implemented this requirement in the District 8 
Stikine Terminal Chinook fishery. 

In February 2009, the Alaska Board of Fisheries adopted proposal 291 prohibiting retention of steelhead 
in 21 fall run steelhead drainages across southeast Alaska. Of these 21 drainages, ten of the drainages are 
located within the Prince of Wales Island management area.



20 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

Proposal FP13-18 and 23
Map 1: Prince of Wales Island and communities



21Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

In February 2012, the Alaska Board of Fisheries adopted proposal 265 removing the regulation which 
allowed for the retention of adipose clipped steelhead taken in the Klawock River. The proposal was 
a housekeeping proposal submitted by ADF&G as the local fish hatchery had ceased production of 
steelhead in 2005.

Also in 2012, the Alaska Board of Fisheries adopted proposal 294 to rescind the commissioner’s authority 
to not account for steelhead taken in the commercial fisheries in southeast Alaska. As are result, a 
statewide provision to include steelhead retained in net fisheries will apply and steelhead taken in the net 
fisheries will now have to be reported on fish tickets.

Federal Regulatory History

Prior to the first Federal subsistence fishery for steelhead established in 2002, all steelhead harvest 
occurred under State of Alaska sport fish regulations or incidental to subsistence or commercial fisheries.

The Federal Subsistence Board (Board) adopted FP03-25 resulting in a Federal subsistence fishery for 
steelhead on Prince of Wales Island in 2002. The following year, the Board adopted FP04-33 to add 
Kosciusko Island to this fishery. This fishery has two seasons (Winter – Dec. 1–Feb. 28/29; Spring – 
Mar. 1–May 31) with separate seasonal harvest limits (Winter – 2 steelhead; Spring – 5 steelhead per 
household), permits (winter and spring), and special conditions identified by the in-season manager 
which are included on the permit. Legal methods and means include dip net, rod and reel, handline, and 
spear. The two fisheries may be closed when a harvest cap is reached (100 steelhead for winter season 
and 600 minus the winter harvest for the spring season). Harvest reports are due by March 15 for the 
winter fishery and by June 15 for the spring fishery, or within 15 days after harvest of a seasonal limit of 
steelhead.

Rather than implementing separate regulations by drainage in the fisheries, the Board directed that 
“permit conditions and systems to receive special protection will be determined by the local Federal 
fisheries manager in consultation with ADF&G.” This management authority to set permit conditions for 
conservation is delegated to local area fishery managers. Federal fisheries managers have implemented 
these regulations by applying stipulations to Federal subsistence fishing permits after consultation with 
ADF&G and local Council members. Since 2003, in the POW/Kosciusko subsistence steelhead fisheries, 
local Federal managers have applied special conditions to permits. Examples of special restrictions 
include: gear restrictions, no retention of steelhead, minimum size limits, and mandatory 24 hour 
reporting of harvest. 

In 2009, FP09-03 was submitted by ADF&G which addressed six items: use of bait, locations of 
allowable harvest, use of handlines in drainages where size restrictions applied, accumulation of Federal 
annual harvest limits with State sport harvest limits, mandatory fin clipping of subsistence taken 
steelhead, and possession of subsistence and sport caught steelhead on the same day. The Board opposed 
the proposal as the items of concern had either been considered previously through the Federal regulatory 
process or within permit stipulations through the consultation process as directed by the Federal 
Subsistence Board.

Biological Background

Steelhead are the anadromous form of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) and are known to return to 
74 drainages on POW. Peak numbers of steelhead occur in streams in late April and May. Fall and spring 
run fish generally spawn at the same time but residence time in streams is longer for fall run (freshwater 



22 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

maturing) fish. Spring run fish (ocean maturing) are most abundant in Southeast Alaska, but it is not 
uncommon for the same streams to contain a smaller number of fall run fish (Lohr and Bryant 1999). 

A three year steelhead assessment project (05-604), funded by the Fisheries Resource Monitoring 
Program, began in 2005 on POW. This was a joint Federal, State, and Tribal agency study. Investigators 
placed weirs on two streams each year. The goal was to study both a “small” (thought to contain <150 
adult steelhead) and a “large” (>150) population each year. Road access and identified harvest were 
factors in choosing the study sites. Although the original goal was six different drainages, weather and 
road conditions only allowed for five to be studied. One drainage was assessed twice. Weirs were placed 
in the Harris River and Big Ratz Creek during 2005, Cable Creek and Eagle Creek in 2006, and Natuzhini 
Creek and Big Ratz Creek during 2007. 

Steelhead were counted as they passed through the weirs. Length measurements were taken, gender 
recorded, scales collected for aging, and fish were marked with either a caudal clip or punch. Preliminary 
length data from this project suggests that 1.4 percent of the 1,229 steelhead sampled met the minimum 
sport size limit (Piazza 2008, pers. comm.). 

Data from these projects has been used to manage the POW fishery. For example, data from the 2005 
project was used to change the management of the Harris River steelhead fishery. The Harris River was 
thought to be a “large” system, but the weir count was lower than expected. Accordingly, in 2006, the 
Harris River was placed on the list of small, road accessible streams requiring extra protection measures. 
Big Ratz Creek, on the other hand, was originally thought to be a “small” system but weir counts 
indicated otherwise. This creek was removed from the list of small, road accessible streams with extra 
protection measures. 

Harvest History

Until creation of the Federal subsistence fisheries for steelhead, documentation of contemporary 
harvest of steelhead by POW residents was limited. Community household subsistence harvest surveys 
were conducted in 1997–98. During those years, estimated steelhead harvest across all twelve POW 
communities was 770 fish. Most of this harvest occurred in the largest communities of Craig, Klawock, 
and Hydaburg. Analysis of this community household survey data suggested that total harvest of steelhead 
from POW Federal public waters by Federally qualified users was approximately 600 fish (ADF&G 
2001). 

Turek (2005) provided an assessment of the contemporary use patterns and harvests for subsistence 
steelhead on POW through key respondent interviews and analysis of the harvest data from ADF&G 
Division of Subsistence confidential household surveys conducted on POW in the late 1990s. The 
conclusions of the study contained the recognition that the “Federal subsistence steelhead harvest permit 
and reporting system was failing to record many of the steelhead harvested on Prince of Wales Island.” 
As a result, the Prince of Wales Steelhead Trout Subsistence Harvest Study (FIS Project 08-650) was 
funded in an attempt to determine the extent of the disparity between the harvests estimated through 
ADF&G Division of Subsistence household surveys and harvests reported by subsistence permit holders. 
This study estimated the POW subsistence steelhead harvest at 278 fish per year with the majority of 
the harvest occurring by the community of Klawock (Christianson et al. 2012), but did not specifically 
identify where the steelhead were being taken from (i.e., Federal fishery, sport fishery, retained from 
commercial harvests, etc.). 

The POW/Kosciusko Islands fishery is divided into two seasons (Winter and Spring) under the terms 
of separate Federal subsistence fishing permits. Local Federal managers monitor harvest during these 



23Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

fisheries. Monitoring includes visual assessments, interviews with and phone calls to anglers to determine 
harvest rates by fishermen, and observations using in-stream snorkel counts. Law enforcement officers 
check anglers to insure they have the proper permits or licenses. Using monitoring information, the local 
Federal managers have been delegated the authority to close these fisheries when and if conservation 
concerns arise. The return rate of Federal permits for the POW steelhead fisheries has been nearly 100 
percent (Forest Service 2012). The two steelhead fisheries are described in more detail below. 

POW/Kosciusko Spring Season Federal Subsistence Steelhead Fishery

This steelhead fishery began in 2003. Although 76 permits were issued during the first season, the average 
number of permits issued per season from 2004–07 has been 55. Since 2008, effort in the fishery has 
increased with an average of 73 permits issued. Harvest from 2003–11 averaged 29 steelhead per season. 
Of the 565 permits issued throughout the history of this fishery, 13 reported taking a full household 
harvest limit of five steelhead, and only one reported taking that limit within the same day. A summary of 
steelhead harvest and permit activity for this fishery by year is displayed in Table 1 (Forest Service 2012). 

In-season action has occurred twice in the history of this fishery. In April 2006, the local Federal manager 
closed Cable Creek to all fishing during the steelhead run when the illegal harvest of 10 steelhead was 
reported. In-season action occurred again in April 2012, when winter season harvest on the Klawock 
River was reported to be higher than anticipated. The household harvest limit was reduced to two 
steelhead and the use of bait was prohibited downstream of the Prince of Wales Hatchery Association 
weir.

POW/Kosciusko Winter Season Federal Subsistence Steelhead Fishery

This steelhead fishery began in 2003, with harvest and effort being very low. From 2003–08, Federal 
steelhead harvests ranged from zero to five per season, and the number of permits issued ranged from 10 
to 20. Since 2009, effort in the fishery has increased, as the number of permits issued has ranged from 
36 to 38, with a reported harvest ranging from one to 13. This fishery is greatly affected by weather. In 
2006, 2007 and 2010, fishing effort was very minimal with zero or one steelhead reported during those 
seasons. This was most likely due to heavy snowfall preventing access to fishing sites. In 2011, winter 
snow conditions again limited where subsistence fishermen could access fishing sites which resulted in 
concentrating effort mainly to the Klawock River. A summary of steelhead harvest and permit activity for 
this fishery by year is displayed in Table 2 (Forest Service 2012).

State Subsistence Harvest

There are no directed State subsistence fisheries for steelhead in the Southeast Alaska Area. Steelhead 
incidentally harvested while subsistence fishing for salmon may be retained and must be recorded on the 
State subsistence and personal use salmon permit. No steelhead harvest was reported from 1985 to 2001 
(Zadina 2002, pers. comm.). From 2002 to 2007, eight steelhead have been reported on State fishing 
permits for the Southeast Area (Kelley 2008, pers. comm.).

Sport Harvest

Although the State requires sport fishers that harvest steelhead to record their fish on the back of their 
fishing license in ink, they are not required to submit or report the harvest directly to ADF&G. The yearly 
sport steelhead harvest is determined by the Statewide Harvest Survey which is mailed out randomly to 
fishing license holders each year. Depending on the number of responses per drainage, some estimates 



24 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

could possibly understate the harvest due to limitations in expanding low numbers of responses (ADF&G 
2007). 

From 1989 to 1994, the average reported steelhead harvest was 812 per year for POW (Howe et al. 
2001). Since the more restrictive sport fishing regulations went into effect in 1994 the reported harvest 
of steelhead in the sport fishery has been relatively small on POW. The average steelhead harvest from 
streams on POW from 1995 to 2004 was 34 per year (Jennings et al. 2007). The average reported catch 
during this time was 1,911 per year (Jennings et al. 2007). To be conservative, managers commonly 
assume a hooking mortality of two to five percent for fish caught with artificial lures (Hooten 2001, 
ADF&G 2008b). If 2–5% of the fish caught died after release due to catch and release mortality, the 
additional mortality each year would range from 38 to 96 steelhead. 

Table 1 – Summary of harvest, locations, and permits from the POW/Kosciusko Island spring season 
Federal subsistence steelhead fishery, 2003 – 2011 (Forest Service 2012). 

 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Total 
Alder Creek 1 1
Cable
Creek 

  1   1    2 

Eagle Creek 1 1 7 4 3 1 2 19 
Flicker
Creek 

  1       1 

Harris River 3 3 2 2 10 
Hydaburg 
River 

   1      2 

Karta River 1 2 4 1 1 3 2 14 
Klawock 
River 

11 8 5 6 4 3 5 5 15 62 

Maybeso 
Creek 

2 2

Ratz Creek   3 3   6 7  19 
Saltery 
Creek 

2 2

St. Nicholas         2 2 
Staney 
Creek 

3 10 5 13 6 14 5 9 9 74 

Thorne
River 

10 3 3 3 3 9 7 2 11 51 

Twelvemile 
Creek 

1 1

          
Totals 24 26 27 38 18 34 29 27 39 262 

          

No. of 
permits 

76 40 53 56 49 66 71 65 89 565 

Permit w 
hvst 

12 9 15 19 11 24 14 14 14  

Ave fish/ 
permit

2.0 2.6 1.7 2.0 1.6 1.6 2.1 2.3 2.4

Permits w 
full hvst 
limit 

1 3 1 1 1 1 1 1 3  

Permits w 
>2 from a 
drainage 

1 4 1 1 0 2 3 2 4



25Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

Commercial Harvest

There is no directed commercial fishing for steelhead. Nevertheless, incidental harvest in commercial 
salmon fisheries occurs, and has ranged from a low of 533 in 1975 to a high of 11,540 in 1986 for all of 
Southeast Alaska. The majority of the catch (65%) occurred in the gillnet fisheries and the least (1%) in 
the troll fisheries (PSCNBTC 1991; Lynch 2002, pers. comm.). Since the BOF action in 1994 prohibiting 
the sale of net caught steelhead, there has only been a very limited commercial sale of steelhead taken in 
the commercial troll fishery. From 1997 until 2002, commercial fishermen in southeast Alaska sold about 
50 steelhead per year (Lynch 2002, pers. comm.). From 2002 to 2007, the number of steelhead sold by 
trollers has ranged from three to 108 (Kelley 2008, pers. comm.). 

Since 2006, the Commissioner of ADF&G has only required mandatory reporting of incidentally net-
taken steelhead in the Stikine River Terminal Chinook Salmon commercial fishery. Fourteen were 
reported during the 2006 fishery and eight were reported during the 2007 fishery (Kelley 2008, pers. 
comm.). Beginning in 2012, all steelhead retained from commercial fisheries in southeast Alaska will 
need to be recorded on fish tickets.

Other Alternative(s) Considered

These proposals could be addressed as special restrictions within the permit conditions of the subsistence 
fishing permit. Both of the Federal in-season managers (Craig and Thorne Bay District Rangers) are 
delegated the authority to implement special restrictions within these fisheries. Every year since the 
inception of the fishery, special restrictions have been implemented on the small, road accessible 
systems and are listed in the terms and conditions of the permit (Appendix A). Specifically, the concerns 
expressed in proposal FP13-23 could be addressed in this manner, however, with the scope of proposal 

Table 2 - Summary of harvests, locations, and permits from the POW/Kosciusko Island winter season 
Federal subsistence steelhead fishery, 2003 – 2011 (Forest Service 2012) 

 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Total 
Klawock 
River 

2 5 1 1 1 2 1 13 25 

Karta River      1    1 
Eagle Creek 2 2
Thorne
River 

  1    1   2 

Totals 2 5 2 0 1 2 5 1 13 30 

No. of 
permits 

10 15 17 12 17 20 36 37 38 202 

Permit w 
hvst 

2 3 1 0 1 2 5 1 9

Ave fish/ 
permit

1.0 1.7 2.0 0.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.4  

Permits w 
full hvst 
limit 

0 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 3

          
Permits
using des. 
fisher 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5



26 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

FP13-18 encompassing all 74 steelhead drainages on POW, addressing the issue via permit conditions 
would be more problematic.

Effects of the Proposal

If these proposals were adopted, they would add additional restrictions to the Federal subsistence harvest 
of steelhead in both the POW/Kosciusko subsistence steelhead fisheries. Although the proposals would 
reduce the amount of steelhead a household may harvest from a specific drainage, they would not affect 
the annual harvest limit that a household may take during the fishery. While reduced harvest limits by 
drainage may provide for a more equitable distribution of harvest opportunity among Federally qualified 
users, there could be a reduction in numbers of fish received by recipients from designated fishers from 
those same drainages. The proposals do not affect the State managed sport fishery.

Adoption of the proposal FP13-18 would remove the fishery harvest quota currently defined under 
the Federal subsistence fishing regulations. This quota was established by the Board in 2002 and was 
intended to keep harvests within the level estimated by household harvest surveys in the late 1990s. 
Recent household harvest surveys (45% of quota) and Federal permit reports (5–8% of quota) indicate 
harvest numbers are far lower than the quotas and may not be needed.

OSM CONCLUSION

Support Proposal FP13-18 and Oppose Proposal FP13-23.

Justification

Implementation of annual household harvest limits by specific drainage will provide for conservation of 
individual steelhead stocks while providing for subsistence fishing opportunity. Adoption of FP13-18 is 
supported since this would set annual household harvest limits by specific drainage to all streams within 
the POW/Kosciusko Island fisheries, and would include the Klawock River which is the focus of FP13-
23. This action will provide for conservation by preventing a person or designated fisher from taking 
entire harvest limits from any one stream which could easily push a system beyond desired harvest levels. 
Although the harvest limit by individual stream will be reduced, the action does not reduce the overall 
household harvest limit for the fishery. Opportunity will still exist to harvest any additional steelhead 
from other streams.

An overall harvest quota for the POW/Kosciusko Island fisheries is not as important as the overall 
steelhead harvest from the individual drainages. Conservation of individual streams will be provided for 
by implementing an annual household harvest limits by drainage, thus removing the need for the overall 
harvest quota. Additionally, both Federal i n-season managers are delegated authority to implement special 
restrictions within these fisheries if any unforeseen conservation concerns arise.

LITERATURE CITED

ADF&G. 2001. ADF&G, Division of Subsistence. Community Profile Database.

ADF&G. 2007. Statewide Harvest Survey Database. ADF&G, Sport Fish Division, Anchorage, AK.

ADF&G. 2008b. ADF&G Sport fish Southeast Region. Situk River, steelhead, and angling opportunities. . Internet: 
http://www.sf.adfg.state.ak.us/Management/Areas.cfm/FA/yakFish.Situk.



27Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

Christianson, A., C. Needham, P. Petrivelli, and J. Reeves. 2011. Prince of Wales steelhead trout subsistence harvest 
study. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Office of Subsistence Management, Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program, 
Final Report (Study No. 08-650). Hydaburg Cooperative Association, Hydaburg, Alaska.

Forest Service. 2012. Federal Subsistence Fisheries Database. Updated June 2012.

Hooten, B. 2001. Facts and issues associated with restricting terminal gear types in the management of sustainable 
steelhead sport fisheries in British Columbia. Ministry of Environment, Land, and Parks, Nanaimo, British 
Columbia.

Howe, A.L., R.J. Walker, C. Olnes, K. Sundet, and A.E. Bingham. 2001. Participation, catch, and harvest in Alaska 
sport fisheries during 1999. ADF&G, Fishery Data Series No. 01-8, Anchorage, AK.

Jennings, G.B., K. Sundet, and A.E. Bingham. 2007. Participation, catch, and harvest in Alaska sport fisheries during 
2004. ADF&G, Fishery Data Series No. 07-40, Anchorage, AK.

Kelley, S. 2008. Regional Supervisor, Commercial Fish Division. Personal Communication. ADF&G, Douglas, AK. 

Lohr, S.C., and M.D. Bryant. 1999. Biological characteristics and population status of steelhead (Onchorynchus 
mykiss) in southeast Alaska. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-407. Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest 
Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, 29 pages.

Lynch, B. 2002. Southeast Troll Biologist. Personal Communication. ADF&G, Petersburg, AK. 

Piazza, K. 2008. Sport Fish Biologist. Personal Communication. ADF&G, Ketchikan, AK. 

PSCNBTC. 1991. Review of steelhead stock status, harvest patterns, enhancement and migrations in the northern 
boundary area. Report TCNB (91)-1, prepared for the Northern Panel, Pacific Salmon Commission, 58 pages.

Turek, M. F. 2005. Prince of Wales Island subsistence steelhead harvest and use pattern. U. S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service, Office of Subsistence Management, Subsistence Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program Final Report for 
Study 03-651. ADF&G, Subsistence Division, Juneau, Alaska.

Zadina, T. 2002. SSE Salmon Research Program Manager. Personal Communication. ADF&G, Ketchikan, AK. 



28 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

OMB Control No. 1018-0075  Expires: 01/31/2013

Federal Subsistence Fish Application
Fish - Trout - FFSE03 - 2012

Permit No.

Federal Land Unit: 
Tongass NF - POWKI - Spring

Federal Fish Management Area:
FMA 13 - Southeastern Alaska Prince of Wales / Kosciusko Islands

Applicant's Name (First, Middle Initial, Last):  Date of Birth (mm/dd/yy): Telephone Number:

Mailing Address: Physical Address: Community of Primary Residence:

Applicant's Signature

X ____________________________________________________________________
I certify that I am a rural resident as defined by 50 CFR 100.4 and 36 CFR 242.4.  I have read and understand the conditions 
on the permit and agree to comply with them and applicable regulations as found in 50 CFR 100 and 36 CFR 242. 

Issuing Agent (Print): 

Date Permit Issued (mm/dd/yy):

Federal Subsistence Permit and Harvest Report Permit Number: Report Due: 15-JUN-2012

Fish - Trout - FFSE03 - 2012
Tongass NF - POWKI - Spring   - FMA 13 - Southeastern Alaska Prince 
of Wales / Kosciusko Islands

Season: 03/01/12 thru 05/31/12
Limit: 5 STEELHEAD PER HOUSEHOLD

Did you fish?      Yes ___    No ___
Did you use a designated fisher?    Yes ___    No ___

Permittee's Name:

  Print household members authorized to fish with this Permit (must be Federally qualified subsistence users)

 Name (s) _________________________________________________________________________________________________

Gear Legend Species Legend

Dip Net = DN / Handline = HL / Rod and Reel = RR Steelhead Trout = SH
Spear = SP

Month/
Day

Specific Location Gear
Code

Species
Code

Number
Harvested

Month/
Day

Specific Location Gear
Code

Species
Code

Number
Harvested

FWS Form 3-2328 REV 10/09

Appendix A



29Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

Conditions of the Permit: 
PERMIT IS VALID FOR THE FEDERAL SUBSISTENCE SPRING STEELHEAD FISHERY IN FRESHWATER ON PRINCE OF WALES ISLAND AND KOSCIUSKO ISLAND.
ONLY ONE PERMIT WILL BE ISSUED PER HOUSEHOLD.  PERMIT MUST BE IN YOUR POSSESSION WHILE FISHING AND ONLY ROD AND REEL, DIPNET, 
HANDLINES, AND SPEARS MAY BE USED.  YOU MAY USE BAIT WITH ROD AND REEL TO HARVEST STEELHEAD IN ALL STREAMS EXCEPT IN THE FOLLOWING 
STREAMS:  BAIT IS NOT ALLOWED BETWEEN NOVEMBER 16 AND SEPTEMBER 14 IN THE FOLLOWING STREAMS:  BLACK LAKE/BLACK BEAR CREEK, NAUKATI 
CREEK, CABLE CREEK/TROCADERO CREEK, HARRIS RIVER, 12 MILE CREEK, DOG SALMON LAKE/CREEK, SAL CREEK, ROCK CREEK, 108 CREEK/CAVERN LAKE, 
TURN CREEK, EL CAP CREEK, RED LAKE/CREEK, BIG CREEK, YATUK CREEK, NATZUNINI CREEK, AND EXCHANGE CREEK. IN THESE STREAMS, THE DAILY 
HOUSEHOLD LIMIT IS ONE STEELHEAD AND THE ANNUAL HOUSEHOLD LIMIT IS TWO STEELHEAD FROM ANY STREAM ON THIS LIST. WHEN BAIT IS NOT 
ALLOWED, THE MINIMUM SIZE LIMIT FOR TROUT IS 11 INCHES.

IF YOU USE BAIT, YOU MUST RETAIN ALL STEELHEAD, SALMON, TROUT, AND CHAR CAUGHT.  THEY WILL APPLY TO YOUR DAILY, SEASONAL, OR ANNUAL 
HARVEST LIMIT FOR THAT SPECIES.  RECORD IF BAIT WAS USED ALONG WITH THE LENGTH AND SEX OF ANY STEELHEAD RETAINED.

In accordance with the Privacy Act (5 U.S.C. 552a) and the Paperwork Reduction Act (44 U.S.C. 3501), please note the following information. This information collection is authorized by the Alaska National 
Interest Lands Conservation Act and associated regulations. The Federal Subsistence Board will use this information to manage fish and wildlife resources for subsistence uses. It is our policy not to use your
name for any other purpose. We will maintain this information in accordance with the Privacy Act. Your response is voluntary, but is required to obtain or retain a benefit. We may not conduct or sponsor and 
you are not required to respond to an information collection unless it displays a currently valid OMB control number. OMB has approved this information collection and assigned OMB Control No. 1018-0075. 
We estimate it will take you about 15 minutes to complete the application and record your harvest. This burden estimate includes time for reviewing instructions, gathering data, and completing and reviewing 
the form. You may direct comments regarding the burden estimate or any other aspect of the form to the Service Information Collection Clearance Officer, Fish and Wildlife Service, Mail Stop 222, Arlington 
Square, Department of the Interior, 1849 C Street, NW., Washington D.C. 20240.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service
Office of Subsistence Management
1011 E. Tudor R. M/S 121
Anchorage, AK 99503-6199

NO POSTAGE
NECESSARY
IF MAILED 

IN THE 
UNITED STATES

OFFICIAL BUSINESS
PENALITY FOR PRIVATE USE $300

BUSINESS REPLY MAIL
FIRST-CLASS MAIL   PERMIT NO. 12874   ANCHORAGE, AK

POSTAGE WILL BE PAID US FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE

US FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE c/o
USFS Craig Ranger District
PO Box 500
Craig, AK 99921-9988 

Conditions of the Permit:
PERMIT IS VALID FOR THE FEDERAL SUBSISTENCE SPRING STEELHEAD FISHERY IN FRESHWATER ON PRINCE OF WALES ISLAND AND KOSCIUSKO ISLAND.
ONLY ONE PERMIT WILL BE ISSUED PER HOUSEHOLD.  PERMIT MUST BE IN YOUR POSSESSION WHILE FISHING AND ONLY ROD AND REEL, DIPNET, 
HANDLINES, AND SPEARS MAY BE USED.  YOU MAY USE BAIT WITH ROD AND REEL TO HARVEST STEELHEAD IN ALL STREAMS EXCEPT IN THE FOLLOWING 
STREAMS:  BAIT IS NOT ALLOWED BETWEEN NOVEMBER 16 AND SEPTEMBER 14 IN THE FOLLOWING STREAMS:  BLACK LAKE/BLACK BEAR CREEK, NAUKATI 
CREEK, CABLE CREEK/TROCADERO CREEK, HARRIS RIVER, 12 MILE CREEK, DOG SALMON LAKE/CREEK, SAL CREEK, ROCK CREEK, 108 CREEK/CAVERN LAKE, 
TURN CREEK, EL CAP CREEK, RED LAKE/CREEK, BIG CREEK, YATUK CREEK, NATZUNINI CREEK, AND EXCHANGE CREEK. IN THESE STREAMS, THE DAILY 
HOUSEHOLD LIMIT IS ONE STEELHEAD AND THE ANNUAL HOUSEHOLD LIMIT IS TWO STEELHEAD FROM ANY STREAM ON THIS LIST. WHEN BAIT IS NOT 
ALLOWED, THE MINIMUM SIZE LIMIT FOR TROUT IS 11 INCHES.

IF YOU USE BAIT, YOU MUST RETAIN ALL STEELHEAD, SALMON, TROUT, AND CHAR CAUGHT.  THEY WILL APPLY TO YOUR DAILY, SEASONAL, OR ANNUAL 
HARVEST LIMIT FOR THAT SPECIES.  RECORD IF BAIT WAS USED ALONG WITH THE LENGTH AND SEX OF ANY STEELHEAD RETAINED.

In accordance with the Privacy Act (5 U.S.C. 552a) and the Paperwork Reduction Act (44 U.S.C. 3501), please note the following information. This information collection is authorized by the Alaska National 
Interest Lands Conservation Act and associated regulations. The Federal Subsistence Board will use this information to manage fish and wildlife resources for subsistence uses. It is our policy not to use your 
name for any other purpose. We will maintain this information in accordance with the Privacy Act. Your response is voluntary, but is required to obtain or retain a benefit. We may not conduct or sponsor and 
you are not required to respond to an information collection unless it displays a currently valid OMB control number. OMB has approved this information collection and assigned OMB Control No. 1018-0075. 
We estimate it will take you about 15 minutes to complete the application and record your harvest. This burden estimate includes time for reviewing instructions, gathering data, and completing and reviewing 
the form. You may direct comments regarding the burden estimate or any other aspect of the form to the Service Information Collection Clearance Officer, Fish and Wildlife Service, Mail Stop 222, Arlington 
Square, Department of the Interior, 1849 C Street, NW., Washington D.C. 20240.

Place Tape Here Place Tape Here

Appendix A. Continued



30 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION

SOUTHEAST ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

FP13-18

Council Recommendation: Support.

Justification: The Council noted that although adopting this proposal may have a negative impact 
on some residents of Prince of Wales Island, it was necessary to address a conservation concern with 
steelhead due to the potential of exceeding the maximum harvest for any one stream.  Current rules do 
not provide for adequate conservation of these stocks.  There is limited access to streams on Prince of 
Wales Island during the winter fishery and harvests are concentrated on a few streams.  The total fishing 
mortality should not exceed 10% of the total return and if a relatively large portion of the total allowable 
harvest is taken in the winter, there is a potential for overharvest in the larger, more popular spring fishery.  
In addition to addressing an emerging conservation issue, adopting the proposal would be beneficial to 
the majority of subsistence users because it allows the maximum number of households to participate 
in the subsistence steelhead fishery.  The most accessible streams are the most popular and have the 
greatest potential for requiring in-season special actions to close the fishery once the annual allowable 
harvest is taken.  Unless the Federal program adds a provision to prevent a small number of households 
from concentrating harvest on these streams, there is an increasing likelihood for unknowingly exceeding 
the allowable harvest under regulations that are now in place.  The harvest cap of 100 fish in the winter 
fishery with a total fishery cap of 600 fish is unnecessary and provides no benefit to either subsistence 
users or managers.  The current harvest is much less than these caps and management and conservation 
issues are identified on a stream by stream basis not on a fishery basis.

FP13-23

Council Recommendation: No action taken.

Justification: The Council took no action on this proposal due to previous action on FP13-18.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



31Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

ADF&G Comments on FP13-18 
Page 1 of 3 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-18:  Revise steelhead harvest limits by drainage on Prince of Wales 
and Kosciusko islands.  
 
Introduction:  This Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council proposal would 
make the following changes to the federal regulations for the Prince of Wales and Kosciusko 
islands - Steelhead Trout Fishery: 
 
For the winter season (Dec. 1 – last day of Feb.), Season Harvest and Possession Limit, 2 
steelhead trout, per household 
 

 Delete the current text “(The winter season may be closed when harvest level cap of 100 
steelhead trout for Prince of Wales/Kosciusko islands is reached)” 

 Insert new text “(However, only 1 (one) steelhead may be harvested from a particular 
drainage.) 

 
For the spring season (Mar. 1 – May 31), Season Harvest and Possession Limit, 5 steelhead trout, 
per household 
 

 Delete the current text “(The spring season may be closed prior to May 31 if the harvest 
quota of 600 steelhead trout minus the number of steelhead harvested in the winter 
subsistence fishery is reached)” 

 Insert new text “(However, only 2 (two) steelhead may be harvested from a particular 
drainage.) 

 
The proponents state this proposal seeks to address a local concern that under the existing 
regulation a single stream may be subjected to high subsistence harvest rates.  This proposal is 
designed to prevent a user from taking their entire household harvest limit from one stream.  It is 
also designed to prevent users who fish for others with a designated harvest permit from taking 
multiple household limits from one stream. 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  If this proposal is adopted, individual federal subsistence users 
and users who fish for others with a designated harvest permit would not be allowed to take their 
entire winter or spring season steelhead trout harvest limit from the same drainage on Prince of 
Wales and Kosciusko islands. 
 
Impact on Other Users:    The department continues to be concerned with conservation of 
vulnerable steelhead populations in small streams in Southeast Alaska.  The department believes 
that some limited harvest could occur on most streams but harvest opportunities should be 
focused on the larger monitored streams that support more robust steelhead populations.  
Dispersing the subsistence steelhead harvest amongst smaller streams could negatively impact 
anglers and subsistence users that may already be fully utilizing these smaller streams.  
 



32 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

ADF&G Comments on FP13-18 
Page 2 of 3 

Opportunity Provided by State:  In the Southeast Alaska area, state regulation 5 AAC 01.716 
(a)(15) provide for subsistence harvest of steelhead trout in Section 3-B in waters east of a line 
from Point Ildefonso to Tranquil Point and in waters of Warm Chuck Inlet north of a line from a 
point on Hecata Island at 55° 44’ N. lat., 133° 25’ W. long. to Bay Point, and in Section 3-C in 
waters of Karheen Passage north of 55° 48’ N. lat. and east of 133° 20’ W. long. and in waters of 
Sarkar Cove and Sarkar Lakes.  The department does not issue a subsistence fishing permit for 
the taking of steelhead trout in the Southeast Alaska area, but steelhead trout taken incidentally 
by gear operated under the terms of a subsistence permit for salmon are legally taken and 
possessed for subsistence purposes.  The holder of the subsistence salmon permit must report any 
steelhead trout taken in this manner on his or her permit calendar (5 AAC 01.730 (i)). 
 
Conservation Issues:  Most steelhead populations in Southeast Alaska receive an annual 
escapement of 200 or fewer fish, and only a handful of systems regularly receive escapements 
over 500.  Nearly all of Southeast Alaska steelhead populations are difficult or impossible to 
accurately assess or monitor on a regular basis.  Without basic specific stock status information, 
steelhead populations in Southeast Alaska need to be managed conservatively and may only be 
sustained with very low harvest rates of 10 percent or less.  The annual harvest of steelhead in 
Southeast Alaska between 1982 – 1991 averaged 3,461; in 1992 the department issued 
Emergency Orders closing 24 streams to harvest.  Department managers believe that this level of 
harvest could not be sustained and these harvest levels may have contributed to declines in 
steelhead abundance that lead to the conservative management strategies adopted by the Board 
of Fish in 1993. Levels of harvest opportunity provided by past state and current federal 
regulations cannot be sustained in absence of an intensive stock assessment program.  Steelhead 
are known to return to 331 freshwater systems in southeast Alaska (ADF&G 2001)1.  Of these 
331 systems, there are 87 river systems known to contain steelhead on Prince of Wales Island 
(Harding and Jones 1993)2. The small size of most steelhead stocks makes them susceptible to 
negative impacts through habitat degradation or over fishing (Lohr and Bryant 1999)3.  Small 
populations are at greater risk of extinction than large populations because of demographic, 
environmental, and genetic uncertainties, and they are more susceptible to natural catastrophes 
(Meffe and Carroll 1994)4.   
 
Snorkel counts are conducted annually by the department to monitor steelhead escapements in a 
number of index systems dispersed across Southeast Alaska.  These snorkel surveys do not estimate 
total escapement but provide a peak annual escapement count for each system or a relative index of 
abundance.  Based on these snorkel counts the relative abundance of steelhead throughout 
Southeast Alaska and on Prince of Wales Island was generally higher than average between 2003 
and 2007, but since 2008 have generally declined and are at or near average levels.  There are 
systems where steelhead escapement still remains below historic levels (Harding and Coyle 

                                                 
1 ADF&G (Alaska Department of Fish and Game).  2001.  Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of 
Subsistence, Community Profile Database.   
2 Harding, R., and J. D. Jones.  1993.  Karta River steelhead: 1992 escapement and creel survey studies.  Alaska 
Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Data Series No. 93-30, Anchorage,  
3 Lohr, S. C., and M. D. Bryant.  1999.  Biological characteristics and population status of steelhead (Oncorhynchus 
mykiss) in Southeast Alaska.  USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, General Technical Report 
PNW-GTR-407. 
4 Meffe, G. K., and C. R. Carroll.  1994.  Principles of conservation biology.  Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates, 
Inc. 



33Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

ADF&G Comments on FP13-18 
Page 3 of 3 

2012)5.  The department believes that the current conservative sport fish regulations provide for 
sustainability of steelhead stocks while allowing for a limited harvest opportunity.  The lack of 
data on these stocks has hampered efforts to assess the potential effects of directed subsistence 
harvest and prevents the refinement of federal regulations that, when coupled with conservative 
state sport fishing regulations would ensure adequate conservation and allow for expanded 
subsistence harvest opportunities. 
 
Enforcement Issues:  Enforcement difficulties and user confusion concerning where and how 
federal regulations that are different than state regulations apply will result unless detailed maps 
and explanations specific to the area are provided. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  The Federal Subsistence Board does not have the authority to regulate the 
non-federally qualified users participating in fisheries on waters outside of federal subsistence 
jurisdiction.     
 
Other Issues:  During its spring 2012 meeting the Southeast Subsistence Regional Advisory 
Council discussed that the household limit was the original intent of a previous proposal 
submitted during the 2010 cycle, and the change would need to be proposed this regulatory cycle 
to address the discrepancy.  It is unclear to department managers why the annual caps for the 
winter and spring fisheries were deleted as that was not specifically mentioned by the proposer. 
 
On state or private lands where federal subsistence fisheries are not authorized to occur, the 
federal board does not have authority to supersede to state commercial and subsistence fisheries 
regulations unless a full closure is required for conservation purpose within water of claimed 
federal jurisdiction. Changes to state commercial and subsistence fisheries must be submitted to 
the Alaska Board of Fisheries for coordination. 
 
This proposal could limit the subsistence harvest on some systems which would provide 
additional conservation.  However, the department is concerned that if adopted, this proposal 
could shift subsistence steelhead harvest to the smaller and more vulnerable steelhead 
populations.  The department could support this proposal if measures were put into place that 
would cap the harvest on individual systems and not shift harvest to the smaller systems without 
adequate monitoring, such as: (1) a cap to the harvest of steelhead on larger river systems to< 
10% of annual escapement, and (2) a harvest limit to <5 fish on small systems. 
 
Recommendation: Neutral.   
 
 
 
 



34 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

ADF&G Comments on FP13-23 
Page 1 of 3 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-23:  Reduce Klawock River/Prince of Wales Island steelhead harvest 
limits.   
 
Introduction:  This proposal, submitted by James See of Craig, AK, reduces the seasonal 
harvest and possession limit for Klawock River in the Prince of Wales and Kosciusko islands 
steelhead trout fishery.  Proposed changes include: 
 
For the winter season (Dec. 1–last day of Feb.), Season Harvest and Possession Limit, 2 
steelhead trout, per household 
 

 Insert new text “(However, only 1 (one) steelhead may be harvested from Klawock 
River.)” after “household”. 

 
For the spring season (Mar. 1–May 31), Season Harvest and Possession Limit, 5 steelhead trout, 
per household 
 

 Insert new text “(However, only 2 (two) steelhead may be harvested from Klawock 
River.)” after “household”.  

 
The proponent states “The reported number of fish taken is way below the actual number taken.  
I have seen the run strength seriously reduced in the last 6 years.  I have [also] seen evidence of 
many fish taken (discarded gills etc.) that indicate that many more fish were harvested than 
reported.  In periods of low water the fish stop in 2 main holes in the Klawock River and I have 
seen people use bait to take 8 steelhead trout in a day which completely empties the hole of fish.  
No more steelhead trout will move into that hole until the next tide or until the water level 
changes.” 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  If this proposal is adopted, individual federal subsistence users 
would not be allowed to take their entire winter or spring season steelhead trout harvest limit 
from Klawock River on Prince of Wales and Kosciusko islands. 
 
Impact on Other Users:    The department continues to be concerned with conservation of 
vulnerable steelhead populations in small streams in Southeast Alaska.  The department believes 
that some limited harvest could occur on most streams, but harvest opportunities should still be 
focused on larger monitored streams that support more robust steelhead populations.  Dispersing 
subsistence steelhead harvest amongst smaller streams could negatively impact anglers and 
subsistence users that already use these smaller streams.    
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  In the Southeast Alaska area, state regulation 5 AAC 01.716 
(a)(15) provide for subsistence harvest of steelhead trout in Section 3-B in waters east of a line 
from Point Ildefonso to Tranquil Point and in waters of Warm Chuck Inlet north of a line from a 
point on Hecata Island at 55° 44’ N. lat., 133° 25’ W. long. to Bay Point, and in Section 3-C in 
waters of Karheen Passage north of 55° 48’ N. lat. and east of 133° 20’ W. long., and in waters 



35Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

ADF&G Comments on FP13-23 
Page 2 of 3 

of Sarkar Cove and Sarkar Lakes.  The department does not issue a subsistence fishing permit for 
the taking of steelhead trout in the Southeast Alaska area, but steelhead trout taken incidentally 
by gear operated under terms of a subsistence permit for salmon are legally taken and possessed 
for subsistence purposes.  The holder of the subsistence salmon permit must report any steelhead 
trout taken in this manner on his or her permit calendar (5 AAC 01.730(i)). 
 
Conservation Issues:  Most steelhead populations in Southeast Alaska receive an annual 
escapement of 200 or fewer fish, and only a handful of systems regularly receive escapements 
over 500.  Nearly all Southeast Alaska steelhead populations are difficult or impossible to 
accurately assess or monitor on a regular basis.  Without basic specific stock status information 
available, fisheries managers believe that steelhead populations in Southeast Alaska need to be 
managed conservatively and may only be sustained with very low harvest rates of 10 percent or 
less.  History has shown that levels of harvest opportunity provided by past state and current 
federal regulations cannot be sustained in absence of an intensive stock assessment program.  
Steelhead are known to return to 331 freshwater systems in Southeast Alaska (ADF&G 2001)1.  
Of these 331 systems, there are 87 river systems known to contain steelhead on Prince of Wales 
Island (Harding and Jones 1993)2.  The small size of most steelhead stocks makes them 
susceptible to negative impacts through habitat degradation or overfishing (Lohr and Bryant 
1999)3.  Small populations are at greater risk of extinction than large populations because of 
demographic, environmental, and genetic uncertainties, and they are more susceptible to natural 
catastrophes (Meffe and Carroll 1994)4.  
 
 Snorkel counts are conducted annually by the department to monitor steelhead escapements in a 
number of index systems dispersed across Southeast Alaska.  These snorkel surveys do not estimate 
total escapement but provide a peak annual escapement count for each system or a relative index of 
abundance.  Based on these snorkel counts the relative abundance of steelhead throughout 
Southeast Alaska and on Prince of Wales Island was generally higher than average between 2003 
and 2007, but since 2008, snorkel counts have generally declined and are at or near average 
levels.  There are systems where steelhead escapement still remains below historic levels 
(Harding and Coyle 2012)5.  The department believes that current conservative sport fish 
regulations provide for sustainability of steelhead stocks, while allowing for a limited harvest 
opportunity.  The lack of data on these stocks has hampered efforts to assess potential effects of 
directed subsistence harvest and prevents refinement of federal regulations that, when coupled 
with conservative state sport fishing regulations, would ensure adequate conservation and allow 
for expanded subsistence harvest opportunities. 
 

                                                 
1 ADF&G (Alaska Department of Fish and Game).  2001.  Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of 
Subsistence, Community Profile Database.   
2 Harding, R., and J. D. Jones.  1993.  Karta River steelhead:  1992 escapement and creel survey studies.  Alaska 
Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Data Series No. 93-30, Anchorage,  
3 Lohr, S. C. and M. D. Bryant.  1999.  Biological characteristics and population status of steelhead (Oncorhynchus 
mykiss) in Southeast Alaska.  USDA Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station,  General Technical Report 
PNW-GTR-407. 
4 Meffe, G. K., and C. R. Carroll.  1994.  Principles of conservation biology.  Sunderland, MA: Sinauer Associates, 
Inc. 
5 Harding, R. D. and C. L. Coyle.  2011.  Southeast Alaska steelhead, trout, and Dolly Varden management.  Alaska 
Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 11-17, Anchorage. 



36 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-18/23

ADF&G Comments on FP13-23 
Page 3 of 3 

Enforcement Issues:  Enforcement difficulties and user confusion concerning where and how 
federal regulations that are different than state regulations apply will result unless detailed maps 
and explanations specific to the area are provided. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  The Federal Subsistence Board does not have the authority to regulate the 
non-federally qualified users participating in fisheries on waters outside of federal subsistence 
jurisdiction. 
 
Other Issues:  During its spring 2012 meeting, the Southeast Subsistence Regional Advisory 
Council discussed that the household limit was the original intent of a previous proposal 
submitted during the 2010 cycle, and the change would need to be proposed this regulatory cycle 
to address the discrepancy.  It is unclear to department managers why annual caps for the winter 
and spring fisheries was deleted, as that was not specifically mentioned by the proposer. 
 
On state or private lands where federal subsistence fisheries are not authorized to occur, the 
federal board does not have authority to supersede to state commercial and subsistence fisheries 
regulations unless a full closure is required for conservation purpose within water of claimed 
federal jurisdiction.  Changes to state commercial and subsistence fisheries must be submitted to 
the Alaska Board of Fisheries for coordination. 
 
Recommendation:  Neutral.  This proposal could limit the subsistence harvest on Klawock 
River, which would provide additional conservation to the Klawock River.  However, the 
department is concerned that if adopted, this proposal could shift subsistence steelhead harvest to 
the smaller and more vulnerable steelhead populations.  The department could support this 
proposal if measures were put into place that would cap the harvest on individual systems and 
not shift harvest to the smaller systems without adequate monitoring, such as: (1) a cap to the 
harvest of steelhead in Klawock River to< 10% of annual escapement,  and (2) a harvest limit to 
<5 fish on small systems. 
 
 
 



37Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

FP13-24 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-24 requests that only elders unable to fish for 

themselves, or people who are severely disabled, be allowed to 
designate another person to fish for them in the Klawock River. 
Submitted by James See of Craig, Alaska

Proposed Regulation 36 CFR 242.27 and 50 CFR 100.27(e) Subsistence taking of fish: 
Fishery management area restrictions

(13) Southeastern Alaska Area

(xxi) In the Klawock River, only a Federally qualified subsistence 
user (recipient) who is either an elder who is unable to fish for him 
or herself, or a severely disabled person, may designate another 
Federally qualified subsistence user to take fish on his or her 
behalf. 

OSM Conclusion If Proposal FP13-18 or 23 is adopted, oppose Proposal FP13-24. 

If Proposal FP13-18 or 23 is not adopted, support Proposal FP13-24 
with modification to delete requirements to be an elder or severely 
disabled and to include the requirement that designated fishers be 
limited to one harvest limit of steelhead in possession, rather than two 
harvest limits currently allowed, in the Klawock River drainage.

The modified regulation should read:

§___.27(e) Subsistence taking of fish: Fishery management area 
restrictions

(13) Southeastern Alaska Area

 (xxi) In the Klawock River drainage, a designated fisherman may 
not have more than one harvest limit of steelhead in his or her 
possession at any one time. 

Southeast Regional Council 
Recommendation Oppose

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Support with modification. Amend to criteria to match that of the 
state.

Written Public Comments None



38 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-24

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-24, submitted by James See of Craig, Alaska, requests that only elders unable to fish for 
themselves, or people who are severely disabled, be allowed to designate another person to fish for them 
in the Klawock River.

DISCUSSION

The proponent states that, for the Klawock River, allowing designated fishers to have two harvest limits 
in possession is an abuse of fish populations in light of their limited numbers. Designated Fish Permits are 
necessary for designated fishers to take more than one harvest limit of steelhead, rainbow trout, cutthroat 
trout, Dolly Varden, coho salmon, or sockeye salmon from the Klawock River. Other species of fish have 
no harvest limits and consequently a Federal Designated Fish Permit is not necessary. The proponent 
clarified that his intention was to specify steelhead only and not “all fish” (See 2012, pers. comm.). This 
analysis discusses the aspects of this proposal as originally published since this is the version presented 
for public review. The proponent could make comments on this proposal at the Southeast Alaska Regional 
Advisory Council meeting.

Action on Proposal FP13-18/23 currently under consideration may affect decisions on this proposal. The 
proposals are a result of a situation that occurred during the 2011 winter subsistence steelhead fishery on 
the Klawock River. Potential issues arose during the fishery due to the Federal Designated Fish Permit. 
The Federal Designated Fish Permit allows a Federally qualified subsistence user to harvest fish on behalf 
of another Federally qualified user. The designated fisher may fish for any number of subsistence users, 
but may not have more than two harvest limits in his or her possession at a time. Although the Federal 
Fish Permits are issued to households, Federal Designated Fish Permits are issued to individuals. Several 
individuals from the same household were noted harvesting multiple household harvest limits during 
the same day. Although harvesting up to two household possession limits within the same day is legal 
under the terms of the Federal designated fishing regulation, the potential to easily overharvest steelhead 
from drainages before Federal managers can act has now increased. The winter 2011 situation was 
discovered at the end of the winter fishery, which resulted in the Federal manager implementing Special 
Action 13-SH-02-12 during the spring fishery. This action reduced the harvest limit and instituted a bait 
prohibition on the Klawock River to allow for continued subsistence opportunity while providing for 
conservation.

Existing Federal Regulation

No regulation.

Proposed Federal Regulation

36 CFR 242.27 and 50 CFR 100.27(e) Subsistence taking of fish: Fishery management area 
restrictions

(13) Southeastern Alaska Area



39Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

(xxi) In the Klawock River, only a Federally qualified subsistence user (recipient) who is either 
an elder who is unable to fish for him or herself, or a severely disabled person, may designate 
another Federally qualified subsistence user to take fish on his or her behalf. 

Relevant Federal Regulation

§___.25 Subsistence taking of fish, wildlife, and shellfish: General regulations

(d)(2) If you are a Federally qualified subsistence user, you (beneficiary) may designate another 
Federally qualified subsistence user to take fish on your behalf. The designated fisherman 
must obtain a designated harvest permit prior to attempting to harvest fish and must return a 
completed harvest report. The designated fisherman may fish for any number of beneficiaries but 
may have no more than two harvest limits in his/her possession at any one time.

§___.25 Subsistence taking of fish: Fishery management area restrictions

(13) Southeastern Alaska Area
(iii) In the Southeastern Alaska Area, a rainbow trout is defined as a fish of the species 
Oncorhyncus mykiss less than 22 inches in overall length. A steelhead is defined as a rainbow 
trout with an overall length of 22 inches or larger.

Existing State Regulation

5 AAC 01.11. Subsistence fishing by proxy

(a) Finfish may be taken by subsistence fishing by proxy only as provided in AS 16.05.405 and in 
this section.

 (g) In this section, 

(1) “beneficiary” means a resident 

(A) who is blind, is a person with physical disabilities as defined in AS 16.05.940 , or is 65 
years of age or older; and 

(B) on whose behalf finfish are to be taken or attempted to be taken under AS 16.05.405;

AS 16.05.940. Definitions

(26) “person with physical disabilities” means a person who presents to the department 
either written proof that the person receives at least 70 percent disability compensation from 
a government agency for a physical disability or an affidavit signed by a physician licensed to 
practice medicine in the state stating that the person is at least 70 percent physically disabled.

Extent of Federal Public Land

For purposes of this discussion, the phrase “Federal public waters” is defined as those waters described 
under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR 100.3. They include waters within the exterior boundary of the Tongass 
National Forest in the Southeastern Alaska Area excluding marine waters. Federal waters involved are 
those of the Tongass National Forest, excluding marine waters, on Prince of Wales Island.



40 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

Customary and Traditional Use Determination

Residents living south of Sumner Strait and west of Clarence Strait and Kashevaroff Passage are included 
in the customary and traditional use determination for fish in the streams of Prince of Wales Island. There 
are 12 communities in the area: Coffman Cove, Craig, Edna Bay, Hollis, Hydaburg, Kasaan, Klawock, 
Naukati Bay, Point Baker, Port Protection, Thorne Bay, and Whales Pass. 

Regulatory History

In 1999 the Board adopted the designated harvester regulation for fish (64 FR 1304, January 8, 1999). 
The Board has received no proposals to modify the regulation.

Designated Harvesters

Designated harvester provisions provide recognition of the customary and traditional practices of sharing 
and redistribution of harvests. A host of research supports a need for a designated harvester system in 
Federal subsistence regulations to harmonize fundamental harvesting characteristics of rural Alaska 
communities with the Federal Subsistence Management Program. Sahlins (1972) observed that 20% to 
30% of households in “family-based production” could be expected to fail to produce enough food to feed 
themselves. Family-based production is the foundation of the mixed subsistence-cash economy found 
in most rural Alaskan communities (cf. Wolfe 1981, 1987; Wolfe and Walker 1987; Wolfe et al. 1984). 
Family-based production is when households linked by kinship distribute the responsibility to harvest, 
process, and store wild resources based on factors such as skills and abilities, availability of able workers, 
sufficient income to purchase harvesting and processing technology, and other factors. Sahlins’ (1972) 
observation has been repeated in subsistence studies conducted in rural Alaska communities (see Andrews 
1988; Magdanz, Utermohle, and Wolfe 2002; Sumida 1989; Sumida and Andersen 1990). On a statewide 
basis it was not uncommon for about 30% of the households in a community to produce about 70% or 
more of the community’s wild food harvest. Households in the higher harvesting third of households 
were called “super-households” because they produced surpluses of wild foods (Wolfe 1987). Inequalities 
in individual and household production levels were equalized via processes of distribution (sharing and 
feasting) and exchange (trade and barter). 

More recently, Wolfe et al. (2007) looked at 67 rural Alaska communities representing Aleut, Athabascan, 
Inupiat, Tlingit-Haida, and Yup’ik cultural groups to test the super-household hypothesis. Klawock, 
Kasaan, and Hydaburg on Prince of Wales Island were included in the analysis. Wolfe et al. studied 
mainly Alaska Native households (households with at least one Native head of household) except in 
Southeast Alaska where ethnically-mixed communities were used. The common variables that affected 
household food production were commercial fishing involvement, males over 15 years of age, the age of 
elders, and single person households. Commercial fishing involvement and three or more males over 15 
years of age correlated with households with relatively high wild food production. Older elders and single 
person households correlated with households with relatively low wild food production. High producers 
were also high givers, and giving to other households may be a primary motivation for over-production 
by super-households. Additionally, increased household income was associated with increased subsistence 
productivity by households within a community. Wolfe et al. (2007) conclude:

The findings about the concentration of subsistence harvests also have social policy implications 
for the management of hunts and fisheries. Annual and daily bag limits that require that 
individuals or households harvest at equal levels, as is common for sport fishing and sport 
hunting, operate from different principles from those operating in subsistence systems. In the 
subsistence system, individuals and households commonly are not equivalent producers. Instead, 



41Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

a relatively small segment of high-producers harvest most of the fish or game. The average 
harvests among community households may be in line with bag and harvest limits required for 
conservation reasons, but the actual production is concentrated in a small number of households. 
Flexible regulations that allow for this type of concentrated harvest would be most compatible 
with the actual patterns of subsistence production (Wolfe et al. 2007:29).

The Designated Harvester System used by the Federal Subsistence Management Program was intended 
to provide some flexibility in harvest regulations to make legal the activities of super-households in 
rural communities. Supporting the distribution of wild foods in villages allowed people to continue their 
subsistence way of life. 

Customary and Traditional Uses

The subsistence way of life is very much a part of the social fabric of Alaskan rural communities. Within 
Alaska Native cultures, the harvesting of subsistence foods is inextricably intertwined with social 
interactions. Social interactions may be in the form of extended families spending time at fish camps 
during the summer, young hunters learning harvesting skills from their older relatives, or individuals 
sharing their harvest successes with community members. Subsistence includes a cultural value system of 
sharing, which Alaska Natives have maintained since before contact with Russians and Europeans (Wolfe 
and Ellana 1983).

The kwáans associated with the modern community of Klawock are the Hinyaa, Tlawah, and Kooyu 
(Langdon 2006). Klawock is one of two predominantly Native communities on Prince of Wales Island, 
the other being Hydaburg. A company from outside of Alaska opened a cannery at Klawock in about 
1880, attracted by the largest sockeye salmon run on Prince of Wales Island. Later a saltery and a cannery 
opened at the present location of Craig. Today, many Hinyaa live in Craig (Langdon 2006, Ratner 
et al. 2006). The Tlingit and Haida fisheries on Prince of Wales Island have long been recognized as 
traditional fisheries, and tribes have claimed rights to fisheries in their territories through legal venues 
since 1865 culminating in passage of ANILCA in 1980 (Goldschmidt and Haas 2000 [1946], Price 
1990). Significantly for fisheries, the population of Prince of Wales Island almost doubled between 1980 
and 2000 due in part to the influx of loggers to harvest timber. Since then the population has decreased 
almost 13% from 4,653 people in 2000 to 4,067 people in 2010 (Table 1) (U.S. Census 2012). Some 
communities that sprang up in the 1980s probably as logging camps, such as Dora Bay and Labouchere 
Bay, are no longer included in the census. Other communities remain, such as Coffman Cove, Hollis, 
and Thorne Bay. The influx of people in the 1980s and 1990s can be seen in Table 2. A minority of 
household heads have lived in the newly established communities since birth. Conversely, the majority of 
Klawock and Hydaburg household heads have lived there since birth, reflecting the persistence of these 
communities (Christianson et al. 2012).

Klawock and Craig are nearest to the Klawock River, and only Klawock, Craig, and Hollis residents have 
reported harvesting steelhead in the Federal subsistence fishery that opened in 2003; however, Hollis’s 
contribution to the harvest has been small (FWS 2012). Klawock and Craig are the larger communities 
on the island. Residents of the two communities have been shown to rely on a wide variety of subsistence 
resources. Household harvest surveys were conducted in both communities in 1997, and harvests were 
converted into pounds per person (ADF&G 2012b). Fish made up the majority of subsistence harvests. 
The majority of salmon were sockeye that were harvested primarily with nets in marine waters. Small 
amounts of chum salmon were also harvested with subsistence nets in marine waters (Ellanna and Sherrod 
1986, Ratner et al. 2006). Other species of salmon were harvested primarily with rod and reel. Trout and 
char made up smaller but important portions of subsistence harvests in the two communities. Patterns 
of resource use often vary from year to year because of severe winter weather or regulatory restrictions; 
however, the patterns of use of fish in 1997 generally agree with the more recent patterns of use and 



42 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

harvests reported on Federal Subsistence Harvest Permits or during on-site creel surveys, described later 
in the analysis, and during house to house harvest surveys conducted with residents of the island between 
2008 and 2010 (Christianson et al. 2012). The harvest of steelhead based on house to house harvest 
surveys is described in Table 3.

In 1984, 56% of Klawock households reported using steelhead (Table 3). The use of steelhead was higher 
than in 1997 when only 10% of households reported using steelhead. This may be because steelhead 
regulations were more liberal in 1984 compared to 1997. In 1997, the State sport fishery had a 36-inch or 
greater allowable size limit, and such fish were rarely harvested (Table 4). For Craig, steelhead harvests 
have significantly decreased in recent years from 1997 harvest levels. 

Table 1. Human population of Prince of Wales 
archipelago. 

2010 U.S. Census 

Community Number of 
Households

Number of 
People 

Coffman Cove 89 176
Craig 470 1,201
Edna Bay 18 42
Hollis 44 112
Hydaburg 128 376
Kasaan 23 49
Klawock 297 755
Naukati Bay 49 113
Point Baker 8 15
Port Protection 26 48
Thorne Bay 214 471
Whale Bay 20 31
Remainder 231 678
Total 1,617 4,067

Table 2 Head of households living in 
community since birth, 2008-2010.

Community  Number Percentage

Coffman Cove 5 5%
Craig 43 21%
Hollis 0 0
Hydaburg 40 77%
Kasaan 3 14%
Klawock 53 60%
Point Baker 2 11%
Naukati Bay 1 4%
Port Protection 1 4%
Thorne Bay 0 0



43Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

Table 4. Steelhead: regulation history in the Klawock River drainage. 
State Sport Fishery Federal Subsistence Fishery

Year Season Harvest Limit and Gear Season Harvest Limit and Gear
2005–2012 Nonretention  Winter season  

Spring season 

2 fish, dip net, handline, 
spear, and rod and reel 

5 fish, dip net, handline, 
spear, and rod and reel 

2003–2004 Bait allowed  
Sept. 15–Nov. 15  

2 fish per year, 36 inches 
or greater, rod and reel  

Winter season  

Spring season 

2 fish, dip net, handline, 
spear, and rod and reel 

5 fish, dip net, handline, 
spear, and rod and reel 

1994–2002 Bait allowed 
Sept. 15–Nov. 15  

2 fish per year, 36 inches 
or greater, rod and reel  

Pre-1994  2 fish per year (at least 
one must be marked as 
hatchery origin) 

Since 2003 when the Federal subsistence fishery opened, Klawock and Craig residents have harvested 
most of the steelhead that were reported on Federal Fish Permits from the Klawock River drainage. 
However, the harvest from the Klawock system was only a portion of the overall steelhead harvest by 
residents of Klawock and Craig (FWS 2012). Klawock residents report harvesting steelhead from eight 
other drainages. Craig residents report harvesting steelhead from 21 other drainages. 

While trout and char have been harvested with spears and gaffs, since 1950 rod and reel have also been 
used to harvest trout and char in the subsistence fishery, except in small creeks where spears, gaffs, dip 
nets, and handlines are preferred (Turek 2005). 

While steelhead are eaten by residents of Klawock and some residents of Craig, many residents of the 
island choose to catch and release steelhead only, and killing them is not part of their pattern of use 
(Christianson et al. 2012). 

Table 3. Steelhead: the use and estimated harvest by residents of Craig and Klawock based on 
household harvest surveys.

Steelhead Trout  

Community 
Study 
Year

Percentage of Households Low 
Harvest 
Estimate 

Estimated 
Harvest  

High
Harvest 
Estimate  Using  

Attempting 
to Harvest Harvesting 

Giving 
Away Receiving 

Craig 1997 9 8 6 2 2 86 211 335 
2010 18 3 7 28 54 

Klawock  1984 56 44 39 14 25 150 338 526 
1997 10 11 9 2 2 93 226 359 
2008 22 14 64 133 203 

Blank cell=question not asked. 



44 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

Biological Background

The Klawock River is located on the west side of Prince of Wales Island. Four main tributaries flow 
into Klawock Lake. The lake empties into a large estuary via the Klawock River. The Klawock River is 
less than 3 km long. The nonprofit Prince of Wales Hatchery Association operates a hatchery near the 
Klawock River. The hatchery was built in 1977 and has released coho and sockeye salmon and steelhead 
into the Klawock system. Currently, only coho salmon are released into the Klawock system (Vercessi 
2012). The hatchery weir is located about 300 m below the lake (Cartwright and Conitz 2006). 

With the exceptions of coho and sockeye salmon, the size of fish populations in the Klawock River 
drainage are by and large unknown, and management decisions are often based on observations of the 
harvest of fish. 

Steelhead (Ashut, Tayang)

Steelhead are the anadromous form of rainbow trout. Federal regulations define a steelhead as a rainbow 
trout with an overall length of 22 inches or larger (§___.25(13))(iii)). 

The Klawock River is one of 74 drainages known to contain steelhead on Prince of Wales Island. Most 
are believed to contain 200 or fewer spawning adults. Fishery managers and the fishing public noticed 
lower steelhead populations and in 1994 implemented harvest restrictions across Southeast Alaska. 
Subsequently, the Forest Service and ADF&G have monitored steelhead escapement in some Prince of 
Wales Island streams, but not the Klawock River. These counts have shown that steelhead escapement 
is highly variable from one year to the next (Harding and Coyle 2011). Each year, adult returns consist 
of both first time and repeat spawners (referred to as kelts), each consisting of multiple age classes. 
Spawning occurs in the spring. No predictive models have been developed to identify years when 
harvestable surplus of steelhead may be available (Lohr and Bryant 1999). Therefore, local Federal 
managers monitor harvests through interviews with and phone calls to anglers to determine harvest 
rates by fishermen. Law enforcement officers check anglers to insure they have the proper permits or 
licenses. The local Federal managers have the authority to restrict fishing, including in the Klawock River 
drainage, if conservation concerns arise. 

The Klawock hatchery released steelhead into the Klawock River drainage beginning in the 1980s (Bentz 
et al. 1996, Freeman and Hoffman 1989). Sport fishers were allowed to keep 2 fish per day if at least 
one had a clipped adipose fin, indicating hatchery origin, as evidence by a healed scar. Public reports 
and one on-site creel survey conducted in 1987/88 indicated that 25% to 50% of the harvest in Klawock 
River were hatchery fish. However, biologists were unable to tell if the enhancement was creating 
more steelhead or replacing wild steelhead (Bentz et al. 1996, Freeman and Hoffman 1989). Steelhead 
enhancement ceased in 2005 (Goodness 2012, pers. comm.). Since then, Chilcote et al. (2011) have 
shown that hatchery steelhead have a high likelihood of causing harm to wild stocks. 

Rainbow Trout, Cutthroat Trout, and Dolly Varden (in Tlingit, collectively, x’wáat’)

There is limited information on the status of trout and char populations known to exist in the Klawock 
River. 



45Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

Coho Salmon (L’uk, Táay)

The total escapement of coho salmon through the weir was estimated to be 10,838 fish in 2003 
(Cartwright and Conitz 2006). Reliable escapement estimates for other years is not available (Cartwright 
and Conitz 2006, Lewis and Zadina 2001).

The Klawock hatchery has conducted coho salmon enhancement since the 1980s. In 2011, the hatchery 
released about 4.5 million coho salmon into the Klawock River drainage (POWHA 2012). The hatchery 
harvests 3,500 adult coho salmon at its weir on the Klawock River. The eggs, or brood stock, are needed 
for spawning at the hatchery. Additionally, every summer a seafood company is contracted to purchase 
coho salmon for cost recovery, extra fish that come back to the facility each summer above the 3,500 
fish needed for brood stock and escapement. However, in 2011, hatchery staff were not able to harvest 
the necessary number of coho salmon for brood stock or cost recovery. The low return was not predicted 
and could be due to several factors, including poor ocean conditions and feed availability. Returning 
coho salmon are usually 3 year olds, and most are caught by commercial salmon fishers. The hatchery 
is expecting almost 228,000 hatchery-produced coho salmon to return in 2012 (Goodness 2012, pers. 
comm.; POWHA 2012). 

Sockeye Salmon (Gaat, Sgwáagaan)

From 2001 to 2009 sockeye salmon were counted at the weir before entering Klawock Lake and 
escapement ranged from an estimated 11,333 fish in 2004 to 21,300 fish in 2003 (Table 5) (Bednarski 
2010). Reliable escapement estimates for other years are not available (Lewis and Zadina 2001). The 
hatchery released sockeye salmon into the Klawock system beginning in the 1980s until 2005.

Table 5. Sockeye salmon: estimated 
escapement into Klawock Lake.

Sockeye Salmon Escapement 

Year Escapement 
2009  b19,699
2008  21,165 
2007  17,500 
2006  14,757 
2005  14,800 
2004  11,333 
2003  21,300 
2002  12,600 
2001  13,109 
b Minimum estimate 

Harvest History 

Steelhead (Ashut, Tayang), Rainbow Trout, Dolly Varden, and Cutthroat Trout

In the Klawock River drainage, the steelhead harvest has ranged from 4 steelhead in 2008 to 28 steelhead 
in 2003 and 2011 (Table 6). The rainbow trout harvest has ranged from zero rainbow trout in 2008, 



46 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

2010, and 2011 to 42 rainbow trout in 2002 (Table 7). The Dolly Varden harvest has ranged from zero 
Dolly Varden in 2001, 2004, 2006, 2010, and 2011 to 594 Dolly Varden in 2003 (Table 8). The Federal 
subsistence harvests were reported on Federal Subsistence Fish Permits (FWS 2012). The State sport 
harvests were estimated from the Statewide Harvest Survey (ADF&G 2012a). There is no directed 
commercial fishery for trout in Southeast Alaska. There are no State subsistence fisheries for trout and 
char in Southeast Alaska. The State steelhead sport fishery is catch and release only. 

Cutthroat trout have been harvested in the State sport fishery but none have been reported in the Federal 
subsistence fishery since a season was opened in 2003.

Coho Salmon (L’uk, Táay)

Klawock River coho salmon are taken in Federal and State subsistence fisheries, the State sport fishery, 
and State commercial fisheries as shown below in Table 9. The harvest of coho salmon in the Federal 
subsistence fishery ranged from 29 coho salmon in 2006 to 402 in 2002 (Table 9). (The estimated harvest 
of coho in the State subsistence fishery 2007–20011 is not readily available at this time.) A natural run of 
coho salmon returns to the Klawock system and the Klawock hatchery releases large numbers of Klawock 
coho salmon annually. These coho salmon are released primarily for the benefit of the commercial fishery. 
On Table 9, the Federal subsistence harvest was reported on Federal Subsistence Fish Permits (FWS 
2012). The State subsistence harvest was estimated from reports on State Subsistence and Personal Use 
Salmon Permits (Naves et al. 2011). The State sport harvest was estimated from reports on the Statewide 
Harvest Survey (ADF&G 2012a). The State commercial harvest was estimated from tagged and fin 
clipped coho salmon reported in the commercial harvest (Vercessi 2012).

Table 6. Steelhead: Federal subsistence and State sport 
fishery harvests, Klawock River drainage.

Steelhead Harvest 
Federal Subsistence State Sport 

 Year 
Number of 

households that 
fished 

Steelhead 
harvest 

Steelhead 
harvest 

Total 
Harvest 

2011 24 28  Not available 28
2010 6 6 9 15
2009 5 6 0 6
2008 4 4 0 4
2007 4 5 0 5
2006 5 6 0 6
2005 6 6 0 6
2004 11 13 8 21
2003 12 13 15 28
2002 No season No season 0 0
2001 No season No season 0 0



47Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

Table 8. Dolly Varden: Federal subsistence and State sport 
fishery harvests, Klawock River drainage.

Dolly Varden Harvest 
Federal Subsistence State Sport 

 Year 
Number of 

households that 
fished 

Dolly Varden 
harvest 

Dolly Varden  
harvest 

Total 
Harvest 

2011 0 0 Not available 0
2010 0 0 0 0 
2009 1 2 55 57 
2008 0 0 99 99 
2007 1 1 21 22 
2006 0 0 0 0 
2005 0 0 132 132 
2004 0 0 0 0 
2003 0 0 594 594 
2002 No season No season 389 389 
2001 No season No season 0 0 

Table 7. Rainbow trout: Federal subsistence and State sport 
fishery harvests, Klawock River drainage.

Rainbow Trout Harvest 
Federal Subsistence State Sport 

 Year 
Number of 

households that 
fished 

Rainbow trout 
harvest 

Rainbow trout 
harvest 

Total 
Harvest 

2011 0 0 Not available 0
2010 0 0 0 0 
2009 5 18 13 31 
2008 0 0 0 0 
2007 1 1 12 13 
2006 3 6 11 17 
2005 2 8 22 30 
2004 3 6 0 6 
2003 0 0 32 32 
2002 No season No season 42 42 
2001 No season No season 8 8 

Sockeye Salmon (Gaat, Sgwáagaan)

Klawock Lake sockeye salmon are taken in Federal and State subsistence fisheries, the State sport fishery, 
and State commercial fisheries as shown below in Table 10. The harvest of sockeye salmon in the Federal 
subsistence fishery ranged from zero in 2004 and 2005 to 301 in 2009 (Table 9). The Federal subsistence 
harvest was reported on Federal Subsistence Fish Permits (FWS 2012). The State subsistence sockeye 



48 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

Table 10. Sockeye salmon: the estimated harvest of Klawock-bound fish.

Sockeye Salmon Harvest 

 Year 

Federal  State

Subsistence Subsistence Sport Commercial 

Number of 
households 

that fished 

Sockeye 
salmon 
harvest 

Sockeye 
salmon 
harvest 

Sockeye 
salmon 
harvest 

Sockeye salmon   
harvest 

2011 6 57 Not available Not available Unknown 

2010 13 247 Not available 0 Unknown 

2009 25 301 5,900 0 Unknown 

2008 3 9 6,700  0 Unknown 

2007 4 45 2,600 0 Unknown 

2006 6 15 3,100 0 Unknown 

2005 0 0 175 0 Unknown 

2004 0 0 4,500 0 Unknown 

2003 3 7 6,000 0 Unknown 

2002 No season No season 6,000 0 Unknown 

2001 No season No season 6,400 0 Unknown 

Table 9. Coho salmon: the estimated harvest of Klawock-bound fish. 

Coho Salmon Harvest 

 Year 

Federal  State
Subsistence Subsistence Sport Commercial 

Number of 
households 
that fished 

Coho salmon 
harvest 

Coho salmon 
harvest 

Coho salmon 
harvest 

Coho salmon   
harvest 

2011 33 219 Not available Not available 93,709
2010 46 346 Not available 1,148 3,031
2009 8 44 Not available 1,500 8,680
2008 30 215 Not available 3,997 35,457
2007 9 34 Not available 2,792 29,531
2006 9 29 94 2,540 13,318
2005 6 73 57 717 61,738
2004 28 140 65 1,687 20,273
2003 67 402 13 1,246 39,446
2002 No season No season 34 961 12,148
2001 No season No season 72 367 18,893



49Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

salmon harvest was estimated after on-site creel surveys (Bednarski 2010). The State sport harvest was 
estimated from reports on the Statewide Harvest Survey (ADF&G 2012a). The number of Klawock 
sockeye salmon harvested in commercial fisheries is not known but is assumed to be a small, incidental 
component of mixed stock fisheries, mainly along the west coast of Prince of Wales Island (Bednarski 
2010). 

In 2005, the sockeye salmon subsistence harvest in the Klawock area was particularly low compared 
to other years. The run was very late. It was not until mid-August that sockeye salmon started moving 
through the weir (Reeves 2012, pers. comm.). While Klawock residents are known to harvest most of 
their salmon from returning Klawock runs, people may also go to the Sarkar River, particularly in years of 
low abundance in the Klawock system (Ratner et al. 2006)

Current Events

In 2011, a separate Federal Designated Fish Permit was available for the first time in Southeast Alaska. 
Previously, designated fishers were required to have the general Federal Fish Permit only. Therefore, 
the number of designated fishers and the harvest of fish by designated fishers in past years is unknown. 
In 2011, two island residents obtained Federal Designated Fish Permits from the Craig office of the 
Forest Service and used them to harvest steelhead during the winter season, December 1, 2011–February 
28, 2012. The harvest limit was two steelhead per household per season. A designated harvester can 
have two harvest limits in possession. In this case, together they could have up to eight steelhead in 
possession. They were observed with eight steelhead in possession and reported to law enforcement. Law 
enforcement concluded that the designated harvesters did not violate regulations (Reeves 2012, pers. 
comm.). Consequently, during the spring season, March 1, 2012–May 31, 2012, due to conservation 
concerns the Forest Service reduced the harvest limit in the Klawock River drainage from five to two 
steelhead per household. Additionally, no bait was allowed downstream of the weir. The action was 
justified because of the higher than expected harvest of steelhead during the winter fishery (USFS 2012). 

Other Relevant Proposals

Action on Proposal FP13-18/23 currently under consideration may affect the decision on this proposal. 
Proposal FP13-18 requests that household harvest limits for steelhead be placed on individual streams 
located on Prince of Wales and Kosciusko islands, and that the overall harvest quota be removed. 
Proposal FP13-23 requests that household harvest limits for steelhead be placed on the Klawock River. 

Effects of the Proposal

This was the second year that designated fishers were required to get a separate Federal Designated Fish 
Permit from the Craig Ranger District, and five people got permits. Because the number of designated 
fishers and the harvest of fish by designated fishers in past years is unknown, it is unclear if making a 
separate permit available increases the number of designated fishers in the future. At this time, very few 
fishers obtained Federal Designated Fish Permits. 

A Federally qualified user must obtain a Designated Fish Permit before taking more than one harvest 
limit of steelhead, rainbow trout, cutthroat trout, Dolly Varden, coho salmon, or sockeye salmon from the 
Klawock River. Other species of fish have no harvest limits and consequently a Federal Designated Fish 
Permit is not necessary. 



50 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

If this proposal is adopted, only elders unable to fish for themselves, or people who are severely disabled, 
would be allowed to designate another person to fish for them in the Klawock River. Definitions of elder 
and severely disabled would have to be created in Federal regulations. 

Further, if this proposal is adopted, populations of rainbow trout, cutthroat trout, Dolly Varden, coho 
salmon, and sockeye salmon are not likely to be affected because there are no conservation concerns 
at this time. However, the Forest Service has some conservation concerns for steelhead. If the proposal 
is adopted, there may be some protection for steelhead; however, a conservation concern remains that 
designated fishers would continue to be allowed to have up to 2 harvest limits in possession from the 
Klawock River, that is, up to 4 steelhead during the winter fishery and up to 10 steelhead in the spring 
fishery. While allowing any Federally qualified subsistence user to obtain a designated harvester permit 
supports the traditional practice of fishing for others, opportunities for other qualified users to harvest 
steelhead may be diminished if the Forest Service must limit the fishery preseason or inseason due to 
concerns that steelhead will be overharvested.

If this proposal is not adopted, subsistence users and steelhead populations would possibly be affected if 
subsistence harvests remain high or increase. As a consequence, Federal managers would likely restrict 
the steelhead fishery on the Klawock system for all eligible subsistence users. 

OSM CONCLUSION

If Proposal FP13-18 or 23 is adopted, oppose Proposal FP13-24. 

If Proposal FP13-18 or 23 is not adopted, support Proposal FP13-24 with modification to delete 
requirements to be an elder or severely disabled and to include the requirement that designated fishers be 
limited to one harvest limit of steelhead in possession, rather than two harvest limits currently allowed, in 
the Klawock River drainage.

The modified regulation should read:

§___.27(e) Subsistence taking of fish: Fishery management area restrictions

(13) Southeastern Alaska Area

 (xxi) In the Klawock River drainage, a designated fisherman may not have more than one 
harvest limit of steelhead in his or her possession at any one time. 

Justification

Proposals FP13-18 and 23 request limiting the harvest of steelhead by further restricting harvest and 
possession limits. If neither proposal is adopted, Proposal FP13-24 would provide steelhead some 
protection from overharvest. The proposal has been modified for several reasons. The Federal subsistence 
harvest of fish, except steelhead, from the Klawock River is not a conservation concern and thus species 
other than steelhead are not included in the modification. Concerning steelhead, the reported harvest was 
28 fish in 2011, up from 4 to 6 fish annually between 2005 and 2010 (Table 6). While the size of the 
run of steelhead into the Klawock system is unknown, it is likely to be small, under 300 adults per year 
(Reeves 2012, pers. comm.). Consequently, Federal managers found it necessary to place restrictions 
on the harvest of steelhead from the Klawock River during the spring steelhead fishery in 2012. Tools 
to reduce harvests include lowering harvest limits, shortening seasons, and not allowing bait; Federal 
managers have been delegated authority to use these tools preseason and inseason. Federal managers do 



51Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

not have the authority to modify the designated fisher regulation. The proponent’s concern is justified 
concerning steelhead, but limiting designated fishers to one harvest limit in possession would likely 
be more effective at reducing the harvest than limiting who can be a beneficiary, as requested by the 
proponent. This is because reducing the allowable possession limit has the direct effect of limiting the 
number of steelhead any person can harvest at one time from the Klawock system while maintaining 
opportunity for other subsistence users. The ability to fish for others makes legal the activities of super-
households in rural communities, providing flexibility in harvest regulations.

LITERATURE CITED

ADF&G (Alaska Department of Fish and Game). 2012a. Alaska Sport Fishing Survey, Survey Area B Estimates. 
<http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/sportfishingsurvey/index.cfm?ADFG=area.results>, retrieved May 9, 2012. Division 
of Sport Fish. Juneau.

ADF&G. 2012b. Community Subsistence Information System. <http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sb/CSIS/>, retrieved 
May 19, 2012. Division of Subsistence, Juneau.

Andrews, E.F. 1988. The harvest of fish and wildlife for subsistence by residents of Minto, Alaska. ADF&G, Div. of 
Subsistence Tech. Paper No. 137. Juneau.

Bednarski, J. 2010. Klawock subsistence sockeye salmon project 2009 annual and final report. ADF&G, Regional 
Information Report 1J10-15, Douglas, Alaska. 25 pages. <http://alaska.fws.gov/asm/fisreportdetail.cfm?fisrep=26>

Bentz, R., P. Suchanek, M. Bethers, S. Hoffman, A. Schmidt, M. Dean, and R. Johnson. 1996. Area management 
report for the sport fisheries of Southeast Alaska, 1994. ADF&G, Fishery Management Report No. 96-1, Anchorage. 
<http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/publications/index.cfm?ADFG=main.home>

Cartwright, M.A., and J.M. Conitz. 2006. Klawock Lake sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) stock assessment 
project 2003 Annual Report and 2001–2003 final report. ADF&G, Fishery Data Series No. 06-64. Anchorage. 53 
pages. <http://alaska.fws.gov/asm/fisreportdetail.cfm?fisrep=26>

Chilcote, M.W., K.W. Goodson, and M.R. Falcy. 2011. Reproductive recruitment performance in natural populations 
of anadromous salmonids associated with hatchery-reared fish. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 
68:511–522. 

Christianson, A., C. Needham, P. Petrivelli, J. Reeves. 2011. Prince of Wales steelhead subsistence harvest study. 
FWS, OSM, Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program, Final Report (Study No. 08-650). Hydaburg Cooperative 
Association, Hydaburg, Alaska.

Conitz, J.M. 2009. Klawock Lake subsistence sockeye salmon project 2007 annual report. ADF&G Fishery Data 
Series No. 09-62. Anchorage. http://alaska.fws.gov/asm/fisreportdetail.cfm?fisrep=26

Conitz, J.M. 2010. Klawock Lake subsistence sockeye salmon project 2008 annual report. ADF&G, Fishery Data 
Series No. 10-10. Anchorage. 33 pages. <http://alaska.fws.gov/asm/fisreportdetail.cfm?fisrep=26>

Conitz, J.M., and M.A. Cartwright. 2007. Klawock Lake subsistence sockeye salmon project 2005 annual report. 
ADF&G, Fishery Data Series No. 07-42. Anchorage. 36 pages. <http://alaska.fws.gov/asm/fisreportdetail.
cfm?fisrep=26>

Conitz, J.M., M.A. Cartwright, and H.J. Geiger. 2006. Klawock Lake subsistence sockeye salmon project 2004 
annual report. ADF&G, Fishery Data Series No. 06-72, Anchorage. 40 pages.



52 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

Ellanna, L.J., and G.K. Sherrod. 1986. Timber management and fish and wildlife use in selected Southeastern Alaska 
communities: Klawock, Prince of Wales Island, Alaska. ADF&G Div. of Subsistence Tech. Paper No. 126. Juneau. 
180 pages. <http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/publications/index.cfm?ADFG=addLine.home>

Freeman, G. M., and S. H. Hoffman. 1989. Steelhead Oncorhynchus mykiss creel census on the Klawock River, 
southeast Alaska, 1987-1988. ADF&G, Fishery Data Series No. 118, Juneau. 

FWS (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service). 2012. Subsistence harvest database. On file, Office of Subsistence 
Management, Anchorage.

Goldschmidt, W. R., and T. Haas. 2000 [1946]. Haa Aani: Our Land. Tlingit and Haida land rights and use. 
University of Washington Press, Seattle and London; and Sealaska Heritage Foundation; Juneau, AK. 219 pages.

Goodness, D. 2012. Manager. Personal communication by telephone. Prince of Wales Hatchery Association. 
Klawock, Alaska. 

Harding, R. D., and C. L. Coyle. 2011. Southeast Alaska steelhead, trout, and Dolly Varden management. ADF&G, 
Special Publication No. 11-17, Anchorage. 

Langdon, S.J. 2006. Traditional knowledge and harvesting of salmon by Huna and Hinyaa Tlingit. FWS, OSM, 
Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program, Final Report (Project No. 02-104), Anchorage. 194 pages. <http://alaska.
fws.gov/asm/fisreportdetail.cfm?fisrep=26>

Lewis, B.A., and T.P. Zadina. 2001.The history of the subsistence and commercial fisheries, stock assessment and 
enhancement activities, and watershed disturbances in the Klawock Lake drainage on Prince of Wales Island 2000 
annual report. ADF&G, Regional Information Report No. 1J01-39. Juneau. 37 pages.

Lohr, S.C., and M.D. Bryant. 1999. Biological characteristics and population status of steelhead (Oncorhynchus 
mykiss) in southeast Alaska. U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station, 
Gen. Tech. Report PNW-GTR-407. Portland, Oregon. 29 pages.

Magdanz, J.S., C.J. Utermohle, and R. J. Wolfe. 2002. The organization of subsistence food production in two 
Inupiaq communities, Wales and Deering, Alaska. ADF&G, Div. of Subsistence Tech. Paper No. 259, Juneau, AK.

Naves, L.C., M.F. Turek, and W.E. Simeone. 2010. Subsistence-personal use salmon harvest, Southeast-Yakutat 
management region, 1996-2006. ADF&G Div. of Subsistence Tech. Paper No. 350. Juneau, AK. 202 pages. <http://
www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/publications/index.cfm?ADFG=main.home>

POWHA (Prince of Wales Hatchery Association). 2012. <http://powha.org/index.html>, retrieved May 11, 2012. 
Klawock, Alaska.

Price, R.E. 1990. The great father in Alaska: the case of the Tlingit and Haida salmon fishery. First Street Press. 
Douglas, Alaska. 203 pages.

Ratner, N.C., P. Brown, J.A. Dizard, A. Paige, J. Rowan, M. Smith, M.F. Turek, and D. Yates. 2006. Local 
knowledge, customary practices, and harvest of sockeye salmon from the Klawock and Sarkar rivers, Prince of 
Wales Island, Alaska. ADF&G Div. of Subsistence, Tech. Paper No. 308. Juneau. 164 pages. <http://alaska.fws.gov/
asm/fisreportdetail.cfm?fisrep=26>

Reeves, J. 2012. Fishery biologist. Personal communication: by telephone. U.S. Forest Service. Craig, Alaska.

Sahlins, M D. 1972. Stone age economics. Aldine Publishing Company, New York.



53Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

Sumida, V.A. 1989. Patterns of fish and wildlife harvest and use in Beaver, Alaska. ADF&G, Div. of Subsistence, 
Tech. Paper No. 140, Juneau.

Sumida, V.A, and D.B. Andersen. 1990. Patterns of fish and wildlife use for subsistence in Fort Yukon, Alaska. 
ADF&G Div. of Subsistence Tech. Paper No. 179. Juneau.

Turek, M.F., 2005. Prince of Wales Island subsistence steelhead harvest and use pattern. ADF&G Div. of 
Subsistence Tech. Paper No. 293. Juneau. 46 pages.

U.S. Census. 2012. <http://www.census.gov/>, retrieved May 18, 2012.

USFS (U.S. Forest Service). 2012. Federal Subsistence Board news release. Federal subsistence fishery for 
steelhead restricted in Federal waters of the Klawock River drainage. <http://www.fs.fed.us/r10/tongass/newsroom/
FedSubBd2012KlawockSteelheadClosureNR.pdf>, retrieved April 27, 2012. Craig. 1 page.

Wolfe, R.J. 1981. Norton Sound/Yukon Delta Sociocultural Systems Baseline Analysis, Technical Report No. 59, 
Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Subsistence, Juneau.

Wolfe, R.J. 1987. The super-household: specialization in subsistence economies. Paper presented at the 14th Annual 
Meeting of the Alaska Anthropological Association, March 12-13, 1987, Anchorage.

Wolfe, R. J., and Ellana, L. 1983. Resource use and socioeconomic systems: case studies of fishing and hunting 
in Alaskan communities. ADF&G Div. of Subsistence Tech. Paper No. 61. Juneau. <http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/
techpap/tp061.pdf>

Wolfe, R.J., C.L. Scott, W.E. Simeone, C.J. Utermohle, and M.C. Pete. 2007. The “Super-Household” in Alaska 
Native subsistence economics. National Science Foundation, ARC 0352677. Washington DC. 31 pages.

Wolfe, R.J., and R.J. Walker. 1987. Subsistence economies in Alaska: Productivity, geography, and development 
impacts. Arctic Anthropology 24(2): 56–81.

Wolfe, R.J., J.J. Gross, S.J. Langdon, J.M. Wright, G.K. Sherrod, L.J. Ellanna, V.Sumida, and P.J. Usher. 1984. 
Subsistence-based economies in coastal communities of Southwest Alaska. ADF&G, Div. of Subsistence, Tech. 
Paper No. 59. Juneau. 270 pages.

Vercessi, L. 2012. Alaska salmon fisheries enhancement program 2011 annual report. ADF&G, Fishery Management 
Report No. 12-04, Anchorage. 53 pages. <Verchttp://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=fishingHatcheriesOtherI
nfo.reports>



54 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION

SOUTHEAST ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: It would be an unnecessary restriction to subsistence uses. The preferred alternative to 
address the subsistence steelhead fishery on the Klawock River and the remainder of streams on Prince of 
Wales Island is captured in the Council’s recommendation to support proposal FP13-18.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



55Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

ADF&G Comments on FP13-24 
Page 1 of 2 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-24:  Restrict designated fishers on Klawock River to only be allowed 
to fish for elders who are unable to fish for themselves or people who are severely disabled.   
 
Introduction:  This proposal, brought by James See of Craig, AK, requests that designated 
harvest permits for those who want another to fish for them on Klawock River be issued only to 
elders who are unable to fish for themselves and people who are severely disables.   
 
The proponent’s justification for this change is “[There is a] very limited resource on the 
Klawock River and I believe it is being abused.  [He hopes] this regulation change will help 
sustain the run of fish [steelhead trout].” 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  If this proposal is adopted, individual federal subsistence users 
who fish for others with a designated harvest permit would only be allowed to fish for elders 
who are unable to fish for themselves and people who are severely disabled. 
 
Impact on Other Users:  Since the intent of this proposal is to reduce the designated fish permit 
harvest and eliminate a perceived abuse, in theory, adoption of this proposal would provide 
greater opportunities for other federally-qualified subsistence users and sport/recreational users 
to catch fish. 
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  Alaska Statute (AS) 16.05.405 allows a resident to take fish 
or game harvested primarily for food on behalf of another person and outlines the requirement 
that must be met in order to do so.  AS 16.05.404(c) states a resident holding a valid 
noncommercial fishing license may take fish on behalf of a person who is blind, a person with 
physical disabilities, or a person who is 65 years of age or older if the resident possesses, on the 
resident’s person, a document signed by the person on whose behalf the fish is taken, stating that 
the resident possesses the person’s sport fishing license, subsistence fishing permit, personal use 
fishing permit, or permanent identification card in order to take fish on behalf of that person.   
AS 16.05.404(e) states a resident who takes, or attempts to take, fish on behalf of a person may 
also engage in fishing for the resident’s use; however, the resident may not take or attempt to 
take fish by proxy for more than one person at a time. 
 
Alaska regulation 5 AAC 01.011 specifies conditions whereby finfish may be taken by 
subsistence fishing by proxy.   
 
Conservation Issues:  Little historical or current information is available to document steelhead 
trout population sizes, characteristics, run timing, and spatial distribution in the majority of the 
85 Prince of Wales Island streams that contain this species Hoffman (2008).  Lack of data on 
these stocks has hampered efforts to assess the potential effects of directed subsistence harvest 
and prevents refinement of federal regulations that, when coupled with conservative state sport 
fishing regulations, would ensure adequate conservation and allow for expanded subsistence 
harvest opportunities.  
 



56 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-24

ADF&G Comments on FP13-24 
Page 2 of 2 

Enforcement Issues:  Enforcement difficulties and user confusion -- concerning where and how 
federal regulations that are different than state regulations apply -- will result unless detailed 
maps and explanations specific to the area are provided. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  The Federal Subsistence Board does not have the authority to regulate 
nonfederally-qualified users participating in fisheries on waters outside of federal subsistence 
jurisdiction. 
 
Other Issues:  Should the board move forward with further qualifying requirements for 
designated harvesters, the qualifications adopted should be the least divergent from that of the 
state and neighboring areas to reduce user confusion and enforcement complications. 
 
Recommendation:  Support with modification.  Amend to criteria to match that of the state. 
 
 



57Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19

FP13-19 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-19  requests that the annual guideline harvest level 

(GHL) for the subsistence sockeye salmon fishery on the Stikine 
River be increased from 600 sockeye salmon to 2,000 sockeye 
salmon. Submitted by the Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional 
Advisory Council

Proposed Regulation §___.27(e)(13) (xiv) (E) The total annual guideline harvest level 
for the Stikine River fishery is 125 Chinook, 600 2,000 sockeye, and 
400 coho salmon. All salmon harvested, including incidentally taken 
salmon, will count against the guideline for that species.

OSM Conclusion Support Proposal FP13-19 with modification to eliminate the 
subsistence sockeye salmon annual guideline harvest levelannual guideline harvest level from 
Federal regulation.

The modified regulation should read: 

§___.27(e)(13) (xiv) You may take Chinook, sockeye, and coho 
salmon in the mainstem of the Stikine River only under the authority 
of a Federal subsistence fishing permit. Each Stikine River permit 
will be issued to a household. Only dip nets, spears, gaffs, rod and 
reel, beach seine, or gillnets not exceeding 15 fathoms in length may 
be used. The maximum gillnet mesh size is 51/2; inches, except during 
the Chinook season when the maximum gillnet mesh size is 8 inches.

(A) You may take Chinook salmon from May 15 through June 20. 
The annual limit is 5 Chinook salmon per household.

(B) You may take sockeye salmon from June 21 through July 31. 
The annual limit is 40 sockeye salmon per household.

(C) You may take coho salmon from August 1 through October 1. 
The annual limit is 20 coho salmon per household.

(D) You may retain other salmon taken incidentally by gear 
operated under terms of this permit. The incidentally taken salmon 
must be reported on your permit calendar.

(E) The total annual guideline harvest level for the Stikine River 
fishery is 125 Chinook, 600 sockeye, and 400 coho salmon. All 
salmon harvested, including incidentally taken salmon, will count 
against the guideline for that species.

Southeast Regional Council 
Recommendation

Support Proposal FP13-19 with modification to eliminate the 
subsistence sockeye salmon annual guideline harvest levelannual guideline harvest level from 
Federal regulation. (See OSM Conclusion for regulation language.)

continued on next page



58 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19

FP13-19 Executive Summary (continued)
Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Defer, pending consideration by the Transboundary River Panel and 
the Pacific Salmon Commission.

Written Public Comments See comment following the analysis.



59Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19

Staff Analysis
FP13-19

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-19, submitted by the Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council (Council), 
requests that the annual guideline harvest level (GHL) for the subsistence sockeye salmon fishery on the 
Stikine River be increased from 600 sockeye salmon to 2,000 sockeye salmon.

DISCUSSION

Components of Federal regulations, including the GHLs, are contained in Annex IV of the U.S./Canada 
Pacific Salmon Treaty of 1985, as last amended in January 2009 (Treaty). Proposals for subsistence 
fishing regulatory changes on the Stikine River for Chinook, sockeye, and coho salmon that require 
changes to the Treaty are first authorized by the Federal Subsistence Board (Board) with implementation 
contingent upon concurrence by the Pacific Salmon Commission (PSC) through the Transboundary Panel 
(TBR).

The first Stikine River subsistence fishery was approved for sockeye salmon in 2004. There was 
considerable uncertainty regarding the potential catch per unit effort and level of participation. However, 
since there is a Canadian-U.S. harvest allocation established each year for the sockeye salmon fishery, 
there was a management need for an annual subsistence fishery harvest estimate (GHL). The subsistence 
fishery is part of the total U.S. allocation and the subsistence fishery guideline harvest level provides the 
State of Alaska fishery managers a sense of scale of the anticipated harvest in the subsistence fishery. The 
GHLs specified in regulation and in Annex IV were the Federal and State manager’s best estimates of 
potential harvest based on the information that was available at that time.

Existing Federal Regulation

§___.27(e)(13) (xiv) You may take Chinook, sockeye, and coho salmon in the mainstem of the 
Stikine River only under the authority of a Federal subsistence fishing permit. Each Stikine River 
permit will be issued to a household. Only dip nets, spears, gaffs, rod and reel, beach seine, or 
gillnets not exceeding 15 fathoms in length may be used. The maximum gillnet mesh size is 51/2; 
inches, except during the Chinook season when the maximum gillnet mesh size is 8 inches.

(A) You may take Chinook salmon from May 15 through June 20. The annual limit is 5 Chinook 
salmon per household.

(B) You may take sockeye salmon from June 21 through July 31. The annual limit is 40 sockeye 
salmon per household.

(C) You may take coho salmon from August 1 through October 1. The annual limit is 20 coho 
salmon per household.

(D) You may retain other salmon taken incidentally by gear operated under terms of this 
permit. The incidentally taken salmon must be reported on your permit calendar.

(E) The total annual guideline harvest level for the Stikine River fishery is 125 Chinook, 600 
sockeye, and 400 coho salmon. All salmon harvested, including incidentally taken salmon, will 
count against the guideline for that species.



60 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19

Proposed Federal Regulation

§___.27(e)(13) (xiv) You may take Chinook, sockeye, and coho salmon in the mainstem of the 
Stikine River only under the authority of a Federal subsistence fishing permit. Each Stikine River 
permit will be issued to a household. Only dip nets, spears, gaffs, rod and reel, beach seine, or 
gillnets not exceeding 15 fathoms in length may be used. The maximum gillnet mesh size is 51/2; 
inches, except during the Chinook season when the maximum gillnet mesh size is 8 inches.

(A) You may take Chinook salmon from May 15 through June 20. The annual limit is 5 Chinook 
salmon per household.

(B) You may take sockeye salmon from June 21 through July 31. The annual limit is 40 sockeye 
salmon per household.

(C) You may take coho salmon from August 1 through October 1. The annual limit is 20 coho 
salmon per household.

(D) You may retain other salmon taken incidentally by gear operated under terms of this 
permit. The incidentally taken salmon must be reported on your permit calendar.

(E) The total annual guideline harvest level for the Stikine River fishery is 125 Chinook, 600 
2,000 sockeye, and 400 coho salmon. All salmon harvested, including incidentally taken 
salmon, will count against the guideline for that species.

Existing State Regulation

The Stikine River and tributaries are open to sport fishing for sockeye, pink, chum, and coho salmon with 
a harvest limit of 6 fish daily and 12 in possession. State of Alaska sport fishing regulations for Southeast 
Alaska generally prohibit fishing for Chinook salmon in freshwater, including the Stikine River. The State 
Board of Fisheries has made a positive customary and traditional use determination for salmon in the 
Stikine River but no subsistence fishery is authorized targeting sockeye salmon of Stikine River origin. 
The Stikine River commercial gillnet fishery encompasses the waters of District 8 surrounding the 
terminus of the Stikine River and not in waters under Federal jurisdiction. The directed sockeye 
fishery is dependent on the preseason forecast for Stikine River sockeye salmon. Subsequent 
openings are determined in-season based on catches and stock proportion data. The Chinook, sockeye 
and coho salmon commercial fisheries are managed in accordance with the Transboundary Rivers 
Annex of the Pacific Salmon Treaty (PSC 2011).

Extent of Federal Public Waters

For purposes of this discussion, the phrase “Federal public waters” is defined as those waters described 
under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR 100.3.

All waters of the Stikine River downstream from the Canadian border are within the exterior boundaries 
of the Tongass National Forest and are considered Federal public waters for the purposes of Federal 
subsistence fisheries management. For the Stikine River, non-marine waters include all portions of 
the Stikine River inland from the point of Federal jurisdiction at Point Rothsay to the Canadian border 
(Figure 1). All portions of the Stikine watershed in the United States are part of the Stikine-LeConte 
Wilderness Area.



61Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations

The Stikine River drains into commercial fishing District 8. Residents of drainages flowing into District 
6 north of the latitude of Point Alexander (Mitkof Island); residents of drainages flowing into Districts 7 
and 8, including the communities of Petersburg and Wrangell; and residents of the community of Meyers 
Chuck have a positive customary and traditional use finding for salmon, Dolly Varden, trout, smelt and 
eulachon.

Regulatory History

The original proposal to establish a Federal subsistence salmon fishery on the Stikine River, (FP01-27) 
was submitted in 2000 by Mr. Dick Stokes, a resident of Wrangell. That proposal specified a Chinook 
salmon fishery from June 1 to August 1, a sockeye salmon fishery from June 15 to September 1, and 
a coho salmon fishery from July 15 to October 1. The Board deferred action on this proposal, pending 
coordination with the PSC.

The Board made a positive customary and traditional use determination for salmon, Dolly Varden, trout, 
smelt and eulachon for residents living in or near the communities of Wrangell, Petersburg and Meyers 
Chuck (FP04-29) in 2004. The Board also adopted methods, a season, and guideline harvest limits for 
Chinook, sockeye, and coho salmon (FP04-40). The Transboundary River Panel and the Pacific Salmon 
Commission concurred with the Board and a subsistence fishery for sockeye salmon was opened during 

Figure 1. Stikine River, Federal public waters and prominent features.



62 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19

the 2004 season, but with a season starting date of July 1 instead of June 15. By action of the Board, and 
coordination with the TBR and PSC, directed fisheries for Chinook and coho salmon were added prior 
to the 2005 season. The Board approved (with concurrence of the PSC) a change in the mesh size from 
5 ½ inches to 8 inches (FSA05-01) for the new Chinook salmon fishery effective for the 2005 season. 
Regulatory changes for the 2006 season included an increase in the mesh size of gillnets during the 
Chinook fishery to 8 inch stretched mesh (FP06-27) and an earlier starting date for the sockeye fishery 
(FP06-28 and 29). There were no changes in subsistence fishing regulations or permit conditions for 
the 2007 fishing season. In 2008, two regulatory changes were made to the subsistence fishery. The 
first change made subsistence fishing permits valid for the length of the fishing season, May 15 through 
October 1. The second change moved the start date of the subsistence coho salmon fishery from August 
15 to August 1 (FP08-03). Changing the coho fishery start date allowed continuous subsistence fishing 
between May 15 and October 1. There were no subsequent changes to the regulations for the 2009-2011 
seasons. The Federal subsistence fishing permit database was upgraded to a web based application for the 
2011 fishing season. This change allowed subsistence fishing permits to be printed at each U.S. Forest 
Service District Office and subsistence reports directly entered by field staff.

Harvest History

Between 1995 and 2001, ADF&G authorized an in-river personal use fishery for sockeye salmon in 
the Stikine River. Participation in the personal use fishery was minimal, and only 28 sockeye salmon 
were reported harvested in 2001. The personal use fishery was not opened in 2002 due to conservation 
concerns for the Tahltan stock, a Canadian tributary to the Stikine River. Currently, there is not a personal 
use or subsistence fishery authorized in State regulations for the Stikine River. 

Federal permits are required for subsistence fishing on the Stikine River. Weekly harvest estimates 
are derived from telephone interviews and fishery performance data. The use of permits and in-season 
reporting are designed to provide Federal, State and Canadian fishery managers with real time harvest 
estimates. There have not been any Federal in-season special actions to curtail harvests. 

Sport fishing for Chinook salmon is prohibited on the Stikine River. There is a small harvest of other 
salmon by sport fishers in the U.S. in tributaries to the Stikine River, but harvest numbers are too low to 
be included in any site-specific sport fishing harvest estimates (Fleming 2012, pers. comm.). A small, but 
unknown number of sockeye, coho, and steelhead are harvested by sport fishers in Canada.

The first harvests under Federal subsistence management regulations occurred in 2004 when 40 permits 
were issued and 243 sockeye salmon harvested. Participation and the subsistence sockeye salmon harvest 
has increased with 129 permits harvesting a total of 1,755 sockeye salmon in 2011 (Table 1). The great 
majority but not all the sockeye salmon are caught during the June 21 to July 31 sockeye salmon season 
(Table 2). The 2012 Stikine River subsistence fishery summary report prepared for the PSC is attached as 
Appendix 1.

The preliminary pre-season U.S. total allowable catch for the 2012 season was 31,000 sockeye salmon 
(ADF&G 2012). The in-season total allowable catch allocation for the 2012 season was approximately The in-season total allowable catch allocation for the 2012 season was approximately 
22,000 sockeye salmon. The preliminary actual U.S. harvest for the 2012 season is 25,700 (24,300 22,000 sockeye salmon. The preliminary actual U.S. harvest for the 2012 season is 25,700 (24,300 
commercial, 1,400 subsistence) sockeye salmon.commercial, 1,400 subsistence) sockeye salmon.

Other Alternatives Considered

A logical alternative to changing the guideline harvest from one number to another number would be to 
eliminate the guideline harvest level in the Treaty Annex. Specifying any number in the Treaty prompts 



63Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19

the question of what management actions are anticipated to attain that number. Federal managers do not 
consider the GHL as a target or quota. In-season management actions intended to increase or decrease the 
subsistence harvest to match the GHL are not anticipated. In-season actions for conservation are delegated 
to the U.S. Forest Service Wrangell District Ranger and will be implemented as part of an overall U.S.-
Canadian conservation strategy. Removing the GHL would prevent unrealistic in-season management 
expectations and allow the U.S. domestic regulatory process to allocate sockeye salmon within the total 
U.S. allowable catch.

Effects of the Proposal

The U.S.-Canada Pacific Salmon Treaty and its annexes specify GHLs for Chinook, sockeye and coho 
salmon. The following section of the Treaty explains how regulatory changes to the Stikine River 
subsistence fishery need to be approved by the PSC.

Annex IV, Chapter 1, Paragraph 3(a)(3)(vi) “d. Any proposed regulatory changes to the 
fishery during the remaining years of this annex would need to be reviewed by the bilateral 
Transboundary River Panel and approved by the Pacific Salmon Commission.”

Changes to subsistence regulations for any transboundary river that differ from the express terms of the 
Treaty language require a formal process with somewhat parallel tracks within the Federal subsistence 

Table 1. Summary of Stikine River subsistence harvest, 2004–2011.

Year Permits Chinook Chum Coho Trout
Dolly 
Varden Pink Sockeye Steelhead

2004 40 12 11 0 0 1 22 243 1
2005 35 15 22 53 0 4 69 252 0
2006 48 37 20 21 0 3 23 390 0
2007 44 36 11 23 0 1 59 244 2
2008 50 25 12 42 0 5 18 428 0
2009 80 31 46 21 1 20 66 723 2
2010 107 61 37 135 0 15 60 1,653 7
2011 129 66 71 40 0 3 189 1,755 5

Table 2. Stikine River subsistence sockeye salmon harvest by 
fishing season.

Year
Within-season Sockeye 
(June 21 to July 31)

Out-of-season Sockeye 
(<June 21 or >July 31)

2004 243 0
2005 233 19
2006 377 13
2007 178 66
2008 426 2
2009 706 17
2010 1,554 99
2011 1,686 69



64 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19

program and the Treaty process prior to implementation. To alter the text of the Treaty, the following 
would be the most ambitious timeline. The issue needs to be: 1) recommended for adoption by the 
Council at their meeting in September 2012; 2) be considered and have concurrence by the U.S. Section 
of the TBR in December 2012; 3) the issue included on the annual work plan for the bilateral TBR in 
January 2013; 4) reviewed by the TBR at their January 2013 meeting; 5) adopted by the Board pending 
concurrence by the PSC in January 2013; and 6) approved by the PSC during their annual meeting in 
February 2013. This was the process previously used to implement changes to the Stikine River sockeye 
and coho fishing seasons. Progress to date includes: 1) a recommendation by the Council at their 
September 2012 meeting to remove the subsistence fishing annual GHL for sockeye salmon, 2) the issue 
has been included as an agenda topic for the U.S. Section meeting scheduled for December 13, 2012 and 
3) the issue has been included on the agenda for the post-season meeting of the bilateral Panel at their 
January 2013 meeting in Vancouver BC.

The stocks of sockeye salmon in the Stikine River are healthy and there is no conservation issue with 
increasing the subsistence fishery guideline harvest by 1,400 fish. The subsistence fishery harvest is 
a component of the total U.S. allowable catch and a change of this magnitude is likely insignificant 
and well within management error when compared to the total size of the stock and the scale of other 
fisheries. Compared to the average return of 184,000 sockeye salmon between 2000 and 2010, a 2,000 
sockeye salmon subsistence guideline slightly exceeds 1% of the total return (Table 3).

The Stikine River subsistence fishery is maturing and it is obvious that managers can expect the 
subsistence sockeye harvest to exceed 600 fish unless there are significant in-season actions to restrict 
the fishery. It is anticipated that the rate of growth in this fishery will decline as there are a finite number 
of fishing sites and a finite number of participants with the equipment and interest that allows them to 
participate. Actual harvests in the future are unknown but a 2,000 sockeye salmon guideline harvest level 
would be much more useful to managers and be more representative of actual demand than the present 
guideline harvest level.

OSM CONCLUSION

Support Proposal FP13-19 with modification to eliminate the subsistence sockeye salmon annual annual 
guideline harvest levelguideline harvest level from Federal regulation.

The modified regulation should read: 

§___.27(e)(13) (xiv) You may take Chinook, sockeye, and coho salmon in the mainstem of the 
Stikine River only under the authority of a Federal subsistence fishing permit. Each Stikine River 
permit will be issued to a household. Only dip nets, spears, gaffs, rod and reel, beach seine, or 
gillnets not exceeding 15 fathoms in length may be used. The maximum gillnet mesh size is 51/2; 
inches, except during the Chinook season when the maximum gillnet mesh size is 8 inches.

(A) You may take Chinook salmon from May 15 through June 20. The annual limit is 5 Chinook 
salmon per household.

(B) You may take sockeye salmon from June 21 through July 31. The annual limit is 40 sockeye 
salmon per household.

(C) You may take coho salmon from August 1 through October 1. The annual limit is 20 coho 
salmon per household.



65Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19

Table 3. Stikine sockeye run sizes: 1979 – 2010 (2009 and 2010 data preliminary).

Year
In-river Run 
Size

In-river 
Catcha Escapementb Marine Catch

Terminal Run 
Sizec

i) Total Stikine Sockeye Stocks
1979 40,353 13,534 26,819 8,299 48,652
1980 62,743 20,919 41,824 23,206 85,949
1981 138,879 27,017 111,862 27,538 166,417
1982 68,761 20,540 48,221 42,804 111,565
1983 71,683 21,120 50,563 5,782 77,466
1984 76,211 5,327 70,884 7,810 84,021
1985 184,747 26,804 157,943 29,747 214,494
1986 69,036 17,846 51,190 6,420 75,456
1987 39,264 11,283 27,981 4,085 43,350
1988 41,915 16,538 25,377 3,181 45,096
1989 75,054 21,639 53,415 15,492 90,546
1990 57,386 19,964 37,422 9,856 67,242
1991 120,152 25,138 95,014 34,323 154,476
1992 154,542 29,242 125,300 77,394 231,936
1993 176,100 52,698 123,402 104,630 280,730
1994 127,527 53,380 74,147 80,509 208,036
1995 142,308 66,777 75,531 76,420 218,728
1996 184,400 90,148 94,252 188,385 372,785
1997 125,657 68,197 57,460 101,258 226,915
1998 90,459 50,486 39,973 30,989 121,448
1999 65,879 47,202 18,677 58,735 124,614
2000 53,145 31,535 21,610 25,359 78,504
2001 103,755 29,341 74,414 23,500 127,255
2002 68,635 22,607 46,028 8,076 76,711
2003 194,425 69,571 124,854 46,552 240,977
2004 189,415 88,451 100,964 122,349 311,764
2005 167,570 88,089 79,482 92,110 259,680
2006 193,768 102,333 91,435 74,426 268,194
2007 110.,132 61,121 49,011 86,408 196,540
2008 73,773 36,717 37,056 45,515 119,288
2009 116,141 50,516 65,626 64,151 180,292

a In-river catch includes test fishery catches.
b Escapement includes fish later captured for broodstock, sampled and/or taken in Excess Salmon 

to Spawning Requirement fisheries.
C Excludes marine catches outside Districts 106 and 108.



66 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19

(D) You may retain other salmon taken incidentally by gear operated under terms of this 
permit. The incidentally taken salmon must be reported on your permit calendar.

(E) The total annual guideline harvest level for the Stikine River fishery is 125 Chinook, 600 
sockeye, and 400 coho salmon. All salmon harvested, including incidentally taken salmon, will 
count against the guideline for that species.

Justification

Amending the annualannual guideline harvest level for the Stikine River subsistence sockeye fishery from 600 
sockeye salmon to 2,000 sockeye salmon would provide fishery managers with a more realistic estimate 
of the actual harvest as compared to the 600 fish total guideline harvest level in current regulation. total guideline harvest level in current regulation. 
However, the presence of any guideline harvest level is inconsistent with the management practices of However, the presence of any guideline harvest level is inconsistent with the management practices of 
the other fisheries targeting Stikine River origin sockeye salmon. Simply increasing the guideline harvest the other fisheries targeting Stikine River origin sockeye salmon. Simply increasing the guideline harvest 
levellevel would be an improvement to the current situation but not provide the benefits and opportunities for 
coordinated management between the U.S. fishery management agencies as would the absence of a total total 
guideline harvest level.guideline harvest level.

Eliminating the subsistence sockeye salmon annualannual guideline harvest levellevel allows the subsistence fishery 
to operate completely within the U.S. allocation; subject to the normal domestic allocation protocols. 
SockeyeSockeye salmon harvested for subsistence are harvested for subsistence are part of the U.S. total allowable catch and the harvest is the harvest is 
reported in-season, on a weekly basis, to the ADF&G fishery managers. The total subsistence harvestreported in-season, on a weekly basis, to the ADF&G fishery managers. The total subsistence harvest is 
reported in an end of in an end of the seasonseason annual subsistence fishing summary, once reports are obtained from the summary, once reports are obtained from the 
subsistence fishermensubsistence fishermen. There isis no conservation or fisheryfishery management concernconcern with adopting either the adopting either the 
larger guideline harvest level or eliminating the guideline harvest levellarger guideline harvest level or eliminating the guideline harvest level. The in-season manager retains 
the authority to close the subsistence fishery if necessary for conservation. Eliminating the guideline Eliminating the guideline 
harvest level would require more than changing Federal regulations. Full implementation willharvest level would require more than changing Federal regulations. Full implementation will require 
coordination with the Transboundary Panel and concurrence of the Pacific Salmon Commission to amend to amend 
the text of the U.S./Canada Pacific Salmon Treaty.the text of the U.S./Canada Pacific Salmon Treaty.

LITERATURE CITED

Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADF&G), 2012. Davidson, Bill et al. 2012 Southeast Alaska Drift Gillnet 
Fishery Management Plan. Regional Information Report No. IJ12-06.

Fleming, D. 2006. Wrangell/Petersburg Area Sport Fisheries Management Biologist. Personal communication: 
telephone (907-772-3801). ADF&G. Petersburg, AK.

Pacific Salmon Commission (PSC). 2011. Salmon Management and Enhancement Plans for the Stikine, Taku 
and Alsek Rivers. Report TCTR (11)-3, Pacific Salmon Commission Joint Transboundary Technical Committee. 
Vancouver, CA.



67Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19
Appendix

11

Stikine River Subsistence Salmon Fishery 

2012 Season Summary

Robert Larson, U.S. Forest Service 
December 1, 2012 

Executive Summary 
This report fulfills the commitment for the 2012 season Stikine River U.S. subsistence salmon 
fishery summary for the bilateral U.S.-Canada Pacific Salmon Commission (Commission). In 
2012, 130 households harvested 16 large Chinook salmon during the Chinook salmon season, 
1,155 sockeye salmon during the sockeye salmon season and 110 coho salmon during the coho 
salmon season. 

Introduction
A subsistence fishery was established for sockeye salmon on the Stikine River in 2004 by the 
Federal Subsistence Board (Board), through coordination with the Transboundary River Panel 
(Panel) and the Commission. By action of the Board, and coordination with the Panel and 
Commission, directed fisheries for Chinook and coho salmon were added in 2005. Regulatory 
changes for the 2006 season included an increase in the mesh size of gillnets during the Chinook 
fishery (to 8 inch stretched mesh) and an earlier starting date for the sockeye fishery. There were 
no changes in subsistence fishing regulations or permit conditions for the 2007 fishing season. In 
2008, two regulatory changes were made to the subsistence fishery. The first change made 
subsistence fishing permits valid for the length of the fishing season, May 15 through October 1. 
The second change moved the start date of the subsistence coho salmon fishery from August 15 
to August 1. Changing the coho fishery start date allowed continuous subsistence fishing between 
May 15 and October 1. There were no subsequent changes to the regulations for the 2009 through 
2012 seasons. 

Eligibility for participation in the Federal subsistence fishery is limited to residents of Wrangell, 
Petersburg, Meyers Chuck, and the immediate vicinity through a positive customary and 
traditional use determination adopted by the Board. 

Federal jurisdiction and prominent features of the Stikine River are shown in Figure 1.

Federal Subsistence Fishing Regulations 
The Federal subsistence fisheries regulations are detailed in Subpart C and D of the Code of 
Federal Regulations (36 CFR part 242 and 50 CFR part 100). The sections relevant to the Stikine 
River are as follows: 

§___.24 Customary and traditional use determinations. 
(2) Fish determinations. The following communities and areas have been found to have a positive 
customary and traditional use determination in the listed area for the indicated species:  
Southeastern Alaska Area: 

District 8 and waters draining into that District: Salmon, Dolly Varden, trout, smelt, and 
eulachon. Residents of drainages flowing into Districts 7 & 8, residents of drainages 



68 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19
Appendix

flowing into District 6 north of the latitude of Point Alexander (Mitkof Island), and 
residents of Meyers Chuck. 

§___.27 Subsistence taking of fish. 
 (i) Fishery management area restrictions. 
(13) Southeastern Alaska Area. 

(xv) You may take Chinook, sockeye, and coho salmon in the mainstem of the Stikine 
River only under the authority of a Federal subsistence fishing permit. Each Stikine River 
permit will be issued to a household. Only dip nets, spears, gaffs, rod and reel, beach 
seine, or gillnets not exceeding 15 fathoms in length may be used. The maximum gillnet 
mesh size is 51⁄2 inches, except during the Chinook season when the maximum gillnet 
mesh size is 8 inches. 
(A) You may take Chinook salmon from May 15 through June 20. The annual limit is 5 
Chinook salmon per household. 
(B) You may take sockeye salmon from June 21 through July 31. The annual limit is 40 
sockeye salmon per household. 
(C) You may take coho salmon from August 1 through October 1. The annual limit is 20 
coho salmon per household. 
(D) You may retain other salmon taken incidentally by gear operated under terms of this 
permit. The incidentally taken salmon must be reported on your permit calendar. 
(E) The total annual guideline harvest level for the Stikine River fishery is 125 Chinook, 
600 sockeye, and 400 coho salmon. All salmon harvested, including incidentally taken 
salmon, will count against the guideline for that species. 

Pacific Salmon Treaty, Annex IV Direction 
Provisions specific to the Stikine River subsistence fishery are contained within Annex IV of the 
Pacific Salmon Treaty and are very similar, but not exactly the same, as subsistence fishing 
regulations. For instance, the allowable sockeye salmon season in the Annex is two days longer 
than the sockeye salmon fishing season in subsistence fishing regulations. 
(3)(a)(1) Sockeye Salmon:

(iv) Pursuant to this agreement, a directed U.S. subsistence fishery in U.S. portions of the 
Stikine River will be permitted, with a guideline harvest level of 600 sockeye salmon to be 
taken between June 19 and July 31. These fish will be part of the existing U.S. allocation 
of Stikine River sockeye salmon. 

The Annex also contains three conditions common to the subsistence Chinook, coho and sockeye 
salmon fisheries that are not included in subsistence fishing regulations. These conditions define 
the subsistence fishing area, require weekly and end of season fishing reports and specify that 
regulatory changes must be approved by the Pacific Salmon Commission. 
(3)(a)(1,2,3) For this fishery:  

a. The fishing area will include the main stem of the Stikine River, downstream of the 
international border, with the exception that fishing at stock assessment sites identified 
prior to each season is prohibited unless allowed under specific conditions agreed to by 
both Parties’ respective managers. 
b. Catches will be reported weekly, including all incidentally caught fish. All tags 
recovered shall be submitted to the Alaska Department of Fish and Game. 
c. A written report on the fishery summarizing harvests, fishing effort and other pertinent 
information requested by the Transboundary Panel will be submitted by the management 
agency for consideration by the Panel at its annual post season meeting. 



69Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19
Appendix

33

d. Any proposed regulatory changes to the fishery during the remaining years of this 
annex would need to be reviewed by the bilateral Transboundary panel and approved by 
the Pacific Salmon Commission. 

Subsistence Fishery Management 
Federal subsistence fishing rules are published in the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) and in a 
regulatory handbook summary. The regulatory handbooks are available to the public through a 
number of license vendors, Alaska Fish and Game offices and local U.S. Forest Service offices. 
The CFRs and the handbook are also available online at the Office of Subsistence Management 
website at: http://alaska.fws.gov/asm/index.cfml. Subsistence fishing permits are required and are 
available from any U.S. Forest Service District Office on the Tongass National Forest. In 2012, 
Stikine River subsistence fishing permits were only issued by the Wrangell and Petersburg Forest 
Service Ranger District offices. 

The 2012 subsistence fishery in-season harvest monitoring plan focused on tracking the number 
of fishermen and obtaining estimates of harvest through a random selection telephone interview 
process. Fishery performance data that included the total number of permits issued to date and a 
Chinook, sockeye and coho salmon harvest estimate were reported to State fishery managers on a 
weekly basis. 

2012 Season Fishery Performance 
In-season monitoring of the subsistence fishery harvest consisted of catch-to-date estimates of 
Chinook, sockeye and coho salmon harvest from telephone interviews with a random subset of 
permit holders. In-season harvest estimates were compiled by calculating the average catch by 
species by permit to date and expanding by the total number of permits issued. Typically, 15 to 
25 permit holders were randomly selected for interviews each week. Weekly harvest estimates 
from the first few weeks of the fishery and the last few weeks of the fishery were subject to 
increased variability because the proportion of fishermen that fished was small compared to the 
total number of permits issued. In those instances, fishery performance data from previous years 
was used to attenuate those variations. U.S. Forest Service staff from the Wrangell and Petersburg 
District offices and Law Enforcement officers maintained a regular presence on the river during 
the entire subsistence fishery. 

During the 2012 Chinook salmon fishery, May 15 through June 20, a total of 16 Chinook, no 
coho and 137 sockeye salmon were harvested (Table 1). During the sockeye salmon fishery, June 
21 to July 31, a total of 34 Chinook, 2 coho and 1,155 sockeye salmon were harvested (Table 2).
Although the Treaty authorizes a June 19 start date of the sockeye fishing season, Federal 
subsistence fishing regulations specify a later June 21 sockeye salmon subsistence fishing season 
opening date. During the coho salmon fishery, August 1 through October 1, a total of 3 Chinook, 
110 coho and 10 sockeye salmon were harvested (Table 3).

In total, for the 2012 season including fish harvested incidentally outside of established fishing 
seasons, 130 permit holders harvested a total of 53 Chinook salmon greater than 28 inches, 47 
chum salmon, 112 coho salmon, 32 pink salmon and 1,302 sockeye salmon. There were no 
steelhead trout, no cutthroat trout and one Dolly Varden harvested (Table 4). There were 23 
Chinook salmon less than 28 inches harvested. The first Chinook salmon was harvested May 26, 
the first sockeye salmon was harvested on June 13 and the first coho salmon was harvested July 
25 (Table 5).



70 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19
Appendix

44

Approximately 35% of the permits issued in 2012 were issued to residents of Petersburg and 65% 
issued to residents of Wrangell. An end-of-season letter reminding permit holders to report 
subsistence harvests was sent to each permit holder at the end of the season. Any permitees that 
did not report by October 15 were contacted by telephone. Year-end harvest fishing reports were 
obtained from all except three permitees. 

2012 Management and Regulatory Issues 
Pre-season and post-season total return estimates were above escapement goals for Chinook, coho 
and sockeye salmon. There are no formal escapement goals for pink and chum salmon returning 
to streams in the Stikine River drainage. The statistical week 22 in-season return estimate for 
Chinook salmon predicted the escapement goal would not be met (assuming the baseline harvests 
were taken). In response, the Federal in-season manager issued a letter to permit holders requiring 
48 hour reporting of any Chinook salmon harvested for the remainder of the Chinook salmon 
season. The letter also reminded subsistence fishers to closely monitor their nets. 

The subsistence sockeye fishery has exceeded the sockeye fishery annual guideline harvest level 
(GHL) as specified in Federal regulations and Treaty language in each of the last four years. A 
formal process to address the subsistence sockeye salmon fishery (GHL) was initiated when the 
Southeast Subsistence Regional Advisory Council (Council) submitted a regulatory proposal 
(FP13-19) to the Board to change the GHL. Following public testimony and deliberation, the 
Council recommended eliminating the GHL entirely. The Council’s rationale was that the 
presence of any guideline harvest level is inconsistent with the management practices of the other 
fisheries targeting Stikine River origin sockeye salmon. Eliminating the subsistence sockeye 
salmon GHL would allow the subsistence fishery to operate completely within the U.S. 
allocation; subject to the normal domestic allocation protocols. Sockeye salmon harvested for 
subsistence are part of the U.S. total allowable catch and the harvest is reported in-season, on a 
weekly basis, to the ADF&G fishery managers. There is no conservation or fishery management 
concerns with eliminating the guideline harvest level. Staff from the Office of Subsistence 
Management, the U.S. Forest Service, plus a member of the Council will discuss this issue and 
the rationale for the Council’s recommendation, at the U.S. Section and the bilateral meeting of 
the Panel. 

There were no subsistence fishery violation citations issued by fisheries enforcement officers in 
2012 and no conflicts with the test fishing program or reports of subsistence fishing in clear water 
tributaries.



71Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19
Appendix

55

Figure 1. Prominent geographic features of the Stikine River. 



72 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19
Appendix

66

Table 1. Stikine River Chinook salmon subsistence fishery, seasonal harvest by year. 

Stikine River Chinook Salmon Fishery Subsistence Harvest 
Chinook Salmon Season (May 15 through June 20) 

Year Chinook Chum  Coho 
Dolly

Varden Pink Trout Sockeye Steelhead
2004 No Chinook salmon season in 2004 
2005 13 0 0 2 4 0 18 0
2006 13 1 0 0 0 0 8 0
2007 24 0 0 0 0 0 61 0
2008 8 0 0 1 0 0 2 0
2009 9 0 0 2 0 1 17 2
2010 14 0 0 1 0 0 65 3
2011 16 0 0 0 0 0 64 0
2012 16 0 0 0 0 0 137 0

Table 2. Stikine River sockeye salmon subsistence fishery, seasonal harvest by year. 

Stikine River Sockeye Salmon Fishery Subsistence Harvest 
Sockeye Salmon Season (June 21 through July 31) 

Year Chinook Chum  Coho 
Dolly

Varden Pink Trout Sockeye Steelhead 
2004 12 11 0 1 22 0 243 1
2005 2 22 1 2 65 0 233 0
2006 24 19 0 3 23 0 377 0
2007 12 11 0 1 57 0 178 1
2008 17 5 0 4 0 0 426 0
2009 22 46 0 18 66 0 706 0
2010 44 33 13 11 38 0 1,554 4
2011 48 64 1 3 189 0 1,686 0
2012 34 40 2 1 23 0 1,155 0

Table 3. Stikine River coho salmon subsistence fishery, seasonal harvest by year. 

Stikine River Coho Salmon Fishery Subsistence Harvest  
Coho Salmon Season (August 1 through October 1) 

Year Chinook Chum  Coho 
Dolly

Varden Pink Trout Sockeye Steelhead 
2004 No Coho salmon season in 2005 
2005 0 0 52 0 0 0 1 0
2006 0 0 21 0 0 0 5 0
2007 0 0 23 0 2 0 5 1
2008 0 7 42 0 18 0 0 0
2009 0 0 21 0 0 0 0 0
2010 3 4 122 0 22 0 34 0



73Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19
Appendix

77

2011 2 10 39 0 0 0 5 5
2012 3 7 110 0 9 0 10 0

Table 4. Stikine River subsistence fishery, total annual harvest. 

Table 5. Stikine River total subsistence harvest by statistical week, 2012 season. 

2012 Stikine River Subsistence Harvest by Statistical week 
Week

Ending 
Catch
week Chinook Chum Coho 

Dolly
Varden Pink Sockeye Steelhead

5/19 20 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
5/26 21 1 0 0 0 0 0 0
6/2 22 8 0 0 0 0 0 0
6/9 23 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

6/16 24 5 0 0 0 0 71 0
6/23 25 4 0 0 0 0 86 0
6/30 26 3 0 0 0 0 56 0
7/7 27 3 1 0 0 0 116 0

7/14 28 8 5 0 0 3 306 0
7/21 29 14 17 0 1 4 404 0
7/28 30 1 12 2 0 5 163 0
8/4 31 3 7 0 0 15 90 0

8/11 32 0 4 0 0 3 6 0
8/18 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8/25 34 3 1 35 0 2 4 0
9/1 35 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
9/8 36 0 0 9 0 0 0 0

9/15 37 0 0 4 0 0 0 0
9/22 38 0 0 59 0 0 0 0
9/29 39 0 0 3 0 0 0 0

Stikine River Total Subsistence Harvest by Year 
Year Permits Chinook Chum Coho Dolly Varden Pink Trout Sockeye Steelhead 
2004 40 12 11 0 1 22 0 243 1
2005 35 15 22 53 4 69 0 252 0
2006 48 37 20 21 3 23 0 390 0
2007 44 36 11 23 1 59 0 244 2
2008 50 25 12 42 5 18 0 428 0
2009 80 31 46 21 20 66 1 723 2
2010 107 61 37 135 12 60 0 1,653 7
2011 129 66 74 40 3 189 0 1,741 5
2012 130 53 47 112 1 32 0 1,302 0



74 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION

SOUTHEAST ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support Proposal FP13-19 with modification to eliminate the subsistence 
sockeye salmon annual guideline harvest levelannual guideline harvest level from Federal regulation.

The modified regulation should read: 

§___.27(e)(13) (xiv) You may take Chinook, sockeye, and coho salmon in the mainstem of the 
Stikine River only under the authority of a Federal subsistence fishing permit. Each Stikine 
River permit will be issued to a household. Only dip nets, spears, gaffs, rod and reel, beach 
seine, or gillnets not exceeding 15 fathoms in length may be used. The maximum gillnet mesh 
size is 51/2; inches, except during the Chinook season when the maximum gillnet mesh size is 8 
inches.

(A) You may take Chinook salmon from May 15 through June 20. The annual limit is 5 
Chinook salmon per household.

(B) You may take sockeye salmon from June 21 through July 31. The annual limit is 40 
sockeye salmon per household.

(C) You may take coho salmon from August 1 through October 1. The annual limit is 20 
coho salmon per household.

(D) You may retain other salmon taken incidentally by gear operated under terms of this 
permit. The incidentally taken salmon must be reported on your permit calendar.

(E) The total annual guideline harvest level for the Stikine River fishery is 125 Chinook, 
600 sockeye, and 400 coho salmon. All salmon harvested, including incidentally taken 
salmon, will count against the guideline for that species.

Justification: This action would eliminate the Stikine River subsistence fishery sockeye salmon annual 
guideline harvest level from both Federal regulations and the U.S.-Canada Pacific Salmon Treaty. The 
council noted there was no conservation concern with removing the annual guideline harvest level as 
the stocks appear healthy and the subsistence harvest relatively small. The in-season manager has the 
authority to close the fishery for conservation if necessary. The harvest from the subsistence fishery 
is already part of the total U.S. allocation and there is no need to have a separate subsistence fishing 
allocation.  Federal regulations or the Treaty Annex are not the appropriate locations to apportion the 
U.S. allocation between domestic user groups. This action is in the best interests of subsistence users as it 
would better reflect the actual management of the subsistence fishery.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



75Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19

ADF&G Comments on FP13-19 
Page 1 of 2 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-19:  Revise Stikine River sockeye salmon harvest limits.  
 
Introduction:  This Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council proposal would 
increase the total annual guideline harvest level for Stikine River sockeye salmon from 600 
sockeye salmon to 2,000 sockeye salmon. 
 
The proponent stated this change is needed because the original sockeye salmon guideline 
harvest levels (GHLs) were based on estimated parameters for this new fishery.  The level of 
participation and harvest were unknown.  Since its inception, the Stikine River subsistence 
sockeye fishery has had greater participation and much higher harvests than anticipated.  
Increasing the GHL to reflect actual and anticipated harvests of Stikine River sockeye salmon is 
recommended. 
 
Hilsinger (2005)1 reported the U.S. and Canada reached an agreement in February 2004 to allow 
subsistence fishing for sockeye salmon in lower Stikine River.  The terms of the fishery included 
a 600 fish maximum harvest limit, a July 1–31 season, and fishing in the mainstem Stikine River.  
The sockeye salmon harvest limit adopted by the Transboundary River Panel (TBR) was based 
on results of a January 2003 analysis by the USFWS and USFS.  The agreement also required all 
proposed regulatory changes to the fishery to be reviewed by the bilateral TBR and be approved 
by the Pacific Salmon Commission (PSC). 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  If this proposal is adopted, federal subsistence users would be 
able to harvest 1,400 more Stikine River sockeye salmon per year than the current total annual 
GHL of 600 sockeye salmon.  However, in reality the annual Stikine River federal subsistence 
sockeye salmon harvest would not change much since the 600 fish GHL has been exceeded in 
each of the last three years (e.g., 792, 1653, and 1735 fish harvests for 2009, 2010, and 2011, 
respectively). 
 
With a current total annual guideline harvest level of 600 Stikine River sockeye salmon and an 
annual limit of 40 sockeye salmon per household, one can calculate the original number of users 
expected to participate in this subsistence salmon fishery was around 15.   
 
If the annual limit of 40 sockeye salmon per household remains the same, the proposed total 
annual GHL of 2,000 Stikine River sockeye salmon could potentially be shared by up to 50 
subsistence salmon users. 
 
Impact on Other Users:  If the total annual GHL for Stikine River subsistence sockeye salmon 
fishery is increased 2,000 fish, there would potentially be 1,400 fewer sockeye salmon available 
to other users (e.g., commercial, traditional food).   
 

                                                 
1 Hilsinger, J.  2005.  2006 Federal fisheries subsistence proposals ADF&G staff comments.  Alaska Department of  
Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Subsistence Liaison Team, Anchorage. 
 



76 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19

ADF&G Comments on FP13-19 
Page 2 of 2 

Opportunity Provided by State:  Salmon may be harvested under state regulations throughout 
the majority of the Southeast Alaska area, including a liberal subsistence fishery.  Fish may be 
taken by gear listed in 5 AAC 01.010(2), except as may be restricted under the terms of a 
subsistence fishing permit.  Under state regulations, subsistence is the priority consumptive use.  
Therefore, state subsistence fishing opportunity is directly linked to abundance and is not 
restricted unless run size is inadequate to meet escapement needs.   
 
Conservation Issues:  None at this time.   
 
Enforcement Issues:  None noted at this time. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  The February 2004 agreement reached with Canada that allowed a sockeye 
salmon subsistence fishing in the U.S. portion of the lower Stikine River also required that any 
proposed regulatory changes to the fishery (e.g., increase harvest limit) would need to be 
reviewed by the bilateral Transboundary River Panel and be approved by the Pacific Salmon 
Commission. 
 
Other Issues:  The next bilateral meeting of the Transboundary River Panel at which Stikine 
River subsistence fishery regulatory changes could be considered, is scheduled for the week of 
January 14, 2013 in Vancouver, BC. 
 
Recommendation:  Defer, pending consideration by the Transboundary River Panel and the 
Pacific Salmon Commission. 
 



77Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-19

WRITTEN PUBLIC COMMENTS

SEAFA supports the FSB working with the Pacific Salmon Treaty Panel to address this issue. Accurate 
accounting and understanding of the amount of harvest occurring is necessary for long-term sustainable 
fishery management.

Kathy Hansen, Executive Director
Southeast Alaska Fishermen’s Alliance



78 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-18

FP11-18 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP11-18 requests all waters draining into Sections 1C and 

1D be closed to the harvest of eulachon to all users. Submitted by the 
Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council

Proposed Regulation §___.27(i)(13)(ii) You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to 
take salmon, trout, grayling, or char. You must possess a subsistence 
fishing permit to take eulachon from any freshwater stream flowing 
into fishing Sections 1C or 1D.

§___.27(i)(13)(xxii) All drainages of fishing Sections 1C and 1D are 
closed to the harvest of eulachon for all users.

OSM Conclusion Support Proposal FP11-18 with modification to not implement the 
closure in Federal regulation, but to expand the Federal subsistence 
fishing permit requirement from Sections 1C and 1D to include the 
entirety of fishing District 1.

The modified regulation should read:

§___.27(i)(13)(ii) You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to 
take salmon, trout, grayling, or char. You must possess a subsistence 
fishing permit to take eulachon from any freshwater stream flowing 
into fishing Sections 1C or 1D District 1.

Southeast Regional Council 
Recommendation Support as modified in OSM Conclusion

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Support with modification to be “no federal season” for the harvest 
of eulachon in Sections 1-C and 1-D.  (See full comments following 
the analysis)

Written Public Comments 1 Oppose the original proposal, but support the OSM Conclusion to 
modify the regulation to require a permit in all of District 1.



79Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-18

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP11-18 (DEFERRED)

ISSUES

Proposal FP11-18, submitted by the Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council (Council), 
requests all waters draining into Sections 1C and 1D be closed to the harvest of eulachon to all users.

DISCUSSION

The eulachon (Thaleichthys pacificus) population in waters draining into Sections 1C and 1D (East Behm 
Canal and Burroughs Bay area) have been at critically low levels and there has not been a harvestable 
surplus for a number of years. The area has been closed yearly to eulachon fishing by State and Federal 
managers since 2006. With stock sizes at this level, there are few options available for conservation other 
than closing the fishery. The intent of the proposed regulation is to provide clear direction to the public 
that the area will be closed to fishing for eulachon for all users.

This proposal was brought before the Federal Subsistence Board (Board) during its January 2011 meeting. 
The Board deferred action on the proposal requesting that discussions with the affected tribes occur 
before the Board revisited the proposal; any closures for conservation be accomplished through the 
Special Action process, and for staff too continue to monitor the eulachon returns to the Unuk River.

Since deferral of the proposal, eulachon have returned not only to Sections 1C and 1D, but also to 
other locations in District 1, albeit in lower numbers. Although two seasons (2011 & 2012) of eulachon 
returns have occurred, Federal managers currently believe that it will still be some time before there is a 
harvestable surplus to re-open the area for the subsistence harvest of eulachon.

Existing Federal Regulation

Southeastern Alaska Area—General provisions

§___.27(i)(13)(ii) You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to take salmon, trout, grayling, 
or char. You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to take eulachon from any freshwater 
stream flowing into fishing Sections 1C or 1D.

Proposed Federal Regulation

§___.27(i)(13)(ii) You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to take salmon, trout, grayling, 
or char. You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to take eulachon from any freshwater 
stream flowing into fishing Sections 1C or 1D.

§___.27(i)(13)(xxii) All drainages of fishing Sections 1C and 1D are closed to the harvest of 
eulachon for all users.



80 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-18

Existing State Regulations

Southeastern Alaska Area—General provisions

5AAC 01.716(a) The Alaska Board of Fisheries finds that the following fish stocks are 
customarily and traditionally taken or used for subsistence:

(22) Eulachon in Sections 1-C and 1-D and in the waters of Districts 7 and 8.

5AAC 01.730(a) Eulachon in the Unuk River, and salmon, trout, char, and herring spawn on kelp 
may only be taken under the authority of a subsistence fishing permit.

5AAC 77.678 Smelt may be taken for personal use at any time and there are no bag or possession 
limits.

Other Related Proposals

Proposals FP13-20 and FP13-21 were submitted by Stephen Huffine. Proposal FP13-20 requests limiting 
gear types allowed in the Federal subsistence eulachon fishery in the freshwater drainages of Burroughs 
Bay. Proposal FP13-21 requests limiting the number of eulachon that may be harvested by a Federally 
qualified subsistence user to one five gallon bucket (approximately 35 pounds) per person in the 
freshwater drainages of Burroughs Bay. The specified drainages include: the Unuk River, the Eulachon 
River, the Klahini River, and Grant Creek. 

Extent of Federal Public Waters

For purposes of this discussion, the phrase “Federal public waters” is defined as those waters described 
under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR 100.3. They include waters within the exterior boundary of the Tongass 
National Forest in the Southeastern Alaska Area excluding marine waters.

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations

Rural residents of both the Southeastern Alaska and Yakutat Areas have a positive customary and 
traditional use determination for Dolly Varden, trout, smelt, and eulachon in waters draining into Sections 
1C and 1D (Map 1).

State Regulatory History

The commercial eulachon fishery in the Unuk River has been closed since 2001. The Alaska Board of 
Fisheries made a positive customary and traditional use determination for eulachon in the Unuk River 
area in 2003. The State subsistence fishery required permits beginning in 2004 and has been closed since 
2005 (Walker 2010, pers. comm.). In 2012, following the surprise return of eulachon to Carroll Inlet, the 
Ketchikan Area Management Biologist extended the eulachon closure to include all of District 1.

Federal Regulatory History

The Board adopted a regulation to require a Federal subsistence fishing permit for eulachon in Sections 
1C and 1D in 2002 (FSB 2001; SEASRAC 2001). In 2002, proposals FP02-42 and FP02-43 were 
submitted that requested establishment of harvest limits for subsistence eulachon fishing. Although the 
proponents and the Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADF&G) were concerned about not having 



81Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-18

Proposal FP11-18
Map 1

Ketchikan area and the Behm Canal/Burroughs Bay 
drainages known to contain eulachon.



82 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-18

harvest limits, both the Council and Board rejected the proposals (FSB 2001; SEASRAC 2001). Since 
2006, the area has been closed annually by special action due to stock failure.

Originally this proposal was before the Board in January 2011. However, during public testimony, 
residents from Metlakatla expressed concern over not knowing that the Board was addressing a proposal 
regarding the closure of the subsistence eulachon fishery. Following the testimony, the Board deferred 
action on the proposal and requested that before the proposal was revisited that: 1) any closures be 
accomplished through the special action process, 2) the eulachon returns to the Unuk continue to be 
monitored, and 3) the need for any closure to be discussed with the affected tribes (FSB 2011).

In order to continue to provide for the conservation and recovery of Unuk River eulachon in 2012, a 
special action was implemented by the Federal in-season manager closing Federal waters draining into 
the entirety of District 1. This action was implemented to coincide with a closure issued by ADF&G 
within the same area. Up until 2012, these closures had only affected Sections 1C and 1D. However, after 
the unexpected return to eulachon to Carroll Inlet in 2011; documented harvests on this return; concerns 
over the lack of a permit requirement coupled with no harvest limit in regulation; both State and Federal 
managers implemented a full district wide closure in 2012.

Prior to implementation of the special action, US Forest Service (USFS) personnel consulted with the 
Organized Village of Saxman (OVS), the Ketchikan Indian Community (KIC) and the Metlakatla Indian 
Community (MIC) tribal councils to inform them of the upcoming action. USFS personnel met with 
OVS on February 6, MIC on February 7, and a meeting was scheduled with KIC on February 13 of the 
following week. The initial KIC meeting was cancelled and rescheduled to March 12 in which the USFS 
personnel did attend. The MIC council members indicated support for yearly action for conservation as 
needed, but MIC was reticent to closing the Unuk indefinitely by regulation. No concerns or questions 
were directed to USFS personnel at either the February OVS or the March KIC meeting (Reeck 2012).

Biological Background

The eulachon, also known as “ooligan” is a small, silvery fish of the smelt family that ranges from 
Bodega Head, California north along the coast to Bristol Bay, Alaska, and westward to the Pribilof 
Islands. Eulachon are anadromous. After three to six years at sea, they return as adults to spawn. As 
the spawning season approaches, eulachon gather in schools off the mouths of their spawning streams. 
Eulachon do not strictly “home” to a particular stream like salmon, but appear to use streams in the 
general area where they were spawned that have the best habitat conditions. The abundance in a particular 
stream can vary greatly from year to year depending on stream water conditions and overall ocean 
survival. In Southeast Alaska, the main spawning migration can occur as early as late March and April. 
Some streams can have two separate but overlapping migrations. Eulachon spawning rivers are typically 
slow moving waterways since eulachon are weak swimmers that cannot travel through long stretches of 
high water velocity. Spawning sites are in the lower elevations of the river or stream, but in some rivers 
with long flat deltas spawning sites may be many miles upstream. Eggs are “broadcast” over sandy gravel 
bottoms, and once fertilized; a sticky substance allows them to attach to sand particles. The eggs hatch in 
21 to 40 days, depending on the water temperature. Newly hatched young are carried to the sea with the 
river currents where they feed mainly on copepod larvae and other plankton to grow to maturity. After 
spawning, the majority of eulachon die (Hart 1973; Morrow 1980; ADF&G 2008).

In recent times, in the Pacific Northwest, eulachon were caught in vast quantities in both subsistence 
and commercial fisheries, with commercial hauls often exceeding 1,000 metric tons a year from the 
Columbia River. This occurred until the early 1990s when eulachon abundance collapsed, leading to the 
listing of the southern distinct population segment of eulachon as threatened under the U.S. Endangered 



83Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-18

Species Act (ESA) in 2010. Eulachon stocks within British Columbia have also been under review by 
the Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada (COSEWIC) to assess their conservation 
status. At this point, the Fraser River and the Central Coastal Area rivers have been ruled as endangered, 
while the Nass/Skeena’s ruling of threatened is being re-reviewed by COSEWIC (Flannery et al 2009; 
Levesque and Therriault 2011; Therriault 2012).

In Alaska, eulachon have not been similarly exploited, though they are a popular subsistence and personal 
use fishery. An ESA ruling has not been proposed for Alaskan eulachon, whose biomass has seemed 
to increase, but the collapse of the Behm Canal (the Unuk River drains into Behm Canal) eulachon 
run illustrates that Alaska eulachon are not immune to local perturbations. Though the cause of the 
Behm Canal crash is not clear, local managers believe the cause of the collapse may be from years of 
overfishing.

In Alaska, eulachon exhibit a low degree of broad geographic scale genetic population structure. This 
structure is largely explained by two regional groups, with collections from the Yakutat Forelands, Prince 
William Sound, and Cook Inlet forming a northern region and collections from upper Lynn Canal, Berners 
Bay, Stikine Strait, and Behm Canal forming a southern region. The regions are similarly structured, 
without any difference in levels of divergence, whereas the level of divergence between regions is four 
times greater. There is a significant correlation between genetic and geographic distance, suggesting that 
gene flow is geographically restricted (Flannery et al. 2009). 

Eulachon population levels in the Unuk River were monitored by the USFS from 2001–2007. In 2008, 
a three-year eulachon stock assessment project (OSM08-607) was funded by the Fisheries Resource 
Monitoring Program to continue monitoring eulachon returns to the Unuk River. The results of these 
monitoring studies indicate that almost no eulachon returned to spawn in the Unuk River from 2004 
through 2010. Upon completion of the project USFS personnel resumed monitoring efforts on the Unuk 
River. Since 2011, eulachon have been documented returning back to the Unuk River, however actual run 
strength is unknown.

Harvest History

The eulachon has long had an important role in the economy of the Pacific Northwest, British Columbia, 
and Alaska Native populations. Until the early 1900s, large numbers of Natives gathered on rivers with 
major migrations of eulachon to dry them and extract oil from their flesh with simple presses. The 
eulachon was important as a food staple and as barter with inland tribes, thus the famous “kleena” or 
grease trails of Southeast Alaska and British Columbia. In modern times in Alaska, the eulachon is still 
important as a personal use and subsistence species. Eulachon are taken with dip nets, gillnets, and seines. 
Although most of the harvest is typically frozen, dried, or smoked for human consumption, some harvest 
in Alaska is for eulachon grease production. Eulachon have been harvested commercially and sold for 
human consumption, and as food fishes for captive sea mammals (ADF&G 2008).

Several British Columbia First Nations have witnessed major declines in their eulachon runs and 
some have expressed concern that the declines are related to the use of newer fishing technologies. 
For example, a few Nuxalk interview participants expressed concerns regarding seine nets which were 
introduced to the Bella Coola eulachon fishery during the 1970s which would later collapse in 1999. 
The seine net also replaced the traditional conical net in the Klinaklini River and Knight Inlet during the 
mid-1950s. Today, however, some families of Knight Inlet have returned to the traditional conical net, as 
this gear is thought to capture eulachon less destructively. Some Nuxalk fishers believe the lead line of 
the seine net scrapes and kills recently deposited eggs when it is dragged across the river bottom (Moody 
2008). 



84 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-18

Sections 1C and 1D include the Burroughs Bay area (Unuk and Klahini Rivers) and Chickamin River, 
located approximately 68 miles northeast of Ketchikan, Alaska. There has been a long history of local use 
of eulachon from the Unuk River which was poorly documented prior to 1969. From 1969–1999, Unuk 
River eulachon were sold under State managed commercial fishery provisions which allowed dockside 
sales of eulachon where commercial harvests ranged from zero to a high of 34,900 pounds. There was no 
commercial harvest of eulachon in 2000 and the commercial fishery was closed in 2001. Prior to 2003, 
personal use eulachon harvests did not require a permit and harvest levels were never recorded. From 
2003 to 2004, a small amount of subsistence fishing occurred under State issued permits. Since 2005, 
there has been no State subsistence or personal use harvest as the fishery was closed pre-season (Table 1) 
(Walker 2010, pers. comm.).

Table 1. Harvests of eulachon from the Unuk River by fishery type, 1969 2012 (Walker 
2010; Pappas 2010; US Forest Service 2010).
Year Comm. 

Hvst 
(lbs) 

No. of 
permits 

State
PU/subsist
hvst (lbs) 

No. of 
permits 

Federal 
hvst 
(lbs) 

No. of 
permits

Total hvst 
(lbs) 

1969 15,800 2 unknown unknown n/a n/a 15,800 
1970 0 0 unknown unknown n/a n/a 0 
1971 0 0 unknown unknown n/a n/a 0 
1972 0 0 unknown unknown n/a n/a 0 
1973 14,207 3 unknown unknown n/a n/a 14,207 
1974 2,100 1 unknown unknown n/a n/a 2,100 
1975 3,120 1 unknown unknown n/a n/a 3,120 
1976 720 1 unknown unknown n/a n/a 720 
1977 0 0 unknown unknown n/a n/a 0 
1978 0 0 unknown unknown n/a n/a 0 
1979 0 0 unknown unknown n/a n/a 0 
1980 3,200 1 unknown unknown n/a n/a 3,200 
1981 8,000 2 unknown unknown n/a n/a 8,000 
1982 14,400 2 unknown unknown n/a n/a 14,400 
1983 16,746 3 unknown unknown n/a n/a 16,746 
1984 34,900 3 unknown unknown n/a n/a 34,900 
1985 15,000 2 unknown unknown n/a n/a 15,000 
1986 0 0 unknown unknown n/a n/a 0 
1987 0 0 unknown unknown n/a n/a 0 
1988 0 0 unknown unknown n/a n/a 0 
1989 0 0 unknown unknown n/a n/a 0 
1990 31,000 3 unknown unknown n/a n/a 31,000 
1991 20,800 3 unknown unknown n/a n/a 20,800 
1992 0 0 unknown unknown n/a n/a 0 
1993 27,000 3 unknown unknown n/a n/a 27,000 
1994 28,000 3 unknown unknown n/a n/a 28,000 
1995 19,700 4 unknown unknown n/a n/a 19,700 
1996 8,000 2 unknown unknown n/a n/a 8,000 
1997 15,000 4 unknown unknown n/a n/a 15,000 
1998 0 0 unknown unknown n/a n/a 0 
1999 10,200 5 unknown unknown n/a n/a 10,200 
2000 0 closed unknown unknown n/a n/a 0 
2001 0 closed 700 4 18,000 2 18,700 
2002 0 closed 350 unknown 4,302 4 4,652 
2003 0 closed 0 unknown 14,420 5 14,420 
2004 0 closed 100 7 1,800 3 1,900 
2005 0 closed 0 closed 0 3 0 
2006 0 closed 0 closed 0 closed 0 
2007 0 closed 0 closed 0 closed 0 
2008 0 closed 0 closed 0 closed 0 
2009 0 closed 0 closed 0 closed 0 
2010 0 closed 0 closed 0 closed 0 
2011 0 closed 0 closed 0 closed 0 
2012 0 closed 0 closed 0 closed 0 



85Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-18

Eulachon were first harvested under Federal subsistence regulations in 2001 because the State 
commercial fishery was closed and Federal customary trade regulations allowed the continued sale of 
eulachon. Eulachon harvested in the Federal fishery were typically harvested by the same individuals that 
participated in the State commercial fishery. The majority of this harvest was taken with seine net gear. 
Since 2001, harvests have ranged from a high of 18,000 pounds in 2001 to a low of zero pounds in 2005. 
The Federal fishery has been closed pre-season by the Federal in-season manager annually since 2006 
(Table 1) (US Forest Service 2010).

In 2011, eulachon were noted returning to the following waters of District 1: the Unuk River, the Wilson/
Blossom Rivers, and to both the hydroelectric plant cove on the east side of Carroll Inlet and Carroll 
Creek at the head of the Inlet. Although the State and Federal fisheries were closed preseason on the Unuk 
(sections 1C and 1D), harvest did occur in both the Wilson/Blossom Rivers and from Carroll Inlet/Carroll 
Creek. Because of a lack of a permit requirement under both State and Federal regulations for these 
locations, the actual harvests are unknown. The majority of the Carroll Inlet harvest occurred in marine 
waters under State Personal Use regulations and is estimated at a minimum of 5,000 pounds based on 
observed harvest. Because of the surprise 2011 returns, State and Federal managers closed the entirety of 
District 1 in 2012. Eulachon did return again to both the Unuk and Carroll Inlet/Carroll Creek. There was 
no documented harvest in 2012 because of the pre-season closure.

Other Alternative(s) Considered

Rather than implementing a closure in regulation, the intent of this proposal could be addressed yearly via 
Special Action by the delegated in-season manager. Yearly closures, as needed, would not require Board 
action to resume subsistence fishing opportunity should eulachon returns improve in the area. 

Although current regulations require a Federal subsistence fishing permit to take eulachon only from 
Sections 1C and 1D, expansion of this permit requirement could be taken to require a permit for the 
entirety of District 1. Expansion of the permit requirement would provide for additional conservation 
as eulachon do not necessarily home to a particular stream. An unexpected return of eulachon showed 
in Carroll Inlet in 2011 which is outside of Sections 1C and 1D where there is no permit requirement or 
harvest limit under both State and Federal regulations. Genetic analysis of the Carroll Inlet fish showed 
they genetically identical to those returning to the Unuk River. Action in 2012 closed the entirety of 
District 1 due to the unexpected return of eulachon into the Carroll Inlet area during 2011. Once again, in 
2012, eulachon returned to the Carroll Inlet area.

Effects of the Proposal

If adopted, the proposal would prohibit the harvest of eulachon from any freshwater draining into Sections 
1C and 1D. Should eulachon returns improve enough to allow for subsistence fishing opportunity, a 
Special Action Request or a regulatory proposal to open a subsistence fishery would need to be submitted 
to the Federal Subsistence Board. In accordance with the Board policy on closures, the closure would be 
reviewed by the Board no more than three years from establishment of the closure and at least every three 
years thereafter while the closure is in regulation. 

Because of their nature to spawn in the lower portions of streams, eulachon may be available for harvest 
within inland water portions of streams under Federal jurisdiction, as well as the same portions of stream 
and in the adjacent marine waters falling under State jurisdiction. Due to the overlapping jurisdictions of 
these fishing areas, any management action must be coordinated with the State managers to be completely 
effective. Closing the area to all users could facilitate the development of future regulations necessary to 



86 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-18

reopen the area if stocks recover, however, action on this proposal will not affect State actions in adjacent 
marine and intertidal waters not in Federal jurisdiction.

OSM CONCLUSION

Support Proposal FP11-18 with modification to not implement the closure in Federal regulation, but 
to expand the Federal subsistence fishing permit requirement from Sections 1C and 1D to include the 
entirety of fishing District 1.

The modified regulation should read:

§___.27(i)(13)(ii) You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to take salmon, trout, grayling, 
or char. You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to take eulachon from any freshwater 
stream flowing into fishing Sections 1C or 1D District 1.

Justification

Although closing this area would provide clear direction that there will be no eulachon fishery allowed 
within Federal jurisdiction, local Tribal Governments and Federally qualified subsistence users have 
expressed a preference for yearly in-season action as needed by the delegated Federal manager rather than 
a closure by regulation. If Board action closed the area by regulation, action to re-open the area would 
have to occur through a Special Action Request or the regulatory proposal process to allow for resumption 
of subsistence fishing opportunity should the eulachon populations rebound to a level with a harvestable 
surplus. 

Since 2011, eulachon have been returning to drainages within the District 1 area where fishing permits 
are not required under State or Federal Regulations. Expanding the permit requirement to the entirety 
of District 1 would provide accountability for eulachon harvests and could be used to design permit 
stipulations for eulachon conservation should subsistence fishing effort resume.

LITERATURE CITED

ADF&G. 2008, Wildlife Notebook Series, Internet: http://www.adfg.state.ak.us/pubs/notebook/fish/eulachon.php

Flannery, B.G., J.K. Wenburg, C.J. Lewis, B.L. Norcross and R.E. Spangler. (2009) Genetic population structure of 
Alaska eulachon. Alaska Fisheries Technical Report Number 106, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Anchorage.

FSB. 2001. Transcripts of Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, December 12, 2001. Anchorage, AK.

FSB. 2011. Transcripts of Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, January 20, 2011. Anchorage, AK.

Hart, J.L. 1973. Pacific Fishes of Canada. Fisheries Research Board of Canada. Ottawa, Canada.

Levesque, C. A. and Therriault, T.W. 2011. Information in Support of a Recovery Potential Assessment of Eulachon 
(Thaleichthys pacificus). DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2011/101 viii + 71 p.

Moody, M.F. 2008. Eulachon Past and Present. M.S. Thesis. Resource Management and Environmental Studies. 
University of British Columbia. Vancouver, British Columbia.

Morrow, J.E. 1980. The Freshwater Fishes of Alaska. Alaska Northwest Publishing Company, Anchorage, AK.



87Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-18

Pappas, G. 2010. Program Coordinator, Subsistence Liaison Team, Personal Communication. ADF&G, Anchorage, 
AK. 

Reeck, R. 2012. Ketchikan/Misty Fjords Ranger District Planning Staff Officer, Personal Communication, USFS, 
Ketchikan, AK.

SEASRAC (Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council). 2001. Transcripts of the Southeast 
Subsistence Regional Advisory Council, October 19, 2001 in Yakutat, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, 
FWS. Anchorage, AK.

Therriault, T.W. 2012. Research Scientist, Personal Communication. Department of Fisheries and Ocean Nanaimo, 
BC.

US Forest Service. 2010. Federal Subsistence Fisheries Database. Updated April 2010.

Walker, S. 2010. Area Management Biologist, Commercial Fish Division. Personal Communication. ADF&G, 
Ketchikan, AK.



88 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-18

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION

SOUTHEAST ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support as modified in OSM Conclusion to require a Federal subsistence 
fishing permit for all of District 1.

Justification: Closing the fishery in regulation is unnecessary because any actions required for 
conservation can and have been done by the Federal in-season manager in cooperation with State 
managers.  The OSM Conclusion to require a permit is an excellent method of documenting harvest 
from some of the many streams where eulachon have appeared in recent years.  Not closing the area in 
regulation will facilitate opening the area when stocks rebound.  There was compelling public testimony 
from residents of Metlakatla opposing the closure and supporting the permit requirement.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



89Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-18

ADF&G Comments on FP11-18 
Page 1 of 2 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board  

 
Fisheries Proposal FP11-18:  Close Southeast Alaska fisheries Sections 1-C and 1-D to the 
federal subsistence harvest of eulachon.   
 
Introduction:  The Southeast Regional Advisory Council proposed to close federal subsistence 
fisheries for eulachon in all drainages of Sections 1-C and 1-D in Southeast Alaska to provide 
clear direction that the eulachon fisheries are closed due to recent stock trends in the area. 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  If adopted, federal and state subsistence users could not harvest 
eulachon in the drainages of Sections 1-C and 1-D until stocks rebuild and the fishery is 
reopened.  In recent years, the federal and state fisheries for eulachon in Sections 1-C and 1-D 
have been closed to all users by special actions due to low returns. 
 
Impact on Other Users:  None noted at this time. 
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  The state commercial eulachon fisheries in Sections 1-C and 
1-D have been closed by emergency order since 2001 due to conservation concerns.  The state 
subsistence and personal use eulachon fisheries in Sections 1-C and 1-D have been closed since 
2006 due to conservation concerns. 
 
Conservation Issues:  Many eulachon spawning runs throughout the Pacific Coast, including 
Southeast Alaska, have had marked declines in recent years. From 2001 to 2004, minimal 
eulachon returns to the Burroughs Bay and Behm Canal areas caused concerns that these stocks 
were at critical low levels.  Returns in 2011 and 2012 increased in both of these sections and in 
Section 1-F, however it is unclear if moderate returns will continue or if stocks can handle even 
limited harvest.  The personal use, commercial, and subsistence fisheries have been closed for 
several years to protect and rebuild these eulachon stocks.  Stock status information for each of 
the above areas is limited, and a conservative approach is necessary for sustaining the health of 
these stocks. 
 
Enforcement Issues:  None noted at this time. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  While standing on state and private land (including state-owned submerged 
lands and shorelands), persons must comply with state laws and regulations regarding 
subsistence harvest.  The department requests federal subsistence administrators provide detailed 
maps that depict land ownership and specific boundaries of areas where federal regulations are 
claimed to apply. 
 
Other Issues:  Eulachon frequently mill in estuarial areas of a system, moving in and out of the 
water body with the tide.  A fishery closure to all users in waters claimed under federal 
subsistence jurisdiction exposes participants in an open state fishery to enforcement actions by 
federal officers.  Determining exact locations of the mean high tide boundary of the Tongass 
National Forest would be challenging while fishing from a boat. 
 



90 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-18

Recommendation: 

§__.27(i)(13)(xxii) All drainages of fishing Sections 1-C and 1-D – No federal 
season for eulachon.



91Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-18

WRITTEN PUBLIC COMMENTS

Oppose the original proposal, but support the OSM Conclusion to modify the regulation to require a 
permit in all of District 1.

Louie Wagner, Jr.
Metlakatla, Alaska



92 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-20 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-20 requests limiting the legal gear types within the 

Federal subsistence eulachon fishery in the freshwater drainages of 
Burroughs Bay to dip net, hoop net, and cast net. These waters would 
include: the Unuk River, the Eulachon River, the Klahini River, and 
Grant Creek. Submitted by Stephen Huffine

Proposed Regulation §___.27(i)(13)(ii) You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to 
take salmon, trout, grayling, or char. You must possess a subsistence 
fishing permit to take eulachon from any freshwater stream flowing 
into fishing Sections 1C or 1D.

§___.27(i)(13)(xxii) In the Unuk River, the Eulachon River, the 
Klahini River and Grant Creek, eulachon may only be taken with 
dip net, hoop net or cast net gear.

OSM Conclusion Oppose

Southeast Regional Council 
Recommendation Oppose

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Support

Written Public Comments 3 Oppose



93Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-20 

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-20, submitted by Stephen Huffine, requests limiting the legal gear types within the Federal 
subsistence eulachon fishery in the freshwater drainages of Burroughs Bay to dip net, hoop net, and cast 
net. These waters would include: the Unuk River, the Eulachon River, the Klahini River, and Grant Creek. 

DISCUSSION

The eulachon (Thaleichthys pacificus) population in the freshwaters draining into Burroughs Bay have 
been at critically low levels since 2006. The proponent has owned a cabin on the Unuk River since 
early 1980s. The proponent believes that previous commercial and subsistence fishing effort in this area 
caused the collapse of the eulachon returns. Since 2011, following five years of closures, eulachon started 
returning to the area. 

The proponent is seeking the proposed change to allow for a conservative subsistence fishery to resume 
once the stocks are at a level that can support a limited subsistence harvest. The hoop net is not currently 
listed as a legal fishing gear in Federal regulations. The proponent was contacted and clarified that he 
meant ring net which is a round framed net, left on the bottom and then pulled by hand either horizontally 
or vertically when fish are directly over the net. Although legal under State regulation, ring nets are 
currently not a legal gear type for finfish within Federal regulation. It is, however, legal gear for shellfish 
under Federa l regulation. Ring nets would require a formal proposal submission and Federal Subsistence 
Board action to be considered a legal gear type.

The above mentioned drainages flow into Section 1D of District 1 (FP11-18 Map 1). Although the 
proponent is only seeking a definition of legal fishing gear within those specific drainages, there are other 
areas within District 1 that have documented returns of eulachon. These areas include: the Chickamin 
River, the Wilson and Blossom Rivers, and Carroll Inlet/Carroll Creek. It may be highly pertinent to 
expand the scope of the requested action to all of District 1.

Existing Federal Regulation

Statewide—General provisions

§___.27(c)(1)(i-xx) Unless otherwise specified in this section or under terms of a required 
subsistence fishing permit (as may be modified by this section), you may use the following legal 
types of gear for subsistence fishing: (i) A set gillnet; (ii) A drift gillnet; (iii) A purse seine; (iv) A 
hand purse seine; (v) A beach seine; (vi) Troll gear; (vii) A fish wheel; (viii) A trawl; (ix) A pot; 
(x) A longline; (xi) A fyke net; (xii) A lead; (xiii) A herring pound; (xiv) A dip net; (xv) Jigging 
gear; (xvi) A mechanical jigging machine; (xvii) A handline; (xviii) A cast net; (xix) A rod and 
reel; and (xx) A spear.

Southeastern Alaska Area—General provisions

§___.27(i)(13)(ii) You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to take salmon, trout, grayling, 
or char. You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to take eulachon from any freshwater 
stream flowing into fishing Sections 1C or 1D.



94 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Proposed Federal Regulation

§___.27(i)(13)(ii) You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to take salmon, trout, grayling, 
or char. You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to take eulachon from any freshwater 
stream flowing into fishing Sections 1C or 1D.

§___.27(i)(13)(xxii) In the Unuk River, the Eulachon River, the Klahini River and Grant 
Creek, eulachon may only be taken with dip net, hoop net or cast net gear.

Existing State Regulations

Southeastern Alaska Area—General provisions

5AAC 39.105(d)(1-30) Unless otherwise provided in this title, the following are legal types of 
gear: a gillnet, a set gillnet, a drift gillnet, a purse seine, a hand purse seine, a beach seine, 
power gurdy troll gear, hand troll gear, a fish wheel, a trawl (beam, otter, and pelagic trawls), 
a pot, a ring net, a longline, a shovel, a mechanical clam digger, a scallop dredge, a fyke net, a 
lead, an anchor, a herring pound, diving gear, a hydraulic clam digger, a grappling hook, a dip 
net, a mechanical jigging machine, an abalone iron, a handline, dinglebar troll gear, a sea urchin 
rake, and a cast net.

 5AAC 01.010(a) Unless otherwise provided in this chapter, the following are legal types of gear 
for subsistence fishing:

Gear specified in 5 AAC 39.105.

5AAC 01.716(a) The Alaska Board of Fisheries finds that the following fish stocks are 
customarily and traditionally taken or used for subsistence:

(22) Eulachon in Sections 1-C and 1-D and in the waters of Districts 7 and 8.

5AAC 01.730(a) Eulachon in the Unuk River, and salmon, trout, char, and herring spawn on kelp 
may only be taken under the authority of a subsistence fishing permit.

5AAC 77.678 Smelt may be taken for personal use at any time and there are no bag or possession 
limits.

Other Related Proposals

Proposal FP13-21, also submitted by the proponent, requests that an annual harvest limit of 5 gallons of 
eulachon (or approximately 35 pounds) per person be established for Federally qualified subsistence users 
that subsistence fish for eulachon in the freshwater drainages of Burroughs Bay. The proposal is specific 
to the same drainages listed in this proposal. 

Deferred Proposal FP11-18 was submitted by the Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory 
Council (Council). The proposal requests all Federal public waters draining into Sections 1C and 1D 
be closed to the harvest of eulachon to all users and is to be revisited during the January 2013 Federal 
Subsistence Board meeting. 



95Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Extent of Federal Public Waters

The extent of Federal public waters can be found in the analysis for FP11-18.

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations

The customary and traditional use determination for this area can be found in the analysis for FP11-18.

State Regulatory History

A comprehensive State regulatory history can be found in the analysis for FP11-18.

Federal Regulatory History

A comprehensive Federal regulatory history can be found in the analysis for FP11-18.

Biological Background

A comprehensive biological background can be found in the analysis for FP11-18.

Harvest History

A comprehensive harvest history can be found in the analysis for FP11-18.

Other Alternative(s) Considered

This proposal could be addressed within the terms and conditions of the Federal subsistence fishing 
permit for eulachon in Sections 1C and 1D. The Ketchikan/Misty Fjords District Ranger is delegated 
as the Federal in-season manager for this fishery and has been given authority to implement special 
restrictions within this fishery. The in-season manager, however, would be unable to authorize the use of 
hoop net as it is not included within §___.27(c)(1)(i-xx).

Effects of the Proposal

The proposal limits the allowable gear for subsistence eulachon fishing within the Federal waters of 
Burroughs Bay area. Currently, Federally-qualified subsistence users may use those gear types listed in 
the general provisions of the Federal subsistence fishing regulations to harvest eulachon. The proposal 
requests one gear type which is not legal under Federal regulations. The hoop net is not in the Federal 
general provisions as a legal gear type for the harvesting fish, thus a proposal to the Federal Subsistence 
Board would be required.

The harvest of eulachon in Burroughs Bay area has been closed annually since 2006 due to conservation 
concerns. Should eulachon returns improve enough to allow for a subsistence fishing opportunity, the 
proposal would allow for conservative subsistence eulachon fishing opportunity in the future. 

Because of their nature to spawn in the lower portions of streams, eulachon may be available for harvest 
within inland water portions of streams under Federal jurisdiction, as well as the same portions of stream 
and in the adjacent marine waters falling under State jurisdiction. Due to the overlapping jurisdictions of 
these fishing areas, any management action for eulachon must be coordinated with State managers to be 
completely effective as unilateral action by the Federal program will not affect State actions in adjacent 
marine and inland waters not in Federal jurisdiction.



96 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

OSM CONCLUSION

Oppose Proposal FP13-20. 

Justification

There is no need to define allowable gear types in regulation for the Burroughs Bay area. Applicable gear 
types, except hoop nets, can be listed as terms of the permit by the Federal in-season manager to provide 
for conservation of eulachon stocks in the area when subsistence fishing effort resumes. Recommended 
action on deferred proposal FP11-18 would expand the Federal subsistence permit requirement to include 
all of District 1.



97Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION

SOUTHEAST ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: Restricting the gear as suggested would result in methods that are too inefficient for 
practical purposes.  Reducing the harvest limit as suggested would prevent sharing of this important 
resource; a culturally significant aspect of a subsistence fishery.  It is expected that Federal managers 
would communicate and cooperate with potential fishers prior to opening the fishery to provide for a 
conservative fishery.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



98 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

ADF&G Comments on FP13-20, 21 
 Page 1 of 2 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-20, 21:  Both proposals seek to limit eulachon harvests in Burroughs 
Bay river systems.  
 
Introduction:   
 
FP13-20, submitted by area resident Stephen W. Huffine of Unuk River, would limit the harvest 
of eulachon on Burroughs Bay river systems (e.g., Unuk River, Klahini River, Eulachon River, 
and Grant Creek) by restricting the types of legal gear for harvesting eulachon to dip nets, hoop 
nets, or casting nets. 
 
FP13-21, also submitted by area resident Stephen W. Huffine of Unuk River, would limit the 
harvest of eulachon on Burroughs Bay river systems (e.g., Unuk River, Klahini River, Eulachon 
River, and Grant Creek) by establishing an annual limit of one five-gallon bucket of eulachon 
(approximately 35 pounds) per person.   
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  If these proposals are adopted, federal subsistence users who 
fish for eulachon in Burroughs Bay river systems could only use dip nets, hoop nets, or casting 
nets, and their annual take will be limited to one five-gallon bucket (approximately 35 pounds) 
per person.  These changes would limit the annual supply of eulachon available from this area 
for domestic consumption and food.  However, the proponent hopes that these changes will help 
rebuild these depressed eulachon runs and produce dependable future returns of eulachon for 
subsistence users. 
 
Impact on Other Users:  Divergent regulations could be confusing to users.   Passage of this 
proposal would likely conserve the resource for future use by all users. 
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  Eulachon has been closed in recent years due to conservation 
concerns.  State commercial harvest has been closed for twelve years, and personal use and 
subsistence fisheries have been closed for six years.  Eulachon may be harvested for subsistence 
under state regulations in Southeast Alaska sections 1-C and 1-D and in waters of districts 7 and 
8.  Fish may be taken by gear listed in 5 AAC 01.010(a), except as may be restricted under the 
terms of a subsistence fishing permit.  Eulachon in Unuk River may only be taken under 
authority of a subsistence fishing permit.  Under state regulations, subsistence is the designated  
priority consumptive use.  State subsistence fishing opportunity is directly linked to abundance 
and is not restricted unless poor run-size dictates that management actions must be taken to 
sustain yield of the stock.   State managers are currently considering limitations similar to those 
proposed here should state-managed seasons be reopened. 
 
Conservation Issues:  The state is currently concerned for the long-term sustainability of this 
resource as it is currently managed.  Beach seine activity under federal permits is currently 
responsible for large quantities of harvest placing stress upon this eulachon population.  The 
present management system used by the federal program presents potential for overharvest in 
small river systems.  On February 2, 2012 the Alaska Department of Fish of Fish and Game, 



99Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

ADF&G Comments on FP13-20, 21 
 Page 2 of 2 

Division of Commercial Fisheries, in Ketchikan issued a news release regarding emergency 
order (EO) EO 1H02121 which closed all waters in District 1 (includes Unuk, Klahini, 
Chickamin rivers, and all drainages on Revillagigedo Island, and drainages that flow into Behm 
Canal, including those in Smeaton Arm) to commercial, personal use, and subsistence eulachon 
fishing.  This EO also closed commercial eulachon fishing at Stikine River, and commercial and 
subsistence eulachon fishing at Bradfield Canal.  Justification for the eulachon fishery closures 
stated “Many eulachon spawning runs throughout the Pacific coast, including Southeast Alaska, 
have had marked declines in recent years.”  Eulachon returned to several rivers in southern 
Southeast Alaska in 2011 for the first time in recent years; last year was the first observed return 
to Unuk River since 2004.  Stock status information for each of the above areas is limited and the 
department feels a conservative approach is necessary for sustaining the health of these stocks 
and to allow for potential future harvests.” 
 
The U.S. Forest Service (USFS), announced a simultaneous closure2 of all federal waters 
draining into Southeast Alaska District 1 to the taking of eulachon by all users from February 26 
through April 25, 2012.  Justifications included “Few eulachon have returned to the Burroughs 
Bay area since 2003.  The Federal subsistence fishery for eulachon in the Burroughs Bay area 
has been closed annually since 2006 to protect these stocks and rebuild populations for the 
future.” 
 
Enforcement Issues:  While passage of this proposal creates divergent federal and state 
regulations which are difficult for enforcement and a burden to users, the conservation benefit to 
the resource, in this instance, far outweighs the possible rare inconvenience which may be 
experienced by the users. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  The federal board does not have authority to supersede to state 
commercial, subsistence, or personal use fisheries regulations unless a full closure is required for 
conservation purposes within waters of claimed federal jurisdiction.  Changes to state 
commercial and subsistence fisheries must be submitted to the Alaska Board of Fisheries for 
coordination and public comment. 
 
The Federal Subsistence Board does not have the authority to regulate the nonfederally-qualified 
users participating in fisheries on waters outside of federal subsistence jurisdiction.   
 
Other Issues:  All harvest on Unuk River is currently closed.  Should this fishery be reopened 
controls must be in place to preserve long-term sustainability. 
 
Recommendation: Support.   

                                                 
1 ADF&G (Alaska Department of Fish and Game).  2012.  2012 Southeast Alaska eulachon fishery announcement.  
Issued February 8, 2012 by ADF&G, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Ketchikan. 
http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=cfnews.main (Accessed May 30, 2012). 
2 USFWS (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service).  2012.  Federal subsistence fishery for eulachon closed in Federal waters 
within District 1.  Issued February 9, 2012 by USFWS, Office of Subsistence Management, Federal Subsistence 
Board News Release, Anchorage.  http://alaska.fws.gov/asm/newsrel/r020912.pdf.  (Accessed May 30, 2012). 



100 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

WRITTEN PUBLIC COMMENTS

I am writing on the proposals FP13-20 and FP13-21 that concern the ooligan fishery on the Unuk River as 
we know it. These proposals are detrimental to our way of life, the People’s way of life.

I wish to give my opinion to leave the ooligan fishery as it is and has been for eons. The proposed 
regulations are not the traditional way of ooligan harvest. My family has been the consistent user of the 
ooligan on the Unuk River. The ooligan fishery is already a subsistence use only harvest, there is no 
commercial harvest of ooligan. In 2001 we were  given the right to sell this subsistence caught harvest of 
ooligan by the Federal Subsistence  Board.

I say as loudly as this letter will allow, please vote NO on these two proposals. Allow the ooligan harvest 
to continue as it always has been. I have waited nearly 12 years to fish the ooligan as my family has for 
generations. The People have waited. Now that the mine on the Unuk River has been dosed for two years 
the ooligan are back, I saw them myself this spring. (Unfortunately there are plans to put an even bigger  
mine on the Unuk River by Canadians with the Unuk River being proposed as their tailings dump.)

My fishing gear is a small and shallow beach seine, set by hand and pulled by hand  from a skiff. I know 
how much the  People need  and I need  for the ooligan grease that I have for years being making as my 
grandmothers have. I have never wasted an ooligan.

Louie Wagner
Metlakatla, Alaska

Oppose Proposals FP13-20 and FP13-21.
The Metlakatla Indian Community is in strong opposition to both of these proposals. The Subsistence 
harvest of ooligan on the Unuk river is a traditional use that is important to the entire Community, and 
a decidedly valuable resource to the Tsimshian nation. It is already difficult due to distance and time, 
for individual Community members to participate in this fishery, therefore, it is paramount that select 
Community members be allowed to harvest for the remainder of the Community. Drastically limiting 
who can harvest, how, and how much, will have negative impacts on families and individuals abilities to 
enjoy this traditional native food source. The commercial harvest of ooligans has not been allowed since 
2001 when the Federal Subsistence Board designated it Subsistence only. Since then the populations of 
ooligans in the Unuk river have fluctuated, but have been slowly recovering.

The Unuk river ooligans are a much anticipated treat to the residents of Subsistence Communities in 
Alaska, and a very important food source for the Tsimshian people of Metlakatla. Limiting the methods 
that individuals are allowed to use, and the amount that individuals can harvest is detrimental to the very 
purpose of subsistence regulations.

The Federal Subsistence Board, and the Office of Subsistence Management has been doing commendable 
job of managing for a use that is difficult to quantify, but is very important to the rural and Native 
Communities of Alaska. We applaud you and your actions.

Victor C. Wellington, Mayor
Metlakatla Indian Community

Oppose Proposals FP13-20 and FP13-21. 
First:  The above proposals are made by a person not eligible to participate in subsistence fisheries as 
described in the 2001 regulation designating ooligan fisheries as subsistence only.



101Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Second: I am under the impression that the Federal Subsistence Board was created to protect and defend 
Alaskan Native’s subsistence rights which we inherited by birthright. Subsistence fisheries is a reserved 
inherent right, not a mere privilege to be given or taken away by State or Federal Governments. Of course 
rights may be bargained or sold, but throughout history, you will never find that the Tsimshean Nation has 
ever participated in such an act. -

Third: The gear limitation and five gallon bucket of ooligans per year proposals leave me in a quandary 
as to how to address them with a civil tongue. I do not know Mr. Huffine personally so I will assume he 
is very naive about how deeply the Tsimshean Nation has been tied to the ooligan. For centuries we have 
used the ooligan and the grease rendered fi:om them as a type of gold standard that gave a commercial 
component to inter-tribal trade all up and down the North Pacific Coast.

Last: If I am wrong and you (the board) feel it is your job to create gear and volume limits to Alaskan 
Natives, you must consider the principles that are involved in attempting to do so. You must establish 
an improved consultation process that would require a higher level of tribal involvement and debate as 
fisheries are clearly within the traditional jurisdiction of the tribes.

Thomas E. Lang Sr., Chair
Tsimshean Tribal Rights Committee



102 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-21 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-21 requests an annual harvest limit of 5 gallons of 

eulachon (or approximately 35 pounds) per person that may be 
harvested by Federally qualified subsistence users in the freshwater 
drainages of Burroughs Bay. These waters would include: the Unuk 
River, the Eulachon River, the Klahini River, and Grant Creek. 
Submitted by Stephen Huffine

Proposed Regulation §___.27(i)(13)(ii) You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to 
take salmon, trout, grayling, or char. You must possess a subsistence 
fishing permit to take eulachon from any freshwater stream flowing 
into fishing Sections 1C or 1D.

§___.27(i)(13)(xxii) In the Unuk River, the Eulachon River, 
the Klahini River and Grant Creek, the annual harvest limit of 
eulachon is one five gallon container per fisherman.

OSM Conclusion Oppose

Southeast Regional Council 
Recommendation Oppose

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Support (See State’s comments following analysis of FP13-20)

Written Public Comments 3 Oppose (See text of comments following analysis of FP13-20)



103Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-21

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-21

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-21, submitted by Stephen Huffine, requests an annual harvest limit of 5 gallons of 
eulachon (or approximately 35 pounds) per person that may be harvested by Federally qualified 
subsistence users in the freshwater drainages of Burroughs Bay. These waters would include: the Unuk 
River, the Eulachon River, the Klahini River, and Grant Creek. 

DISCUSSION

The eulachon (Thaleichthys pacificus) population in the freshwaters draining into Burroughs Bay have 
been at critically low levels since 2006. The proponent has owned a cabin on the Unuk River since 
early 1980’s. The proponent believes that previous commercial and subsistence fishing effort in this 
area caused the collapse of the eulachon returns. Since 2011, following five years of closures, eulachon 
started returning to the area. The proponent is seeking the proposed change to allow for a conservative 
subsistence fishery to resume once the stocks are at a level that can support a limited subsistence harvest.

The above mentioned drainages flow into Section 1D of District 1 (FP11-18 Map 1). Although the 
proponent is only seeking harvest limits within those specific drainages, there are other areas within 
District 1 that have had documented returns of eulachon. These areas include: the Chickamin River, the 
Wilson and Blossom Rivers, and Carroll Inlet/Carroll Creek. It may be highly pertinent to expand the 
scope of the requested action to all of District 1.

Existing Federal Regulation

Statewide—General provisions

§___.27(e)(3)(i) You may not take more fish for subsistence use than the limits set out in the 
permit.

Southeastern Alaska Area—General provisions

§___.27(i)(13)(ii) You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to take salmon, trout, grayling, 
or char. You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to take eulachon from any freshwater 
stream flowing into fishing Sections 1C or 1D.

Proposed Federal Regulation

§___.27(i)(13)(ii) You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to take salmon, trout, grayling, 
or char. You must possess a subsistence fishing permit to take eulachon from any freshwater 
stream flowing into fishing Sections 1C or 1D.

§___.27(i)(13)(xxii) In the Unuk River, the Eulachon River, the Klahini River and Grant 
Creek, the annual harvest limit of eulachon is one five gallon container per fisherman.



104 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-21

Existing State Regulations

Southeastern Alaska Area—General provisions

5AAC 01.005 Finfish other than salmon, rainbow trout, and steelhead trout may be taken for 
subsistence purposes at any time in any area of the state by any method unless restricted by the 
subsistence fishing regulations in this chapter. Salmon may be taken for subsistence purposes as 
provided in this chapter.

5AAC 01.716(a) The Alaska Board of Fisheries finds that the following fish stocks are 
customarily and traditionally taken or used for subsistence:

(22) Eulachon in Sections 1-C and 1-D and in the waters of Districts 7 and 8.

5AAC 01.730(a) Eulachon in the Unuk River, and salmon, trout, char, and herring spawn on kelp 
may only be taken under the authority of a subsistence fishing permit.

5AAC 77.678 Smelt may be taken for personal use at any time and there are no bag or possession 
limits.

Other Related Proposals

Proposal FP13-20, also submitted by the proponent, requests limiting the legal gear types that Federally-
qualified subsistence users may fish within the Federal subsistence eulachon fishery in the freshwater 
drainages of Burroughs Bay to dip net, hoop net, and cast net. The proposal is specific to the same 
drainages listed in this proposal. 

Deferred Proposal FP11-18 was submitted by the Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory 
Council (Council). The proposal requests all Federal public waters draining into Sections 1C and 1D 
be closed to the harvest of eulachon to all users and is to be revisited during the January 2013 Federal 
Subsistence Board meeting. 

Extent of Federal Public Waters

The extent of Federal public waters can be found in the analysis for FP11-18.

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations

The customary and traditional use determination for this area can be found in the analysis for FP11-18.

State Regulatory History

A comprehensive State regulatory history can be found in the analysis for FP11-18.

Federal Regulatory History

A comprehensive Federal regulatory history can be found in the analysis for FP11-18.

Biological Background

A comprehensive biological background can be found in the analysis for FP11-18.



105Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-21

Harvest History

A comprehensive harvest history can be found in the analysis for FP11-18.

OTHER ALTERNATIVE(S) CONSIDERED

This proposal could be addressed within the terms and conditions of the Federal subsistence fishing 
permit for eulachon in Sections 1C and 1D. The Ketchikan/Misty Fjords District Ranger is delegated 
as the Federal in-season manager for this fishery and has been given authority to implement special 
restrictions within this fishery. 

Effects of the Proposal

This proposal will implement individual harvest limits for eulachon within the Federal waters of 
Burroughs Bay area. There is currently no harvest limit in Federal regulation for eulachon. Because of 
conservation concerns, the Burroughs Bay area has been closed annually since 2006. Should eulachon 
returns improve enough to allow for a subsistence fishing opportunity, the proposal would allow for 
conservative subsistence eulachon fishing opportunity in the future.  Reduced harvest limits for eulachon 
may limit the ability of some Federally-qualified users to practice some cultural activities such as 
eulachon grease production in large quantities.

Because of their nature to spawn in the lower portions of streams, eulachon may be available for harvest 
within inland water portions of streams under Federal jurisdiction, as well as the same portions of stream 
and in the adjacent marine waters falling under State jurisdiction. Due to the overlapping jurisdictions of 
these fishing areas, any management action for eulachon must be coordinated with State managers to be 
completely effective as unilateral action by the Federal program will not affect State actions in adjacent 
marine and inland waters not in Federal jurisdiction.

OSM CONCLUSION

Oppose Proposal FP13-21. 

Justification

There is no need to define individual harvest limits in regulation for the Burroughs Bay area. Federal 
subsistence permits are issued to households and the associated harvest limits can be listed as terms of the 
permit by the Federal in-season manager to provide for conservation of eulachon stocks in the area when 
subsistence fishing effort resumes. Recommended action on deferred proposal FP11-18 would expand the 
Federal subsistence permit requirement to include all of District 1.



106 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-21

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION

SOUTHEAST ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: Adopting this proposal would be an unnecessary restriction on subsistence uses of 
eulachon. The in-season manager has the ability to set harvest limits as required for conservation. 
Any future fishery will be managed conservatively through appropriate conditions on the subsistence 
fishing permit. These conditions will be established through consultation with users and State managers. 
Adopting the proposal would restrict the harvest to such an extent that the customary trade of eulachon or 
the production of eulachon grease would be prevented.  There would be a significant increase in cost of 
participation by subsistence users.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



107Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Yukon-Northern Maps

K
iv

al
in

a

N
oa

ta
k

K
ot

ze
bu

e

N
oo

rv
ik

W
is

em
an

C
ol

df
oo

t

E
va

ns
vi

lle

A
rc

tic
 V

ill
ag

e

C
ha

nd
al

ar

V
en

et
ie

C
ha

lk
yi

ts
ik

Fo
rt

 Y
uk

on

A
na

kt
uv

uk
 P

as
s

Se
la

w
ik

A
tq

as
uk

K
ak

to
vi

k

U
m

ia
t

B
ar

ro
w

A
lla

ka
ke

t
A

la
tn

a

N
ui

qs
ut

B
et

tle
s

Sh
un

gn
ak

K
ob

uk

Po
in

t L
ay

W
ai

nw
ri

gh
t

A
m

bl
er

D
ea

dh
or

se

K
ia

na

Po
in

t H
op

e



108 Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Yukon-Northern Maps

K
ot

lik

St
. M

ar
ys

Sc
am

m
on

 B
ay

H
oo

pe
r B

ay

N
ew

to
k

T
ul

uk
sa

k

C
he

va
k

K
al

sk
ag

H
ol

ik
ac

hu
k

Sh
ag

el
uk

H
ol

y 
C

ro
ss

C
hu

at
hb

al
uk

M
ou

nt
ai

n 
V

ill
ag

e

Pi
tk

as
 P

oi
nt

A
ni

ak

A
la

ka
nu

k

E
m

m
on

ak

G
ra

yl
in

g

Pi
lo

t S
ta

tio
n

M
ar

sh
al

l

St
. M

ic
ha

el

L
ow

er
 K

al
sk

ag

St
eb

bi
ns

R
us

si
an

 M
is

si
on

Pa
im

iu
t

Pa
ra

di
se

A
nv

ik

N
un

am
 Iq

ua

U
na

la
kl

ee
t

K
al

ta
g

Id
ita

ro
d



109Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting

Yukon-Northern Maps

Te
tli

n 
Ju

nc
tio

n
Ta

na
cr

os
s

M
in

to
Ta

na
na

M
an

le
y 

H
ot

 S
pr

in
gs

C
hi

ck
en

La
ke

 M
in

ch
um

in
a

N
en

an
a

C
he

na
 H

ot
 S

pr
in

gs

FA
IR

B
A

N
K

S

Ea
gl

e
Eu

re
ka

D
ot

 L
ak

e

H
ea

ly
 L

ak
e

Li
ve

ng
oo

d
R

am
pa

rt

W
is

em
an

C
ol

df
oo

t

V
en

et
ie

C
ha

lk
yi

ts
ik

Fo
rt 

Y
uk

on

B
ea

ve
r

B
irc

h 
C

re
ek

C
irc

le
St

ev
en

s 
V

ill
ag

e

C
irc

le
 H

ot
 S

pr
in

gs

C
ha

nd
al

ar

Fo
x

C
en

tra
l

Pa
im

iu
t

H
us

lia

G
al

en
a

Sh
ag

el
uk

Sh
ak

to
ol

ik

C
an

dl
e

K
al

ta
g

G
ra

yl
in

g

R
ub

y

H
ol

y 
C

ro
ss

Pa
ra

di
se

K
oy

uk
uk

N
ul

at
o

A
nv

ik

U
na

la
kl

ee
t

B
uc

kl
an

d

K
oy

uk

Po
or

m
an

D
el

ta
 J

un
ct

io
n

K
ob

uk
Sh

un
gn

ak

H
ug

he
s

A
lla

ka
ke

t
A

la
tn

a

A
m

bl
er

Ev
an

sv
ill

e

A
na

kt
uv

uk
 P

as
s

B
et

tle
s

C
hi

sa
na

N
or

th
w

ay
 J

un
ct

io
n

To
k

Te
tli

n

N
ab

es
na

N
or

th
w

ay

A
rc

tic
 V

ill
ag

e

C
an

tw
el

l

Id
ita

ro
d



110 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-01

FP13-01 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-01 requests the removal of the Federal subsistence 

permit requirement for the Chinook salmon drift gillnet fishery for 
Yukon River Subdistricts 4B and 4C. Submitted by the Koyukuk 
National Wildlife Refuge

Proposed Regulation Yukon-Northern Area – Salmon

§___.27(i)(3)(xv) In Districts 4, 5, and 6, you may not take salmon for 
subsistence purposes by drift gillnets, except as follows:

(C) In the Yukon River mainstem, Subdistricts 4B and 4C, with a 
Federal subsistence fishing permit, you may take Chinook salmon 
during the weekly subsistence fishing opening(s) by drift gillnets 
no more than 150 feet long and no more than 35 meshes deep from 
June 10 through July 14. 

OSM Conclusion Support

Yukon/Kuskokwim 
Delta Regional Council 
Recommendation

Support

Western Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation Support

Eastern Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation No action taken

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Conditional support if the Federal Subsistence Board eliminates the 
federal Chinook salmon drift gillnet fishery (FFYK01), it can rescind 
the federal subsistence fishing permit and ADF&G managers won’t 
have to track the drift gillnet catch and effort. Since participation 
and catch in this nontraditional drift gillnet fishery over the last 
seven years have been small, elimination of this fishery would have 
minimal impacts on subsistence users and federal and state fishing 
regulations would be the same.

Written Public Comments 1 Support (See Tanana Chiefs Conference memo following the 
analysis of FP13-11)



111Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-01

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-01

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-01, submitted by the Koyukuk National Wildlife Refuge, requests the removal of the 
Federal subsistence permit requirement for the Chinook salmon drift gillnet fishery for Yukon River 
Subdistricts 4B and 4C.

DISCUSSION

The Federal subsistence Chinook salmon drift gillnet fishery was created in 2005 for waters adjacent to 
Federal management units in the mainstem Yukon River in fishing Subdistricts 4B and 4C. A Federal 
subsistence fishing permit is required for Federally qualified subsistence users to operate drift gillnet 
fishing gear in this fishery. Prior to adoption, there were two prominent concerns. One was that the 
Chinook salmon harvest was already fully allocated. By allowing another gear-type, there was a potential 
for attracting additional subsistence fishermen who may compete with those already participating in a 
long established fishery. The other concern was that the additional fishing gear type would target different 
Chinook salmon stocks, with unknown, adverse consequences for upriver harvesters and escapement 
potential. Both set gillnets and fish wheels are stationary and bank oriented, while drift gillnets are 
operated mid-stream and, in general, more efficient. By shifting some harvest to mid-stream locations, 
there was a possibility that harvest could be redirected to Canadian stocks, which may migrate further 
offshore and at greater depths The Federal Subsistence Board noted these concerns when it approved 
the gear-type, by restricting drift gillnets to no more than 150 feet in length and 35 meshes deep, as well 
as requiring each fisherman using the gear to possess a Federal subsistence fishing permit for the gear 
operation in order to track any shifts in harvest. The Board also noted that the drift gillnet fishery would 
just shift the locations of some harvest, but was unlikely to increase harvest levels (FWS 2005).

Existing Federal Regulation 

Yukon-Northern Area – Salmon

§___.27(i)(3)(xv) In Districts 4, 5, and 6, you may not take salmon for subsistence purposes by 
drift gillnets, except as follows:

(C) In the Yukon River mainstem, Subdistricts 4B and 4C, with a Federal subsistence fishing 
permit, you may take Chinook salmon during the weekly subsistence fishing opening(s) by drift 
gillnets no more than 150 feet long and no more than 35 meshes deep from June 10 through 
July 14. 

Proposed Federal Regulation

Yukon-Northern Area – Salmon

§___.27(i)(3)(xv) In Districts 4, 5, and 6, you may not take salmon for subsistence purposes by 
drift gillnets, except as follows:

(C) In the Yukon River mainstem, Subdistricts 4B and 4C, with a Federal subsistence fishing 
permit, you may take Chinook salmon during the weekly subsistence fishing opening(s) by drift 



112 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-01

gillnets no more than 150 feet long and no more than 35 meshes deep from June 10 through 
July 14. 

Relevant State Regulations

Yukon-Northern Area — Salmon

5 AAC 01.220. LAWFUL GEAR AND GEAR SPECIFICATIONS. (a) Salmon may be taken only 
by gillnet, beach seine, a hook and line attached to a rod or pole, handline, or fish wheel, subject 
to the restrictions set out in this section, 5 AAC 01.210, and 5 AAC 01.225 – 5 AAC 01.249.

(d) In District 4, commercial fishermen may not take salmon for subsistence purposes during the 
commercial salmon fishing season by gillnets larger than six-inch mesh after a date specified by 
emergency order issued between July 10 and July 31.

(e) In Districts 4, 5, and 6, salmon may not be taken for subsistence purposes by drift gillnets, 
except as follows:

1) In Subdistrict 4-A upstream from the mouth of Stink Creek, king salmon may be taken by 
drift gillnets from June 10 through July 14,and chum salmon may be taken by drift gillnets 
after August 2;

2) In Subdistrict 4-A downstream from the mouth of Stink Creek, king salmon may be taken 
by drift gillnets from June 10 through July 14;

3) No person may operate a drift gillnet that is more than 150 feet in length during the 
seasons described in (1) and (2) of this subsection.

Extent of Federal Public Waters

For purposes of this discussion, the phrase “Federal public waters” is defined as those waters described 
under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR 100.3. The Federal public waters addressed by this proposal are those 
portions of the Yukon River located within, or adjacent to, the external boundaries of the Innoko and 
Nowitna National Wildlife Refuges in District 4 (See Yukon-Northern Area Map 5). 

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

Yukon-Northern Area: Yukon River drainage—salmon other than fall chum salmon—Residents of the 
Yukon River drainage and the community of Stebbins.

Yukon-Northern Area: Yukon River drainage—Fall chum salmon—Residents of the Yukon River drainage 
and the communities of Stebbins, Scammon Bay, Hooper Bay, and Chevak.

Regulatory History

In March 2003, the Western Interior Alaska Regional Advisory Council (Council) submitted proposal 
FP04-05 (FWS 2003) to the Federal Subsistence Board (Board), which requested that the Federal 
subsistence drift gillnet fishery on the Yukon River include Subdistricts 4B and 4C. Additionally, the 
proposal requested that Chinook salmon could be harvested by drift gillnets less than 150 feet in length 
from June 10 through July 14, and chum salmon could be harvested by drift gillnets after August 2. The 



113Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-01

State subsistence drift gillnet fishing area in Subdistrict 4A runs from about 16 miles downriver from 
Galena to Paradise and is primarily utilized by the residents of Anvik, Grayling, Kaltag, Nulato, and 
Koyukuk. However, fishers from Huslia, Galena, and Ruby also travel to Subdistrict 4A to drift gillnet 
fish because of the lack of legal drift gillnet fishing opportunities near their communities. The Council 
suggested that spreading the fishing pressure to other areas would help relieve the competition for the 
few desirable fishing sites in Subdistrict 4A, especially near the village of Koyukuk, without increasing 
the harvest of Chinook salmon. Federal and State fisheries managers expressed concerns that establishing 
a Subdistrict 4B and 4C drift gillnet fishery had the potential for harvest expansion beyond the historic 
level and could lead to a shift in the stocks harvested (i.e. more Canada-bound fish). During its fall 2003 
meeting, the Council supported its proposal, with modification, to include the conservation measure of 
limiting nets used for subsistence salmon fishing to a maximum of 7-inch stretch mesh, and no deeper 
than 35 meshes. The Eastern Interior Alaska and Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory 
Councils opposed the original proposal to expand the use of drift gillnets. The proposal and the Council’s 
recommendation to support with modification were considered, but rejected, by the Board at its December 
2003 public meeting. 

In March 2004, the Council submitted proposal FP05-04 to the Board, which again requested expansion 
of the subsistence drift gillnet fishery on the Yukon River to include Subdistricts 4B and 4C, as well as 
District 5 (FWS 2005). At its Fall 2004 meeting, the Council subsequently recommended that the proposal 
be supported with modification to: only apply to Subdistricts 4B and 4C; be limited to the harvest of 
Chinook salmon from June 10 through July 14; the harvest of chum salmon after August 2; and that 
drift gillnets could only be used during the final 18 hours of the Federal subsistence fishing periods. The 
Council felt that its modifications would help alleviate some of the concerns of Federal and State fisheries 
managers and the Eastern Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council.

During its January 2005 public meeting, the Board adopted FP05-04 with modification to allow the 
harvest of only Chinook salmon (but not chum salmon) by drift gillnet in the Federal public waters of 
Subdistricts 4B and 4C (Figure 1) during the final 18 hours of the weekly regulatory opening(s) under a 
Federal subsistence fishing permit. 

During the 2007 fishing season, the State and Federal subsistence fishery in Subdistricts 4B and 4C 
were liberalized, by emergency order and special action, from two 48-hour openings per week to one 
5-consecutive days opening per week beginning on July 1, 2007. Additionally, the Federal in-season 
manager liberalized the Federal subsistence drift gillnet fishing time (final 18 hours of the weekly 
regulatory openings) by a similar, pro-rated amount to two 22-hour periods per opening. On July 6, 2007, 
the State and Federal subsistence fisheries in Subdistricts 4B and 4C were further liberalized to 7 days 
per week by emergency order and special action. In addition, the Federal drift gillnet fishing time was 
liberalized by a similar pro-rated amount to two 31-hour periods for the week of July 8.

During its December 2007 public meeting, the Board adopted FP08-15, which requested the use of drift 
gillnets for Chinook salmon harvest during the entire weekly subsistence opening(s) in Subdistricts 4B 
and 4C. At the same time, the Board rejected FP08-16, which requested the elimination of the Federal 
drift gillnet fishery in Subdistricts 4B and 4C, finding no basis for such a request (FWS 2007). 

During its January 2011 meeting, the Board rejected proposal FP11-07, which requested the use of drift 
gillnets be prohibited for the harvest of salmon in Districts 4 and 5 of the Yukon Area, to allow more fish 
to escape to the spawning grounds. The Board rejected the proposal, for several reasons: the reported 
harvest from the Federal drift gillnet fishery was low; prohibiting the use of drift gillnets in Subdistricts 
4B and 4C for conservation of Chinook salmon was not warranted; and eliminating the use of drift 



114 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-01



115Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-01

gillnets to harvest salmon in Subdistrict 4A in Federal subsistence regulations would not accomplish the 
proponent’s objective, as Federally qualified users would still be able to utilize drift gillnets under State 
subsistence regulations (FWS 2011).

Biological Background

Chinook salmon returns since 2007 have been much lower than expected. The 2012 Chinook salmon 
projection was for a run size range of 109,000 to 146,000; well below the 1998–2007 average run size of 
approximately 200,000. Based on the assessment information to date, the Chinook salmon run appears to 
have come in at the lower end of the preseason outlook estimate of 109,000 (ADF&G 2012). The cause of 
this drop in production remains largely unknown. As in recent years, Federal and State fishery managers 
managed the 2012 season with conservative management strategies.

Chinook Salmon Assessment Projects, 2012 

Andreafsky River weir/USFWS 

The cumulative passage through July 31 was approximately 2,500 Chinook, which is below the average 
of 4,000 for this date. 

Pilot Station sonar project/ADF&G 

Chinook salmon passage at Pilot Station sonar was estimated to be approximately 107,000 through 
August 5, which is below the historical average of 148,100 for this date. It is also below the average of 
133,300 for historical late years for this date. 

Gisasa River weir/USFWS 

The cumulative passage through July 30 was approximately 1,300 Chinook, which is below the average 
of 4,000 for this date. 

Henshaw Creek Weir/TCC 

The cumulative passage through August 3 was approximately 922 Chinook, which is below the average of 
1,000 for this date. 

Rapids Video Test Fish Wheel/Zuray 

The cumulative expanded count through August 5 was approximately 3,500 Chinook, which is above the 
average of 2,200 for this date. 

Eagle Sonar/ADF&G 

Through August 18, the Eagle sonar had an estimated passage of 34,700 Chinook salmon, well past the 
¾ point in run timing. Although subsistence fishing activity had been severely restricted throughout the 
Yukon drainage most of the season to protect Chinook salmon, managers are projecting a border passage 
of approximately 35,000 fish, well below the border passage objective of approximately 50,000.



116 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-01

Chena River Tower/ADF&G 

The cumulative count for Chinook salmon through August 5 was 1,600, which is below the average of 
6,700 for this date. 

Salcha River Tower/BSFA 

The cumulative count for Chinook salmon through August 5 was 6,900, which is below the average of 
11,700 for this date (ADF&G 2012). 

Chinook Salmon Subsistence Harvests

Chinook salmon subsistence harvests had been approximately 50,000 fish annually in the Alaskan portion 
of the Yukon River between 1981 and 2007. Subsistence harvest levels of Chinook salmon have declined 
since due to below average runs and/or resultant harvest restrictions. 

Federal Drift Gillnet Fishery, Subdistricts 4B and 4C 

The Federal drift gillnet fishery in 4B and 4C has been in place since 2005. The majority of Federally 
qualified subsistence users fishing with drift gillnets in Subdistricts 4B and 4C are residents of Galena 
and Ruby. In the first seven years of this fishery, an average of 24 permits have been issued per year; with 
an average of 5 permits actually fished. A total of 215 Chinook salmon have been harvested in the seven 
years of the fishery, an average of 31 fish per year (Table 1). 

Table 1. Summary of federal permits issued, permittee post-season reporting, effort and harvest, 
Subdistricts 4B and 4C, 2005-2009 (Holder, et. al 2006, 2007; Holder 2008, 2009, 2010; Havener 
2012) 

     Reported Harvest 

Year
Number of 

permits 
issued 

Number of 
permits 
returned 

Total
permits 
fished 

Total hours 
fished 

Chinook 
salmon 

Other
species. 

2005 70 64 9 60  54 1 
2006 18 18 5 18 19 11 
2007 12 12 4 28.5 13 0 
2008 
2009 
2010 
2011 

Total

AVERAGE 

25 
14 
19 
10 

168 

24 

25 
14 
19 
10 

162 

23 

10 
5
3
1

37 

5

82 
29.5 
NA
NA

218 

NA 

44 
58 
9
18 

215 

31 

0
8
2
0

22* 

3

Analysis of harvest amounts for 2005–2009, the most recent years for which there are comparable 
subsistence harvest data for all of District 4, show that the amount of Chinook salmon harvest in the 
Federal drift gillnet fishery represents approximately 1% of the amount harvested by Galena and Ruby 
residents, and approximately 0.3% of the amount harvested in all of District 4 (excluding the Koyukuk 
River) for all gear types (Tables 2 and 3).



117Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-01

Table 3. Chinook salmon subsistence harvest totals in Subdistricts 4B and 4C 

Federal Drift Gillnet fishery, 4B & 
4C  54 19 13 44 58 38 
Percent of harvest by Galena and Ruby 
residents 1.33 0.71 0.32 1.53 3.03 1.04 
Percent of total District 4 harvest  0.40 0.16 0.11 0.43 0.70 0.34 

Effects of the Proposal

If adopted, this proposal would eliminate the requirement for a Federal fishing permit for the subsistence 
drift gillnet fishery in Subdistricts 4B and 4C. Removing this permit requirement most likely will not 
increase the amount of interest in drift gillnet fishing. Removal of the permit requirement will simplify 
fishing for Federally qualified subsistence users and would align with other remote (e.g. non-road 
accessible) State and Federal managed subsistence fisheries along the Yukon that do not require a 
subsistence permit. If the permit requirement is removed, harvest monitoring information will still be 
captured in the annual household harvest surveys and/or catch calendars that the State of Alaska utilizes to 
monitor harvest. 

OSM CONCLUSION

Support Proposal FP13-01.

Justification

There is no need to impose a permit requirement on Federally qualified subsistence users to fish 
for Chinook salmon in the mainstem Yukon River in Subdistricts 4B and 4C when utilizing a drift 
gillnet. Since the fishery was created in 2005, the average annual harvest of Chinook salmon has been 
approximately 31 fish and the total harvest has been 215 fish for the period 2005–2011. Data from 2011 
showed that a total of 10 permits were issued from the Koyukuk/ Nowitna National Wildlife Refuge, but 
only one fisherman used the permit and reported harvesting 18 Chinook salmon. Harvest information will 
still be obtained from annual household harvest surveys and/or catch calendars that the State of Alaska 
utilizes to monitor harvests.

Table 2. Chinook salmon subsistence harvest totals in District 4 by community of residence, as estimated 
from postseason survey, returned permits and test fish projects, 2005–2009 (Jallen and Hamazaki. 2011)
Community   2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Average 
Anvik    1,206 958 1,321 1,433 796 1,010 
Grayling      1,878 1,702 1,500 1,761 1,113 1,740 
Kaltag    3,367 2,833 1,456 2,403 1,970 1,954 
Nulato    2,749 2,707 2,431 1,250 1,551 2,527 
Koyukuk    396 835 811 513 982 552 
Galena    2,864 2,380 2,511 2,232 1,370 2,242 
Ruby/Kokrines   1,193 304 1,594 637  542 1,383 
           
District 4 Total*   13,653 11,719 11,624 10,229 8,324 11,109 
*Excluding Koyukuk River



118 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-01

LITERATURE CITED

ADF&G 2012. 2012 Yukon River Summer Salmon Fishery News Release #85, Summer Update #9, 
Districts 1–6, Yukon Area. August 6, 2012. Fairbanks, AK. Website: http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.
cfm?adfg=commercialbyareayukon.salmon#/fishery

FWS. 2003. Staff Analysis FP04-05. Pages 61–72 in Federal Subsistence Board Fisheries Meeting Materials, 
December 9–11 2003. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK. 414 pages.

FWS. 2005. Staff Analysis FP05-04. Pages 441–461 in Federal Subsistence Board Fisheries Meeting Materials, 
January 11–13 2005. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK. 472 pages.

FWS. 2007. Staff analysis FP08-15 &16. Pages 360–377 in Federal Subsistence Board Fisheries Meeting Materials, 
December 11–13, 2007. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK. 399 pages.

FWS. 2011. Staff analysis FP11-07. Pages 137–154 in Federal Subsistence Board Fisheries Meeting Materials, 
January 18–20, 2011. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK. 335 pages.

Havener, J. 2012. Personal communication. Refuge Subsistence Coordinator, Koyukuk/ Nowitna National Wildlife 
Refuge. FWS, Galena, AK.

Holder, R.R. and D. Senecal-Albrecht. 1998. Yukon River comprehensive salmon plan for Alaska. Alaska 
Department of Fish and Game. Juneau, AK.

Holder, R., G. Beyersdorf, and D. Rivard. 2006. 2005 Yukon River Subdistricts 4-B & 4-C Federal Drift Gillnet 
Fishery. Internal, unpublished summary report. Fairbanks Fish and Wildlife Field Office, FWS, Fairbanks, AK.

Holder, R., G. Beyersdorf, and D. Wisar. 2007. 2006 Yukon River Subdistricts 4-B & 4-C Federal Drift Gillnet 
Fishery. Internal, unpublished summary report. FWS, Fairbanks, AK. 

Holder, R. 2008. Summary of the 2007 Yukon River Subdistricts 4-B & 4-C Federal Drift Gillnet Fishery. Internal, 
unpublished report. Fairbanks Fish and Wildlife Field Office, FWS, Fairbanks, AK.

Holder, R. 2009. Summary of the 2008 Yukon River Subdistricts 4-B & 4-C Federal Drift Gillnet Fishery. Internal, 
unpublished report. FWS, Fairbanks, AK. 

Holder, R. 2010. Summary of the 2009 Yukon River Subdistricts 4-B & 4-C Federal Drift Gillnet Fishery. Internal, 
unpublished report. FWS, Fairbanks, AK. 

Jallen, D.M. and T. Hamazaki. 2011. Subsistence and Personal Use Salmon Harvests in the Alaskan Portion of the 
Yukon River Drainage, 2009. ADF&G, Fishery Data Series No. 11-07, Anchorage, AK.



119Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-01

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS

YUKON KUSKOKWIM-DELTA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support. 

Justification: The Council was in agreement with OSM’s conclusion.

WESTERN INTERIOR ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support.

Justification: Concerns regarding overfishing of Chinook as a result of the drift gillnet fishery have not 
been realized. Very few fish have been harvested by the drift gillnet fishery. The permit requirement is 
very burdensome.

EASTERN INTERIOR ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: No action taken.

Justification:  The Council reviewed the information on this proposal and deemed it an issue only 
affecting the Western Interior region, deferring any action on the proposal to the region it originated from.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



120 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-01

ADF&G Comments on FP13-01 
Page 1 of 4 

 Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-01:  Rescind the requirement for a federal subsistence fishing permit 
to take Chinook salmon during the weekly subsistence fishing open(s) by drift gillnet in Yukon 
River mainstem, subdistricts 4-B and 4-C.  
 
Introduction:  This proposal, submitted by the Koyukuk National Wildlife Refuge (refuge), 
would eliminate the requirement for a federal subsistence fishing permit to take Chinook salmon 
during the weekly subsistence fishing periods by drift gillnet in Yukon River mainstem, 
subdistricts 4-B and 4-C.  The federal Chinook salmon drift fishery (FFYK01) was created in 
2005 when it became an allowable subsistence fishing gear type for waters adjacent to federal 
management units in Yukon River mainstem, subdistricts 4-B and 4-C.  A federal subsistence 
fishing permit is required for subsistence users to operate drift net fishing gear as a regulatory 
condition of the new fishing opportunity.  
 
Prior to adoption, there were three prominent concerns.  One was that the Chinook salmon 
harvest was already fully allocated.  By allowing another gear type, there was a potential for 
attracting new subsistence fishermen who may compete with those already participating in a long 
established set gillnet and fish wheel fishery.  Another concern was that the new fishing gear 
type may target different Chinook salmon stocks with unknown implications for upriver 
harvesters and escapement potential.  Both set gillnet and fish wheel gears are stationary and 
bank oriented, while drift gillnets are operated midstream.  By shifting harvest into midstream 
locations, exploitation may shift to Canadian-bound stocks that many people felt migrated 
further offshore and at greater depths.  Finally, since drifting is not a traditional gear type used in 
this area, it was possible that fishing conditions might not be appropriate in this location, 
resulting in loss of fishing gear and associated “ghost fishing”.  The Federal Subsistence Board 
noted these concerns when it approved the gear type by restricting drift gillnets to no more than 
150 feet in length and 35 meshes deep, as well as requiring each fisherman using the gear to 
possess a special use subsistence fishing permit for gear operation in order to track shifts in 
harvest.  
 
Since the Yukon River mainstem, subdistricts 4-B and 4-C subsistence drift gillnet fishery was 
created in 2005, the annual harvest of Chinook salmon has averaged approximately 30 fish.  In 
2011, a total of 10 special use subsistence fishing permits were issued by Koyukuk/ Nowitna 
National Wildlife Refuge personnel.  Of these, only one fisherman actually used the permit to 
harvest 18 Chinook salmon.  Fishermen have reported difficult fishing conditions and lots of 
snags in the area open to fishing. 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  If this proposal is adopted, federal subsistence users would be 
able to take Chinook salmon during the weekly subsistence fishing openings by drift gillnet in 
mainstem Yukon River subdistricts 4-B and 4-C without obtaining a federal subsistence fishing 
permit.  Since the fishery currently has only one participant, the proponent indicated no need for 
a permit requirement for federally-qualified subsistence users to drift gillnet for Chinook salmon 
in the Yukon River mainstem, subdistricts 4-B and 4-C.  Removing this permit requirement is 
not expected to increase the amount of interest in drift gillnet fishing in these subdistricts largely 



121Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-01

ADF&G Comments on FP13-01 
Page 2 of 4 

due to a lack of available, snag-free drifting areas.  Removal of this permit will simplify fishing 
for subsistence users by eliminating the permitting requirement for this fishery.  This would align 
with other remote (i.e., nonroad-accessible) state and federally-managed subsistence fisheries 
along the Yukon River that do not have a subsistence permit requirement.  This permit has been 
required for seven years and has documented that use did not appreciably increase or shift to new 
fishermen, and further, harvest rates did not increase significantly enough to alter management 
practices.  The poor results of this fishery to date, indicates why this gear type was not 
traditionally used in this area. 
 
Impact on Other Users:  None noted at this time. 
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  Salmon may be harvested under state regulations throughout 
the majority of the Yukon River watershed, including a liberal subsistence fishery.  Gear types 
allowed are gillnet, beach seine, hook and line attached to a rod or pole, handline, and fish wheel.  
Although all gear types are not used or allowed in all portions of the Yukon River drainage, drift 
and set gillnets and fish wheels harvest the majority of fish taken for subsistence uses.  Under 
state regulations, subsistence is the priority consumptive use.  Therefore, state subsistence 
fishing opportunity is directly linked to abundance and is not restricted unless run size is 
inadequate to meet escapement needs.  When the Yukon River Chinook salmon run is below 
average, state subsistence fishing periods may be conducted based on a schedule, or period 
closures may be implemented chronologically throughout the Alaska portion of the drainage, 
which is consistent with migratory timing as the salmon run progresses upstream.  Federal 
regulations under Special Actions to restrict federally-eligible users have been rare and mirrored 
the state inseason actions necessary to meet escapement goals, except where state and federal 
regulations differ in subdistricts 4-B and 4-C.  Amounts reasonably necessary for subsistence 
(ANS) Chinook salmon (5 AAC 01.236(b)), as determined by the Alaska Board of Fisheries 
(BOF), have not been met the last four years. 
 
Conservation Issues:  The Yukon River Chinook salmon stock is currently classified as a yield 
concern.  Subsistence harvest levels have not reached the ANS for subsistence the last four years  
2008—2011.  A majority of the Yukon River drainage escapement goals have been met since 
2000, including the Chena and Salcha rivers, which are the largest producers of Chinook salmon 
in the U.S. portion of the drainage.  The agreed-to escapement objective for the Canadian 
mainstem was met every year from 2001 through 2006, with 2001, 2003, and 2005 being the 
three highest spawning escapement estimates on record.  However, the escapement objective for 
the Canadian mainstem was not met in 2007, 2008, and 2010.  Exploitation rate on the Canadian-
origin stock by Alaskan fishermen has changed from an average of about 55% (1989–1998) to an 
average of about 44% from 2004–2008 (Howard et al. 2009)1.  Although the subsistence harvest 
was stable at nearly 50,000 Chinook salmon annually through 2006, the recent five-year average 
(2007–2011) was 43,900.  Commercial harvests have decreased over 90%, from an average of 
100,000 annually (1989–1998), to the recent five-year average (2007–2011) of nearly 9,700 fish. 
 

                                                 
1 Howard, K. G., S. J. Hayes, and D. F. Evenson.  2009.  Yukon River Chinook salmon stock status and action plan 
2010; a report to the Alaska Board of Fisheries.  Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 09-
26, Anchorage. 
 



122 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-01

ADF&G Comments on FP13-01 
Page 3 of 4 

Enforcement Issues:  None noted at this time. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  The Federal Subsistence Board does not have the authority to regulate the 
nonfederally-qualified users participating in fisheries on waters outside of federal subsistence 
jurisdiction.  While standing on state and private lands (including state-owned submerged lands), 
persons must comply with state law and cannot harvest under conflicting federal regulations.   
 
Enforcement difficulties and user confusion -- concerning where and how federal regulations that 
are different than state regulations apply -- will result unless detailed maps and explanations 
specific to the area are provided. 
 
Other Issues:  Maps are needed showing the specific boundaries and areas where federal 
regulations are claimed to apply, along with providing the justification for claiming those 
boundaries.  A large percentage of the lands along the Yukon River are state or private lands 
where federal subsistence fisheries are not authorized to occur.  The federal board does not have 
authority to supersede state commercial and subsistence fisheries regulations unless a full closure 
is required for conservation purpose(s) within water of claimed federal jurisdiction.  Changes to 
state commercial and subsistence fisheries must be submitted to the BOF for adoption and 
implementation.  The proposer also purports that, if the permit requirement is removed, harvest 
monitoring information will still be captured in the household harvest surveys and/or catch 
calendars that the state uses to monitor harvest annually.  This argument holds only when 
reporting is mandated. 
 
The Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADF&G) conducts an annual study to estimate 
subsistence and personal use salmon harvests within the Alaska portion of the Yukon River 
drainage (Jallen et al. 2012)2.  Most Yukon Area communities have no regulatory requirement to 
report their subsistence salmon harvest.  The ADF&G survey program is voluntary for these 
remote communities.  Harvest information is collected through postseason household interviews, 
follow-up telephone interviews, postal questionnaires, and harvest calendars. 
   
If the fisherman or fishermen who participate in this subsistence drift gillnet fishery in Yukon 
River mainstem, subdistricts 4-B and 4-C live(s) in a Yukon Area community where household 
surveys are conducted annually and they volunteer to participate in these surveys, the household 
surveys would reasonably collect sufficient data to enable managers to track this gear-type 
annually.  Of particular importance to this proposal is information regarding drift gillnet usage 
and Chinook salmon caught by this gear type, and changes to drift gillnet effort or catch over 
time.  
 
However, if the fisherman or fishermen who participate in this subsistence drift gillnet fishery in 
Yukon River mainstem, subdistricts 4-B and 4-C live(s) in a community outside the Yukon Area 
or if they live in a Yukon Area community and choose not to participate in the ADF&G 
household surveys, then the household surveys would not provide fishery managers with the 

                                                 
2 Jallen, D. M., S. D. Ayers, and T. Hamazaki.  2012.  Subsistence and personal use salmon harvests in the Alaska 
portion of the Yukon River drainage, 2010.  Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Data Series No. 12-18, 
Anchorage. 
 



123Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-01

ADF&G Comments on FP13-01 
Page 4 of 4 

information needed (e.g., catch, effort, and changes in each over time) to evaluate and track this 
drift gillnet fishery. 
 
Other Options Considered:  Elimination of the fishery:  The fishery in question is only newly 
created and attracts only one participant, largely due to concerns originally brought in state 
comments at the time of the fisheries creation including the lack of snag-free areas to fish.  The 
fishery has, in turn, created other concerns over the years, including the introduction of “ghost 
nets” collecting an unharvestable allocation, rendering those fish unavailable to spawning 
escapement and subsistence users. 
 
Recommendation: Oppose.  The department recommends the Federal Subsistence Board to 
eliminate this federal Chinook salmon drift gillnet fishery (FFYK01).  This would negate the 
need for this federal subsistence fishing permit and ADF&G managers need to track the drift 
gillnet catch and effort.  Since participation and catch in this nontraditional drift gillnet fishery 
over the last seven years have been small, elimination of this fishery would have minimal 
impacts on subsistence users and federal and state fishing regulations would be the same. 
 
 
 
 



124 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

FP13-03 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-03 requests that a daily harvest and possession limit be 

established at three northern pike taken in all waters of the Yukon River, 
from Holy Cross downstream to and including Paimiut Slough, and that 
only one pike may be over 30 inches. Submitted by the Grayling, Anvik, 
Shageluk and Holy Cross Fish and Game Advisory Committee

Proposed Regulation §__.27 Subsistence taking of fish

(e) (3) Yukon-Northern Area

(i) Unless otherwise restricted in this section, you may take fish 
in the Yukon Northern Area at any time. In those locations where 
subsistence fishing permits are required, only one subsistence 
fishing permit will be issued to each household per year. You may 
subsistence fish for salmon with rod and reel in the Yukon River 
drainage 24 hours per day, 7 days per week, unless rod and reel 
are specifically otherwise restricted in paragraph (e)(3) of this 
section(v) Except as provided in this section, and except as may 
be provided by the terms of a subsistence fishing permit, you may 
take fish other than salmon at any time.

(xx) In all waters of the Yukon River, from Holy Cross 
downstream to and including Paimiut Slough, the harvest limit 
for northern pike is three pike, only one of which may be over 30 
inches.

OSM Conclusion Oppose

Yukon/Kuskokwim 
Delta Regional Council 
Recommendation

Oppose

Western Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation Support

Seward Peninsula Regional 
Council Recommendation Oppose

Eastern Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation Support

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found that the staff analysis could be 
enhanced with additional information that is important for discussion 
and Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal. The Interagency 
Staff Committee also noted that it appears that the following 
information was not brought forward for discussion at the Federal 
Regional Advisory Council meetings. See full comments following the 
analysis.

ADF&G Comments Defer

Written Public Comments 2 Support (See Tanana Chiefs Conference memo following the 
analysis of FP13-11)



125Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-03

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-03, submitted by the Grayling, Anvik, Shageluk and Holy Cross (GASH) Fish and Game 
Advisory Committee, requests that a daily harvest limit be established at three northern pike taken in all 
waters of the Yukon River, from Holy Cross downstream to and including Paimiut Slough, and that only 
one pike may be over 30 inches.

DISCUSSION

Members of the GASH AC are concerned that the State and Federal subsistence fisheries are taking more 
pike than is sustainable from the Yukon River drainage in an area from Holy Cross downstream to and 
including Paimiut Slough (Map 1). The proponent has submitted a similar proposal to the Alaska Board 
of Fisheries to consider at its January 18–20, 2013, meeting in Anchorage. The proponent’s intent is to 
implement new regulations limiting all pike fishermen to three pike in possession in all waters of the area, 
spreading the burden of conservation amongst all users (Werba 2012, pers. comm.).

During conversations with the Chair of the GASH AC and another member from Holy Cross, the 
proponent asked to change the original proposal to allow the daily harvest and possession limit to be 
ten northern pike with no restriction on size (Chase 2012, pers. comm.; Werba 2012, pers. comm.). This 
analysis will focus on the original proposal as published, since this is the version presented for public 
review. The proponent could provide comments on their proposal at the Western Interior Regional 
Advisory Council meeting.

The area under consideration in this analysis are the waters of the Yukon River in the area of Paimiut 
Slough where a popular winter subsistence fishery is located. These waters are the focus of the analysis, 
because these are the only Federal public waters within the proposal area. 

The proponent states that each year, members of the GASH AC either observe or hear about, up to 30 
separate groups of three to six fishermen camping in the area for several days at a time. While camping, 
they ice fish for pike night and day with tip up poles. Currently, there is no harvest or possession limits 
in State and Federal subsistence regulations. The GASH AC is very concerned what this targeted fishing 
pressure will have on the pike stocks and would like to see some form of limits being placed to insure 
that pike are available for future generations and for multiple user groups. The proponent continues that 
its proposal will help preserve the pike population, which otherwise will be impacted by high fishing 
pressure when they are most vulnerable—grouped together and hungry during the winter months. The 
proponent stated that by limiting the daily harvest it will insure that the pike that are caught through the 
ice are carefully utilized to prevent spoilage and waste. The proponent explains that by only allowing the 
daily harvest of one pike over 30 inches, it will benefit the population by insuring that more large females 
make it through the winter and are able to spawn come spring. The proponent states that by going from 
an unlimited harvest limit to this proposed limit, it will impact subsistence users, but the harvest limit is 
a daily limit so the same number of pike can still be caught, just not all at once, which will insure that the 
pike are being utilized.

The proponent explained the potential benefit to sport/recreational fishermen in the summers. This 
will help preserve the pike population in this part of the Yukon River, as well as the Innoko since those 
fish overwinter in this part of the Yukon River. The open harvest limit right now can easily lead to a 



126 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

0 105

Miles

FP13-03 Map 1
Lower Yukon River: 

Northern Pike

Yukon Delta National

Wildlife Refuge

Legend
Region Boundary

BLM Lands

FWS Refuge Lands

Subsistence Use Area
Yu

ko
n

Ri
ve

r

Paimiut               
 Slough

In
no

ko
   

   
   

   
R

iv
er

Yu
ko

n 
 R

iv
er

Innoko National

Wildlife Refuge

¹

Paimiut

Holy Cross

Paradise

Anvik Shageluk

Grayling

Holikachuk

Map 1. Map of the Yukon River, Paimiut Slough, and Yukon Delta National Wildlife Refuge within the 
proposal area. The shaded subsistence use area shown on the map indicates where northern pike 
harvest occurs in Federal waters, within the boundaries of the Yukon Delta National Wildlife Refuge.



127Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

population crash which will shut down any sports fishing in the area for pike. Also, with less pike being 
taken out during the winter, there is the chance that there may be more pike available for the summer 
sport season. 

Existing Federal Regulation 

§__.27 Subsistence taking of fish

(e) (3) Yukon-Northern Area

(i) Unless otherwise restricted in this section, you may take fish in the Yukon Northern Area 
at any time. In those locations where subsistence fishing permits are required, only one 
subsistence fishing permit will be issued to each household per year. You may subsistence 
fish for salmon with rod and reel in the Yukon River drainage 24 hours per day, 7 days per 
week, unless rod and reel are specifically otherwise restricted in paragraph (e)(3) of this 
section

(v) Except as provided in this section, and except as may be provided by the terms of a 
subsistence fishing permit, you may take fish other than salmon at any time.

Proposed Federal Regulation

§__.27 Subsistence taking of fish

(e) (3) Yukon-Northern Area

(i) Unless otherwise restricted in this section, you may take fish in the Yukon Northern Area 
at any time. In those locations where subsistence fishing permits are required, only one 
subsistence fishing permit will be issued to each household per year. You may subsistence 
fish for salmon with rod and reel in the Yukon River drainage 24 hours per day, 7 days per 
week, unless rod and reel are specifically otherwise restricted in paragraph (e)(3) of this 
section(v) Except as provided in this section, and except as may be provided by the terms of 
a subsistence fishing permit, you may take fish other than salmon at any time.

(xx) In all waters of the Yukon River, from Holy Cross downstream to and including 
Paimiut Slough, the harvest limit for northern pike is three pike, only one of which may 
be over 30 inches.

Relevant State Regulations

Subsistence Fishing

Yukon-Northern Area 

5AAC 01.210. Fishing seasons and periods

(h) Except as provided in 5 AAC 01.225 and except as may be provided by the terms of 
subsistence fishing permit, there is no closed season on fish other than salmon.

5AAC 01.220. Lawful gear and gear specifications



128 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

(k) A person may use a hook and line attached to a rod or pole when subsistence fishing only

(1) in the waters between the latitude of Point Romanoff and the latitude of the western most 
point of the Naskonat Peninsula, including those waters draining into the Bering Sea and those 
of the Yukon River drainage downstream from the lower mouth of Paimiut Slough; or

(2) through the ice.

Sports Fishing

5 AAC 73.010. Seasons, bag, possession, and size limits, and methods and means in the Yukon 
River Management Area 

(a) Except as otherwise specified in this section or through an emergency order issued under AS 
16.05.060, sport fishing is permitted year round in the waters of the Yukon River Management 
Area. 

(b) Except as otherwise specified in (c) of this section, the following are the general bag, 
possession, and size limits for finfish in the waters of the Yukon River Management Area: 

(7) northern pike: the bag and possession limit is 10 fish, with no size limit;

(c) The following are the exceptions to the general bag, possession, and size limits, and fishing 
seasons specified in (a) of this section for the Yukon River Management Area: 

(1) in all waters of the Innoko River drainage, including all waters draining into the Yukon 
River from Holy Cross downstream to and including Paimiut Slough, the bag and possession 
limit for northern pike is three fish, of which only one fish may be 30 inches or greater in 
length; 

Extent of Federal Public Waters

For the purpose of this discussion, the phrase “Federal public waters” is defined as those waters described 
under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR 100.3. The Federal public waters addressed by this proposal are those 
portions of the Yukon River located within, or adjacent to, the external boundaries of the Yukon Delta 
National Wildlife Refuge, from the confluence of Paimiut Slough upstream to the border of the refuge, 
including Paimiut Slough (Map 1). 

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

Residents of the Yukon-Northern Area have a customary and traditional use determination for all 
freshwater fish, other than salmon. 

Regulatory History

Since the 1990s, GASH area communities have voiced concerns to both State and Federal management 
bodies about an increased presence of sports fisherman, a possible decline in the northern pike population, 
a decrease in larger fish, and large harvests of northern pike from subsistence users not from the GASH 
communities (Schaff 2003). In 2001, proposal FP01-32 was submitted by a resident of Holy Cross 
seeking to close the Innoko River and its tributaries to non-subsistence fishing (State sport fishing) 



129Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

for Northern pike and sheefish, from its confluence with the Yukon River to 30 miles upstream of the 
old Holikachuk village site. At the time, local residents of surrounding villages were concerned about 
increased non-subsistence use in the area. During its December 2001 meeting, the Federal Subsistence 
Board rejected the proposal, citing that the local stocks of sheefish and pike appeared to be healthy, 
the sport fish harvest was low, and that a proposal was recently submitted to the Fisheries Resource 
Monitoring Program to investigate sheefish and pike in the affected area. The study was subsequently 
funded as project 02-037, Contemporary Subsistence Uses and Population Distribution of Non-Salmon 
Fish in Grayling, Anvik, Shageluk, and Holy Cross (Brown, et. al. 2005).

These concerns prompted State and Federal managers to hold community meetings within the GASH area 
communities (Schaff 2003); document traditional ecological knowledge on the importance and uses of 
non-salmon species to residents of GASH area communities (Brown et al. 2005); investigate the status 
and movements of northern pike in the Lower Innoko Drainage (Scanlon 2009); and examine possible 
implications of the northern pike sports fishery in this area on pike abundance (Scanlon 2009). During 
these local meetings, members of the GASH communities voiced their concerns about mortality linked 
to the sports harvest, sightings of dead pike lying on sand bars and beaches above the Holikachuk area, 
and large subsistence harvest from residents of Kalskag and lower villages in the Kuskokwim Drainage. 
While most concerns were related to a decrease in the abundance of pike, a few of the residents had stated 
that there are too many northern pike (Schaff 2003).

Biological Background

Northern pike Esox lucius is a freshwater fish found throughout the northern hemisphere, including the 
Yukon drainage. The GASH area, including the Innoko River drainage and Paimiut Slough, contain a 
large amount of overwintering, spawning, and rearing habitat for northern pike that is largely unaltered 
and in pristine condition (Map 2). During the spring months, northern pike migrate to their spawning 
areas located throughout the Innoko drainage. Local residents from GASH area communities have 
reported pike migrating to the sloughs and lakes in early spring, prior to the ice leaving the river. During 
open water months, northern pike were found over a larger range, moving freely throughout the Innoko 
drainage (Scanlon 2009). In May of 2003 and 2004, tagged northern pike were found in Reindeer Lake, 
Reindeer River, and Albert’s Slough (Scanlon 2009). It is difficult to determine all spawning locations 
because the timing of spawning is unknown and there is a large amount of widely dispersed spawning 
habitat, (Scanlon 2009). Previous studies suggest that northern pike in large river systems may not show 
fidelity to one particular spawning site (Craig 1996, Taube and Lubinski 1996). 

During the winter months, November through March, northern pike are found to congregate in three main 
areas within the Lower Innoko River drainage: a stretch of the Yukon River from Holy Cross downstream 
to Paimiut Slough; a section on Reindeer River; and a small section at Lehman’s Lake (Scanlon 2009). 
Most locals from GASH area communities reported that during the winter months, northern pike were 
primarily present on the east side of the Yukon River, apparently avoiding the west side that has clearer, 
swifter waters (Brown et al. 2005).

The Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADF&G) initiated a tagging program along with the Midnight 
Sun Trophy Northern Pike Adventures guiding operation in 1998 to sample and tag northern pike that 
were caught and released from their clients. Over five summers the Pike Adventures guiding operation 
obtained length measurements from, collected scales from, and attached ADF&G tags to more than 
2,000 northern pike (Scanlon 2009). To date, only six of these tagged fish have been reported taken the 
subsistence fishery, less than 2% are captured annually in the sports fishery, and only one tagged fish was 
captured during a study conducted in 2002 (Scanlon 2009).



130 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

PROPOSAL FP13-03
MAP 2

Three main overwintering locations for radio-tagged northern pike in the Lower Innoko drainage 
(Scanlon 2009).



131Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

The 2002 study was conducted to obtain information on spawning and overwintering areas (Scanlon 
2002). In June 2002, ADF&G captured and sampled a total of 512 northern pike in the lower Innoko 
River drainage. These fish measured from 211 mm (~8 in) to 1,180 mm (~39 in) fork length, with 407 
fish ≥ 400 mm (16 in) fork length. Sixty of these fish ≥ 500 mm fork length were implanted with a radio 
tag to track their movement within the GASH area. Fish were tracked from 2002 to 2004 and showed an 
extensive range of use throughout the connecting rivers, sloughs, and lakes. Spawning site fidelity was 
not able to be determined because of the uncertain timing and short duration of spawning and because 
spawning habitat was highly dispersed over a large area. However, the telemetry data did reveal three 
main overwintering areas (Map 2).

Harvests

Subsistence

Subsistence harvest of northern pike occurs year round in the area affected by this proposal, with 
the species making up a significant component of the non-salmon diet for residents in the GASH 
communities (Brown et al. 2005) (Map 3). Pike are harvested through various methods depending on the 
time of the year and the location of fishing.

Neither Federal nor State subsistence regulations require a permit to harvest northern pike, and there are 
no harvest limits or reporting requirements for this species. As is common in many areas of the state for 
a number of reasons, the subsistence harvest of northern pike, under both State and Federal subsistence 
harvest regulations, is not limited (Fall and Shanks 2000, Andersen and Alexander 1992). Harvest 
estimates are obtained by periodic household harvest interviews. The Division of Subsistence of ADF&G 
has conducted two household harvest surveys in GASH communities that included the harvest of northern 
pike. They produced two years of harvest estimates for the four communities, 1990 and 2002. Household 
harvest surveys provide a snapshot of a pattern of use that varies yearly based on many factors, including, 
regulations, opportunity, weather, and the availability of other wild foods. Area total estimated harvest 
of northern pike for 1990 was 3,246 pike and 3,045 pike in 2002 (Table 1). Harvests reported from most 
communities were similar both years, except for Holy Cross, where the reported number of northern pike 
harvested in 2002 was much less than that reported in 1990. 

In 2003 and 2004, 88 northern pike that were sampled from the winter subsistence harvest (Brown et al. 
2005). All northern pike were large, ranging from 22 in to 41 in (Figure 1). Of the 73 fish for which sex 
could be determined, females accounted for 62% and all females greater than 32 inches in length were in 
pre-spawning condition. 

In addition to GASH community residents, some residents from Kuskokwim River communities travel 
to the GASH area in the spring to harvest northern pike (Brown et al. 2005). Some GASH community 
residents have reported that people from Kuskokwim River and lower Yukon Delta villages travel to 
Paimiut Slough to fish and leave with “sled loads” of northern pike (Brown et al. 2005). 

Large, older female northern pike accounted for 62% of the winter subsistence fishery harvests in 2003 
and 2004 (Brown et al. 2005). Northern pike may be particularly vulnerable to the winter subsistence 
fishery because they congregate in three areas during winter (Scanlon 2009). Only three or four Kalskag 
residents harvest northern pike on the north side of the Yukon River in Straight Slough, north of Paimiut 
Island (Map 2) (Aloysius 2012, pers. comm.). They average four, one-day trips in late winter (March) and 
harvest 10–15 fish per trip, with the intention of harvesting one or two fish ≥ 48 inches in length per trip. 
Although residents of the Kuskokwim Area do not have a customary and traditional use determination 
under Federal subsistence regulations for northern pike in the Yukon River drainage, including the Innoko 



132 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

PROPOSAL FP13-03
MAP 3

Subsistence and sports use areas for targeting northern pike (Brown et al. 2005).



133Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

C
om

m
un

ity
St

ud
y 

Ye
ar

 
Ha

rv
es

tin
g 

pi
ke

 (%
)

Us
in

g 
pi

ke
 

(%
)

G
iv

in
g 

A
w

ay
 

pi
ke

 (%
)

Re
ce

iv
in

g 
pi

ke
 (%

)
Re

po
rt

ed
   

Es
tim

at
ed

 
Ha

rv
es

t 
Lo

w
er

 
Es

tim
at

e 
  

Hi
gh

er
 

Es
tim

at
e 

 
95

%
 C

on
-f

id
en

ce
 

In
te

rv
al

 (+
/- 

%
)

G
ra

yli
ng

19
90

60
.9

8
44

3
50

8
40

3
61

3
14

.9
3

20
02

52
.1

0
68

.7
0

35
.4

0
45

.8
0

76
2

78
0

76
2

83
8

13
.6

4

An
vi

k
19

90
41

.6
7

31
4

40
6

24
7

57
4

25
.1

2
20

02
47

.1
0

20
.6

0
29

.4
0

63
1

61
1

72
1

20
.4

3
S

ha
ge

lu
k

19
90

46
.8

8
83

5
1,

04
4

79
5

1,
29

3
50

.6
1

20
02

34
.4

0
68

.8
0

6.
30

46
.9

0
1,

02
8

1,
28

8
1,

02
8

1,
80

1
31

.2
1

H
ol

y 
C

ro
ss

19
90

43
.5

9
60

5
1,

28
8

70
9

1,
86

6
28

.1
4

20
02

21
.2

0
34

.6
0

11
.5

0
13

.5
0

28
1

34
6

28
1

56
0

5.
77

Ta
bl

e 
1.

 T
he

 u
se

 a
nd

 h
ar

ve
st

 o
f n

or
th

er
n 

pi
ke

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
ho

us
eh

ol
d 

su
rv

ey
s,

 G
ra

yl
in

g,
 A

nv
ik

, S
ha

ge
lu

k,
 a

nd
 H

ol
y 

C
ro

ss
, a

ll 
st

ud
y 

ye
ar

s 
(A

D
F&

G
 

20
12

).
Nu

m
be

r 
of

 P
ik

e 
Ha

rv
es

te
d

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f H
ou

se
ho

ld
s



134 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

Figure 1.  The number of pike harvested by length during the winter subsistence fishery in the GASH 
area, 2003–2004 (Brown et al. 2005).

River and Paimiut Slough, they are able to subsistence fish for northern pike in the Yukon River drainage 
in both State and Federally managed waters under State subsistence regulations. 

Sports Fishing

In 1995, a small business for guided sports fishing began targeting trophy sized northern pike on the 
Innoko River, with a focus on catch-and-release (Burr 2011) (Map 3). Clients are housed on a moveable 
houseboat, which limits the number of clients that can be supported at one time. More recently, a few 
residents from Holy Cross have started small businesses offering guided sports fishing services within 
the Innoko drainage (Burr 2011). The sports fishery is primarily catch and release. During 1990–1999 
the average annual sport fishing catch was 2,071 northern pike and the average annual harvest was 93 
(Table 2) (Scanlon 2009). During 2000–2008, the average annual catch increased to 7,665 northern pike, 
while the average annual harvest decreased to 49. 

The sports fishery is primarily catch and release and focuses on larger pike, but a small proportion of 
those caught and released die due to hooking in areas that are linked to increased mortality or to poor 
handling practices (Burr 1998, Taube and Lubinski 1996, Burkholder 1992). Burkholder (1992) reported 
catch-and-release mortalities ranging from 3 to 10%. Nearly all the fish that died had been hooked in the 
gills, eyes, or gullet, while less than 2% of fish that had been snagged on the body or hooked in the mouth 
died. Burr (1998) conducted a study on the Nowitna River system and found that northern pike were able 
to tolerate a variety of catch and release fishing practices. Survival remained high even when pike were 
cradled with two hands under the head and tail out of the water for a total of three minutes, just as anglers 
might do for a photo. The only mortalities that occurred during the study were in the control group, where 
two fish captured with a hoop net died. Fishing guides highly encourage clients to practice catch and 
release while fishing for pike (Burr 2011). 

The northern pike population of the lower Innoko River does not appear to be in danger from over harvest 
(Scanlon 2009, Burr 2011). However, since both the sports and subsistence fisheries target large northern 



135Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

pike, a substantial increase in fishing pressure from one or both of these fisheries could result in a a 
decrease in the abundance of older, larger northern pike (Burr 2011). 

Effects of the Proposal

If FP13-03 were adopted, Federally qualified subsistence users would be limited to harvesting only three 
pike per day. Additionally, only one pike could be over 30 inches long. This would hold subsistence 
users to the same harvest limits and restrictions as sport fishers under State of Alaska regulations. This 
would likely adversely affect traditional winter harvest patterns and possibly make travel to traditional 
winter harvest sites economically unfeasible for subsistence users. Larger northern pike are targeted in the 
subsistence fishery. Reducing the daily harvest and possession to three pike per day, with only one pike 
being over 30 inches would decrease fishing pressure on the pike population allowing the larger fish a 
better chance to survive throughout the winter to spawn in the spring.

If the companion proposal submitted to the Alaska Board of Fisheries is not adopted and FP13-03 were 
adopted, Federally qualified subsistence users would still be able to harvest pike in Federal public waters 
of the Yukon River and in the area of Paimiut Slough, through State regulations with no harvest limit

OSM CONCLUSION

Oppose Proposal FP13-03.

Year Effort Catch Harvest
1,990 415 964 118
1,991 520 1,544 118
1,992 53 171 43
1,993 637 1,661 151
1,994 93 18 9
1,995 430 1,039 90
1,996 654 4,090 110
1,997 445 3,024 56
1,998 847 4,433 93
1,999 551 3,770 145
2,000 327 1,912 10
2,001 1,458 12,866 28
2,002 2,533 17,551 40
2,003 174 1,655 12
2,004 1,522 10,572 249
2,005 355 9,271 59
2,006 581 5,833 0
2,007 600 2,464 0
2,008 515 1,104 6

465 2,071 93
967 7,665 49

Average 1990 1999
Average 2000 2008

Table 2. Sports catch, harvest, and total angler days for northern
pike in the Innoko River. Harvest is the amount of pike that are
retained in the sports harvest (Scanlon 2009).



136 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

Justification

Although the proposed regulation would decrease fishing pressure on northern pike within this area, there 
is no documented conservation concern to warrant the proposed harvest limits on Federally qualified 
subsistence users. The northern pike population of the lower Innoko River drainage is considered healthy, 
with access to abundant spawning, rearing, and overwintering habitat. The proposed daily harvest and 
possession limit would likely adversely affect traditional winter harvest patterns and possibly make travel 
to traditional winter harvest sites economically infeasible for subsistence users. 

LITERATURE CITED

Aloysius, R. 2012. Personal communication; phone. Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory 
Council member. Kalskag, AK.

Andersen, D.B., and C.L. Alexander. Subsistence hunting patterns and compliance with moose harvest reporting 
requriements in rural interior Alaska. ADF&G, Division of Subsistence Technical Paper No. 215. Juneau. 24 pages.

Brown, Caroline, J. Burr, K. Elkin, R. J. Walker. 2005. Contemporary Subsistence Uses and Population Distribution 
of Non-Salmon Fish in Grayling, Anvik, Shageluk, and Holy Cross. Federal Subsistence Fishery Monitoring 
Program, Final Project No. 02-037. USFWS Office of Subsistence Management, Fisheries Resource Monitoring 
Program, Fishery Information Service, Anchorage, Alaska. 

Burr, J. 1998. Effect of post-capture handling on mortality in northern pike. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, 
Fishery Data Series No. 98-34, Anchorage.

Burr, J. 2011. Fishery Management Report for sport fisheries in the Yukon Management Area, 2009. Alaska 
Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Management Report No. 11-37, Anchorage.

Burkholder, A. 1992. Mortality of northern pike captured and released with sports fishing gear. Alaska Department 
of Fish and Game, Fishery Data Series 92-3, Anchorage.

Craig, John F. 1996. Pike: Biology and Exploitation. Chapman & Hall, London; New York.

Fall, A.F, and R. Shanks. 2000. Statewide subsistence fishery monitoring strategy. Final report of the Subsistence 
Fisheries Harvest Assessment Working Group to OSM, FWS, for study number 00-017. Division of Subsistence, 
ADF&G, and the Alaska Inter-Tribal Council. Anchorage. 62 pages.

Scanlon, B. P. 2009. Movements and fidelity of northern pike in the lower Innoko River Drainage, 2002–2004. 
Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Data Series No. 09-45, Anchorage.

Schaff, B. 2003. Subsistence and Recreational Use Issues and Information Meetings, Final Report FIS-01-238. 
USFWS Innoko National Wildlife Refuge. McGrath, Alaska.

Taube, T. T. and B. R. Lubinski. 1996. Seasonal migration of northern pike in the Kaiyuh Flats, Innoko National 
Wildlife Refuge, Alaska. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Manuscript No. 96-04, Anchorage.

Werba, B. 2012. Personal communication. Member of the GASH Fish and Game Advisory Committee: by 
telephone. Holy Cross, AK.

Chase, K. 2012. Personal communication. Chair of the GASH Fish and Game Advisory Committee: by telephone. 
Anvik, AK.



137Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS

YUKON KUSKOKWIM-DELTA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: When subsistence users travel a long distance to harvest what they need for their food 
supply, it is not considered sport fishing. Subsistence fishers want to harvest as many as they could and 
sometime they return on a same day. Subsistence users travel a long distance to harvest what they need 
and at times remains in the area for 5, 6, or even up to 10 days. To travel a long distance costs subsistence 
users a lot of money in consideration of costs for gasoline, supplies and food.

WESTERN INTERIOR ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support.

Justification: There has been overfishing and waste of Northern Pike in the area. Placing limits would 
ensure that the resource will be there in abundance in the future to provide for subsistence opportunity as 
well as to fulfill important cultural uses. This was proposed by local people and they are taking this step 
to protect their local resources.  Testimony by Holy Cross residents at the Council meeting stated that 
three a day would be adequate.

SEWARD PENINSULA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: Council felt it is not necessary to set limits on subsistence harvests of Northern Pike and 
put sport fishing above subsistence fishing for Northern Pike. There is not presently a conservation 
concern regarding Northern Pike, making this proposal unnecessary. No one fishes Northern Pike to feed 
dogs these days. Subsistence users primarily harvest Northern Pike for elders for use in making akutaq 
(Eskimo Ice Cream). 

EASTERN INTERIOR ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support.

Justification: The Council listened to analysis from both OSM and the State on this proposal and 
discussed at length what the conservation pros might be as well as debating the impact to local users as 
opposed to the impact on all Federally qualified subsistence fishers who use the resource.  All but two 
Council members supported this proposal in part to concur with the Western Interior RAC support for this 
issue in their region but also citing that they felt the conservation concern cited in the proposal warranted 
action.  The two members opposed felt there was not enough evidence for a conservation problem for 
pike in the proposal area and that many subsistence users who depend on the pike for subsistence would 
be negatively impacted.



138 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found that the staff analysis could be enhanced with additional 
information that is important for discussion and Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal. The 
Interagency Staff Committee also noted that it appears that the following information was not brought 
forward for discussion at the Federal Regional Advisory Council meetings.

• The majority of pike fishing in the GASH region occurs on State managed waters. The Federal 
public waters where pike fishing occurs is in a portion of the Paimiut Slough area, which is a 
small portion of the overall area used by residents of Holy Cross and subsistence users who travel 
from the Kuskokwim area.

• The Alaska Board of Fisheries will be addressing a parallel proposal the week prior to the Fed-
eral Subsistence Board meeting.  If the BOF does not adopt their proposal, then adoption of this 
Federal subsistence proposal would have little or no effect since State regulations also apply to 
Federal public waters and subsistence users could simply fish under State regulations.

• The gear type was not specified in the proposal and limiting harvest to three pike with only one 
over 30” would not be possible for those using gillnets under the ice. This would be detrimen-
tal to those Federally qualified users who use gillnets to harvest pike or whitefish because they 
would likely quickly exceed the harvest limits, thus making gillnet fishing problematic.

• Although recommendations were made by the Seward Peninsula and Eastern Interior Regional 
Councils, these would likely have no effect on residents from their region since it is unlikely that 
they travel to this area to fish for pike.  

• Frozen fish are considered no longer in possession; thus, a possession limit may not serve the 
intended purpose.



139Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

ADF&G Comments on FP13-03 
Page 1 of 3 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-03:  Revise the subsistence fishing harvest limits for northern pike in 
all waters of Yukon River from Holy Cross downstream to and including Paimuit Slough from 
no bag limit for northern pike to a bag and possession limit of three northern pike, only one of 
which can be over 30 inches.  
 
Introduction:  This proposal, submitted by the Grayling Anvik Shageluk Holy Cross Fish and 
Game Advisory Committee (AC), would establish a bag and possession limit for northern pike in 
all waters of the Yukon River from Holy Cross downstream to and including Paimuit Slough.  
The proponent believes too many pike and too many large female pike are being taken during the 
winter subsistence fishery.  In the past several years they have observed multiple (20–40) groups 
of people (three to six people per group) coming up and camping for several days at a time.  
These groups ice fish for pike night and day with tip-up poles and when done, leave with sled 
loads of fish.  Currently there is no bag limit for this subsistence pike fishery.  The proponent is 
concerned that this targeted fishing pressure will deplete northern pike stocks in the Yukon and 
Innoko River drainages, and would like to limit this fishery to ensure that there are pike available 
for future generations and for multiple user groups.   
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  This proposal, if adopted, will limit the northern pike harvest 
and provide protection to pike larger than 30 inches in length in all waters of the Yukon River 
from Holy Cross downstream to and including Paimuit Slough, which proponents suggest are 
currently subjected to excess fishing pressure by winter subsistence users.  Local users report this 
to be an area where pike congregate and feed during the winter months.  The area is relatively 
easy to access, and provides ample and expedient catch opportunity for pike.  
 
The proponents acknowledge that changing the pike harvest from unlimited to this proposed 
daily bag and possession limit will negatively impact some subsistence users.  Nonlocal 
subsistence users intending to harvest pike will be limited from harvesting as many fish per day 
or taking as many large fish on one trip. This limitation will increase the number of trips, and 
therefore, time, fuel, and effort per trip to harvest the same number of pike which they have 
previously harvested.  This proposal was brought forth by local users who would be affected by a 
reduced daily harvest. 
  
Impact on Other Users:  This proposal may benefit sport/recreational fishermen, as well as 
local area subsistence fishermen.  Adopting a daily bag and possession limit with a one-fish limit 
for those over 30 inches in length for northern pike in this part of the Yukon River drainage may 
provide more opportunity for sport/recreational fisherman to catch northern pike both quantity 
and size. 
 
There is no commercial fishery for northern pike in this part of the Yukon River. 
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  Northern pike may be harvested under state regulations 
throughout the majority of the Yukon River watershed.  There are no daily or annual bag limits 
for pike, except in the Minto Flats area (see 5 AAC 01.244. Minto Flats Northern Pike 



140 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

ADF&G Comments on FP13-03 
Page 2 of 3 

Mangagement Plan) where the bag limit is 10 fish and the possession limit is 20 fish.  Gear types 
allowed are gillnet, beach seine, fish wheel, longline, fyke net, dip net, jigging gear, spear, a 
hook and line attached to a rod or pole, handline, or lead.  Although all gear types are not used or 
allowed in all portions of the Yukon River drainage, drift and set gillnets and fish wheels harvest 
the majority of fish taken for subsistence uses.  Under state regulations, subsistence is the 
priority consumptive use.  Therefore, state subsistence fishing opportunity is directly linked to 
abundance and is not restricted unless run size is inadequate to meet escapement needs.   
 
Conservation Issues: Currently there are no conservation concerns for northern pike in waters 
of the Yukon River from Holy Cross downstream to and including Paimuit Slough.  However, 
little is known about the distribution of northern pike from this overwintering population and 
overwintering concentrations of northern pike can be vulnerable to high harvest rates.  Local 
fishermen have expressed concern with the current level of harvest and the harvest of large 
northern pike in this fishing area.  The northern pike subsistence harvest in this area is 
undocumented, particularly for fishermen from outside Yukon River drainage villages. 
 
The state has adopted a management plan for northern pike in the lakes and flowing waters of the 
Minto Flats area of the Yukon River drainage (see 5 AAC 01.244. Minto Flats Northern Pike 
Management Plan) to provide the department with guidance to achieve the goals of managing 
these stocks consistent with sustained yield principles, providing a reasonable opportunity for the 
priority subsistence fishery, and providing  a sport fishing opportunity. 
 
 
Northern pike are top level predators in aquatic food chains and are highly piscivorous (fish 
eating) (ADF&G 2012)1.  Northern pike occur naturally in the Yukon River drainage and they 
are highly valued as a subsistence and sport fish.  In a balanced ecosystem with many other fish 
(e.g., whitefish, sheefish, suckers, Alaska blackfish, stickleback, char, and juvenile Chinook, 
chum, coho, pink, and sockeye salmon), northern pike are simply another member of the fish 
community.  However, an abundance of hungry Northern pike in the Yukon River drainage does 
not help reduce the yield concern for the Yukon River Chinook salmon stock. 
 
Enforcement Issues:  None noted at this time. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  The Federal Subsistence Board does not have the authority to regulate the 
nonfederally-qualified users participating in fisheries on waters outside of federal subsistence 
jurisdiction.  While standing on state and private lands (including state-owned submerged lands), 
persons must comply with state law and cannot harvest under conflicting federal regulations.   
 
Enforcement difficulties and user confusion -- concerning where and how federal regulations that 
are different than state regulations apply -- will result unless detailed maps and explanations 
specific to the area are provided.  Requests for changes to State of Alaska fishery regulations 
must be submitted to the Alaska Board of Fisheries (BOF) for consideration.  The Federal 

                                                 
1 ADF&G (Alaska Department of Fish and Game).  2012.  Invasive pike in Southcentral Alaska.  
http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=invasivepike.main  (Accessed May 2012). 
 



141Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-03

ADF&G Comments on FP13-03 
Page 3 of 3 

Subsistence Board does not have the authority to regulate the nonfederally-qualified users 
participating in fisheries on waters outside of federal subsistence jurisdiction. 
 
Other Issues:  (1) Maps are needed showing the specific boundaries and areas where federal 
regulations are claimed to apply, along with providing the justification for claiming those 
boundaries; (2) A large percentage of the lands along the Yukon River are state or private lands 
where federal subsistence fisheries are not authorized to occur; (3) The federal board does not 
have authority to supersede state commercial and subsistence fisheries regulations unless a full 
closure is required for conservation purpose within water of claimed federal jurisdiction; and 4) 
A similar fisheries regulation proposal has been submitted to the BOF, which will be considered 
in January 2013.  Taking action following the Alaska Board of Fisheries meeting could easily be 
coordinated given both boards are scheduled to meet in mid to late January 2013.  A greater 
degree of information will be available to this board at the conclusion of the state process.  
 
Recommendation:  Defer following BOF decision on parallel proposal.  
 
 
 
 
 



142 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

FP13-06/07/08 Executive Summary
General Description Proposals FP13-06, FP13-07, and FP13-08 address customary trade 

regulations for Yukon River Drainage Chinook (king) salmon. FP13-
06 seeks to limit customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon to 
those with a current customary and traditional use determination for 
Yukon River Chinook salmon. FP13-07 seeks the same limitation, 
but only in times of shortage when there is no Yukon River Chinook 
salmon commercial fishery and restrictions on subsistence fishing are 
in place. FP13-08 also seeks to limit customary trade of Yukon River 
Chinook salmon to those with a current customary and traditional 
use determination and to ensure that any individual who purchases 
Chinook salmon under customary trade uses it only for personal 
or family consumption. Submitted by the Western Interior Alaska 
Subsistence Regional Advisory Council (FP13-06), Eastern Interior 
Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council (FP13-07) and Yukon-
Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council (FP13-08)

Proposed Regulation FP13-06

§___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents 
may exchange in customary trade subsistence-harvested fish, their 
parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations of this 
part, for cash from other rural residents. The Board may recognize 
regional differences and regulate customary trade differently for 
separate regions of the State.

(iii) Customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon may only 
occur between Federally qualified rural residents with a current 
customary and traditional use determination.

FP13-07

§___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents 
may exchange in customary trade subsistence-harvested fish, their 
parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations of this 
part, for cash from other rural residents. The Board may recognize 
regional differences and regulate customary trade differently for 
separate regions of the State.

(iii) Customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon may only 
occur between Federally qualified rural residents with a current 
customary and traditional use determination . This will only be in 
times of shortage when there is no Chinook salmon commercial 
fishery and restrictions on subsistence fishing are in place.

continued on next page



143Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

FP13-06/07/08 Executive Summary (continued)
Proposed Regulation 
(Continued)

FP13-08

§___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents 
may exchange in customary trade subsistence-harvested fish, their 
parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations of this part, 
for cash from other rural residents that are Federally qualified and 
have a customary and traditional use determination for salmon 
only in the Yukon River drainage, if the individual who purchases 
the fish, their parts, or their eggs uses them for personal or family 
consumption. If you are not a rural resident, you may not sell fish, 
their parts, or their eggs taken under these regulations. The Board 
may recognize regional differences and regulate customary trade 
differently for separate regions of the State.

OSM Conclusion Support Proposal FP13-06 with modification, and Support 
Proposals FP13-07 and PF13-08 with modification to make them 
consonant with the modified FP13-06. The modification is to add the 
phrase “for Yukon River Chinook salmon” at the end of the sentence 
“Customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon may only occur 
between Federally qualified rural residents with a current customary 
and traditional use determination.”

The modified regulation should read:

§___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents 
may exchange in customary trade subsistence-harvested fish, their 
parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations of this 
part, for cash from other rural residents. The Board may recognize 
regional differences and regulate customary trade differently for 
separate regions of the State.

(iii) Customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon may only 
occur between Federally qualified rural residents with a current 
customary and traditional use determination for Yukon River 
Chinook salmon.

Yukon/Kuskokwim 
Delta Regional Council 
Recommendation

Support Proposals FP13-06, FP13-07, and FP13-08 as modified in 
the OSM analysis.

Western Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation

Support Proposal FP13-06.
Deferred Proposal FP13-07 to home region.
Deferred Proposal FP13-08 to home region.

Seward Peninsula Regional 
Council Recommendation Oppose Proposals FP13-06, FP13-07, and FP13-08.

continued on next page



144 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

FP13-06/07/08 Executive Summary (continued)
Eastern Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation

Took no action on Proposal FP13-06 and FP13-08..
Support Proposal FP13-07.

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Support refining the definition of customary trade and significant 
commercial enterprise to provide clarity for users and enforcement. 
We also recommend the implementation of a permit system to help 
quantify customary trade and significant commercial enterprise 
activities.

Written Public Comments 2 Oppose (See Doyon, Limited and Tanana Chiefs Conference 
memos following the analysis of FP13-11)



145Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-06, 07, 08

ISSUES

Proposals FP13-06, submitted by the Western Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council, 
FP13-07, submitted by the Eastern Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council, and FP13-08, 
submitted by the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council address customary 
trade regulations for Yukon River Drainage Chinook (king) salmon. FP13-06 seeks to limit customary 
trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon to those with a current customary and traditional use determination 
for Yukon River Chinook salmon. FP13-07 seeks the same limitation, but only in times of shortage when 
there is no Yukon River Chinook salmon commercial fishery and restrictions on subsistence fishing are 
in place. FP13-08 also seeks to limit customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon to those with a 
current customary and traditional use determination and to ensure that any individual who purchases 
Chinook salmon under customary trade uses it only for personal or family consumption. These proposals 
respond to recommendations made by a subcommittee composed of members from the Western Interior 
Regional Advisory Council, the Eastern Interior Regional Advisory Council, and the Yukon-Kuskokwim 
Delta Regional Advisory Council.

DISCUSSION 

The proponents recognize that runs of Yukon River Chinook salmon have been in sharp decline. They 
suggest that limiting customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon to Federally qualified rural 
residents with current customary and traditional use determinations for Yukon River salmon would curtail 
large customary trade exchanges of Chinook salmon that are reported to occur in urban, that is nonrural, 
areas of Alaska. If these proposals are adopted, then nonrural residents, and rural residents who reside 
outside of the Yukon River drainage, would not be able to participate in customary trade for Yukon River 
Chinook salmon. 

Salmon species are not identified in the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Council proposal (FP13-08), in 
which the limitation refers to all species of salmon found in the Yukon River. However, based on 
the Tri-Regional Advisory Council subcommittee’s recommendation and on the Yukon-Kuskokwim 
Delta Council (2012:86 ff.) transcripts, it appears that the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Council meant the 
limitation to be for Chinook salmon, not all species of salmon. The Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Council 
proposal also contains unnecessary language: “If you are not a rural resident, you may not sell fish, their 
parts, or their eggs taken under these regulations.” A current customary and traditional use determination 
requires a person to be a qualified rural resident. In addition, the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Council 
proposal replicates language from §___. 27(c)(12) and imports it into §___. 27(c)(11), which would 
require that an individual who purchases fish, their parts, or their eggs use them for personal of family 
consumption. 

The shared element of all three proposals is to limit customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon to 
those with a current customary and traditional use determination for Yukon River Chinook salmon.



146 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

Note, however, that under ANILCA, all subsistence uses are equally permissible11. An ANILCA Section 
804 analysis, which allocates scarce resources among users but does not prioritizes subsistence uses, may 
be another mechanism to respond to low availability of Yukon River Chinook salmon. 

Existing Federal Regulation

§___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents may exchange in customary 
trade subsistence-harvested fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations in 
this part, for cash from other rural residents. The Board may recognize regional differences and 
regulate customary trade differently for separate regions of the State.

§___. 27(c)(12) Transactions between a rural resident and others. In customary trade, a rural 
resident may trade fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations in this part, 
for cash from individuals other than rural residents if the individual who purchases the fish, their 
parts, or their eggs uses them for personal or family consumption. If you are not a rural resident, 
you may not sell fish, their parts, or their eggs taken under the regulations in this part. The Board 
may recognize regional differences and regulate customary trade differently for separate regions 
of the State.

Proposed Federal Regulation

Western Interior Council proposed regulation, FP13-06:

§___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents may exchange in customary 
trade subsistence-harvested fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations of 
this part, for cash from other rural residents. The Board may recognize regional differences and 
regulate customary trade differently for separate regions of the State.

(iii) Customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon may only occur between Federally 
qualified rural residents with a current customary and traditional use determination. 

Eastern Interior Council proposed regulation, FP13-07:

§___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents may exchange in customary 
trade subsistence-harvested fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations of 
this part, for cash from other rural residents. The Board may recognize regional differences and 
regulate customary trade differently for separate regions of the State.

(iii) Customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon may only occur between Federally 
qualified rural residents with a current customary and traditional use determination . This 
will only be in times of shortage when there is no Chinook salmon commercial fishery and 
restrictions on subsistence fishing are in place. 

Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Council proposed regulation, FP13-08:

§___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents may exchange in customary 
trade subsistence-harvested fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations 

1 The regulatory exception is found at §___. 27(i)(3)(xxi), which requires that in the Yukon River drainage, Chinook 
salmon must be used primarily for human consumption and not be targeted for dog food.



147Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

of this part, for cash from other rural residents that are Federally qualified and have a 
customary and traditional use determination for salmon only in the Yukon River drainage, 
if the individual who purchases the fish, their parts, or their eggs uses them for personal or 
family consumption. If you are not a rural resident, you may not sell fish, their parts, or their 
eggs taken under these regulations. The Board may recognize regional differences and regulate 
customary trade differently for separate regions of the State.

Note that these proposed regulations speak to §___. 27(c)(11), which specifies transactions between 
rural residents. The proposed regulations, however, would also affect §___. 27(c)(12), which speaks to 
transactions between rural residents and others:

§___. 27(c)(12) Transactions between a rural resident and others. In customary trade, a rural 
resident may trade fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations in this part, 
for cash from individuals other than rural residents if the individual who purchases the fish, their 
parts, or their eggs uses them for personal or family consumption. If you are not a rural resident, 
you may not sell fish, their parts, or their eggs taken under the regulations in this part. The Board 
may recognize regional differences and regulate customary trade differently for separate regions 
of the State.

Extent of Federal Public Lands

Federal public waters in the Yukon River watershed include all navigable and non-navigable waters 
located within and adjacent to the exterior boundaries of the Innoko, Kanuti, Koyukuk, Nowitna, Tetlin, 
and Yukon Flats National Wildlife Refuges (NWR); Yukon-Charley Rivers National Preserve; the Steese 
National Conservation Area; the White Mountains National Recreation Area; and those segments of the 
National Wild and Scenic River system, of the Yukon River drainage, located outside the boundaries 
of these Federal conservation units (i.e., portions of Beaver and Birch Creeks and the Delta, and the 
Fortymile Rivers). Additionally, those navigable and non-navigable waters of the Yukon River drainage, 
within and adjacent to the exterior boundaries of the Arctic NWR, the Denali National Preserve, the 1980 
additions to the Denali National Park, the Gates of the Arctic National Park and Preserve, the Wrangell-St. 
Elias National Park and Preserve, and the Yukon Delta NWR are within Federal jurisdiction for purposes 
of Federal subsistence fisheries management. Federal public waters include all Yukon commercial fishing 
Districts Y1–Y3; parts of Subdistricts 4A and 4C; most of Subdistrict 5D; and part of Subdistrict 6C (see 
Yukon-Northern Area maps).

Existing State Regulations

State regulations do not allow the exchange of subsistence-caught fish for cash, with the exceptions of 
herring roe on kelp in Southeast Alaska (5AAC 01.717) and subsistence-harvested finfish in the Norton 
Sound-Port Clarence area (5AAC 01.188). 

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

The customary and traditional uses of Chinook salmon from the Yukon River drainage have been 
recognized for all residents of the drainage and the community of Stebbins.

Regulatory History—Customary Trade

Title VIII of the 1980 Alaska National Interest Lands Conservation Act (ANILCA) recognized customary 
trade as a subsistence use (ANILCA Sec. 803). Although undefined in ANILCA, the term “customary 



148 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

trade” was later defined in the implementing regulations as the “…exchange for cash of fish and wildlife 
resources regulated in this part, not otherwise prohibited by Federal law or regulation, to support personal 
or family needs, and does not include trade which constitutes a significant commercial enterprise” (36 
CFR 242.4 and 50 CFR 100.4). The regulations also included the following prohibition: “No person may 
buy or sell fish, their parts, or their eggs which have been taken for subsistence uses, unless, prior to the 
sale, the prospective buyer or seller obtains a determination from the Federal Subsistence Board that 
the sale constitutes customary trade” (60 FR 31589 June 15, 1995). This prohibition was removed from 
regulations in 1999 (64 FR January 8, 1999).

By 2000, the Federal Subsistence Board recognized that Federal regulations regarding customary trade 
needed further clarification. The term “significant commercial enterprise” was not defined in regulation, 
and had the potential to confuse subsistence users and law enforcement personnel in deciding whether 
a particular transaction was permissible customary trade or an impermissible commercial enterprise. 
Without a more specific definition of “significant commercial enterprise,” law enforcement personnel 
concluded that the regulation was unenforceable. Additionally, there was a concern that allowing 
customary trade without further regulatory clarification would create a loophole for certain subsistence 
resources to become commodities on the commercial market, contrary to the intent of ANILCA. 

In January 2003, after extensive public comment and careful review, the Board adopted regulations 
which provided a more enforceable regulatory framework for this long-standing subsistence practice. The 
regulations took effect on May 28, 2003 (68 FR 22308 April 28, 2003). With these regulations, the Board 
sought to accommodate customary and traditional practices and to prevent abuses of the subsistence 
preference in the form of significant commercial transactions. The Board also recognized that it may be 
necessary to make future modifications to regulations in order to accommodate regional differences in 
customary trade. 

In subsequent years, the Board reviewed and adopted two regional proposals defining upper limits for 
customary trade.22 For the Bristol Bay Fishery Management Area, the Board limited the cash value per 
household of salmon exchanged in customary trade between rural residents to no more $500 annually, and 
limited the cash value per household of salmon exchanged in customary trade between rural residents and 
others to no more than $400 annually. These limits were not additive; the overall limit was $500 annually. 
For this area, the Board also imposed a recording requirement for rural-to-others customary trade, but not 
for rural-to-rural customary trade. These regulations, proposed by the Bristol Bay Subsistence Regional 
Advisory Council, took effect on March 1, 2004 (69 FR 5026 February 3, 2004).

For the Upper Copper River District, the Board limited the total number of salmon per household 
exchanged in customary trade between rural residents to no more than 50% of the annual household 
harvest of salmon. The Board limited the cash value per household of salmon exchanged in customary 
trade between rural residents and others to no more than $500 annually. When taken together, customary 
trade to rural residents and to others may not exceed 50% of the annual household limit. Additionally, 
the Board imposed a recording requirement for both rural-to-rural customary trade and rural-to-
others customary trade: customary trade sales must be immediately recorded on a customary traded 
recordkeeping form, the responsibility for which resides with the seller. These limits, proposed by Ahtna 
Inc., the Copper River Native Association, and the Chitina Native Corporation, took effect on April 1, 
2005 (70 FR 13385 March 21, 2005).

2 The Board also reviewed and rejected or deferred a number of proposals restricting customary trade of salmon. See 
Appendix A.



149Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

In January 2011, the Board reviewed three proposals which attempted to establish regulations of 
customary trade in the Yukon River drainage. Proposal FP11-05 was withdrawn at the Board meeting; 
no action was taken on FP11-09; and FP11-08 was deferred. Discussion of proposals FP11-05, FP11-08, 
FP11-09 led the Board to establish a Tri-Regional Advisory Council customary trade subcommittee to 
further discuss customary trade issues and to provide recommendations on customary trade regulations to 
their respective Councils and then to the Board (76 FR 12564 March 8, 2011). 

Recent History

In 2008 and 2009, continued low Chinook salmon runs sparked renewed concerns about customary trade. 
The Yukon River Panel, an international body established under the Yukon River Salmon Agreement, met 
in December, 2008. Anticipating poor salmon runs in 2009, members of the Panel requested clarification 
from the Federal Subsistence Board regarding customary trade, specifically whether Federal regulations 
permitted sale of processed subsistence-caught fish for human consumption, whether there was any 
monitoring of subsistence-taken salmon in the Yukon, and whether there was any enforcement activity in 
the Yukon Management Area in 2007 and 2008 (Andrews and Quinn, Jan. 26, 2009).

In a reply dated February 20, 2009, the Board noted that Federal customary trade regulations “do not 
preempt State of Alaska food safety and health laws,” and that such regulations “do not authorize the sale 
of processed fish by rural subsistence users who do not fulfill the requirements of Alaska Department 
of [Environmental] Conservation food safety laws” (FSB Feb. 20, 2009). Note, however, that Federal 
regulations do not prohibit such sales. To address the issues of monitoring and enforcement, the Board 
forwarded the Yukon River Panel’s request to Stanley Pruszenski, Special Agent-in-Charge of Law 
Enforcement of U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Region 7, and to Gary Youngblood, Chief Ranger of the 
Gates of the Arctic National Park and Preserve and Yukon-Charley Rivers National Preserve. 

In a letter to the Board dated March 13, 2009, Mr. Youngblood indicated that he had reviewed all of the 
Case Incident Reports for Yukon-Charley Rivers National Preserve for 2007 and 2008, but “was not able 
to locate any reference in those reports of issues or concerns dealing with customary trade.” He further 
indicated that, based on discussions with his staff, there appeared to be “little opportunity within our 
jurisdictional boundaries for much customary trade” (Youngblood, March 13, 2009). In his letter dated 
March 18, 2009, Mr. Pruszenski indicated that “We believe compliance with, and general support for, the 
management actions throughout major portions of the river are good.” He cited the 2003 Final Rule (68 
FR 22311 April 28, 2003) governing customary trade, in which the Board stated that it “does not believe 
that this rule will create an incentive for additional harvest of the resources nor result in additional fish 
being sold in the commercial markets.” Mr. Pruszenski went on to note that “Service law enforcement 
programs have not prioritized monitoring this aspect of subsistence use” (Pruszenski, March 18, 2009). 

The Fairbanks Fish and Game Advisory Committee (FFGAC) and the Eastern Interior Alaska Subsistence 
Regional Advisory Council were also concerned with customary trade in the context of low salmon runs. 
The FFGAC and the Eastern Interior Council submitted to the Federal Subsistence Board in February, 
2009 similar Special Action Requests to suspend all customary trade of Chinook salmon between rural 
residents and others. The FFGAC requested a suspension from June 2009 to June 2010 (FSA09-01), 
and the Council requested suspension from June 1, 2009 to April 1, 2010 (FSA09-02). The rationale to 
suspend customary trade in both Special Action Requests reads in part:

Fishers in the lower Yukon, middle Yukon, and upper Yukon were supportive of limiting 
customary trade and believe the first priority is for rural residents to fish to feed their families. 
Even though customary trade may be a legal subsistence practice, many believe that selling 



150 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

fish to “others,” especially when subsistence and escapement needs may not be met, should be 
stopped. 

In its May 29, 2009 response, the Board determined that the requests did not meet the threshold for 
accepting a Special Action Request, and consequently denied them. The Board noted that low runs of 
Yukon River Chinook salmon were of longstanding conservation concern and that anticipated low 2009 
runs were “being addressed through management actions that have been developed in coordination with 
fishers along the river.” In addition, the Board emphasized that “[t]here was no evidence to indicate that 
customary trade allowed under Federal regulations has either led to or augmented declines in Yukon River 
Chinook salmon.” The Board also pointed out that it treats all subsistence uses allowed under ANILCA as 
equally important, and that “there is no statutory or regulatory mechanism that expressly sets out a means 
for prioritizing amongst subsistence uses” (FSB May 29, 2009). 

At the joint Western and Eastern Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council meetings on 
February 23–26, 2010, a number of concerns continued to be raised related to sales of subsistence-caught 
fish. One person noted that “more specific definition and standards and enforcement mechanisms are 
necessary to ensure enforceable limits on this rapidly growing trade” of subsistence-caught salmon, a 
statement supported by several Eastern and Western Interior Council members (WI&EIRAC 2010:148). 
One member of the Eastern Interior Council argued that customary trade “is completely unregulated, 
it’s unrecorded, it’s completely uncontrolled and in my view, it’s completely unacceptable when we are 
having subsistence restrictions in place on the Yukon River.” He went on to state that “This issue is going 
to make or break the recovery of our fisheries” (WI&EIRAC 2010:156). 

Another Eastern Interior Council member, however, questioned the need for any further regulation on 
customary trade. “You have no commercial [fishing] anymore and now you’re digging into customary 
trade. And what harm has it done, did it hurt the fisheries or is it going to? I’d like to know what’s going 
on with that and find out from the people before we start making regulations, [and] rules” (EIRAC 
February 25, 2010:240). 

The Chair of the Western Interior Council argued that abuses of the system need to be addressed: the 
problem “is when some people show up down in Anchorage with huge boxes full of smoked fish and it’s 
all being traded at AFN. That’s when things get out of whack.” He also noted that trading fish for cash is 
“how fish is disseminated throughout the region away from the river.” In addition, he said, the Western 
Interior Council recognizes sale of processed salmon as part of customary trade: “whether the Federal 
Government can tolerate it or the State can tolerate it, we consider that as customary use…it’s just the 
way it works” (WI&EIRAC 2010:150–51). 

Another member of the Western Interior Council mentioned his participation in the Customary Trade 
Task Force in 2001. He recalled that “there was a member from Ketchikan who said, well, I get my fish 
at AFN…And a lady from Nome says, well, we’ve got our fish from the Yukon for years.” He also noted 
that, where he lives, “a lot of the local residents on the Upper Kuskokwim are now buying their fish 
either from the Yukon or from downriver for subsistence needs. And then there are a lot of people that 
are working now that can’t go out, but still depend on the [salmon] strips. So it really gets complicated 
when…the way people are getting their subsistence fish now is by paying those who are taking the time to 
go to camp” (WI&EIRAC 2010:151–52). 

At its March, 2010 meeting, the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council 
discussed at length the issue of customary trade. A prominent problem was enforcement of existing 
regulations. The Council Chair mentioned the lack of adequate enforcement and specifically raised 
“concerns for enforcement on the customary trade that’s developing into more of a commercial concern 



151Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

in the upper portions of the Yukon River” (YKRAC 2010:280). Another Council member also remarked 
on abuses to the system and stated: “If there was some way that we could really restrict customary trade 
to mean exactly what it’s supposed to be….so we could restrict that and make it enforceable, then I’d be 
really, really happy and I know the other people would be too…” (YKRAC 2010:319). 

At its November 9, 2010 public work session, the Federal Subsistence Board received a briefing from 
Stan Pruszenski, Special Agent-in-Charge of Law Enforcement of U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
Region 7, on customary trade enforcement. Mr. Pruszenski noted that USFWS had been investigating 
possible illegal activity associated with customary trade in 2008, 2009, and 2010. In October, 2010, the 
investigation shifted from a covert to an overt inquiry. The focus of the inquiry was on salmon strips from 
the Yukon River, but the Copper River also became a focus (FSB November 9, 2010: 26–35).

One outcome of this investigation was the indictment of a Nenana man, which alleged false identification 
of a fish species sold in interstate commerce (Mowry, Feb. 24, 2011). This man was convicted in January, 
2012, for illegally selling chum strips as king strips for commercial resale (Mowry, Jan 27, 2012).

Tri-Regional Advisory Council Customary Trade Subcommittee

As noted above, in January 2011, the Board deferred FP11-08 in order to allow a subcommittee from the 
Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Council, the Western Interior Council, and the Eastern Interior Council time to 
develop a recommendation on the customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon (76 FR 12564 March 
8, 2011; Jenkins 2011). The Tri-Regional Advisory Council subcommittee, composed of three members 
from each Regional Advisory Council, met on May 18–19, 2011, in Anchorage and again on August 
23–24, 2011, in Fairbanks. At both meetings, subcommittee members agreed that low runs of Chinook 
salmon require conservation efforts to extend to customary trade practices. If Chinook salmon runs return 
to prior levels, limits to customary trade may no longer be warranted.

At its May meeting, the subcommittee discussed three potential customary trade regulatory changes, 
which would only apply to Yukon River Chinook salmon. These included precluding all customary 
trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon between rural residents and others; allowing customary trade only 
between rural residents within the Yukon River drainage, with a $750 limit per household; and requiring a 
permit and recordkeeping form. The subcommittee’s ideas for proposed regulatory changes were sent out 
for public review and comment.

At its August meeting, the subcommittee discussed the public response to the proposed regulatory 
changes. Based on those discussions, the subcommittee developed two new recommendations, which 
were later presented to the Regional Advisory Councils for review. The subcommittee strongly preferred 
the first recommendation, but developed the second to address the issue of a “significant commercial 
enterprise.”

1) Customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon may only occur between federally qualified 
rural residents with a current customary and traditional use determination for Yukon River 
Chinook salmon.

2) Preclude customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon between rural residents and others.

a. Establish a $750 limit per calendar year per qualified household;

b. Require customary trade recordkeeping and receipt form.



152 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

By allowing customary trade only between Federally qualified rural residents with a customary and 
traditional use determination for Yukon River Chinook salmon, the subcommittee hopes that the cultural 
practice of customary trade will continue, but at a lower level, recognizing the need for conservation. This 
was the intent of the subcommittee’s preferred recommendation.

The Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Council met on September 29–30, 2011 in Bethel. Council members 
supported the first recommendation, but some members felt that if a dollar limit was imposed, the 
$750 limit was appropriate. Council members were generally pleased with the subcommittee’s 
recommendations and supportive of its efforts. The Council did not vote on which recommendation to 
support (YKRAC 2011).

The Western Interior Council met on October 4–6, 2011 in Aniak. The Council voted unanimously to 
support the first recommendation and not the second (WIRAC 2011: 139). Council members pointed 
out that sharing and barter, also protected subsistence uses under ANILCA, have no limits and may 
substitute for some cash exchanges under customary trade. Council members emphasized that the Federal 
Subsistence Board should explicitly recognize traditional processing practices, such as the preparation 
of strips, as part of customary trade. As one council member noted, there are “hardly any traditional or 
customary trade practices dealing with unprocessed fish on the Yukon” (WIRAC 2011: 134).

The Eastern Interior Council met on October 11–13, 2011 in Fairbanks. The Council received public 
comment on customary trade and on the subcommittee’s recommendations. Much of the public 
commentary pointed out the cultural differences of customary trade practices along the Yukon River, and 
emphasized that more research was needed to understand those practices. Without more information, it 
may be difficult to craft meaningful regulations which accurately reflect local cultural practices. As one 
person testified about the sale of strips versus the sale of unprocessed fish under customary trade, “The 
sale of whole fish is not customary in our area” (EIRAC 2011:419–420). The Council voted in favor of 
the subcommittee’s first recommendation. It voted against the second recommendation (EIRAC 2011:477 
ff.).

The Tri-Regional Advisory Council customary trade subcommittee was a subcommittee of the Regional 
Advisory Councils and not of the Board. Although none of the Councils voted to forward the findings of 
the subcommittee to the Board, all of the Councils considered the subcommittee’s recommendations in 
the development of their own proposals on customary trade.

The current proposals, FP13-06, FP13-07, and FP13-08, all came out of the winter 2012 Regional 
Advisory Council meeting cycle, and were based on the Tri-Regional Advisory Council subcommittee’s 
recommendations.33

Effects of the Proposals

The proposals seek to limit customary trade of Yukon River Chinook (king) salmon under §___. 27(c)
(11), which refers to customary trade between rural residents. The proposals would limit customary trade 
of Yukon River Chinook salmon to those with a current customary and traditional use determination for 
salmon in the Yukon River drainage. The proposals would thereby limit customary trade under §___. 
27(c)(12), which refers to customary trade between rural residents and others.

3 See Appendix B for a summary of research on customary trade.



153Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

The Western Interior Council proposal FP13-06 seeks to limit customary trade of Yukon River Chinook 
salmon to those with a current customary and traditional use determination for Yukon River Chinook 
salmon. FP13-06 contains no other provisions.

The Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Council proposal and the Eastern Interior Council proposal have additional 
elements.

The Eastern Interior Council proposal FP13-07 would prohibit customary trade of Yukon River Chinook 
salmon “only in times of shortage when there is no Chinook salmon commercial fishery and restrictions 
on subsistence fishing are in place.” In the event Chinook salmon runs return to levels that allow 
managers to lift subsistence restrictions and allow a commercial fishery, then limitations on customary 
trade would no longer be warranted. The Eastern Interior Council proposal explicitly recognizes the 
importance of customary trade and provides a threshold for reinstating customary trade of Chinook 
salmon beyond the confines of the Yukon River drainage. If low runs result in a closing of the Yukon 
River Chinook salmon commercial fishery and if subsistence fishing for Yukon River Chinook salmon 
is restricted, then customary trade of Chinook salmon will be limited to those with a customary and 
traditional use determination for Yukon River Chinook salmon. If higher runs result in an opening of the 
Yukon River Chinook salmon commercial fishery and no subsistence restrictions, then the limitation on 
customary trades would be lifted.

The Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Council proposal FP13-08 does not identify salmon species, but for this 
analysis it is assumed, based on reasons stated above, that FP13-08 refers to Yukon River Chinook 
salmon. The Council’s proposal contains unnecessary language, as noted above, in that it would limit uses 
to personal or family consumption.

If adopted, the proposals would limit customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon to those with a 
current customary and traditional use determination for Yukon River Drainage Chinook salmon. The 
cash from customary trades of Chinook salmon with those outside of the Yukon River Drainage would be 
eliminated. This may have the unintended consequence of limiting some subsistence activities that depend 
on cash generated from customary trades of Chinook salmon, such as the purchase of gasoline to fuel 
ATVs and boats. It may also shift customary trade to barter, or increase customary trade within the Yukon 
River drainage, or both.

The number of Yukon River Chinook salmon harvested by Federally qualified users on federal lands that 
are used for customary trade is unknown. It is therefore impossible to measure any biological impacts that 
restrictions on customary trade of Chinook salmon may have. It is also impossible to quantify, based on 
available research, the numbers of Chinook salmon that enter into customary trade.

OSM CONCLUSION 

Support Proposal FP13-06 with modification, and Support Proposals FP13-07 and PF13-08 with 
modification to make them consonant with the modified FP13-06. The modification is to add the 
phrase “for Yukon River Chinook salmon” at the end of the sentence “Customary trade of Yukon River 
Chinook salmon may only occur between Federally qualified rural residents with a current customary and 
traditional use determination.”

The modified regulation should read:

§___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents may exchange in customary 
trade subsistence-harvested fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations of 



154 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

this part, for cash from other rural residents. The Board may recognize regional differences and 
regulate customary trade differently for separate regions of the State.

(iii) Customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon may only occur between Federally 
qualified rural residents with a current customary and traditional use determination for 
Yukon River Chinook salmon. 

Justification

The shared element of all three proposals is to limit customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon 
to those with a current customary and traditional use determination for Yukon River Chinook salmon. 
Much of the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta, Western Interior, and Eastern Interior Regional Advisory Council 
discussion about customary trade was set in the context of declining Chinook runs. A limitation to 
customary trade was perceived as an additional tool to help improve those runs.

Although there is little quantifiable information on the numbers of Chinook salmon that enter customary 
trade, it seems prudent, given the current Yukon River Chinook salmon declines, to follow the 
recommendations of the three Regional Advisory Councils in this matter. Limiting customary trade of 
Yukon River Chinook salmon only to those with a current customary and traditional use determination 
for Yukon River Chinook salmon will keep such trade within the drainage. This would allow subsistence 
users to receive cash in exchange for subsistence-caught Chinook, which, more likely than not, would be 
used to support other subsistence activities.

If runs of Yukon River Chinook salmon increase to the point where there is a lessened conservation 
concern, as evidenced by the lifting of restrictions to subsistence harvesting and the resumption of 
a commercial fishery, then a future regulatory proposal could be adopted to eliminate this proposed 
customary trade limitation.

LITERATURE CITED

EIRAC. 2010. Transcripts of the Eastern Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council meeting, February 
24–26, 2010 in Fairbanks, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.

EIRAC. 2011. Transcripts of the Eastern Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council meeting, October 
11–13, 2011 in Fairbanks, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK

FSB. February 20, 2009. Letter from the Federal Subsistence Board to Elizabeth Andrews and Frank Quinn, Yukon 
River Panel. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AKFSB. May 29, 2009. Letter from the Federal 
Subsistence Board to Virgil Umphenour, Chairman, Fairbanks Fish and Game Advisory Committee. Office of 
Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK

FSB. 2003a. Transcripts of the Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, December 9, 2003. Office of Subsistence 
Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.

FSB. 2003b. Transcripts of the Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, December 10, 2003. Office of Subsistence 
Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.

FSB. 2005. Transcripts of the Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, January, 2005. Office of Subsistence 
Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.

FSB. 2010. Transcripts of the Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, November 9, 2010. Office of Subsistence 
Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.



155Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

FSB. 2011. Transcripts of the Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, January 19, 2011. Office of Subsistence 
Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.

Fienup-Riordan, A. 1986. When Our Bad Season Comes: A Cultural Account of Subsistence Harvesting and Harvest 
Disruption on the Yukon Delta. Alaska Anthropological Association Monograph Series #1.

Jenkins, D. 2011. Tri-RAC Subcommittee Continues Work of Customary Trade. Yukon Fisheries News. Fall, 2011.

Krieg, T. M., J. A. Fall, M. B. Chythlook, R. LaVine, and D. Koster, 2007. Sharing, Bartering, and Cash Trade of 
Subsistence Resources in the Bristol Bay Area, Southwest Alaska. ADF&G Div. Of. of Subsistence. Tech. Paper No 
326. Juneau, AK. 169 pages.

Magdanz, J. S., S. Tahbone, A. Ahmasuk, D. S. Koster, and B. L. Davis, 2007. Customary Trade and Barter in Fish 
in the Seward Peninsula Area, Alaska. ADF&G Div. Of. of Subsistence. Tech. Paper No 328. Juneau, AK. 125 
pages.

Moncrieff, C. F. 2007. Traditional Ecological Knowledge and Customary Trade of Subsistence Harvest Salmon on 
the Yukon River. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Office of Subsistence Management, Fisheries Resource Monitoring 
Program, 2007 Final Report (Study No. 04-265). Anchorage, AK. 44 pages.

Mowry, Tim, February 24, 2011. Nenana man charged with selling fish falsely labeled as king salmon. Newsminer.

Mowry, Tim, January 27, 2012. Nenana man convicted of falsely identifying, selling salmon. Newsminer. 

Pappas, G. E. 2012. 1974–2011 Customary Trade of Subsistence Caught Fish: Background, Chronology, and 
Current Options for Modification. ADF&G, Office of the State-Federal Subsistence Liaison Team. Anchorage, AK. 
53 pages.

Pruszenski, S. March 18, 2009. Letter to Elizabeth Andrews and Frank Quinn, Yukon River Panel. Office of 
Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK

WIRAC. 2011. Transcripts of the Western Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting, October 
4–6, 2011 in Aniak, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.

WI&EIRAC. 2010. Transcripts of the Joint Eastern and Western Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory 
Council Meeting, February 24–26, 2010 in Fairbanks, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, 
AK.

Wolfe, Robert J., 2000. Customary Trade in Alaska: An Introduction. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, 
Division of Subsistence. Draft report.

Wolfe, R. J., B. L. Davis, S. Georgette, and A W. Page, 2000. Sharing, Distribution, and Exchange of Wild 
Resources: An Annotated Bibliography of Recent Sources. ADF&G Div. Of. of Subsistence. Tech. Paper No 326. 
Juneau, AK. 58 pages.

Wolfe, Robert J. and James Magdanz, 1993. The Sharing, Distribution, and Exchange of Wild Resources in Alaska. 
A Compendium of Materials Presented to the Alaska Board of Fisheries. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, 
Division of Subsistence, Juneau, AK.

YKRAC 2010. Transcripts of the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting, March 
2–4, 2010 in Bethel, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.

YKRAC 2011. Transcripts of the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting, 
September 29–30, 2011 in Bethel, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.



156 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

YKRAC 2012. Transcripts of the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting, 
February 23, 2012, in Bethel, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK

Youngblood, G. March 13, 2009. Letter to the Federal Subsistence Board. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. 
Anchorage, AK 

APPENDIX A

Federal Subsistence Board Action

The Board has reviewed, adopted, and rejected or deferred a number of proposals restricting customary 
trade of salmon (see also Pappas 2012 for a general overview). 

The Board rejected Proposal FP04-02 to prohibit the customary sale of salmon from the Yukon when 
there is a designation of “stock of concern” (FSB 2003a:88). The Board reasoned that there was 
insufficient evidence about customary trade to warrant a restriction, that ANILCA provides for customary 
trade, that the proposal failed to recognized regional differences in customary trade, and that salmon run 
strength, which changes year to year, was not addressed. 

The Board rejected Proposal FP04-03 to remove reference to salmon eggs as permissible under customary 
trade (FSB 2003a:95). The Board reasoned that removing reference to salmon eggs would not clarify 
regulatory language, contrary to the proponent’s assertion that it would so clarify.

The Board deferred Proposal FP04-04 to prohibit the sale between rural residents and others of 
subsistence-caught salmon from Yukon River Districts 1, 2, and 3 and Kuskokwim River salmon (FSB 
2003a:43). The proposal was on the consensus agenda, and the Board provided no commentary on it.

The Board rejected Proposal FP04-18 to prohibit the customary trade of subsistence-caught fish taken 
from Federal public waters on the Kenai Peninsula (FSB 2003b:15). The Board reasoned that ANILCA 
provides for customary trade, and that there was no evidence that such trade constituted a problem.

The Board rejected Proposal FP05-10 to establish limits on customary trade of salmon in the Cook 
Inlet Fishery Management Area (FSB January 2005). The proposal was on the consensus agenda, and 
the Board provided no commentary on it. However, the Southcentral Subsistence Regional Advisory 
Council recommended opposing the proposal because of low participation and harvest in the fishery. The 
Interagency Staff Committee and Alaska Department of Fish and Game concurred, which then put this 
proposal on the consensus agenda.

APPENDIX B

Research on Customary Trade

In Alaska, subsistence foods and other wild resources are exchanged through barter, for cash, and, most 
commonly, through sharing between households. Wolfe et al. (2000) prepared a bibliography of some 
121 studies of the distribution and exchange of wild resources in Alaska. Based on these studies, Wolfe 
et al. note that quantitative information on between-household sharing is reasonably robust, whereas 
quantitative information on barter and customary trade is mostly lacking. Community ethnographies 
often contain qualitative information about barter and customary trade, “but systematic information on 



157Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

frequency, volume, and prices is rarely provided” (Wolfe et al. 2000:3). An exception is Fienup-Riordan 
(1986), who provides both qualitative and quantitative information on customary trade in the Yukon Delta 
region.

Fienup-Riordan (1986) describes cash sales of subsistence-caught salmon occurring in the early 1980s in 
the communities of Alakanuk, Sheldon’s Point and Scammon Bay. In 1982, six gallons of subsistence-
caught dried chum salmon sold for between $100 and $150. The purpose for such sales, however, was not 
to make a profit. The purpose was to circulate food through networks of kin.

In all of these cases, although the transaction was consummated with cash, the primary motive 
in the harvest of the resource was not strict economic gain. Only a handful of households in 
each village produce extra salmon or harvest extra seals specifically for sale. The majority of 
households sold or traded irregularly, only in the case of an unusually large harvest...In fact, in the 
event of an abundant supply, what happens in the majority of the cases is not the conversion of 
the excess to economic value, but the extension of the effective kin group through the distribution 
of the catch (Fienup-Riordan 1986:188).

Fienup-Riordan emphasizes that it is a mistake to interpret sales of subsistence-caught foods as 
commercial in nature and to impose a set of Western economic values on transactions that have other 
cultural logics. The “social justification for what might otherwise be interpreted as an activity undertaken 
for profit brings us back to the original goal of the exchange system, that is: to accumulate within the 
extended family for distribution beyond it, both within the village and between villages, at whatever level 
the individual household or extended family group can maintain” (1986:188). 

Several more recent studies of customary trade have been funded by the Federal Subsistence Board. 
These include Krieg et al. (2007), which describes sharing, barter, and customary trade in the Bristol Bay 
area; Magdanz et al. (2007), which describes customary trade and barter in the Seward Peninsula area; 
and Moncrieff (2007), which describes customary trade of salmon in three communities on the Yukon 
River—Alakanuk, Holy Cross, and Tanana. 

Moncrieff (2007) interviewed 28 active fishers and elders from three communities on the Yukon River 
with knowledge of customary trade practices. Her results are relevant to the current proposals and are 
briefly summarized below. 

In Alakanuk in 2004, Moncrieff and local research assistants interviewed seven study participants, three 
of whom had never sold subsistence-caught salmon. Interviewees indicated that a few Alakanuk villagers 
sold subsistence-caught salmon in limited quantities, which ranged from quart-sized bags of smoked 
salmon strips for $20.00 each to 5-gallon buckets of dried chum salmon for $200.00 each. One study 
participant noted that he had sold subsistence-caught salmon for 20 years, provided he had the extra fish, 
but in larger, albeit unspecified, quantities. Another participant mentioned that he traded with or sold 
salmon to people in a number of communities, including Hooper Bay, Chevak, Scammon Bay, Stebbins, 
and Anchorage. Only one of the seven study participants had bought subsistence-caught salmon within 
the past several years: a box of dried chum salmon for $40.00. The reasons Alakanuk study participants 
engaged in customary trade included the following: to help others who couldn’t fish, to avoid wasting 
fish, and to raise cash to purchase household and subsistence supplies. In Alakanuk, customary trade 
appears to constitute a modest but important component of the local subsistence economy (Moncrieff 
2007: 16–17). 

In Holy Cross in 2004, Moncrieff and local research assistants interviewed eight study participants, 
seven of whom engaged in customary trade. Unlike Alakanuk villagers, people in Holy Cross often 



158 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

sold subsistence-caught salmon, including Chinook salmon strips and chum salmon split and half-dried. 
Quantities of subsistence-caught salmon sold in customary trade varied year by year. One interviewee 
sold 18 salmon processed into six cases of pint jars. Other interviewees sold an average 30 to 40 pounds 
of salmon. Prices depended on species and quantity. Chinook salmon strips sold for $20.00 per quart 
bag or $16.00 to $20.00 per pound. Half-dried salmon bellies sold for $75.00 per case. Moncrieff notes 
that information about total yearly sales was difficult to obtain, but from the information gathered it 
appeared that study participants sold an average of $1,360 worth of salmon in customary trade. Cash from 
these sales was used to purchase gas and supplies for subsistence activities, household items, children’s 
clothing, and to pay for utility bills. Moncrieff concludes that cash obtained through customary trade 
of salmon made further subsistence fishing possible, and provided small amounts of money for other 
expenses (Moncrieff 2007: 21–24).

In Tanana in 2005, Moncrieff and local research assistants interviewed 13 study participants, most of 
whom were active subsistence fishers. Of the 13 participants, six currently sold subsistence-caught 
salmon through customary trade and seven currently either did not sell or sold very small amounts 
of subsistence-caught salmon through customary trade. Among the seven less active participants in 
customary trade, only one had never sold fish. The others sold salmon in the past in amounts ranging 
from a few fish to 100 Chinook salmon. One interviewee had sold an average of 600 pounds for $6,000 
annually, but in 2005 reserved most of his harvest to share with a large network of family and friends 
(Moncrieff 2007: 27–29).

The six active participants in customary trade each year sold fish to family and friends in Tanana, Manley 
Hot Springs, or Nenana. They also sold small amounts to people in Fairbanks, Salcha, Sitka, Minto, 
Minchumina, Ruby, Point Hope, and elsewhere. Most of the salmon were sold as strips or as dried fish, 
but were available in a variety of processed forms. Prices were fairly consistent for all fishers, and 
included the following:

Whole fi sh: $1/pound
Fillets: $2/pound
Half-dried: $5/pound
Strips: $15–$18/pound
Eating or dried fi sh: $12–$18/pound
Canned strips: $12–$15/tall can
Canned fresh fi sh: $6/short can, $15/tall can, $8/jar

Moncrieff (2007: 28) did not report the salmon species associated with these sales nor the amounts earned 
from them, but noted that project participants used the income from customary trade to fund subsistence 
fishing activities.

Fishers interviewed in Moncrieff’s study reported that they engaged in customary trade only if they first 
harvested sufficient fish for their own family’s use and satisfied obligations to share fish with a network 
of extended family and friends. They did not subsistence fish primarily to sell fresh or processed salmon. 
Cash raised through customary trade appears to support other subsistence activities, and is used to pay for 
various household and other expenses.

Commercial or market-level transactions were not addressed in Moncrieff’s report. 



159Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

Based on Moncreiff’s study, it is worth emphasizing that customary trade of subsistence-caught 
salmon takes a variety of forms, involves different kinds of social networks, and changes year-by-year, 
depending upon a number of cultural, economic, and environmental factors. In general, customary trade 
of subsistence-caught salmon appears to increase the further upriver one travels on the Yukon (Moncrieff 
2007). However, Moncrieff’s study did not include the upper-most reaches of the Yukon River. Whether 
the pattern of increasing customary trade obtains further upriver is not known.

Two other studies of customary trade report results similar to Moncrieff (2007). Although focused on 
different regions, these reports, in conjunction with Moncrieff (2007) and Fienup-Riordan (1986), indicate 
similar patterns of customary trade. Some of the key findings from these studies include the following 
(Kreig et al. 2007; Magdanz et al. 2007):

• Customary trade is common but infrequent.

• Cash sales under customary trade are for relatively small sums of money, with a few exceptions. 

• Customary trade is not part of the market economy. For example, prices for subsistence-caught 
fish and other resources exchanged under customary trade are determined by tradition, not by 
market forces (Krieg et al. 2007:90).



160 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS

YUKON KUSKOKWIM-DELTA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support Proposals FP13-06, FP13-07, and FP13-08 as modified in the OSM 
analysis.

Justification: The Council was in agreement with OSM’s conclusion on page 77 of Council’s workbook. 

WESTERN INTERIOR ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support Proposal FP13-06.

Justification: The Council emphasized the conservation concern about the Chinook salmon populations 
on the Yukon River drainage and felt it was important to take this measure in order to take steps to 
restore the health of the populations. The Council recognizes a need to be able to resort to a more relaxed 
regulatory structure in the future. If and when the runs return to a more healthy level, a proposal can be 
submitted to relax the regulation.

Council Recommendation: Deferred Proposal FP13-07 to home region.

Justification:  Council felt no action was necessary due to recommendation on FP13-06.

Council Recommendation: Deferred Proposal FP13-08 to home region.

Justification:  Council felt it was best for the home region to address the proposal, especially considering 
action on FP13-06.

SEWARD PENINSULA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose Proposals FP13-06, FP13-07, and FP13-08.

Justification: Customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon has taken place for generations. The 
Council felt customary trade is an important, legitimate subsistence activity. State and Federal agencies 
should have been more proactive when bycatch issues emerged and concerns about salmon issues were 
raised by the Western region. No action was taken in those years to deal with salmon issues. There are 
various factors such as mining, increased predation, chemicals that are disposed by boats in the sea 
and other factors. Subsistence users should not be denied a valid subsistence activity in response to the 
decrease of Chinook salmon. 

EASTERN INTERIOR ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Took no action on Proposals FP13-06 and FP13-08.

Justification:  Council felt no action was necessary due to recommendation on FP13-07.

Council Recommendation: Support Proposal FP13-07.

Justification: The Council considered the OSM analysis and State comments and also read submitted 
Tribal comments on these proposals.  The Council also heard public testimony from Tanana, Rampart, 



161Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

Manly AC and Tanana Tribal Council representatives which opposed all three customary trade proposals.  
The Council also recounted long discussions as part of the Tri-RAC Working Group on these proposals 
and the difficulty of trying to prevent a few abusers with a overarching and vaguely defined regulation.  
Much of the Council concurred they understood the importance of the long traditions customary trade 
and contemporary uses such as the younger generation in many villages having to live in urban areas for 
wage income but desiring to maintain contact with their culture and traditional foods presented through 
public testimony by a Tanana representative. However, the Council expressed a need to use every measure 
possible in an effort to protect and increase the Chinook salmon returns and noted that the EIRAC 
proposal (FP-13-07) would be implemented only in times of Chinook salmon conservation concerns and 
that trade restrictions could be lifted when the escapement improved.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of the 
proposals and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposals.



162 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

ADF&G Comments FP13-06, 07, 08 
Page 1 of 3 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposals FP13-06, 07, 08:  This group of proposals seeks to refine definitions of 
Customary Trade of Yukon River Chinook Salmon.  
 
Introduction:  
 
FP13-06, submitted by the Western Interior Subsistence Regional Advisory Council (WI-RAC), 
seeks to limit customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon to that occurring between 
federally qualified rural residents with a current customary and traditional use 
determination(C&T).  While the proposer does not qualify the customary and traditional use 
determination it may be it is assumed both the trader and recipient are to have C&T for Yukon 
River salmon. 
 
FP13-07, submitted by the Eastern Interior Subsistence Regional Advisory Council (EI-RAC), 
seeks to limit customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon to that occurring between 
federally qualified rural residents with a current C&T and qualifies application to times of 
shortage when no Chinook salmon commercial fishery or restrictions on subsistence fishing are 
in place. 
 
FP13-08, submitted by the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council 
(YKD-RAC), seeks to limit customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon to that occurring 
between federally qualified rural residents with a current C&T for salmon only in the Yukon 
River drainage. 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  Defining customary trade would provide greater understanding 
of what is allowable under this practice.  Limiting the scope of customary trade to the specific 
users mentioned in the proposals would provide for those users and exclude other users.  Some 
rural residents without C&T for Yukon River Chinook salmon who may have purchased these 
salmon in trade would suffer a loss of purchased salmon obtained through cash transactions.  
Without the addition of a definition of “significant commercial enterprise”, there will be 
continued confusion and enforcement issues will remain. 
 
Impact on Other Users:  None noted at this time. 
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  State subsistence users are allowed to engage in the 
customary trade of subsistence-caught fish; however, 5 AAC 01.010 prohibits the sale of 
subsistence-caught fish, their parts, or their eggs1 unless otherwise specified in state regulation.  
Currently, there are only two exceptions listed in Chapter 5 of state regulations; they are for the 
                                                 
1 5 ACC 01.010 METHODS, MEANS, AND GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 (d) Unless otherwise specified in this chapter, it is unlawful to buy or sell subsistence-

taken fish, their parts, or their eggs, except that it is lawful to buy or sell a handicraft 
made out of the skin or nonedible by-products of fish taken for personal or family 
consumption. 

 



163Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

ADF&G Comments FP13-06, 07, 08 
Page 2 of 3 

Norton Sound-Port Clarence Area and for Southeast Alaska. 2  Currently, no sale of subsistence-
caught fish is allowed in the Yukon River drainage.  
 
Conservation Issues:  The Yukon River Chinook salmon stock is currently classified as a yield 
concern.  Since 2001, subsistence fishing time in the Yukon Area has been limited by the 
windows schedule and then further restricted in 2008, 2009, and 2011 because of conservation 
concerns for Chinook salmon.  Subsistence harvest levels for Chinook salmon have not met the 
amounts reasonably necessary for subsistence (ANS) range the last four years (2008–2011).  A 
majority of the Yukon River drainage escapement goals have been met or exceeded since 2000, 
including the Chena and Salcha rivers, which are the largest producers of Chinook salmon in the 
U.S. portion of the drainage.  The escapement objective for the Canadian mainstem was met 
every year from 2001 through 2006, with 2001, 2003, and 2005 being the three highest spawning 
escapement estimates on record.  The escapement objective for the Canadian mainstem was not 
met in 2007, 2008, and 2010.  Exploitation rate on the Canadian-origin stock by Alaskan 
fishermen has changed from an average of about 55% (1989–1998) to an average of about 44% 
from 2004–2008 (Howard et al. 2009).  Although the subsistence harvest was stable at nearly 
50,000 Chinook salmon annually through 2006, the recent five-year average (2007-2011) was 
43,900.  Commercial harvests have decreased over 90% from an average of 100,000 annually 
(1989–1998) to the recent fives-year average (2005–2009) of nearly 9,700 fish. 
 
Enforcement Issues:  A refined federal definition for customary trade would reasonably be 
expected to reduce enforcement complications provided the definition adopted is specific and 
easily interpreted.  Information outreach will be necessary to adequately inform the public of any 
adopted changes to the definition.  Without the addition of a definition of “significant 
commercial enterprise”, confusion and enforcement issues will remain. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  While standing on state and private lands (including state-owned submerged 
lands and shorelands), persons must comply with state laws and regulations and cannot sell 
subsistence-caught fish with two exceptions, as specified above.  Federal subsistence regulations, 
particularly customary trade regulations, pertain only to fishing on and use of fish caught on 
federal public lands and those waters where federal subsistence jurisdiction is claimed.  The sale 
of subsistence fish caught on all lands and waters (federal, state, or private) is limited by state 
regulations, except to the extent superseded by federal law on federal lands.  The State of Alaska 
maintains jurisdiction of food safety and food processing regulations based upon DEC 
regulations.   
 
Violation of existing customary trade rules is largely an enforcement problem.  What is needed is 
more education and an enforceable definition on what constitutes a significant commercial 
enterprise.  We also suggest implementing a monitoring program to produce actual data, and 
clarifying the roles and responsibilities of federal and state enforcement agencies. 
 
Other Issues:  Adoption of this proposal may provide enforceable customary trade regulations, 
including limits and reporting requirements.  Currently, the extent of customary trade in the 
Yukon River under federal regulations is unknown; an enforceable monitoring program would 

                                                 
2 5 AAC 01.188 and 5 AAC 01.717 



164 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-06/07/08 

ADF&G Comments FP13-06, 07, 08 
Page 3 of 3 

provide data useful for management purposes.  A permit system is more readily enforceable than 
one without permits being required. 
 
Recommendation: Support refining the definition of customary trade and significant 
commercial enterprise to provide clarity for users and enforcement. We also recommend the 
implementation of a permit system to help quantify customary trade and significant commercial 
enterprise activities. 
 



165Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-09/10

FP13-09/10 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-09 requests that the Federal Subsistence Board 

prioritize direct personal or family consumption over customary 
trade of Yukon River drainage Chinook salmon. The proponent is 
concerned with low Yukon River Chinook salmon runs. Submitted by 
the Eastern Interior Subsistence Regional Advisory Council

Proposal FP13-10 requests that the Board prioritize family 
consumption over customary trade of Yukon River drainage Chinook 
salmon. The proponent is also concerned with low Yukon River 
Chinook runs, and asserts that customary trade contributes to Yukon 
River Chinook declines. Submitted by the Yukon-Kuskokwin Delta 
Subsistence Regional Advisory Council

Proposed Regulation FP13-09:

§___. 27(e)(3) Fishery management area restrictions—Yukon-
Northern Area

(xxii) Yukon River Chinook salmon are to be used primarily 
for subsistence use for human food and personal family 
consumption. 

FP13-10:

§___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents.  Rural residents 
may exchange in customary trade subsistence-harvested fish, their 
parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations in this 
part, for cash from other rural residents.  The Board may recognize 
regional differences and regulate customary trade differently for 
separate regions of the State.

(iii) Whenever the Yukon River Chinook salmon returns are 
below average; are a conservation concern by management 
authorities, and subsistence restrictions are being considered 
or implemented, subsistence take of Chinook salmon for 
family consumption shall be priority over uses such as 
Customary Trade of salmon pursuant to section 804(1) of 
ANILCA as amended.

§___. 27(c)(12) Transactions between a rural resident and others.  In 
customary trade, a rural resident may trade fish, their parts, or their 
eggs, legally taken under the regulations in this part, for cash from 
individuals other than rural residents if the individual who purchases 
the fish, their parts, or their eggs uses them for personal or family 
consumption.  If you are not a rural resident, you may not sell fish, 
their parts, or their eggs taken under the regulations in this part.  The 
Board may recognize regional differences and regulate customary 
trade differently for separate regions of the State.

continued on next page



166 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-09/10

FP13-09/10 Executive Summary (continued)
Proposed Regulation 
(Continued)

(iii) Whenever the Yukon River Chinook salmon returns are 
below average; are a conservation concern by management 
authorities, and subsistence restrictions are being considered 
or implemented, subsistence take of Chinook salmon for 
family consumption shall be priority over uses such as 
Customary Trade of salmon pursuant to section 804(1) of 
ANILCA as amended.

OSM Conclusion Oppose

Yukon/Kuskokwim 
Delta Regional Council 
Recommendation

Support

Western Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation Oppose

Seward Peninsula Regional 
Council Recommendation Oppose

Eastern Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation Support

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Neutral

Written Public Comments 2 Oppose (See Doyon, Limited and Tanana Chiefs Conference 
memos following the analysis of FP13-11)



167Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-09/10

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-09/10

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-09, submitted by the Eastern Interior Subsistence Regional Advisory Council, requests 
that the Federal Subsistence Board prioritize direct personal or family consumption over customary trade 
of Yukon River drainage Chinook salmon. The proponent is concerned with low Yukon River Chinook 
salmon runs.

Proposal FP13-10, submitted by the Yukon-Kuskokwin Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council, 
requests that the Board prioritize family consumption over customary trade of Yukon River drainage 
Chinook salmon. The proponent is also concerned with low Yukon River Chinook runs, and asserts that 
customary trade contributes to Yukon River Chinook declines.

DISCUSSION 

Both proponents seek to limit exchanges for cash of subsistence-caught Yukon River Chinook salmon in 
an attempt to prioritize other uses, that is, to ensure that direct personal or family consumption of Yukon 
River Chinook salmon comes before customary trade.  Proposal FP13-10 indicates that such prioritization 
should take place when subsistence restrictions are enacted, and that “the use of Chinook as a primary 
food source and related food security issue, takes precedence over any activities that involve monetary or 
material gain such as Customary Trade.”

Section 803 of the Alaska National Interest Lands Claim Act (ANILCA) defines “subsistence uses” to 
mean “the customary and traditional uses by rural Alaska residents of wild, renewable resources for direct 
personal or family consumption as food, shelter, fuel, clothing, tools, or transportation; for the making and 
selling of handicraft articles out of nonedible byproducts of fish and wildlife resources taken for personal 
or family consumption; for barter, or sharing for personal or family consumption; and for customary 
trade.”

Under ANILCA, all subsistence uses are equally permissible. There are no unimportant subsistence uses. 

The single regulatory exception is found at §___. 27(i)(3)(xxi), which requires that in the Yukon River 
drainage, Chinook salmon must be used primarily for human consumption and not be targeted for dog 
food. 

Both proponents seek another regulatory exception to the Board’s practice that finds all subsistence uses 
defined in ANILCA to be equally permissible, and equally important. The proponents seek to prioritize 
one use (human consumption) over another use (customary trade).  

Note that an ANILCA Section 804 analysis, which allocates scarce resources among users but does not 
prioritize subsistence uses, may be another mechanism to respond to low availability of Yukon River 
Chinook salmon. Under conditions which require restricting subsistence taking of fish and wildlife on 
public lands in order to protect the viability of fish and wildlife populations, or continue subsistence uses, 
the Board shall establish a priority as follows:



168 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-09/10

(b) The priority shall be implemented through appropriate limitations based on the application of 
the following criteria to each area, community, or individual determined to have customary and 
traditional use, as necessary:

(1) Customary and direct dependence upon the populations as the mainstay of livelihood;

(2) Local residency; and

(3) The availability of alternative resources.

(c) If allocation on an area or community basis is not achievable, then the Board shall allocate 
subsistence opportunity on an individual basis through application of the criteria in paragraphs 
(b)(1) through (3) of this section.

(d) In addressing a situation where prioritized allocation becomes necessary, the Board shall 
solicit recommendations from the Regional Council in the area affected.

Existing Federal Regulation

§___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents.  Rural residents may exchange in 
customary trade subsistence-harvested fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the 
regulations in this part, for cash from other rural residents.  The Board may recognize regional 
differences and regulate customary trade differently for separate regions of the State.

§___. 27(c)(12) Transactions between a rural resident and others.  In customary trade, a rural 
resident may trade fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations in this part, 
for cash from individuals other than rural residents if the individual who purchases the fish, their 
parts, or their eggs uses them for personal or family consumption.  If you are not a rural resident, 
you may not sell fish, their parts, or their eggs taken under the regulations in this part.  The 
Board may recognize regional differences and regulate customary trade differently for separate 
regions of the State.

§___. 27(e)(3) Fishery management area restrictions—Yukon–Northern Area

(xxi) In the Yukon River drainage, Chinook salmon must be used primarily for human 
consumption and may not be targeted for dog food. Dried Chinook salmon may not be used for 
dog food anywhere in the Yukon River drainage. Whole fish unfit for human consumption (due to 
disease, deterioration, deformities), scraps, and small fish (16 inches or less) may be fed to dogs. 
Also, whole Chinook salmon caught incidentally during a subsistence chum salmon fishery in the 
following time periods and locations may be fed to dogs:

(A) After July 10 in the Koyukuk River drainage;

(B) After August 10, in Subdistrict 5D, upstream of Circle City.

Proposed Federal Regulation

FP13-09:

§___. 27(e)(3) Fishery management area restrictions—Yukon-Northern Area



169Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-09/10

(xxii) Yukon River Chinook salmon are to be used primarily for subsistence use for 
human food and personal family consumption. 

FP13-10:

§___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents.  Rural residents may exchange in 
customary trade subsistence-harvested fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the 
regulations in this part, for cash from other rural residents.  The Board may recognize regional 
differences and regulate customary trade differently for separate regions of the State.

(iii) Whenever the Yukon River Chinook salmon returns are below average; are a 
conservation concern by management authorities, and subsistence restrictions are being 
considered or implemented, subsistence take of Chinook salmon for family consumption 
shall be priority over uses such as Customary Trade of salmon pursuant to section 804(1) 
of ANILCA as amended.

§___. 27(c)(12) Transactions between a rural resident and others.  In customary trade, a rural 
resident may trade fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations in this part, 
for cash from individuals other than rural residents if the individual who purchases the fish, their 
parts, or their eggs uses them for personal or family consumption.  If you are not a rural resident, 
you may not sell fish, their parts, or their eggs taken under the regulations in this part.  The 
Board may recognize regional differences and regulate customary trade differently for separate 
regions of the State.

(iii) Whenever the Yukon River Chinook salmon returns are below average; are a 
conservation concern by management authorities, and subsistence restrictions are being 
considered or implemented, subsistence take of Chinook salmon for family consumption 
shall be priority over uses such as Customary Trade of salmon pursuant to section 804(1) 
of ANILCA as amended.

Extent of Federal Public Lands

Federal public waters in the Yukon River watershed include all navigable and non-navigable waters 
located within and adjacent to the exterior boundaries of the Innoko, Kanuti, Koyukuk, Nowitna, Tetlin, 
and Yukon Flats National Wildlife Refuges (NWR); Yukon-Charley Rivers National Preserve; the Steese 
National Conservation Area; the White Mountains National Recreation Area; and those segments of the 
National Wild and Scenic River system, of the Yukon River drainage, located outside the boundaries 
of these Federal conservation units (i.e., portions of Beaver and Birch Creeks and the Delta, and the 
Fortymile Rivers).  Additionally, those navigable and non-navigable waters of the Yukon River drainage, 
within and adjacent to the exterior boundaries of the Arctic NWR, the Denali National Preserve, the 1980 
additions to the Denali National Park, the Gates of the Arctic National Park and Preserve, the Wrangell-St. 
Elias National Park and Preserve, and the Yukon Delta NWR are within Federal jurisdiction for purposes 
of Federal subsistence fisheries management. Federal public waters include all Yukon commercial fishing 
Districts Y1-Y3; parts of Subdistricts 4A and 4C; most of Subdistrict 5D; and part of Subdistrict 6C (see 
Yukon-Northern Area maps).



170 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-09/10

Existing State Regulations

State regulations do not allow the exchange of subsistence-caught fish for cash, with the exceptions of 
herring roe on kelp in Southeast Alaska (5AAC 01.717) and subsistence-harvested finfish in the Norton 
Sound-Port Clarence area (5AAC 01.188).  

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

The customary and traditional uses of Chinook salmon from the Yukon River drainage have been 
recognized for all residents of the drainage and the community of Stebbins.

Regulatory History

ANILCA does not prioritize one subsistence use over another. Each use is considered equal for the 
purposes of subsistence management. The one exception concerns the use of Chinook salmon from 
the Yukon River drainage to feed dogs.  Since the proponent for Proposal FP13-09 appears to base this 
proposal on the precedent set with the prioritization of one use (human consumption of Chinook salmon) 
over another use (Chinook salmon used as dog food), it is useful to briefly summarize the history of and 
reasons for that prioritization.

In 2000, the Yukon River Drainage Fisheries Association (YRDFA) submitted Proposal FP01-11 (FWS 
2000). The proposal requested that the Board restrict the use of Chinook salmon from the Yukon River 
drainage for dog food. The proposal included two exceptions to the proposed regulation, when Chinook 
salmon were harvested incidentally during chum directed fishing from: (1) the Koyukuk River drainage 
after July 10 and (2) the Tanana River drainage after July 20. At the same time, YRDFA submitted its 
proposal to the State of Alaska Board of Fisheries. The proponent stated it was concerned with,

the increase in the harvest of king salmon taken to feed dogs primarily in the Eagle area in 1998 
and 1999 and the lack of regulations to discourage such non-customary and non-traditional use 
of king salmon. The person or persons near Eagle, deliberately engaging in the harvest of king 
salmon for use as dried dog food, may very well continue this practice ignoring both customary 
and traditional use patterns of king salmon. Others may choose to follow their example so that 
in another decade or two this socially and culturally aberrant practice might be recognized as 
customary and traditional by either the Alaska Board of Fisheries or the Federal Subsistence 
Board (FWS 2010:32).

Subsequently, all three Councils representing the Yukon River drainage—Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta, 
Easter Interior, and Western Interior—supported the proposal. The last two supported the proposal with 
modification removing the two exceptions. The Board adopted the proposal with the modification to 
remove the two exceptions (66 FR 10153 February 13, 2001).

The following year, YRDFA submitted Proposal FP02-09 requesting three exceptions to allow Chinook 
salmon for dog food (FWS 2001). The proponent’s intent was to align the Federal regulation with the 
new State regulation. All three Councils supported the proposal with modification to include only two of 
the exceptions. The exceptions are in the existing Federal regulation (see above, §___. 27(e)(3)(xxi)(A) 
and (B)) that the Board adopted.  These exceptions allow Chinook salmon incidentally caught during the 
chum fishery to be used for dog food (1) after July 10 in the Koyukuk River drainage and (2) after August 
10 upstream of Circle City (67 FR 5899 February 7, 2002). The Tanana River was removed because the 
portions of the drainage under Federal subsistence management lacked a Chinook salmon run. 



171Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-09/10

Recent History of Customary Trade

See the analysis for Proposal FP13-06/07/08.

Tri-Regional Advisory Council Customary Trade Subcommittee

See the analysis for Proposal FP13-06/07/08.

Customary Trade Research

See the analysis for Proposal FP13-06/07/08, Appendix B.

Current Events

Proposal FP13-09 was discussed at the Eastern Interior Council meeting on March 1, 2012. The proposal 
was part of a broader discussion about customary trade. One Eastern Interior Council member offered 
justification to support the proposal: 

The reason why I’m making this proposal is that it will hopefully allow the Federal Subsistence 
Board to have the authority or feel more comfortable in granting a special action request if ever, 
due to low abundance, a need to prioritize the use of Chinook salmon.  And if you recall in the 
past we have put—this RAC has voted unanimously to put forth special action requests regarding 
Chinook salmon use and the answer from the Federal Subsistence Board back to us was that they 
were not permitted to prioritize use of customary trade or any other use of subsistence resources.  
This would allow them to prioritize the use of Chinook salmon on the Yukon River (EIRAC 
2012:352). 

Members of the YRDFA board, at its annual meeting in Galena in February 2012, passed a resolution 
that said that Chinook salmon uses shall be prioritized in times of low abundance, and that “personal 
and family human consumption” shall be a higher priority than customary trade (YRDFA 2012). 
Subsequently, the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Council crafted Proposal FP13-10 using the language from 
YRDFA’s resolution (YKDRAC 2012:76). 

The Eastern Interior Council’s intent was to submit the same proposal as the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta 
Council (EIRAC 2012:352). However, the language concerning “in times of low abundance” was 
inadvertently left off the Eastern Interior Council’s written proposal that was submitted. 

Other Relevant Proposals

Action on other fish proposals currently under consideration may affect decisions on this proposal. 
Proposals FP13-06/07/08, and FP13-11 concern limiting customary trade of Chinook salmon in the Yukon 
River drainage.

Effects of the Proposal

If these proposals are adopted, all rural residents of the Yukon River drainage and residents of Stebbins 
would not be allowed to trade for cash Chinook salmon harvested from the Federal public waters of the 
Yukon River. Thus, a priority would be established between subsistence uses, with human consumption 
given higher priority over customary trade.  However, with one exception noted above, the Board has 
determined that all subsistence uses are equally important; there are no unimportant subsistence uses. 



172 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-09/10

It is unknown at this time how many people would be affected because the amount of customary trade 
under Federal regulations is not known. However, both harvesters and recipients, rural and nonrural, 
would be affected.  In addition, subsistence users who depend on cash from customary trade to harvest 
wild resources may find their ability to engage in subsistence activities lessened. Cash from customary 
trade is used to buy equipment, gas, and transportation for other subsistence activities (see Research 
on Customary Trade, Appendix B, Proposals FP13-06, 07, 08). Those who rely on customary trade to 
receive Chinook salmon that they themselves cannot harvest may find their supply of Chinook salmon 
diminished. In addition, while the proposed language was intended to preclude customary trade only, 
it could also inadvertently preclude barter or sharing salmon by emphasizing personal and family 
consumption.

Since the level of customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon is unknown, it is difficult to predict 
the effect of the proposal on Chinook salmon populations in the Yukon River.

OSM CONCLUSION 

Oppose Proposals FP13-09 and FP13-10. 

Justification

The Tri-Regional Advisory Council Customary Trade Subcommittee submitted specific recommendations 
to limit customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon. These proposals go beyond the 
recommendations of the subcommittee by attempting to preclude all customary trade of Yukon River 
Chinook salmon by prioritizing its use below direct personal or family consumption, barter, and sharing. 
Additionally, the limitations established by the proposals may have negative effects on subsistence 
users.  Subsistence users who rely on small amounts of cash generated through customary trades in 
order to participate in subsistence activities may find they have to curtail those subsistence activities. In 
addition, the distribution of Chinook salmon to other subsistence users who may not be able to harvest for 
themselves may be limited. Finally, by limiting use to “personal family consumption,” other uses such as 
barter and sharing may be eliminated. 

As defined in ANILCA, all subsistence uses are equally permissible and all are equally important. Under 
conditions of scare resources and the potential of limiting subsistence uses, an ANILCA Section 804 
analysis may be a more appropriate mechanism for allocating those resources among subsistence users.

LITERATURE CITED

EIRAC. 2012. Transcripts of the Eastern Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council meeting, March 1, 
2012 in Fairbanks, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS.  Anchorage.

FWS. 2001. The Federal Subsistence materials for its meeting December 11-13, 2001, in Anchorage. Pages 24–36

FWS. 2000. Federal Subsistence Board materials for its meeting December 5-7, 2000, in Anchorage. Pages 27-56.

YKRAC 2012.  Transcripts of the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting, 
February 23, 2012 in Bethel, Alaska.  Office of Subsistence Management, FWS.  Anchorage.

YRDFA (Yukon River Drainage Fisheries Association). 2012. www.yukonsalmon.org/news/ENews/
ResolutionSummary.3-12.pdf. Anchorage.



173Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-09/10

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS

YUKON KUSKOKWIM-DELTA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support.

Justification: The Council believes that there is a conservation concern regarding Chinook salmon on the 
Yukon River and curtailing customary trade may aid in the population’s recovery. The Council considered 
each proposal, discussing the differences between the proposals, and voted separately to support each one.

WESTERN INTERIOR ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: This Council recognizes that customary trade is a use of Chinook salmon on the Yukon 
River by all Federally qualified subsistence users. Precluding the use of an elder buying salmon would be 
contrary to valid use. The Council is also opposed to using Section 804 of ANILCA to establish a system 
of allocation uses of Chinook salmon on the Yukon River.

SEWARD PENINSULA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: The Council felt this proposal is inconsistent with ANILCA purposes, as ANILCA does 
not prioritize one subsistence use of resource over other subsistence uses. If this proposal is adopted, 
enforcement is going to be impossible. Harvest of Chinook salmon will remain the same regardless of 
how harvested salmon are used.

EASTERN INTERIOR ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support.

Justification: The Council agreed the intent of both FP-13-09 and FP 13-10 proposals were essentially 
the same and voted to support both of them as written in one motion. The Council is concerned about 
low Chinook Salmon abundance on the Yukon River and feels that restricting customary trade could be a 
useful conservation tool during years of low Chinook returns. The Council considered the challenges of 
prioritizing one subsistence use over another when ANILCA provides for all subsistence uses.  However, 
the Council felt that in times of low Chinook abundance, management should prioritize direct personal or 
family consumption over monetary or material gain from trade of Chinook.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of the 
proposals and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposals.



174 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-09/10

ADF&G Comments FP13-09, 10 
Page 1 of 2 
 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposals FP13-09, 10:  Both proposals seek to prioritize the use of Yukon River 
Chinook salmon for subsistence consumption. 
 
Introduction:  
 
FP13-09, submitted by the Eastern Interior Subsistence Regional Advisory Council (EI-RAC) 
seeks to reserve Yukon River Chinook salmon primarily for subsistence use for human food and 
personal family consumption. 
 
FP13-10, submitted by the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council 
(YKD-RAC) seeks to reserve Yukon River Chinook salmon primarily for subsistence use for 
human food and personal family consumption over all other uses, and notes customary trade 
among other uses, whenever returns are below average; are a conservation concern by 
management authorities, and subsistence restrictions are being considered or implemented. 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  Both of these proposals ask for prioritizing subsistence use of 
Chinook salmon for human food and personal family consumption.  Subsistence uses of Yukon 
River Chinook salmon for domestic consumption and food will not be affected.  However, FP13-
10 directly suggests that customary trade and exchange of wild resources for money should be 
lower priorities when Yukon River Chinook salmon are a conservation concern by management 
authorities, and subsistence restrictions are being considered or implemented. 
 
Impact on Other Users:  None noted at this time.   
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  State subsistence users are allowed to engage in the 
customary trade of subsistence-caught fish; however, 5 AAC 01.010 prohibits the sale of 
subsistence-caught fish, their parts, or their eggs1 unless otherwise specified in state regulation.  
Currently, there are only two exceptions listed in Chapter 5 of state regulations; they are for the 
Norton Sound-Port Clarence Area and for Southeast Alaska2.  Currently, no sale of subsistence-
caught fish is allowed in the Yukon River drainage.  
 
Conservation Issues: The Yukon River Chinook salmon stock is currently classified as a yield 
concern.  Since 2001, subsistence fishing time in the Yukon Area has been limited by the 
windows schedule and then further restricted in 2008, 2009, and 2011 because of conservation 
concerns for Chinook salmon.  Subsistence harvest levels for Chinook salmon have not met the 
amounts reasonably necessary for subsistence (ANS) range the last four years (2008–2011).  A 
                                                 
1 5 ACC 01.010 METHODS, MEANS, AND GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 (d) Unless otherwise specified in this chapter, it is unlawful to buy or sell subsistence-

taken fish, their parts, or their eggs, except that it is lawful to buy or sell a handicraft 
made out of the skin or nonedible by-products of fish taken for personal or family 
consumption. 

 
2 5 AAC 01.188 and 5 AAC 01.717 



175Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-09/10

ADF&G Comments FP13-09, 10 
Page 2 of 2 
 
majority of the Yukon River drainage escapement goals have been met since 2000, including the 
Chena and Salcha rivers, which are the largest producers of Chinook salmon in the U.S. portion 
of the drainage.  The escapement objective for the Canadian mainstem was met every year from 
2001 through 2006, with 2001, 2003, and 2005 being the three highest spawning escapement 
estimates on record.  The escapement objective for the Canadian mainstem was not met in 2007, 
2008, and 2010.  Exploitation rate on the Canadian-origin stock by Alaskan fishermen has 
changed from an average of about 55% (1989–1998) to an average of about 44% from 2004–
2008 (Howard et al. 2009).  Although the subsistence harvest was stable at nearly 50,000 
Chinook salmon annually through 2006, the recent five-year average (2007–2011) was 43,900.  
Commercial harvests have decreased over 90% from an average of 100,000 annually (1989–
1998) to the recent five-year average (2007–2011) of nearly 9,700 fish. 
 
Enforcement Issues:  Enforcement issues may be alleviated by providing the greatest clarity to 
all definitions regarding subsistence uses. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  While standing on state and private lands (including state-owned submerged 
lands and shore lands), persons must comply with state laws and regulations and cannot sell 
subsistence-caught fish, with two exceptions as specified above.  Federal subsistence regulations, 
particularly customary trade regulations, pertain only to fishing on and use of fish caught on 
federal public lands and those waters where federal subsistence jurisdiction is claimed.  The sale 
of subsistence fish caught on all lands and waters (federal, state, or private) is limited by state 
regulations, except to the extent superseded by federal law on federal lands.  The State of Alaska 
maintains jurisdiction of food safety and food processing regulations based upon DEC 
regulations.   
 
Violation of existing customary trade rules is largely an enforcement problem.  What is needed is 
more education and an enforceable definition on what constitutes a significant commercial 
enterprise.  We also request implementation of a monitoring program to produce actual data, and 
clarifying the roles and responsibilities of federal and state enforcement agencies.  A permit 
system is more readily enforceable than one without permits required. 
 
Other Issues:  While subsistence uses are presently prioritized under both state and federal law, 
the Federal Subsistence Board (Board) is afforded purview to prioritize among those uses, 
including distinguishing between human consumption and that of animals, or family 
consumption versus trade as noted by the Solicitor before the Board January 19, 20113.  Other 
proposals before the Board address such issues as refining the definition of customary trade and 
significant commercial enterprise. 
 
Recommendation:  Neutral.  Subsistence is already granted priority under state and federal law.  
The department recognizes the value in providing the greatest clarity in all definitions regarding 
subsistence uses to the users, managers, and enforcement personnel.  

                                                 
3 Page 169: “The statute lists a whole series of things that are called subsistence uses.  Among those are domestic 
consumption, food, and customary trade, exchange of wild resources for money.  I believe the court is going to 
presume that since there's no mechanism for weighing those that they're all equal.  Now I think we probably can 
overcome that presumption, but we have to do it on the record.  It may seem obvious to us that food resources are 
the highest in that priority, but we have to explain that.” 



176 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-11

FP13-11 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-11 requests that the harvest of Chinook salmon 

from the Yukon River drainage used for customary trade be limited 
to a cash value of $750 per household. Submitted by the Yukon-
Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council

Proposed Regulation §___. 27(b) Subsistence taking of fish—Method, means, and 
general restrictions

(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents may 
exchange in customary trade subsistence-harvested fish, their parts, 
or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations in this part, for 
cash from other rural residents. The Board may recognize regional 
differences and regulate customary trade differently for separate 
regions of the State.

(iii). Yukon River Drainage—The total cash value per 
household of salmon taken within Federal jurisdiction in 
the Yukon River drainage and exchanged in customary trade 
may not exceed $750.00 annually. Exceeding the $750.00 
limit per household would constitute a significant commercial 
enterprise for Yukon River Chinook salmon.  

(12) Transactions between a rural resident and others. In customary 
trade, a rural resident may trade fish, their parts, or their eggs, 
legally taken under the regulations in this part, for cash from 
individuals other than rural residents if the individual who purchases 
the fish, their parts, or their eggs uses them for personal or family 
consumption. If you are not a rural resident, you may not sell fish, 
their parts, or their eggs taken under the regulations in this part. The 
Board may recognize regional differences and regulate customary 
trade differently for separate regions of the State.

(iii). Yukon River Drainage—The total cash value per 
household of salmon taken within Federal jurisdiction in 
the Yukon River drainage and exchanged in customary trade 
may not exceed $750.00 annually. Exceeding the $750.00 
limit per household would constitute a significant commercial 
enterprise for Yukon River Chinook salmon.

OSM Conclusion Oppose

Yukon/Kuskokwim 
Delta Regional Council 
Recommendation

Support

Western Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation Oppose

continued on next page



177Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-11

FP13-11 Executive Summary (continued)
Seward Peninsula Regional 
Council Recommendation Oppose

Eastern Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation Oppose

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Support definition / defer monetary amount of limit to Regional 
Advisory Councils and Advisory Committees in applicable areas.

Written Public Comments 2 Oppose (See comments following the analysis)



178 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-11

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-11

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-11, submitted by the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council, 
requests that the harvest of Chinook salmon from the Yukon River drainage used for customary trade be 
limited to a cash value of $750 per household. 

DISCUSSION 

The proponent’s concern is that customary trade in Chinook salmon from the Yukon River drainage has 
been abused by some subsistence users. The proponent believes that high levels of customary trade will 
continue unless limits are placed on the customary trade of Chinook salmon. The proponent further states 
that the proposed changes to customary trade regulations would help increase future escapement and run 
sizes of Chinook salmon, and as a result, subsistence, sport, and recreational opportunities could increase. 

Existing Federal Regulation

§___. 27(b) Subsistence taking of fish—Method, means, and general restrictions

(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents may exchange in customary trade 
subsistence-harvested fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations in this 
part, for cash from other rural residents. The Board may recognize regional differences and 
regulate customary trade differently for separate regions of the State.

(12) Transactions between a rural resident and others. In customary trade, a rural resident may 
trade fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations in this part, for cash from 
individuals other than rural residents if the individual who purchases the fish, their parts, or 
their eggs uses them for personal or family consumption. If you are not a rural resident, you may 
not sell fish, their parts, or their eggs taken under the regulations in this part. The Board may 
recognize regional differences and regulate customary trade differently for separate regions of the 
State.

Proposed Federal Regulation

§___. 27(b) Subsistence taking of fish—Method, means, and general restrictions

(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents may exchange in customary trade 
subsistence-harvested fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations in this 
part, for cash from other rural residents. The Board may recognize regional differences and 
regulate customary trade differently for separate regions of the State.

(iii). Yukon River Drainage—The total cash value per household of salmon taken within 
Federal jurisdiction in the Yukon River drainage and exchanged in customary trade may 
not exceed $750.00 annually. Exceeding the $750.00 limit per household would constitute a 
significant commercial enterprise for Yukon River Chinook salmon.  



179Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-11

(12) Transactions between a rural resident and others. In customary trade, a rural resident may 
trade fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations in this part, for cash from 
individuals other than rural residents if the individual who purchases the fish, their parts, or 
their eggs uses them for personal or family consumption. If you are not a rural resident, you may 
not sell fish, their parts, or their eggs taken under the regulations in this part. The Board may 
recognize regional differences and regulate customary trade differently for separate regions of the 
State.

(iii). Yukon River Drainage—The total cash value per household of salmon taken within 
Federal jurisdiction in the Yukon River drainage and exchanged in customary trade may 
not exceed $750.00 annually. Exceeding the $750.00 limit per household would constitute a 
significant commercial enterprise for Yukon River Chinook salmon.  

Existing State Regulations

State regulations do not allow the exchange of subsistence-caught fish for cash, with the exceptions of 
herring roe on kelp in Southeast Alaska (5AAC 01.717) and subsistence-harvested finfish in the Norton 
Sound-Port Clarence area (5AAC 01.188).  

Extent of Federal Public Lands

Federal public waters in the Yukon River watershed include all navigable and non-navigable waters 
located within and adjacent to the exterior boundaries of the Innoko, Kanuti, Koyukuk, Nowitna, Tetlin, 
and Yukon Flats National Wildlife Refuges (NWR); Yukon-Charley Rivers National Preserve; the Steese 
National Conservation Area; the White Mountains National Recreation Area; and those segments of the 
National Wild and Scenic River system, of the Yukon River drainage, located outside the boundaries 
of these Federal conservation units (i.e., portions of Beaver and Birch Creeks and the Delta, and the 
Fortymile Rivers).  Additionally, those navigable and non-navigable waters of the Yukon River drainage, 
within and adjacent to the exterior boundaries of the Arctic NWR, the Denali National Preserve, the 1980 
additions to the Denali National Park, the Gates of the Arctic National Park and Preserve, the Wrangell-St. 
Elias National Park and Preserve, and the Yukon Delta NWR are within Federal jurisdiction for purposes 
of Federal subsistence fisheries management. Federal public waters include all Yukon commercial fishing 
Districts Y1-Y3; parts of Subdistricts 4A and 4C; most of Subdistrict 5D; and part of Subdistrict 6C (see 
Yukon Northern Area maps).

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

The customary and traditional uses of Chinook salmon from the Yukon River drainage have been 
recognized for all residents of the drainage and the community of Stebbins.

Regulatory History—Customary Trade

See the analysis for Proposal FP13-06/07/08 for a complete regulatory history of customary trade. In 
pertinent part, that history includes limitations on cash value of customary trade of salmon in two regions.

For the Bristol Bay Fishery Management Area, the Board limited the cash value per household of salmon 
exchanged in customary trade between rural residents to no more $500 annually, and limited the cash 
value per household of salmon exchanged in customary trade between rural residents and others to no 
more than $400 annually.  The Board also imposed a recording requirement for rural-to-others customary 



180 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-11

trade, but not for rural-to-rural customary trade.  These regulations, proposed by the Bristol Bay 
Subsistence Regional Advisory Council, took effect on March 1, 2004 (69 FR 5026 February 3, 2004).

For the Upper Copper River District, the Board limited the total number of salmon per household 
exchanged in customary trade between rural residents to no more than 50% of the annual household 
harvest of salmon.  The Board limited the cash value per household of salmon exchanged in customary 
trade between rural residents and others to no more than $500 annually.  When taken together, customary 
trade to rural residents and to others may not exceed 50% of the annual household limit. Additionally, 
the Board imposed a recording requirement for both rural-to-rural customary trade and rural-to-
others customary trade: customary trade sales must be immediately recorded on a customary traded 
recordkeeping form, the responsibility for which resides with the seller.  These limits, proposed by Ahtna 
Inc., the Copper River Native Association, and the Chitina Native Corporation, took effect on April 1, 
2005 (70 FR 13385 March 21, 2005).

Recent History

See the analysis for Proposal FP13-06/07/08.

Tri-Regional Advisory Council Customary Trade Subcommittee

See the analysis for Proposal FP13-06/07/08.  As noted in that analysis, the subcommittee strongly 
preferred its first recommendation, but developed a second to address the issue of a “significant 
commercial enterprise.”  The two recommendations are as follows:

1) Customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon may only occur between federally qualified 
rural residents with a current customary and traditional use determination.

2) Preclude customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon between rural residents and others.

a. Establish a $750 limit per calendar year per qualified household;

b. Require customary trade recordkeeping and receipt form.

Not all Regional Advisory Councils supported the second recommendation. The Western Interior 
Regional Advisory Council voted unanimously to support the first, and not the second, recommendation 
(WIRAC 2011:139). The Eastern Interior Regional Advisory Council voted in favor of the first 
recommendation and against the second (EIRAC 2011:419-134).

Customary Trade Research

See the analysis for Proposal FP13-06/07/08, Appendix B.

Other Relevant Proposals

Action on other fish proposals currently under consideration may affect decisions on this proposal. 
Proposals FP13-06/07/08, FP13-09, and FP13-10 concern limiting customary trade of Chinook salmon in 
all or portions of the Yukon River drainage.



181Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-11

Effects of the Proposal

If adopted, this proposal would limit the amount of cash a Federally qualified subsistence user’s 
household could accumulate in one year through customary trade of Chinook salmon. The limit would 
apply to Chinook salmon harvested from Federal public waters of the Yukon River drainage only. The 
number of households affected by this proposal is unknown; however, customary trades exceeding $750 
per household is assumed to occur. Both the harvesters and the recipients, that is, rural and nonrural 
residents, would be affected. 

If this proposal is adopted, Federally qualified subsistence users could continue harvesting Chinook 
salmon to be used for direct personal or family consumption, barter, and sharing. With limits to customary 
trade, there may be additional Chinook salmon available for these other uses. However, it is not possible 
to estimate how many more fish would be available. 

Subsistence users often depend on cash from customary trade to support other subsistence activities (see 
Appendix B, FP13-06/07/08). Cash from customary trade of Chinook salmon is used to buy equipment, 
gas, and transportation for other subsistence activities.  With limits to customary trade, they may find their 
ability to harvest wild resources lessened. 

Limits to customary trade in the Bristol Bay Fisheries Management Area and the Upper Copper River 
District were local initiatives that set limits on local practices.  By contrast, this proposal seeks to impose 
limits on the entirety of the Yukon River drainage. 

If this proposal is not adopted, Federally qualified subsistence users could continue to accumulate more 
than $750 per household through customary trades of Chinook salmon. Any effect customary trade 
is having on the number of fish available for other subsistence uses would continue. However, it is 
impossible to estimate the level of that effect.

OSM Conclusion 

Oppose Proposal FP13-11. 

Justification

In the Federal Subsistence Management Program, the regulation of customary trade is accomplished 
by the imposition of monetary limits on how much cash a Federally qualified subsistence user can 
accumulate in a year. The Tri-Regional Advisory Council Customary Trade Subcommittee recommended 
setting a monetary limit of $750 per household per year on the customary trade of Chinook salmon with 
nonrural residents of the state only (See Proposal FP13-06/07/08 for a discussion of the subcommittee’s 
recommendations). This was the subcommittee’s second recommendation.  It was not the subcommittee’s 
preferred recommendation. Under the subcommittee’s second recommendation, customary trade of 
Chinook salmon between rural residents would not be limited. That is, rural residents of the Yukon River 
drainage, and residents of Stebbins, trading Chinook salmon for cash with another rural resident of the 
state, would not be limited. Only customary trade with nonrural residents of the state would be limited. 

In contrast, Proposal FP13-11 requests that customary trade with all residents, rural and nonrural, be 
limited to $750 per household per year. This would limit the amount of cash a Federally qualified 
subsistence user could accumulate, cash that might otherwise pay for equipment, gas, and transportation 
for other subsistence activities. The result of customary trade among rural residents is the distribution of 
Chinook salmon to other subsistence users who may not be able to harvest them. 



182 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-11

Not all Regional Advisory Councils supported the recommendation to impose cash limits on customary 
trade.  The Western Interior Regional Advisory Council voted against such limits. The Eastern Interior 
Regional Advisory Council also voted against such limits.

For these reasons, and because the proposal is not what the Tri-Regional Advisory Council Subcommittee 
proposed, the recommendation is to oppose this proposal.



183Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-11

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS

YUKON KUSKOKWIM-DELTA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support.

Justification:  The Council is the proponent of this proposal and remains in support of it for the reasons 
stated in the proposal analysis under “Discussion.” 

WESTERN INTERIOR ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: The Council disagrees that with modern costs, particularly fuel, $750 could be considered a 
“significant commercial enterprise.”  Setting a dollar amount does not reflect inflation and devaluation of 
the U.S. Dollar. Fuel costs alone are climbing at such a rate that having a fixed dollar amount would not 
be realistic.

SEWARD PENINSULA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: One of the purposes of the Council is to protect the rights of subsistence users that are 
being abused. “Significant enterprise” needs to be defined because, for example, $6,000.00 is not a 
significant amount of money – it could be considered a hobby. Trawlers are allowed to take up to 60,000 
Chinook salmon a year – that is significant activity, much more significant than any customary trade. It is 
erroneous to put this burden on subsistence users when the commercial Pollock industry is not required to 
make significant sacrifices. The Council concluded this proposal is not needed and the dollar figure this 
proposal limits is too low.

EASTERN INTERIOR ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: Council members discussed at length and recalled previous TRI-RAC discussion on this 
proposal the one member supporting it argue that if a $ amount was not spelled out in the regulation 
then there would be no way to define or enforce commercial enterprise.  Others pointed out that the 
limitation should be on amount of fish, not how much it was sold for because the ultimate intent was to 
reduce harvest of Chinook salmon.  Some Council members noted large sales of Chinook were not an 
issue in their village and even less so in times of low abundance but that some sale of subsistence fish 
was important as a means of sharing and the dollar limit may hamper that. Several Council members 
expressed concern not knowing how other villages function were wary of imposing a specific dollar limit 
that could impact them.



184 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-11

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



185Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-11

ADF&G Comments on FP13-11 
Page 1 of 2 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-11:  The Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory 
Council proposal establishes a limit for customary trade and thereby a definition for significant 
commercial enterprise regarding federal subsistence harvested Chinook salmon from the Yukon 
River. 
 
Introduction:  The Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council  
proposes a $750.00 per household limit for Customary Trade of subsistence caught Chinook 
salmon should be established for the Yukon River drainage as a starting point; and exceeding the 
$750.00 limit per household would constitute a significant commercial enterprise for Yukon 
River Chinook salmon. 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  Subsistence users would benefit from the definition of 
significant commercial enterprise. 
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  State subsistence users are allowed to engage in the 
customary trade of subsistence caught fish; however, 5 AAC 01.010 prohibits the sale 
subsistence caught fish, their parts, or their eggs1 unless otherwise specified in state regulation.  
Currently, there are only two exceptions listed in Chapter 5 of state regulations and they are for 
the Norton Sound-Port Clarence Area and for Southeast Alaska.2 
 
Conservation Issues:  The Yukon River Chinook salmon stock is currently classified as a yield 
concern.  Since 2001, subsistence fishing time in the Yukon Area has been limited by the 
windows schedule and then further restricted in 2008 and 2009 because of conservation concerns 
for Chinook salmon.  Subsistence harvest levels for Chinook salmon have fallen within the 
amounts reasonably necessary for subsistence (ANS) ranges since 2001, except for 2002, 2008, 
and 2009.  A majority of the Yukon River drainage escapement goals have been met or exceeded 
since 2000, including the Chena and Salcha rivers, which are the largest producers of Chinook 
salmon in the US portion of the drainage.  The escapement objective for the Canadian mainstem 
was met every year from 2001 through 2006, with 2001, 2003, and 2005 being the three highest 
spawning escapement estimates on record.  The escapement objective for the Canadian mainstem 
was not met in 2007 and 2008.  Exploitation rate on the Canadian-origin stock by Alaskan 
fishermen has changed from an average of about 55% (1989–1998) to an average of about 44% 
from 2004—2008 (Howard et al. 2009).  Although the subsistence harvest continues to remain 
stable at nearly 50,000 Chinook salmon annually, commercial harvests have decreased over 60% 
from an average of 100,000 annually (1989–1998) to the recent 5-year average (2005–2009) of 
nearly 23,000 fish. 
 

                                                 
1 5 ACC 01.010 METHODS, MEANS, AND GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 (d) Unless otherwise specified in this chapter, it is unlawful to buy or sell subsistence-taken fish, their 

parts, or their eggs, except that it is lawful to buy or sell a handicraft made out of the skin or nonedible by-
products of fish taken for personal or family consumption. 

 
2 5 AAC 01.188 and 5 AAC 01.717 



186 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-11

ADF&G Comments on FP13-11 
Page 2 of 2 

Jurisdiction Issues:  While standing on state and private lands (including state-owned 
submerged lands and shorelands), persons must comply with State laws and regulations and 
cannot sell subsistence caught fish with two exceptions as specified above.  Federal subsistence 
regulations, particularly customary trade regulations, pertain only to fishing on and use of fish 
caught on federal public lands and those waters where federal subsistence jurisdiction is claimed.  
The sale of subsistence fish caught on all lands and waters (federal, state, or private) is limited by 
state regulations except to the extent superseded by federal law on federal lands.  The State of 
Alaska maintains jurisdiction of food safety and food processing regulations.   
 
Violation of existing customary trade rules is largely an enforcement problem.  What is needed is 
more education and an enforceable definition on what constitutes a significant commercial 
enterprise.  We also suggest implementing a monitoring program to produce actual data, and 
clarifying the roles and responsibilities of federal and state enforcement agencies. 
 
Enforcement Issues:  Law enforcement has previously testified to the benefits of defining 
significant commercial enterprise.  The current lack of definition provides avenue for abusers of 
the resource to unduly profit at the expense of subsistence users. 
 
Other Issues:  Adoption of this proposal may provide enforceable customary trade regulations. 
The proposal would benefit from including reporting requirements.  Currently, the level of 
customary trade in the Yukon River under federal regulations is unknown; an enforceable 
monitoring program would provide data useful for management purposes.  
 
Recommendation:  Support definition / defer monetary amount of limit to Regional Advisory 
Councils and Advisory Committees in applicable areas.   



187Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-01 to FP13-11

TTANANA    CHIEFS   CONFERENCE  

 

Written Comments to the Federal Subsistence Board on Fisheries Proposals

June 15, 2012

Tanana Chiefs Conference, the traditional tribal consortium of the 42 villages of Interior Alaska is based
on a belief in tribal self determination and the need for regional Native unity. Our role is to advocate for
our communities, tribal governments, and tribal members.

Tanana Chiefs Conference offers the following comments to the Federal Subsistence Board in response
to Fisheries Proposals 2013 2015. We have organized our responses into tables to make it easier to
review our position on each specific proposal. At Tanana Chiefs Conference we are committed to
protecting and maintaining our subsistence fishing and hunting harvests. The Tribes we represent
depend on subsistence fishing and hunting for their nutritional and cultural survival.

We appreciate your review of our comments and we are available to answer any questions.

Proposal Species Description Sponsor TCC Position
FP 13 01 Chinook

Salmon
Rescind requirement
for fishing permit

USFWS Strongly
Support

FP 13 02 Chinook
Salmon

Revise the marking
of Chinook salmon

Fairbanks
F&W
Office

Support

FP 13 03 Pike Revise harvest limit GASH RAC Support

FP 13 04 Salmon Revise weekly
fishing schedule

Eastern
interior
RAC

Holy Cross
opposes their
inclusion in
this proposal

FP 13 05 Salmon Remove waiting
periods

Eastern
interior
RAC

Neutral – need
some
clarification

FP 13 06 Chinook
Salmon

Customary trade
(only rural
residents)

Western
interior
RAC

Oppose



188 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-01 to FP13-11

TTANANA    CHIEFS   CONFERENCE  

 

FP 13 07 Chinook
Salmon

Only between rural
residents during
times of shortage

Eastern
interior
RAC

Oppose

FP 13 08 All Fish Customary trade to
users with
traditional use
determination

Y K Delta
RAC

Oppose

FP 13 09 Chinook
Salmon

Prioritize use of
Chinook Salmon

Eastern
Interior
RAC

Oppose

FP 13 10 Chinook
Salmon

Prioritize use of
Chinook Salmon

Y K Delta
RAC

Oppose

FP 13 11 Chinook
Salmon

Customary Trade
$750 limit

Y K Delta
RAC

Oppose

Village Feedback Results

Proposal
Number

Issue Area Impacted
Contact/Village

Comments

FP 13 01 Remove
requirement of
Chinook fishing
permit

Impacts 4B and 4C

Pat Sweetsir, Ruby

Jeremy Havener
FWS Subsistence
Specialist in Galena

Pat Sweetsir (Ruby Tribal
Administrator) says “It’s a good idea. It
removes another obstacle to getting
food.”

This proposal was presented at the
area advisory committee and RAC
meetings – at meetings there was
significant support from communities

FP 13 02 Revise marking
of Chinook
Salmon

Districts 1,2,3

Holy Cross Chief
Eugene Paul

Holy Cross Tribe supports this change.



189Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-01 to FP13-11

TTANANA    CHIEFS   CONFERENCE  

 

FP 13 03 Pike bag limits GASH Advisory
Committee

Holy Cross Chief
Eugene Paul

Holy Cross supports this in order to
protect the pike population.

FP 13 04 Revise weekly
fishing
schedule

Districts 1,2 3

Holy Cross Chief
Eugene Paul

Holy Cross does not support this
because it will cut their fishing
opportunities by 36 hours per week.

Holy Cross leadership feels they should
not be included in this proposal and
they should be removed from Y 3.

FP 13 05 Remove
waiting periods

Districts 1,2,3

Holy Cross Chief
Eugene Paul

Need clarification/more information.
Melinda Hernandez and Joy
Huntington have been in contact about
this proposal.

Holy Cross leadership feels they should
not be included in this proposal and
they should be removed from Y 3.

FP 13 06 –
FP 13 11

Customary
Trade of
Chinook
Salmon

Yukon River
communities

Orville Huntington,
Huslia

Natasha Singh,
TCC General Council

Tanana Chiefs Conference villages
oppose any customary trade proposals
that do not have adequate socio
economic and historic research to
substantiate the proposed regulation.

Please review the August 15, 2011
comments to the Federal Subsistence
Board submitted by Tanana Chiefs
Conference and Doyon, Limited
(attached).

Compiled by Joy Huntington Consulting, LLC (907) 378 1523 mjoyhuntington@gmail.com



190 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



191Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



192 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



193Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



194 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



195Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



196 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



197Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



198 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



199Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



200 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



201Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



202 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



203Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



204 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



205Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

Written Public Comments
on FP13-06 to FP13-11



206 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

FP11-08 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP11-08 requests that customary trade in the Yukon River 

Fisheries Management Area be prohibited in any year when Chinook 
salmon runs are insufficient to fully satisfy subsistence harvest needs 
and subsistence fisheries are restricted. As submitted, the prohibition 
would only affect customary trade between rural residents. Submitted 
by the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory 
Council

Proposed Regulation §___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents 
may exchange in customary trade subsistence-harvested fish, their 
parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations of this 
part, for cash from other rural residents. The Board may recognize 
regional differences and regulate customary trade differently for 
separate regions of the State.

(i) Bristol Bay Fishery Management Area—The total 
cash value per household of salmon taken within Federal 
jurisdiction in the Bristol Bay Fishery Management Area 
and exchanged in customary trade to rural residents may not 
exceed $500.00 annually.

(ii) Upper Copper River District—The total number of 
salmon per household taken within the Upper Copper River 
District and exchanged in customary trade to rural residents 
may not exceed 50% of the annual harvest of salmon by 
the household. No more than 50% of the annual household 
limit may be sold under paragraphs___. 27(c)(11) and (12) 
when taken together. These customary trade sales must be 
immediately recorded on a customary trade recordkeeping 
form. The recording requirement and the responsibility to 
ensure the household limit is not exceeded rests with the 
seller.

(iii) If in any given year in the Yukon River Fisheries 
Management Area Chinook runs are insufficient to fully 
satisfy subsistence harvest needs and subsistence fisheries 
are restricted; customary trade will be prohibited.

OSM Conclusion Oppose

continued on next page



207Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

FP11-08 Executive Summary (continued)
Yukon/Kuskokwim 
Delta Regional Council 
Recommendation

Support Proposal FP11-08 with Modification to delete all proposed 
language under (iii) and replace with the following:

(iii) Yukon River Fishery Management Area—The total cash 
value per household of salmon taken within Federal jurisdiction 
in the Yukon River Fishery Management Area and exchanged 
in customary trade to rural residents may not exceed $750.00 
annually.

Western Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation Oppose

Seward Peninsula Regional 
Council Recommendation Took no action

Eastern Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation Oppose

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments See comments following the analysis.

ADF&G Comments Support with modification. The department supports the 
modification recommended by Yukon Kuskokwim Delta Regional 
Advisory Council to establish a $750 limit of sales between 
“Federally qualified and others” and to require a permit and reporting 
of this customary trade between “Federally qualified and others” as a 
first step. The department recommends that limits be established by 
numbers of salmon.

Written Public Comments 1 Support
4 Oppose



208 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP11-08

ISSUES

Proposal FP11-08, submitted by the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council, 
requests that customary trade in the Yukon River Fisheries Management Area be prohibited in any year 
when Chinook salmon runs are insufficient to fully satisfy subsistence harvest needs and subsistence 
fisheries are restricted. As submitted, the prohibition would only affect customary trade between rural 
residents.

DISCUSSION 

The proponent states that prohibiting customary trade in years of poor Chinook salmon runs “would 
have significant positive effects on fish populations as well as [on] the lawful subsistence fishers.” The 
proponent also states that, under current regulations, when Chinook runs are low subsistence users are 
restricted but not subsistence uses. In the case of customary trade, the emphasis should be reversed and 
customary trade should be restricted before subsistence users are restricted. The proponent is particularly 
concerned with “numerous reports of Yukon River rural residents selling large numbers of Yukon Chinook 
salmon in the urban areas of our state.”

Note that the proposal seeks to limit customary trade under §___. 27(c)(11), which refers to customary 
trade between rural residents. The proponent, however, is also concerned with customary trade between 
rural residents and others, which is governed under §___. 27(c)(12). The latter regulation reads in part: 
“In customary trade, a rural resident may trade fish, their parts, or their eggs…for cash from individuals 
other than rural residents if the individual who purchases the fish, their parts, or their eggs uses them 
for personal or family consumption.” As it stands, the current proposal does not target all of the relevant 
regulations.

Existing Federal Regulation

§___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents may exchange in customary 
trade subsistence-harvested fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations in 
this part, for cash from other rural residents. The Board may recognize regional differences and 
regulate customary trade differently for separate regions of the State.

(i) Bristol Bay Fishery Management Area—The total cash value per household of salmon 
taken within Federal jurisdiction in the Bristol Bay Fishery Management Area and 
exchanged in customary trade to rural residents may not exceed $500.00 annually.

(ii) Upper Copper River District—The total number of salmon per household taken within 
the Upper Copper River District and exchanged in customary trade to rural residents may 
not exceed 50% of the annual harvest of salmon by the household. No more than 50% of 
the annual household limit may be sold under paragraphs___. 27(c)(11) and (12) when 
taken together. These customary trade sales must be immediately recorded on a customary 
trade recordkeeping form. The recording requirement and the responsibility to ensure the 
household limit is not exceeded rests with the seller.



209Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

Proposed Federal Regulation

§___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents may exchange in customary 
trade subsistence-harvested fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations of 
this part, for cash from other rural residents. The Board may recognize regional differences and 
regulate customary trade differently for separate regions of the State.

(i) Bristol Bay Fishery Management Area—The total cash value per household of salmon 
taken within Federal jurisdiction in the Bristol Bay Fishery Management Area and 
exchanged in customary trade to rural residents may not exceed $500.00 annually.

(ii) Upper Copper River District—The total number of salmon per household taken within 
the Upper Copper River District and exchanged in customary trade to rural residents may 
not exceed 50% of the annual harvest of salmon by the household. No more than 50% of 
the annual household limit may be sold under paragraphs___. 27(c)(11) and (12) when 
taken together. These customary trade sales must be immediately recorded on a customary 
trade recordkeeping form. The recording requirement and the responsibility to ensure the 
household limit is not exceeded rests with the seller.

(iii) If in any given year in the Yukon River Fisheries Management Area Chinook runs 
are insufficient to fully satisfy subsistence harvest needs and subsistence fisheries are 
restricted; customary trade will be prohibited.

Regulatory History—Customary Trade

Title VIII of the 1980 Alaska National Interest Lands Conservation Act (ANILCA) includes customary 
trade as a subsistence use (ANILCA Sec. 803). Although undefined in ANILCA, the term “customary 
trade” was later defined in the implementing regulations as the “…exchange for cash of fish and wildlife 
resources regulated in this part, not otherwise prohibited by Federal law or regulation, to support personal 
or family needs, and does not include trade which constitutes a significant commercial enterprise” (36 
CFR 242.4 and 50 CFR 100.4). The regulations also included the following prohibition: “No person may 
buy or sell fish, their parts, or their eggs which have been taken for subsistence uses, unless, prior to the 
sale, the prospective buyer or seller obtains a determination from the Federal Subsistence Board that 
the sale constitutes customary trade” (60 FR 31589 June 15, 1995). This prohibition was removed from 
regulations in 1999 (64 FR January 8, 1999).

By 2000, the Federal Subsistence Board recognized that Federal regulations regarding customary trade 
needed further clarification. The term “significant commercial enterprise” was not defined in regulation, 
and had the potential to confuse subsistence users and law enforcement personnel in deciding whether 
a particular transaction was customary trade or a significant commercial enterprise, which is illegal. 
Without a more specific definition of “significant commercial enterprise,” law enforcement personnel 
concluded that the regulation was unenforceable. Additionally, there was a concern that allowing 
customary trade without further regulatory clarification would create a loophole for certain subsistence 
resources to become commodities on the commercial market, contrary to the intent of ANILCA. 

In January 2003, after extensive public comment and careful review, the Board adopted regulations 
which provided a more enforceable regulatory framework for this long-standing subsistence practice. The 
regulations took effect on May 28, 2003 (68 FR 22308 April 28, 2003). With these regulations, the Board 
sought to accommodate customary and traditional practices and to prevent abuses under the subsistence 
preference in the form of significant commercial transactions. The Board also recognized that it may be 



210 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

necessary to make future modifications to regulations in order to accommodate regional differences in 
customary trade. 

In subsequent years, the Board reviewed and adopted two regional proposals defining upper limits for 
customary trade.1 For the Bristol Bay Fishery Management Area, the Board limited the cash value per 
household of salmon exchanged in customary trade between rural residents to no more than $500.00 
annually, and limited the cash value per household of salmon exchanged in customary trade between rural 
residents and others to no more than $400.00 annually. The Board also imposed a recording requirement 
for rural-to-others customary trade, but not for rural-to-rural customary trade. These regulations, proposed 
by the Bristol Bay Subsistence Regional Advisory Council, took effect on March 1, 2004 (69 FR 5026 
February 3, 2004).

For the Upper Copper River District, the Board limited the total number of salmon per household 
exchanged in customary trade between rural residents to no more than 50% of the annual household 
harvest of salmon. The Board limited the cash value per household of salmon exchanged in customary 
trade between rural residents and others to no more than $500.00 annually. When taken together, 
customary trade to rural residents and to others may not exceed 50% of the annual household limit. 
Additionally, the Board imposed a recording requirement for both rural-to-rural customary trade and 
rural-to-others customary trade: customary trade sales must be immediately recorded on a customary 
traded recordkeeping form, the responsibility for which resides with the seller. These limits, proposed by 
Ahtna Inc., the Copper River Native Association, and the Chitina Native Corporation, took effect on April 
1, 2005 (70 FR 13385 March 21, 2005).

Under Federal regulations, exchange of subsistence-caught fish, their parts, or their eggs for cash is 
currently allowed. However, if fish are processed (that is, headed, frozen, dried, salted, smoked, canned, 
etc.), State health regulations may require that the processing meets State food health standards. Federal 
customary trade regulations may not exempt those involved from complying with State health regulations 
on the processing of foods. The difference between Federal subsistence and State health regulations may 
generate confusion among subsistence users, in part because small-scale sales of processed subsistence 
fish, allowed under Federal subsistence regulations, have not been the focus of State law enforcement 
intended to maintain State food health standards. 

State regulations do not allow the exchange of subsistence-caught fish for cash, with the exceptions 
of herring roe on kelp in Southeast Alaska and subsistence-harvested finfish in the Norton Sound-Port 
Clarence area. 

It is worth emphasizing that customary trade as defined by Federal regulation refers only to subsistence-
caught fish or wildlife exchanged for cash, provided such exchanges do not constitute a significant 
commercial enterprise. Any exchanges of subsistence-caught fish for cash that rise to the level of 
significant commercial transactions are not customary trades.

Regulatory History—Salmon used for Dog Food

In 2001, the Federal Subsistence Board, following action by the State Board of Fish, adopted regulations 
requiring that in the Yukon River drainage, Chinook salmon are to be used primarily for human 
consumption and not for dog food, with the exceptions of fish unfit for human consumption and small fish 
(defined as “jack kings 16 inches or less”) which may be fed to dogs (66 FR 10153 February 13, 2001).

1 The Board also reviewed and rejected or deferred a number of proposals restricting customary trade of salmon. See 
Appendix A.



211Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

The following year, the Board revised this regulation as shown on the first page of this analysis. The 
revisions removed the term “jack kings” from the definition of small fish, and allowed whole Chinook 
salmon to be used as dog food if incidentally caught during a subsistence chum salmon fishery in the 
Koyukuk River drainage after July 10 and in Subdistrict 5D, upstream of Circle after August 10. These 
regulations have remained in effect to the present.

Customary Trade

In Alaska, subsistence foods and other wild resources are exchanged through barter, for cash, and, most 
commonly, through sharing between households. Wolfe et al. (2000) prepared a bibliography of some 
121 studies of the distribution and exchange of wild resources in Alaska. Based on these studies, Wolfe 
et al. note that quantitative information on between-household sharing is reasonably robust, whereas 
quantitative information on barter and customary trade is mostly lacking. Community ethnographies 
often contain qualitative information about barter and customary trade, “but systematic information on 
frequency, volume, and prices is rarely provided” (Wolfe et al. 2000:3). 

Since 2000, several studies of customary trade have been funded by the Federal Subsistence Board. These 
include Krieg et al. (2007), which describes sharing, barter, and customary trade in the Bristol Bay area; 
Magdanz et al. (2007), which describes customary trade and barter in the Seward Peninsula area; and 
Moncrieff (2007), which describes customary trade of salmon in three communities on the Yukon River—
Alakanuk, Holy Cross, and Tanana. 

Moncrieff (2007) interviewed 28 active fishers and elders from three communities on the Yukon River 
with knowledge of customary trade practices. Her results are relevant to the current proposal and are 
briefly summarized below. 

In Alakanuk in 2004, Moncrieff and local research assistants interviewed seven study participants, three 
of whom had never sold subsistence-caught salmon. Interviewees indicated that a few Alakanuk villagers 
sold subsistence-caught salmon in limited quantities, which ranged from quart-sized bags of smoked 
salmon strips for $20.00 each to 5-gallon buckets of dried chum salmon for $200.00 each. One study 
participant noted that he had sold subsistence-caught salmon for 20 years, provided he had the extra fish, 
but in larger, albeit unspecified, quantities. Another participant mentioned that he traded with or sold 
salmon to people in a number of communities, including Hooper Bay, Chevak, Scammon Bay, Stebbins, 
and Anchorage. Only one of the seven study participants had bought subsistence-caught salmon within 
the past several years: a box of dried chum salmon for $40.00. The reasons Alakanuk study participants 
engaged in customary trade included the following: to help others who couldn’t fish, to avoid wasting 
fish, and to raise cash to purchase household and subsistence supplies. In Alakanuk, customary trade 
appears to constitute a modest but important component of the local subsistence economy (Moncrieff 
2007: 16–17). 

In Holy Cross in 2004, Moncrieff and local research assistants interviewed eight study participants, 
seven of whom engaged in customary trade. Unlike Alakanuk villagers, people in Holy Cross often 
sold subsistence-caught salmon, including Chinook salmon strips and chum salmon split and half-dried. 
Quantities of subsistence-caught salmon sold in customary trade varied year by year. One interviewee 
sold 18 salmon processed into six cases of pint jars. Other interviewees sold an average 30 to 40 pounds 
of salmon. Prices depended on species and quantity. Chinook salmon strips sold for $20.00 per quart 
bag or $16.00 to $20.00 per pound. Half-dried salmon bellies sold for $75.00 per case. Moncrieff notes 
that information about total yearly sales was difficult to obtain, but from the information gathered it 
appeared that study participants sold an average of $1,360 worth of salmon in customary trade. Cash from 
these sales was used to purchase gas and supplies for subsistence activities, household items, children’s 



212 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

clothing, and to pay for utility bills. Moncrieff concludes that cash obtained through customary trade 
of salmon made further subsistence fishing possible, and provided small amounts of money for other 
expenses (Moncrieff 2007: 21–24).

In Tanana in 2005, Moncrieff and local research assistants interviewed 13 study participants, most of 
whom were active subsistence fishers. Of the 13 participants, six currently sold subsistence-caught 
salmon through customary trade and seven currently either did not sell or sold very small amounts 
of subsistence-caught salmon through customary trade. Among the seven less active participants in 
customary trade, only one had never sold fish. The others sold salmon in the past in amounts ranging 
from a few fish to 100 Chinook salmon. One interviewee had sold an average of 600 pounds for $6,000 
annually, but in 2005 reserved most of his harvest to share with a large network of family and friends 
(Moncrieff 2007: 27–29).

The six active participants in customary trade each year sold fish to family and friends in Tanana, Manley 
Hot Springs, or Nenana. They also sold small amounts to people in Fairbanks, Salcha, Sitka, Minto, 
Minchumina, Ruby, Point Hope, and elsewhere. Most of the salmon were sold as strips or as dried fish, 
but were available in a variety of processed forms. Prices were fairly consistent for all fishers, and 
included the following:

 Whole fish:  $1/pound
 Fillets:   $2/pound
 Half-dried:  $5/pound
 Strips:   $15–$18/pound
 Eating or dried fish: $12–$18/pound
 Canned strips:  $12–$15/tall can
 Canned fresh fish: $6/short can, $15/tall can, $8/jar

Moncrieff (2007: 28) did not report the salmon species associated with these sales nor the amounts earned 
from them, but noted that project participants used the income from customary trade to fund subsistence 
fishing activities.

Fishers interviewed in Moncrieff’s study reported that they engaged in customary trade only if they first 
harvested sufficient fish for their own family’s use and satisfied obligations to share fish with a network 
of extended family and friends. They did not subsistence fish primarily to sell fresh or processed salmon. 
Cash raised through customary trade appears to support other subsistence activities, and is used to pay for 
various household and other expenses.

Commercial or market-level transactions were not addressed in Moncrieff’s report. 

Based on Moncreiff’s study, it is worth emphasizing that customary trade of subsistence-caught 
salmon takes a variety of forms, involves different kinds of social networks, and changes year-by-year, 
depending upon a number of cultural, economic, and environmental factors. In general, customary trade 
of subsistence-caught salmon appears to increase the further upriver one travels on the Yukon (Moncrieff 
2007). However, Moncrieff’s study did not include the upper-most reaches of the Yukon River. Whether 
the pattern of increasing customary trade obtains further upriver is not known.

Two other studies of customary trade report results similar to Moncrieff (2007). Although focused 
on different regions, these reports, in conjunction with Moncreiff (2007), indicate similar patterns of 



213Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

customary trade. Some of the key findings from these studies include the following (Kreig et al. 2007; 
Magdanz et al. 2007):

 ● Customary trade is common but infrequent.

 ● Cash sales under customary trade are for relatively small sums of money, with a few exceptions. 

 ● Customary trade is not part of the market economy. For example, prices for subsistence-caught 
fish and other resources exchanged under customary trade are determined by tradition, not by 
market forces (Krieg et al. 2007:90).

Recent Concerns

In 2008 and 2009, continued low salmon runs sparked renewed concerns about customary trade. The 
Yukon River Panel, an international body established under the Yukon River Salmon Agreement, met in 
December, 2008 and requested clarification from the Federal Subsistence Board regarding customary 
trade. Specific concerns were whether Federal regulations permitted sale of processed subsistence-caught 
fish for human consumption, whether there was any monitoring of subsistence-taken salmon in the Yukon, 
and whether there was any enforcement activity in the Yukon Management Area in 2007 and 2008.

In a reply dated February 20, 2009, the Board noted that Federal customary trade regulations “do not 
preempt State of Alaska food safety and health laws,” and that such regulations “do not authorize the sale 
of processed fish by rural subsistence users who do not fulfill the requirements of Alaska Department of 
[Environmental] Conservation food safety laws.” To address the issues of monitoring and enforcement, 
the Board forwarded the Yukon River Panel’s request to Stanley Pruszenski, Special Agent-in-Charge of 
Law Enforcement of U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Region 7, and to Gary Youngblood, Chief Ranger of 
the Gates of the Arctic National Park and Preserve and Yukon-Charley Rivers National Preserve. 

In a letter to the Board dated March 13, 2009, Mr. Youngblood indicated that he had reviewed all of the 
Case Incident Reports for Yukon-Charley Rivers National Preserve for 2007 and 2008, but “was not able 
to locate any reference in those reports of issues or concerns dealing with customary trade.” He further 
indicated that, based on discussions with his staff, there appeared to be “little opportunity within our 
jurisdictional boundaries for much customary trade.” In a letter dated March 18, 2009, Mr. Pruszenski 
indicated that “We believe compliance with, and general support for, the management actions throughout 
major portions of the river are good.” He cited the 2003 Final Rule (68 FR 22311 April 28, 2003) 
governing customary trade, in which the Board stated that it “does not believe that this rule will create an 
incentive for additional harvest of the resources nor result in additional fish being sold in the commercial 
markets.” Mr. Pruszenski went on to note that “Service law enforcement programs have not prioritized 
monitoring this aspect of subsistence use.”

The Fairbanks Fish and Game Advisory Committee and the Eastern Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional 
Advisory Council were also concerned with customary trade in the context of low salmon runs. The  
Fairbanks Fish and Game Advisory Committee and the Eastern Interior Council submitted to the Federal 
Subsistence Board in February, 2009 similar Special Action Requests to suspend all customary trade of 
Chinook salmon between rural residents and others. The  Fairbanks Fish and Game Advisory Committee 
requested a suspension from June 2009 to June 2010 (FSA09-01), and the Council requested suspension 
from June 1, 2009 to April 1, 2010 (FSA09-02). The rationale to suspend customary trade in both Special 
Action Requests reads in part:



214 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

Fishers in the lower Yukon, middle Yukon, and upper Yukon were supportive of limiting 
customary trade and believe the first priority is for rural residents to fish to feed their families. 
Even though customary trade may be a legal subsistence practice, many believe that selling 
fish to “others,” especially when subsistence and escapement needs may not be met, should be 
stopped. 

In its May 29, 2009 response, the Board determined that the requests did not meet the threshold for 
accepting a Special Action Request, and consequently denied them. The Board noted that low runs of 
Yukon River Chinook salmon were of longstanding conservation concern and that anticipated low 2009 
runs were “being addressed through management actions that have been developed in coordination with 
fishers along the river.” In addition, the Board emphasized that “[t]here was no evidence to indicate that 
customary trade allowed under Federal regulations has either led to or augmented declines in Yukon River 
Chinook salmon.” The Board also pointed out that it treats all subsistence uses allowed under ANILCA as 
equally important, and that “there is no statutory or regulatory mechanism that expressly sets out a means 
for prioritizing amongst subsistence uses.” 

At a joint meeting of the Western and Eastern Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Councils 
on February 23–26, 2010, a number of concerns were raised related to sales of subsistence-caught fish. 
Gene Sandone, representing the Yukon Delta Fisheries Development Association, noted that “more 
specific definition and standards and enforcement mechanisms are necessary to ensure enforceable 
limits on this rapidly growing trade” of subsistence-caught salmon, a statement supported by several 
Eastern and Western Interior Council members (WI and EIRAC 2010:148). One member of the Eastern 
Interior Council argued that customary trade “is completely unregulated, it’s unrecorded, it’s completely 
uncontrolled and in my view, it’s completely unacceptable when we are having subsistence restrictions in 
place on the Yukon River.” He went on to state that “This issue is going to make or break the recovery of 
our fisheries” (WI and EIRAC 2010:156). 

Another Eastern Interior Council member, however, questioned the need for any further regulation on 
customary trade. “You have no commercial [fishing] anymore and now you’re digging into customary 
trade. And what harm has it done, did it hurt the fisheries or is it going to? I’d like to know what’s going 
on with that and find out from the people before we start making regulations, [and] rules.” (EIRAC 
February 25, 2010:240). 

The Chair of the Western Interior Council argued that abuses of the system need to be addressed: the 
problem “is when some people show up down in Anchorage with huge boxes full of smoked fish and it’s 
all being traded at AFN. That’s when things get out of whack.” He also noted that trading fish for cash is 
“how fish is disseminated throughout the region away from the river.” In addition, he said, the Western 
Interior Council recognizes sale of processed salmon as part of customary trade: “whether the Federal 
Government can tolerate it or the State can tolerate it, we consider that as customary use…it’s just the 
way it works” (WI and EIRAC 2010:150–51). 

Another member of the Western Interior Council mentioned his participation in the Customary Trade 
Task Force in 2001. He recalled that “there was a member from Ketchikan who said, well, I get my fish 
at AFN…And a lady from Nome says, well, we’ve got our fish from the Yukon for years.” He also noted 
that, where he lives, “a lot of the local residents on the Upper Kuskokwim are now buying their fish 
either from the Yukon or from downriver for subsistence needs. And then there are a lot of people that 
are working now that can’t go out, but still depend on the [salmon] strips. So it really gets complicated 
when…the way people are getting their subsistence fish now is by paying those who are taking the time to 
go to camp” (WI and EIRAC 2010:151–52). 



215Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

At its March, 2010 meeting, the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council 
discussed at length the issue of customary trade. A prominent problem was enforcement of existing 
regulations. The Council Chair mentioned the lack of adequate enforcement and specifically raised 
“concerns for enforcement on the customary trade that’s developing into more of a commercial concern 
in the upper portions of the Yukon River.” (YKRAC 2010:280). Another Council member also remarked 
on abuses to the system and stated: “If there was some way that we could really restrict customary trade 
to mean exactly what it’s supposed to be….so we could restrict that and make it enforceable, then I’d be 
really, really happy and I know the other people would be too…” (YKRAC 2010:319).

Over the last several years concern has been expressed over potential abuses occurring related to the 
customary trade of subsistence harvested salmon, primarily Chinook salmon. In response, and in light 
of poor returns of salmon and decreased opportunities for both commercial and subsistence fishing, the 
USFWS Office of Law Enforcement initiated an investigation to document potential violations. The 
investigation became public when officers and agents conducted interviews in many villages along the 
Yukon River, in Anchorage and Fairbanks and other locations. Several search warrants were served on 
individuals who may have been involved in illegal sales. Documented violations include the sale of fish 
caught from state waters, interstate sales to business, and sales of salmon strips in violation of State health 
requirements. The investigation is ongoing.

Effects of the Proposal

The proposal seeks to limit customary trade under §___. 27(c)(11), which refers to customary trade 
between rural residents. However, in supporting statements, the proponent raises concerns about sales 
to those other than rural residents, which are governed under §___. 27(c)(12). If adopted as submitted, 
customary trade between rural residents and others would not be affected. In order to align the proposal 
with the apparent concern over the conduct of customary trade in urban centers of Alaska, the Subsistence 
Regional Advisory Council may choose to support this proposal with modification, the modification being 
the addition of §___. 27(c)(12), which addresses customary trade between rural residents and others. 

If adopted, the proposal would prohibit all customary trade of any subsistence-caught fish between rural 
residents under the following condition: “If in any given year in the Yukon River Fisheries Management 
Area Chinook runs are insufficient to fully satisfy subsistence harvest needs and subsistence fisheries are 
restricted.” The amount of cash exchanged in customary trade would thereby be diminished.

If this proposal is adopted, then a definition of when Chinook salmon runs are “insufficient to fully satisfy 
subsistence harvest needs,” would need to be created. Although State subsistence regulations include 
amounts needed for subsistence, Federal subsistence regulations do not. 

If adopted, the proposal would limit the ability of Federally qualified subsistence users to engage in 
customary trade under the conditions specified above. Presumably, non-Federally qualified subsistence 
users, as recipients, would also find their engagement in customary trade curtailed.

The total number of fish exchanged in customary trade is unknown; therefore, the effect of this proposal 
on fish populations is unknown.

If limitations based on conservation concerns are necessary, it may be appropriate to conduct an analysis 
under ANILCA Section 804, which requires the Board to select amongst subsistence users, not uses, 
based on the premise that all subsistence uses equally qualify for the subsistence preference.

This section reads as follows:



216 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

Except as otherwise provided in this Act and other Federal laws, the taking on public lands of 
fish and wildlife for nonwasteful subsistence uses shall be accorded priority over the taking 
on such lands of fish and wildlife for other purposes. Whenever it is necessary to restrict the 
taking of populations of fish and wildlife on such lands for subsistence uses in order to protect 
the continued viability of such populations, or to continue such uses, such priority shall be 
implemented through appropriate limitations based on the application of the following criteria: 

(1) customary and direct dependence upon the populations as the mainstay of livelihood;
(2) local residency; and
(3) the availability of alternative resources.

Alternative Considered

Federal subsistence fisheries regulations on customary trade are found in subsections dealing with sales 
between rural residents [c(11)], and between rural residents and others [c(12)]. Proposal FP11-08 would 
prohibit customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon when runs were very low, but would only apply 
to the rural-to-rural sales. Proposal FP11-09 would limit customary trade of Yukon River Chinook salmon 
to within the Yukon River Fishery Management Area, and stipulates provisions for limiting amounts and 
requiring reporting, but would only apply to the rural-to-others sales.

The common concern across both proposals appears to be better limiting sales of subsistence-caught 
Yukon River Chinook salmon that rise to the level of significant commercial enterprise. One alternative 
is to more closely parallel the approach adopted in regulation for the Bristol Bay Fishery Management 
Area, and for the Upper Copper River District, by stipulating a dollar limit on customary trade of Chinook 
salmon that more directly addresses significant commercial enterprise in the Yukon River. This would 
need to be specified in both c(11) and c(12), thereby addressing both rural-to-rural and rural-to-others 
sales.

Proposals FP11-08 and FP11-09 were submitted by one of the three Councils on the Yukon River, and 
would address the entire drainage. While it is within the purview of any of these Councils to propose 
river- wide limits, each Council is best able to characterize customary trade practices and traditions in 
its own portion of the large and diverse Yukon River drainage. Therefore, it may be more helpful for 
the Federal Subsistence Board to receive recommendations on appropriate limits from each of the three 
Councils for their areas of representation. The Board might find that the limits recommended for each 
area are similar, and a single amount could be specified throughout the drainage, simplifying regulations 
and aiding enforcement. A reporting system, if enacted, would likely need to be river-wide to be effective, 
and in this case each Council could recommend whether, and how, a river-wide reporting system should 
be instituted.

The regulatory framework for such recommendations would be as follows:

§___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents may exchange in customary 
trade subsistence-harvested fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations of 
this part, for cash from other rural residents. The Board may recognize regional differences and 
regulate customary trade differently for separate regions of the State.

(iii) Yukon River Fishery Management Area – Customary trade of Yukon River Chinook 
salmon between rural residents is limited as follows:



217Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

(A) In Districts 1, 2, and 3 below Holy Cross, …. (YKDRAC)
(B) In District 3 from Holy Cross upriver, and in District 4, … (WIRAC)
(C) In Districts 5 and 6, … (EIRAC)

These customary trade sales must be recorded as follows: … (or not – Each Council to 
address for the entire river)

§___.27(c)(12) Transactions between a rural resident and others. In customary trade, a rural 
resident may trade fish, their parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations in this part, 
for cash from individuals other than rural residents if the individual who purchases the fish, their 
parts, or their eggs uses them for personal or family consumption. If you are not a rural resident, 
you may not sell fish, their parts, or their eggs taken under the regulations in this part. The Board 
may recognize regional differences and regulate customary trade differently for separate regions 
of the State.

(iii) Yukon River Fishery Management Area – Customary trade of Yukon River Chinook 
salmon between rural residents and others is limited as follows:

(A)In Districts 1, 2, and 3 below Holy Cross, …. (YKDRAC)
(B) In District 3 from Holy Cross upriver, and in District 4, … (WIRAC)
(C) In Districts 5 and 6, … (EIRAC)

These customary trade sales must be recorded as follows: … (or not – Each Council to 
address for the entire river)

This alternative provides a regulatory framework that would address both rural-to-rural and rural-to-
others customary trade for the overall drainage, with recognition of variation in traditional patterns along 
the river, and addresses whether or not a river-wide reporting system is needed.

OSM CONCLUSION 

Oppose Proposal FP11-08.

Justification

Customary trade is recognized as a subsistence use in ANILCA. As defined by Federal subsistence 
management regulation, customary trade refers only to subsistence-caught fish or wildlife exchanged for 
cash, provided such exchanges do not constitute a “significant commercial enterprise.” Any exchanges 
of subsistence-caught fish for cash that rise to the level of significant commercial transactions are not 
customary trades; such commercial-level transactions are prohibited under current regulation. Recent 
studies (Krieg et al. 2007; Magdanz et al. 2007; Moncreiff 2007) indicate that customary trade constitutes 
a small but vital component of a variety of local cultural and economic relations. These studies suggest 
that customary trade is infrequent and transacted for relatively small sums of money, which is often 
used to support other subsistence activities. Enacting regulations to further govern such trades appears 
unnecessary and intrusive.

There are, however, increasing reports of sales of subsistence-caught salmon that may not fit the 
definition of customary trade. Such sales appear to be the target of the 2009 Special Action Requests 
submitted by the Fairbanks Fish and Game Advisory Committee and the Eastern Interior Alaska 
Subsistence Regional Advisory Council. These sales also provided a topic for discussion at the February, 



218 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

2010 Eastern and Western Interior Council meetings, as well as for the March, 2010 Yukon-Kuskokwim 
Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council meeting. The threshold for a significant commercial 
enterprise, however, has not been determined. Enforcement of the prohibition remains problematic 
without a threshold determination.

In its argument for prohibiting customary trade in any year when Chinook salmon runs are insufficient to 
fully provide for subsistence harvest uses and fisheries are restricted, the proponent notes that “there were 
numerous reports of Yukon River rural residents selling large numbers of Yukon Chinook salmon in the 
urban areas of our state.” Such sales may be between rural residents. More likely, however, such sales are 
between rural residents and others, which are governed under §___. 27(c)(12). As written, the proposal 
would prohibit customary trade between rural residents under certain conditions, but not between rural 
residents and others. Sales of Chinook salmon between rural residents and others may well form the 
higher percentage of sales about which the proponent expresses concern. The proposal does not address 
such sales.

The proposal does not explicitly target customary trade of subsistence-caught Chinook salmon. As 
written, it would preclude all customary trade of any subsistence-caught fish between rural residents 
“[i] in any given year in the Yukon River Fisheries Management Area Chinook runs are insufficient to 
fully satisfy subsistence harvest needs and subsistence fisheries are restricted.”

In order to align the proposal with the apparent concern over the conduct of customary trade in urban 
centers of Alaska, the Federal Subsistence Board may choose to support this proposal with modification, 
the modification being the addition of §___. 27(c)(12), which addresses customary trade between rural 
residents and others. 

Customary trade is included as a subsistence use in ANILCA. If limitations based on conservation 
concerns are necessary, it may be appropriate to conduct an analysis under ANILCA Section 804, which 
requires the Board to select amongst subsistence users, not uses, based on the premise that all subsistence 
uses equally qualify for the subsistence preference.

LITERATURE CITED (INCLUDES REFERENCES FROM FP11-05)

EIRAC. 2010. Transcripts of the Eastern Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council meeting, February 
24–26, 2010 in Fairbanks, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.

FSB. 2003a. Transcripts of the Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, December 9, 2003. Office of Subsistence 
Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.

FSB. 2003b. Transcripts of the Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, December 10, 2003. Office of Subsistence 
Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.

FSB. 2005. Transcripts of the Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, January, 2005. Office of Subsistence 
Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.

Krieg, T. M., J. A. Fall, M. B. Chythlook, R. LaVine, and D. Koster. 2007. Sharing, Bartering, and Cash Trade of 
Subsistence Resources in the Bristol Bay Area, Southwest Alaska. ADF&G Div. of Subsistence. Tech. Paper No. 
326. Juneau, AK. 169 pages.

Magdanz, J. S., S. Tahbone, A. Ahmasuk, D. S. Koster, and B. L. Davis. 2007. Customary Trade and Barter in Fish 
in the Seward Peninsula Area, Alaska. ADF&G Div. of Subsistence. Tech. Paper No. 328. Juneau, AK. 125 pages.



219Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

Moncrieff, C. F. 2007. Traditional Ecological Knowledge and Customary Trade of Subsistence Harvested Salmon on 
the Yukon River. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Office of Subsistence Management, Fisheries Resource Monitoring 
Program, 2007 Final Report (Study No. 04-265). Anchorage, AK. 44 pages.

WI&EIRAC. 2010. Transcripts of the Joint Eastern Interior and Western Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional 
Advisory Council meeting, February 23, 2010 in Fairbanks, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. 
Anchorage, AK.

WIRAC. 2010. Transcripts of the Western Interior Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council meeting, February 
24–26, 2010 in Fairbanks, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.

Wolfe, R. J., B. L. Davis, S. Georgette, and A W. Page. 2000. Sharing, Distribution, and Exchange of Wild 
Resources: An Annotated Bibliography of Recent Sources. ADF&G, Div. of Subsistence. Juneau, Alaska. 58 pages.

YKRAC 2010. Transcripts of the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council Meeting, March 
2–4, 2010 in Bethel, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.



220 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS

Yukon/Kuskokwim Delta Regional Council Recommendation

Support Proposal FP11-08 with Modification to delete all proposed language under (iii) and replace 
with the following:

(iii) Yukon River Fishery Management Area—The total cash value per household of salmon 
taken within Federal jurisdiction in the Yukon River Fishery Management Area and 
exchanged in customary trade to rural residents may not exceed $750.00 annually.

The Council supports proposals to prohibit customary trade until salmon runs rebound. This issue needs 
to be addressed for both Chinook and chum salmon. This is a river wide issue and it is up to the people to 
conserve salmon. There are also reports of abuse of customary trade.

Western Interior Alaska Regional Advisory Council

Oppose Proposal FP11-08. The Council moved to request the Board to establish a subcommittee to 
further address the customary trade issue. The subcommittee would be charged to address Yukon River 
Chinook salmon customary trade regulation development and would consist of participants from each of 
the three Yukon River Regional Advisory Councils and relevant State fish and game advisory committees.  
The Council named Robert Walker and Mickey Stickman to serve on this subcommittee, with Ray Collins 
and Jenny Pelkola named as alternates. The Council also recommended that a second subcommittee be 
charged to address Yukon River Chinook salmon management for improved escapement abundance and 
quality, and that this second subcommittee should meet immediately following meetings of the customary 
trade subcommittee for purposes of efficiency.

Seward Peninsula Regional Council Recommendation

Took no action on Proposal FP11-08. The Council voted to take no action, but supported the idea of 
a working group that includes representatives from all three affected Regional Advisory Councils 
to address this long standing and ongoing issue.
Eastern Interior Alaska Regional Council Recommendation

Oppose Proposal FP11-08. The Council recognizes the need for conservation measures, but has serious 
concerns with the potential for this proposal, as written, to negatively impact the ability of subsistence 
users to obtain enough fish if unable to personally do so — especially elders. There are additional 
concerns about the proposal’s effect of inequity, as lower river users have access to disproportionately 
larger harvests even when total numbers are low. The Council also noted that trade of processed fish 
products is already regulated. The Council recommends that the Federal Subsistence Board establish 
a subcommittee consisting of representatives of the Eastern Interior Alaska, Western Interior Alaska 
and Yukon/Kuskokwim Delta Regional Advisory Councils to consider the customary trade issue on a 
compressed time frame.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a complete and accurate evaluation 
of the proposal.  Discussions at recent Regional Advisory Council meetings clearly recognize both 



221Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

the importance of customary trade to subsistence users along the Yukon River, as well as the need 
for achieving river-wide resolution to address this complex and controversial issue. Without further 
discussion by all three Councils, the Interagency Staff Committee feels that it is premature to establish 
limits on customary trade by defining what constitutes a significant commercial enterprise and is 
supportive of the request from two of the Regional Advisory Councils to have representatives of all three 
Regional Advisory Councils meet to discuss and develop possible solutions to this ongoing issue. The 
Interagency Staff Committee suggests that the Federal Board could either oppose the proposal, or it could 
defer the proposal until a mutually agreed upon solution is offered by the three Councils. 

This proposal requests that customary trade be prohibited only when the Chinook salmon run is not 
sufficient to meet subsistence needs and the harvest is restricted, thus suggesting that if a conservation 
concern exists, the Board could eliminate a specific subsistence use. Customary trade is a subsistence 
use identified in ANILCA and eliminating that particular use rather than prioritizing among Federally 
qualified subsistence users to address a conservation concern would represent a departure from both 
Board practice and ANILCA. Section 804 of ANILCA provides a subsistence priority for the taking of 
fish and wildlife on Federally administered lands and waters. Whenever it is necessary to restrict the 
subsistence uses of populations of fish and wildlife on these lands, in order to protect the continued 
viability of fish and wildlife populations, or to continue the use of these populations, such a priority will 
be implemented through appropriate limitations. These limitations are based on the application of three 
criteria, including: customary and direct dependence upon the populations as a mainstay of livelihood; 
local residency or proximity to the resource; and availability of alternative resources.



222 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

ADF&G Comments on FP11-08 
November 30, 2010; Page 2 of 3 

regarding existing levels of harvest and actual sales of subsistence harvested Chinook salmon.  
Existing federal customary trade is limited to whole fish, unless processed fish are produced in 
compliance with Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation food safety rules.  Because 
state and federal regulations differ, subsistence fishermen are vulnerable to prosecution when 
selling subsistence harvested salmon on lands and waters outside the boundaries where federal 
subsistence jurisdiction is claimed.  Adoption of limitations on cash sale of subsistence harvested 
salmon that define “significant commercial enterprise,” specify fish weight or number limits, 
clarify where subsistence harvested fish may be sold under federal regulations, and establish 
reporting requirements for cash sales of subsistence harvested salmon would clarify federal 
subsistence law, facilitate enforcement against unlawful sales of subsistence harvested salmon, 
and reduce the risk of citation of law-abiding subsistence fishermen in the Yukon River drainage. 

Opportunity Provided by State:  The department supports subsistence harvest and use of 
salmon consistent with existing state laws and regulations including customary trade of this 
resource.  However, 5 AAC 01.010 prohibits sale of subsistence caught fish, their parts, or their 
eggs unless otherwise specified in state regulation.  Currently, there are only two exceptions 
listed in Chapter 5 of state regulations:  Norton Sound-Port Clarence Area for salmon and Sitka 
Sound herring roe on kelp in Southeast Alaska.4

Conservation Issues: The Yukon River Chinook salmon stock is currently classified as a stock 
of yield concern.  Since 2001, subsistence fishing time in the Yukon Area has been limited by a 
windows schedule, which was further restricted in 2008 and 2009 because of conservation 
concerns for Chinook salmon.  Subsistence harvest levels for Chinook salmon have been within 
the amounts reasonably necessary for subsistence (ANS) ranges since 2001, except for 2002, 
2008, and 2009.  A majority of the Yukon River drainage escapement goals have been met or 
exceeded since 2000, including the Chena and Salcha rivers, which are the largest producers of 
Chinook salmon in the United States portion of the drainage. The escapement objective for the 
Canadian mainstem was met every year from 2001 through 2006, with 2001, 2003, and 2005 
being the three highest spawning escapement estimates on record.  The escapement objective for 
the Canadian mainstem was not met in 2007 and 2008.  Exploitation rate on Canadian-origin 
stock by Alaskan fishermen decreased from an average of about 55% (1989–1998) to an average 
of about 44% from 2004 through 2008 (Howard et al. 2009).  Although the subsistence harvest 
continues to remain stable at nearly 50,000 Chinook salmon annually, commercial harvests have 
decreased over 60%, from an average of 100,000 annually (1989–1998) to the recent five-year 
average (2005–2009) of nearly 23,000 fish.  Considering all salmon species together, the overall 
total subsistence salmon harvest in the Yukon Area has declined by approximately 30% since 
1990 (Fall et al. 2009:39).  Specifically, fall chum salmon harvests have fallen within ANS 
ranges only three times since 2001 (Fall et al. 2009:43).   

Jurisdiction Issues:  While standing on state and private lands (including state-owned 
submerged lands and shorelands), persons must comply with state laws and regulations and 
cannot sell subsistence harvested fish, with two exceptions as specified above. Federal
subsistence regulations, particularly customary trade regulations, pertain only to fishing on and 
use of fish harvested on federal public lands and those waters where federal subsistence 
jurisdiction is claimed.  Sale of subsistence fish harvested on all lands and waters (federal, state, 

4 5 AAC 01.188 and 5 AAC 01.717



223Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

ADF&G Comments on FP11-08 
November 30, 2010; Page 3 of 3 

or private) is limited by state regulations except to the extent superseded by federal law on 
federal lands.  The State of Alaska maintains jurisdiction of food safety and food processing 
regulations, regardless of where fish are harvested. 

Other issues:  The Alaska Department of Fish and Game supports adoption of enforceable 
federal customary trade regulations that specify limits on numbers of fish sold and cash sales and 
establish reporting requirements.  However, restrictions or regulations that specify limits and 
reporting requirements should be applied drainage-wide. 

Violation of existing federal customary trade and state fish processing regulations is an 
enforcement problem that has significant implications for subsistence users and the public.  More
clarity and education on state and federal regulations and an enforceable definition on what 
constitutes a significant commercial enterprise are needed.  

Recommendation:  Support with modification.  The department supports the modification 
recommended by Yukon Kuskokwim Delta Regional Advisory Council to establish a $750 limit 
of sales between “federally qualified and others” and to require a permit and reporting of this 
customary trade between “federally qualified and others” as a first step.  The department 
recommends that limits be established by numbers of salmon.  

The department also supports the proposed joint meeting of the regional councils in the Yukon 
River drainage and supports the Western and Eastern Interior councils recommendation to form a 
subcommittee/workgroup to address all three proposals regarding customary trade of salmon in 
the Yukon River drainage.  We support the Eastern Interior Regional Advisory Council request 
that the subcommittee/workgroup meet in Fairbanks on March 1 and 2, 2011, in advance of the 
regularly scheduled winter council meeting.  The department urges that this workgroup and joint 
Regional Advisory Council meeting process, including final action by the Federal Subsistence 
Board, be completed prior to the 2011 salmon season. 

Cited References: 
Fall, J.A., C. Brown, M.F. Turek, N. Braem, J.J. Simon, W.E. Simeon, D.L. Holen, L. Naves, L. 

Hutchinson-Scarbrough, T. Lemons, V. Ciccone, T.M. Krieg, and D. Koster.  2009.
Alaska subsistence salmon fisheries 2007 annual report.  Alaska Department of Fish and 
Game Division of Subsistence, Technical Paper No. 346, Anchorage.  

Howard K.G., S.J. Hayes, and D.F. Evenson. 2009. Yukon River Chinook salmon stock status 
and action plan 2010; a report to the Alaska Board of Fisheries. Alaska Department of 
Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 09-26, Anchorage.



224 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

WRITTEN PUBLIC COMMENTS

Support Proposal FP11-08. It really does not make sense to allow selling salmon strips while other users 
are not meeting their traditional and customary harvest needs.

The situation we see in villages and what residents are facing today is very troublesome. How they 
provide for their families and navigate the system that is in place to regulate the fisheries? To ensure 
we have the same opportunity to fish in our traditional and customary ways as others in the lower river 
enjoy, we must understand that this river and the people who live along this great river are one and 
the same. Everyone on this river will need to make sacrifices to ensure the salmon stock stays healthy 
and our traditional and customary salmon harvest is enjoyed by future generations. As we consider the 
sacrifices we will make, we must understand the changes we see around us today: climate changes, water 
temperatures increasing, and changes in the quality of fish. This is being discussed more openly by people 
who count on these resources to see them through the winter months, way after fishing is over. 

It is better to start making small sacrifices now than wait until it is too late. A full salmon season closure 
may be the only option to protect the salmon stock and allow a good number for escapement into the 
spawning grounds. I encourage the Federal Subsistence Board to look at the good that came when 
people along the Yukon River worked together, set aside their differences, and sought a common goal. 
Maintaining a healthy salmon stock in the Yukon River rests with us as the primary users of the valuable 
resource and nothing short of working together will enable us to see the long term benefits.

Council of Athabascan Tribal Governments (James Kelly, Acting Natural Resource Director)

Oppose Proposal FP11-08. You need to do a better job at looking at the big picture. The subsistence 
fisherman is only one small part of that picture. Why is the river warmer than in the past? Why do the 
returning numbers still decline? What is happening to the fish out in the ocean? What is happening to the 
ocean? And why is the commercial fish industry allowed to have so much waste. 

The fishing season of 2009 was made very difficult with the restrictions that were cast upon the 
subsistence fisherman. We had to work really hard to get any fish. We were told that the numbers were 
low and Canada needed to have a certain number of fish reach their waters. We had to watch the first 
pulse go by before we could fish. You restricted the amount of time we were allowed to have our nets 
in the water. When the fish reached Canada they had more than expected. Between the strong arm of 
Canada and the loud and strong lobby of the commercial fish industry the subsistence fisherman is being 
endangered. Why are you proposing to put more restrictions on the lowly subsistence fisherman if last 
year’s restrictions allowed more than enough fish to make it to Canada? Thank you for the opportunity to 
speak out.

Alyson Esmailka, Galena

Oppose Proposal 11-08. This proposal is another based on unfounded hearsay reports. The facts are 
plain and simple. The Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council states these 
accusations based on reports of questionable origin. It states that the Yukon River is becoming the king 
salmon strip capital of the world. Where else on earth can people get this vital cultural food? Cabela’s 
sells fish in the catalog but not of the quality that indigenous people need and want. These rights are 
granted in ANILCA and that is the law; congress gave these rights. The problem we are having here is too 
much commercial fish and depletion of salmon stocks. This also states that this is an expanding trade, but 
the fact is fewer people fish than before. Everyone is hunting on the river, not just one group of people, 
all groups of people are having a hard time. Some groups are lucky enough to sell whole fish and are 
trying to blame the fish shortage on less fortunate fishermen who cannot sell whole fish. Marshall isn’t 



225Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

Pres
en

ted
 

in 
20

10

the only village hurting by these salmon shortages, all villages are hurt by this. It states that thousands are 
being prepared while people are starving in one village. Look at the quotas in each district and then say 
who is getting the biggest share of resource. Blaming up river fishermen for the lack of fish in Marshall 
is just plain misguided. The fact is districts are open at different times and the folks cutting fish are just 
getting some for the first time. Everyone is fishing subsistence in Y-5 to state the fact correctly. There are 
no commercial openings, just subsistence. Y-1 and Y-2 are just trying to sell all the fish and blame other 
groups. What makes this group more special than others is that they can spread rumors for their own lack 
of conservation. If they want to openly violate the rules, then that shows ignorance on many fronts. This 
also states that this will have more positive effects than gear restrictions. The gear restrictions are put in 
place because a species is being wiped out by specialized double-deep nets and larger mesh. These are 
the nets that are killing off the large Chinook of Canadian origin. When there are no more large kings to 
catch then the restriction nets will kill off the smaller kings. Too much commercial fish has been sold for 
money. Monetary goods or a sustainable yield for the future is the real question. We all have to adapt, 
adjust, or improvise; blaming others isn’t going to get us anywhere and we just have to be conservative or 
we will really have something to cry about.

James E. Roberts, Tanana Tribal Council

Oppose Proposal FP11-08. This proposal is unreasonable for customary trade as some villages have no 
fish and will trade us for red game meat. A tracking system would be complicated and unenforceable.

1st Chief Pat McCarty, 2nd Chief Don Honea Jr., and 
Traditional Chief William McCarty Jr.,

Ruby Tribal Council, and Eight Residents of Ruby

Oppose Proposal FP11-08. This proposal should read “if in any given year that the number of fish is 
insufficient to fully satisfy the subsistence harvest, commercial fishing will not be allowed. Commercial 
fishing should be cut off for at least two years to bring the fish population back to where it should be.

Letter Signed by Thirty-seven Residents of Galena



226 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

20
12

Upd
ate

FP11-08 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP11-08 requests that customary trade in the Yukon River 

Fisheries Management Area be prohibited in any year when Chinook 
salmon runs are insufficient to fully satisfy subsistence harvest needs 
and subsistence fisheries are restricted. As submitted, the prohibition 
would only affect customary trade between rural residents. Submitted 
by the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory 
Council

Proposal FP11-08 was deferred by the Federal Subsistence Board to 
allow a Tri-RAC subcommittee to meet and consider a Yukon River-
wide solution to the issue of customary trade (FSB 2011:180). The 
Tri-RAC subcommittee met and developed two recommendations, 
which were the basis of FP13-06, 07, and 08. See the analysis of 
Proposals FP13-06, 07 and 08 for the Tri-RAC recommendations and 
Regional Advisory Council proposals. 

Proposed Regulation §___. 27(c)(11) Transactions between rural residents. Rural residents 
may exchange in customary trade subsistence-harvested fish, their 
parts, or their eggs, legally taken under the regulations of this 
part, for cash from other rural residents. The Board may recognize 
regional differences and regulate customary trade differently for 
separate regions of the State.

(i) Bristol Bay Fishery Management Area—The total cash value 
per household of salmon taken within Federal jurisdiction in 
the Bristol Bay Fishery Management Area and exchanged in 
customary trade to rural residents may not exceed $500.00 
annually.

continued on next page

2012 UPDATE

Proposal FP11-08, submitted by the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta Subsistence Regional Advisory Council, 
was deferred by the Federal Subsistence Board to allow a Tri-RAC subcommittee to meet and consider a 
Yukon River-wide solution to the issue of customary trade (FSB 2011:180). The Tri-RAC subcommittee 
met and developed two recommendations. These recommendations formed the basis of FP13-06, 07, & 
08. See the analysis of Proposals FP13-06, 07 and 08 for the Tri-RAC recommendations and Regional 
Advisory Council proposals. The original analysis of FP11-08 as published for the 2011 Federal 
Subsistence Board meeting is presented on the following pages. Please note that the Regulatory History, 
Customary Trade and Recent Concerns sections in the FP11-08 analysis, which refer the reader to FP11-
05, have been updated in the staff analysis of FP13-06, 07, 08. The OSM Conclusion remains oppose.

Board action on FP13-06, -07, -08, -09, -10 and -11 may lead the Board to take no action on FP11-08.



227Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

20
12

Upd
ate

FP11-08 Executive Summary (continued)
(ii) Upper Copper River District—The total number of salmon 
per household taken within the Upper Copper River District 
and exchanged in customary trade to rural residents may not 
exceed 50% of the annual harvest of salmon by the household. 
No more than 50% of the annual household limit may be sold 
under paragraphs___. 27(c)(11) and (12) when taken together. 
These customary trade sales must be immediately recorded on a 
customary trade recordkeeping form. The recording requirement 
and the responsibility to ensure the household limit is not 
exceeded rests with the seller.

(iii) If in any given year in the Yukon River Fisheries 
Management Area Chinook runs are insufficient to fully 
satisfy subsistence harvest needs and subsistence fisheries are 
restricted; customary trade will be prohibited.

OSM Conclusion Oppose

Yukon/Kuskokwim 
Delta Regional Council 
Recommendation

Took no action.

Western Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation Oppose

Seward Peninsula Regional 
Council Recommendation Oppose

Eastern Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation Deferred

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Support with modification. The department supports the 
modification recommended by Yukon Kuskokwim Delta Regional 
Advisory Council to establish a $750 limit of sales between 
“Federally qualified and others” and to require a permit and reporting 
of this customary trade between “Federally qualified and others” as a 
first step. The department recommends that limits be established by 
numbers of salmon.

Written Public Comments



228 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

20
12

Upd
ate

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS

YUKON KUSKOKWIM-DELTA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Took no action. 

Justification:  Motion to support failed to garner a second. 

WESTERN INTERIOR ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: For some individuals, the only way to meet their need is by purchasing salmon strips 
through customary trade. The primary concern is whether salmon is being exchanged for cash with 
residents of urban areas. If FP13-06 is adopted by the FSB, the Council believes the primary problem will 
be addressed.

SEWARD PENINSULA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: Council felt this proposal is not enforceable and is not consistent with ANILCA which does 
not prioritize subsistence uses.

EASTERN INTERIOR ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Deferred.

Justification: The Council prefers that the Tri-RAC Committee meet again to develop a recommended 
definition of “significant commercial enterprise” and to refine the definition of “customary trade.”

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



229Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

20
12

Upd
ate

ADF&G Comments on FP11-08 
August 13, 2012, Page 1 of 3 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Updated 11/30/2010 Comments to Federal Subsistence Board1 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP11-08:  Prohibit customary trade of Chinook salmon harvest in the Yukon 
River Fisheries Management Area during years of insufficient Chinook salmon returns.   
 
Introduction:  The Yukon-Delta Regional Advisory Council submitted this proposal to prohibit 
customary trade2 of Chinook salmon harvested in federal subsistence fisheries on the Yukon 
River during years when returns are insufficient to satisfy subsistence user needs and subsistence 
fishing restrictions are implemented.  The intent was to curb sales of subsistence harvested 
Chinook salmon made into strips while other subsistence fisheries were closed due to insufficient 
returns.  State regulations expressly prohibit sale of subsistence harvested fish3 while federal 
regulations allow for cash sales.  Under current state regulations at 18 AAC 34.005, all fish 
processed for commerce must be processed at a facility approved by Alaska Department of 
Environmental Conservation.4 
 
Sales of subsistence harvested fish, primarily processed, are occurring in both urban and rural 
communities in Alaska, contrary to existing state and federal regulations.  A U.S. Fish and 
Wildlife Service law enforcement officer provided information at the November 2010 Federal 
Subsistence Board meeting regarding a federal investigation.  Discrepancies in state and federal 
regulations and state requirements regarding processing of fish to protect health and safety of the 
public may leave some people vulnerable to citation under state and federal regulations.  This is 
a significant issue for state resources managers, law enforcement agencies, and federal agencies 
that provide for the subsistence priority of federal lands and those waters where federal 
subsistence jurisdiction is claimed.  In considering FP-08, the Federal Subsistence Board has the 
opportunity to adopt enforceable customary trade regulations for the Yukon region that are based 
on the history and patterns of this use for this region of the state. 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  This proposal, if enforced, will reduce harvest of Chinook 
salmon for cash sale.  It is not possible, however, to accurately predict how much this proposal 
will reduce subsistence harvest because federal agencies lack information and data regarding 
existing levels of harvest and actual sales of subsistence harvested Chinook salmon.  Existing 
federal customary trade is limited to whole fish, unless processed fish are produced in 
compliance with Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation food safety rules.  Because 
state and federal regulations differ, subsistence fishermen are vulnerable to prosecution when 
                                                 
1 Source:  USFWS (U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service).  2011.   Federal Subsistence Board meeting: review of fisheries 
proposals  January 18-20, 2011, discussion and develop approach to tribal consultation  January 21, 2011.  Office of 
Subsistence Management,  Anchorage, AK, pp.41-43. 
2 50 CFR 100.4 Definitions.  Customary trade means exchange for cash of fish and wildlife resources regulated in 
this part, not otherwise prohibited by Federal law or regulation, to support personal and family needs; and does not 
include trade which constitutes a significant commercial enterprise. 
3 5 AAC 01.010 Methods, means, and general provisions (d) Unless otherwise specified in this chapter, it is 
unlawful to buy or sell subsistence-taken fish, their parts, or their eggs, except that it is lawful to buy or sell a 
handcraft made out of the skin or nonedible byproduct of fish taken for personal or family consumption. 
4 18 AAC 34.005. Purpose and applicability (a) The purpose of this chapter is to provide for consumer protection 
and to protect public health by ensuring the processing, sale, and distribution of safe, wholesome, and properly 
labeled seafood products.  (b) The requirements of this chapter apply to (1) persons who process seafood products to 
be sold as part of commerce and intended for human consumption; 



230 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

20
12

Upd
ate

ADF&G Comments on FP11-08 
August 13, 2012, Page 2 of 3 

selling subsistence harvested salmon on lands and waters outside the boundaries where federal 
subsistence jurisdiction is claimed.  Adoption of limitations on cash sales of subsistence 
harvested salmon that define “significant commercial enterprise,” specify fish weight or number 
limits, clarify where subsistence harvested fish may be sold under federal regulations, and 
establish reporting requirements for cash sales of subsistence harvested salmon would clarify 
federal subsistence law, facilitate enforcement against unlawful sales of subsistence harvested 
salmon, and reduce the risk of citation of law-abiding subsistence fishermen in the Yukon River 
drainage. 
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  The department supports subsistence harvest and use of 
salmon consistent with existing state laws and regulations including customary trade of this 
resource.  However, 5 AAC 01.010 prohibits sale of subsistence caught fish, their parts, or their 
eggs unless otherwise specified in state regulation.  Currently, there are only two exceptions 
listed in Chapter 5 of state regulations:  Norton Sound-Port Clarence Area for salmon and Sitka 
Sound herring roe on kelp in Southeast Alaska.5 
 
Conservation Issues:   
The Yukon River Chinook salmon stock is currently classified as a yield concern.  Subsistence 
harvest levels have not reached the ANS for subsistence the last four years  2008—2011.  A 
majority of the Yukon River drainage escapement goals have been met since 2000, including the 
Chena and Salcha rivers, which are the largest producers of Chinook salmon in the U.S. portion 
of the drainage.  The agreed-to escapement objective for the Canadian mainstem was met every 
year from 2001 through 2006, with 2001, 2003, and 2005 being the three highest spawning 
escapement estimates on record.  However, the escapement objective for the Canadian mainstem 
was not met in 2007, 2008, and 2010.  Exploitation rate on the Canadian-origin stock by Alaskan 
fishermen has changed from an average of about 55% (1989–1998) to an average of about 44% 
from 2004–2008 (Howard et al. 2009)6.  Although the subsistence harvest was stable at nearly 
50,000 Chinook salmon annually through 2006, the recent five-year average (2007–2011) was 
43,900.  Commercial harvests have decreased over 90%, from an average of 100,000 annually 
(1989–1998), to the recent five-year average (2007–2011) of nearly 9,700 fish. 
 
Enforcement Issues:  Enforcement of existing state regulations is difficult because of 
differences between federal and state regulations regarding customary trade. Currently, sale of 
processed fish without DEC permits is difficult to enforce because the formal federal rules lack 
clarity on this specific subject. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  While standing on state and private land (including state-owned submerged 
lands and shorelands), persons must comply with state laws and regulations and cannot sell 
subsistence harvested fish, with two exceptions as specified above.  Federal subsistence 
regulations, particularly customary trade regulations, pertain only to fishing on and use of fish 
harvested on federal public lands and those waters where federal subsistence jurisdiction is 

                                                 
5 5 AAC 01.188 and 5 AAC 01.717 
6 Howard, K. G., S. J. Hayes, and D. F. Evenson.  2009.  Yukon River Chinook salmon stock status and action plan 
2010; a report to the Alaska Board of Fisheries.  Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 09-
26, Anchorage. 
 



231Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP11-08

20
12

Upd
ate

ADF&G Comments on FP11-08 
August 13, 2012, Page 3 of 3 

claimed.  Sale of subsistence fish harvested on all lands and waters (federal, state, or private) is 
limited by state regulations except to extent superseded by federal law on federal lands.  The 
State of Alaska maintains jurisdiction of food safety and food processing regulations based upon 
DEC rules, regardless of where fish are harvested.   
 
Other Issues:  The Alaska Department of Fish and Game supports adoption of enforceable 
federal customary trade regulations that specify limits on numbers of fish sold and cash sales and 
establish reporting requirements.  However, restrictions or regulations that specify limits and 
reporting requirements should be applied drainage-wide. 
 
Violation of existing federal customary trade and state fish processing regulations is an 
enforcement problem that has significant implications for subsistence users and the public.  More 
clarity and education on state and federal regulations and an enforceable definition on what 
constitutes a significant commercial enterprise are needed. 
 
Recommendation: Support.  The department supports prohibiting customary trade of Chinook 
salmon harvest in the Yukon River Fisheries Management Area during years of insufficient 
Chinook salmon returns. For example, when there are subsistence fishing closure/restrictions 
across the drainage to reduce subsistence harvest of Chinook salmon to achieve escapement 
goals, customary trade of Chinook salmon would be prohibited.  
 



232 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

FP13-13 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-13 requests the taking of salmon be permitted 

above the weir in Chignik River with no restriction on gear type. 
Currently, the area upstream of the Alaska Department of Fish and 
Game (ADF&G) weir is closed to harvest from July 1 through 
August 31 under Federal subsistence regulations. The proponent also 
requests that the taking of salmon by gillnets be permitted in Black 
Lake, any tributary to Black Lake or Chignik Lake and Chignik 
River. Submitted by Alvin Boskofsky on behalf of the Chignik Lake 
Traditional Council

Proposed Regulation §___.27(e)(8) Subsistence taking of fish: Chignik Area

(i) You may take fish other than salmon, rainbow/steelhead trout, 
or char at any time, except as may be specified by a subsistence 
fishing permit. For salmon, Federal subsistence fishing openings, 
closings and fishing methods are the same as those issued for the 
subsistence taking of fish under Alaska Statutes (AS 16.05.060), 
unless superseded by a Federal Special Action. If you take rainbow/
steelhead trout incidentally in other subsistence net fisheries, you may 
retain them for subsistence purposes. 

(ii) You may not take salmon in the Chignik River, from a point 
300 feet upstream of the ADF&G weir to Chignik Lake from July 1 
through August 31. You may not take salmon (including Chinook 
salmon from July 1 – August 31 in the Chignik River) by gillnet in 
Black Lake or any tributary to Black or Chignik Lakes and Chignik 
River. You may take salmon in the waters of Clark River and Home 
Creek from their confluence with Chignik Lake upstream 1 mile.

(A) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may take 
salmon by gillnet under the authority of a State permit. 

(B) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may 
take salmon by snagging (handline or rod and reel), spear, bow 
and arrow, or capture by hand without a permit. The daily harvest 
and possession limits using these methods are 5 per day and 5 in 
possession. 

OSM Conclusion Support Proposal FP13-13 with modifications to open Chignik 
River to the harvest of salmon with rod and reel between January 1 
and August 9. The harvest limit would match the State sport fish bag 
limit for daily harvest limits and daily possession limits. However, 
no annual harvest limit would be imposed on Federally qualified 
subsistence users. If adopted the modified proposal deviates from 
State subsis tence regulations and may require a Federal permit.

continued on next page



233Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

FP13-13 Executive Summary (continued)
OSM Conclusion (Continued) The modified regulation should read:

 §_____.27(e)(8) Subsistence taking of fish: Chignik Area 

(i) You may take fish other than salmon, rainbow/steelhead trout, 
or char at any time, except as may be specified by a subsistence 
fishing permit. For salmon, Federal subsistence fishing openings, 
closings and fishing methods are the same as those issued for the 
subsistence taking of fish under Alaska Statutes (AS 16.05.060), 
unless superseded by a Federal Special Action. If you take rainbow/
steelhead trout incidentally in other subsistence net fisheries, you may 
retain them for subsistence purposes. 

(ii) You may not take salmon in the Chignik River with any gear type 
except rod and reel, from a point 300 feet upstream of the ADF&G 
weir to Chignik Lake from July 1 through August 31. You may not 
take salmon by gillnet in Black Lake or any tributary to Black or 
Chignik Lakes. You may take salmon in the waters of Clark River and 
Home Creek from their confluence with Chignik Lake upstream 1 
mile.

(A) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may take 
salmon by gillnet under the authority of a State permit.

(B) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may 
take salmon by snagging (handline or rod and reel), spear, bow 
and arrow, or capture by hand without a permit. The daily harvest 
and possession limits using these methods are 5 per day and 5 in 
possession.

(C) You may take salmon in the Chignik River with rod and reel, 
from a point 300 feet upstream of the ADF&G weir to Chignik 
Lake from January 1 through August 9 without a permit. However, 
Chinook salmon: 20 inches or greater in length, 2 per day, 2 
in possession; less than 20 inches in length, 10 per day, 10 in 
possession; other salmon: 5 per day, 5 in possession, no size limit.

(iii) You may take salmon, trout, and char only under the authority of 
a subsistence fishing permit [see Appendix A].

(iv) You must keep a record on your permit of subsistence-caught fish. 
You must complete the record immediately upon taking subsistence-
caught fish and must return it no later than October 31.

(v) If you hold a commercial fishing license, you may only subsistence 
fish for salmon as specified on a State subsistence salmon fishing 
permit.

continued on next page



234 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

FP13-13 Executive Summary (continued)
OSM Conclusion (Continued) (vi) You may take salmon by seines, gillnets, rod and reel, or with 

gear specified on a subsistence fishing permit, except that in Chignik 
Lake, you may not use purse seines. You may also take salmon 
without a permit by snagging (by handline or rod and reel), using a 
spear, bow and arrow, or capturing by bare hand. 

(vii) You may take fish other than salmon by gear listed in this part 
unless restricted under the terms of a subsistence fishing permit. 

Bristol Bay Regional Council 
Recommendation

Council Recommendation: Support Proposal FP13-13 with 
modification to allow the harvest of salmon starting on June 30, from 
a point 300 feet upstream of the ADF&G weir on the Chignik River. 
The harvest of Chinook salmon would be prohibited after August 9.

The modified regulation should read:

§__.27(e)(8) Subsistence taking of fish: Chignik Area 

(i) You may take fish other than salmon, rainbow/steelhead trout, 
or char at any time, except as may be specified by a subsistence 
fishing permit. For salmon, Federal subsistence fishing openings, 
closings and fishing methods are the same as those issued for the 
subsistence taking of fish under Alaska Statutes (AS 16.05.060), 
unless superseded by a Federal Special Action. If you take rainbow/
steelhead trout incidentally in other subsistence net fisheries, you may 
retain them for subsistence purposes. 

(ii) You may not take salmon in the Chignik River, from a point 300 
feet upstream of the ADF&G weir to Chignik Lake, starting June 30. 
from July 1 through August 31. However, you may not take Chinook 
salmon after August 9. You may not take salmon by gillnet in Black 
Lake or any tributary to Black or Chignik Lakes and Chignik River. 
You may take salmon in the waters of Clark River and Home Creek 
from their confluence with Chignik Lake upstream 1 mile.

(A) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may 
take salmon by gillnet under the authority of a State permit. 

(B) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may 
take salmon by snagging (handline or rod and reel), spear, bow 
and arrow, or capture by hand without a permit. The daily harvest 
and possession limits using these methods are 5 per day and 5 in 
possession.

continued on next page



235Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

FP13-13 Executive Summary (continued)
Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendation and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal. The ISC discussed an 
alternative due to the conservation concerns of using gillnets in the 
spawning Chinook spawning area upstream of the Chignik River 
weir. An alternative to the recommendation in the OSM conclusion 
could be to double the harvest limit for Chinook salmon with rod and 
reel to 4 per day, 4 in possession and no annual harvest limit.

ADF&G Comments Oppose

Written Public Comments None



236 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-13

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-13, submitted by Alvin Boskofsky on behalf of the Chignik Lake Traditional Council, 
requests the taking of salmon be permitted above the weir in Chignik River with no restriction on gear 
type. Currently, the area upstream of the Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADF&G) weir is closed 
to harvest from July 1 through August 31 under Federal subsistence regulations. The proponent also 
requests that the taking of salmon by gillnets be permitted in Black Lake, any tributary to Black Lake, 
and Chignik Lake and Chignik River. The proponent requests that regulations for harvest of salmon be 
liberalized in the Chignik Area with the intent of providing additional harvest opportunities for Federally 
qualified subsistence users.

DISCUSSION

A small run of Chinook salmon with a 5-year average (2008–2012) of 3044 fish return to the Chignik 
River to spawn (Figure 1). The returning Chinook salmon hold in the closed section of river above 
ADF&G weir were they are susceptible to harvest. They are known to spawn in approximately 80% of the 
1.8 river miles that extend from the outlet of Chignik Lake downstream to the weir (FSB 2011:410). To 
prevent overharvest or harassment of these salmon, subsistence users may not fish in the Chignik River, 
from a point 300 feet upstream of the ADF&G weir from July 1 through August 31 under both Federal 
and State regulations. Federally qualified subsistence users may harvest salmon with gillnets in Chignik 
River below the ADF&G weir. In this proposal, the proponent request the area upstream of the ADF&G 
weir be opened to all gear types.

The proponent also requests that gillnets be allowed in Black Lake to harvest spawned-out sockeye (red 
fish). Few families participate in subsistence activities in Black Lake and its tributaries, harvesting red 
fish with hook and line (FSB 2011;401,417). Federally qualified subsistence users may harvest salmon 
with seines, rod and reel, snagging, spear, bow and arrow or hand capture in Black Lake, any tributary 
to Black Lake, and Chignik Lake. The use of these gear types allows the user to target salmon while 
protecting resident species. Currently, gillnets can be used to for subsistence harvest in open waters of 
Chignik Lake , Chignik River, Clark River and Home Creek.

Federal regulations require that Federally qualified subsistence users have a subsistence fishing permit 
(issued by the State of Alaska) to take salmon with seines or gillnets in the Chignik Management Area. 
However, Federally qualified subsistence users are not required to have a State permit to take salmon by 
snagging (hand line, rod and reel), spear, bow and arrow, or capture by hand in the Chignik Management 
Area, because State regulations do not allow the subsistence take of salmon by these methods. According 
to residents and managers, subsistence salmon harvests using these methods are likely low since most 
people use these methods to catch an occasional fresh fish (BBRAC 2008). 

State sport fishing regulations allow for sport fishing throughout the Chignik Area, including sections of 
Chignik River upstream of the weir and Black Lake and its tributaries. Chinook salmon can be harvested 
in the Chignik River under State regulations from January 1 through August 9. This allows harvest of 
Chinook salmon under State sport fishing regulations in a portion of the Chignik River that is closed to 
Federally qualified subsistence users beginning July 1.



237Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

Existing Federal Subsistence Regulations

§__.27(e)(8) Subsistence taking of fish: Chignik Area 

(i) You may take fish other than salmon, rainbow/steelhead trout, or char at any time, except 
as may be specified by a subsistence fishing permit. For salmon, Federal subsistence fishing 
openings, closings and fishing methods are the same as those issued for the subsistence taking of 
fish under Alaska Statutes (AS 16.05.060), unless superseded by a Federal Special Action. If you 
take rainbow/steelhead trout incidentally in other subsistence net fisheries, you may retain them 
for subsistence purposes. 

(ii) You may not take salmon in the Chignik River, from a point 300 feet upstream of the ADF&G 
weir to Chignik Lake from July 1 through August 31. You may not take salmon by gillnet in Black 
Lake or any tributary to Black or Chignik Lakes. You may take salmon in the waters of Clark 
River and Home Creek from their confluence with Chignik Lake upstream 1 mile.

(A) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may take salmon by gillnet under 
the authority of a State permit. 

(B) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may take salmon by snagging 
(handline or rod and reel), spear, bow and arrow, or capture by hand without a permit. The 
daily harvest and possession limits using these methods are 5 per day and 5 in possession. 

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

1990 1995 2000 2005 2010

N
um

be
ro

fC
hi
no

ok
Sa
lm

on

Year

Figure 1. Annual estimate of total Chinook salmon return to the Chignik River 1990 -2012 (Nemeth et 
al. 2010, Tracy 2012)



238 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

Proposed Federal Subsistence Regulations

§___.27(e)(8) Subsistence taking of fish: Chignik Area

(i) You may take fish other than salmon, rainbow/steelhead trout, or char at any time, except 
as may be specified by a subsistence fishing permit. For salmon, Federal subsistence fishing 
openings, closings and fishing methods are the same as those issued for the subsistence taking of 
fish under Alaska Statutes (AS 16.05.060), unless superseded by a Federal Special Action. If you 
take rainbow/steelhead trout incidentally in other subsistence net fisheries, you may retain them 
for subsistence purposes. 

(ii) You may not take salmon in the Chignik River, from a point 300 feet upstream of the ADF&G 
weir to Chignik Lake from July 1 through August 31. You may not take salmon (including 
Chinook salmon from July1 – August 31 in the Chignik River) by gillnet in Black Lake or any 
tributary to Black or Chignik Lakes and Chignik River. You may take salmon in the waters of 
Clark River and Home Creek from their confluence with Chignik Lake upstream 1 mile.

(A) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may take salmon by gillnet under 
the authority of a State permit. 

(B) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may take salmon by snagging 
(handline or rod and reel), spear, bow and arrow, or capture by hand without a permit. The 
daily harvest and possession limits using these methods are 5 per day and 5 in possession. 

Existing State Subsistence Regulations

5AAC 01.470 Lawful gear and gear specifications: Chignik Area

(a) Salmon may be taken by seines and gillnets, or with gear specified on a subsistence fishing 
permit, except that in Chignik Lake salmon may not be taken with purse seines. A gillnet may not 
be set, staked, anchored, or otherwise fixed in a stream while it obstructs more than one-half of 
the width of the waterway and any channel or side channel of the waterway. 

5 AAC 01.475. Waters closed to subsistence fishing: Chignik Area

Salmon may not be taken 

(1) from July 1 through August 31, in the Chignik River from a point 300 feet upstream from the 
Chignik weir to Chignik Lake; 

(2) in Black Lake, or any tributary to Black Lake or Chignik Lake, except the waters of Clark 
River and Home Creek, from each of their confluences with Chignik Lake to a point one mile 
upstream. 

5 AAC 01.480. Subsistence fish permit: Chignik Area

(a) Salmon, trout and char may only be taken under the authority of a subsistence fishing permit 
[see Appendix A].



239Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

(b) Not more than 250 salmon may be taken for subsistence purposes unless otherwise specified 
on the subsistence fishing permit.

(c) A subsistence fisherman shall keep a record of the number of subsistence fish taken by that 
subsistence fisherman each year. The number of subsistence fish taken shall be recorded on the 
reverse side of the permit. The record must be completed immediately upon landing subsistence-
caught fish, and must be returned to the local representative of the department by December 31 of 
the year the permit was issued.

 State Sport Fishing Regulations

5 AAC 65.010. Fishing seasons for Alaska Peninsula and Aleutian Islands Area

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this section and 5 AAC 65.051, sport fishing is permitted year 
round in the Alaska Peninsula and Aleutian Islands Area.

(b) King salmon may be taken in fresh waters only from January 1 through July 25, except that 
king salmon may be taken in the Chignik River from January 1 through August 9.

5 AAC 65.020. Bag limits, possession limits, and size limits for Alaska Peninsula and 
Aleutian Islands Area

(a) Except as otherwise provide in this section, bag limits, possession limits, and size limits 
for finfish and shellfish in the Alaska Peninsula and Aleutian and Aleutian Islands Area are as 
follows:

Species: (1) king salmon: in fresh waters: 20 inches or greater in length, 2 per day, 2 in 
possession; 5 fish annual limit; harvest record is required as specified in 5 AAC 75.006; less than 
20 inches in length, 10 per day, 10 in possession; no annual limit. (2) other salmon: 5 per day, 5 
in possession, no size limit.

Extent of Federal Public Waters

For purposes of this discussion, the phrase “Federal public waters” is defined as those waters described 
under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR 100.3. Federal public waters within the Chignik Management Area 
include all waters within or adjacent to the Alaska Peninsula National Wildlife Refuge, Aniakchak 
National Monument and Preserve, and Alaska Maritime National Wildlife Refuge. Chignik Lake, Chignik 
River, Black Lake, Clark River, and Home Creek are all within the boundary of the Alaska Peninsula 
National Wildlife Refuge. As such, the Federal Subsistence Management Program has responsibility and 
jurisdiction to provide for subsistence uses for Federally qualified users (Map 1).

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations

Residents of the Chignik Area which include the communities of Perryville, Chignik Bay, Chignik 
Lagoon, Chignik Lake, and Ivanof Bay, have a customary and traditional use determination to harvest 
salmon in the Chignik Area. Ivanof Bay has no residents at present.



240 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

¹

C
hi

gn
ik

 L
ak

eC
hi

gn
ik

La
go

on
C

hi
gn

ik

Weir
 Site

Cl
ar

k 
   

  R
ive

r
Home   

Cree
k

Bl
ac

k
La

ke

Fe
de

ra
l S

ub
si

st
en

ce
 F

is
he

rie
s 

Ju
ris

di
ct

io
n

Al
as

ka
 P

en
in

su
la

 N
at

io
na

l W
ild

lif
e 

R
ef

ug
e 

Bo
un

da
ry

Fe
de

ra
l P

ub
lic

 L
an

ds

FP
11

-1
0 

M
ap

 1

0
10

5

M
ile

s

Chign
ik 

   L
ak

e

Chign
ik

Lag
oo

n

C
hi

gn
ik

B
ay

Pa
ci

fic
O

ce
an

Be
ri

ng
Se

a

Ri
ve

r

Chignik

FP
13

-1
3 

M
ap

 1



241Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

Regulatory History 

Prior to 2005, the Chignik River was closed to subsistence salmon fishing by both State and Federal 
regulations ( 5 AAC 01.475, § 100.27 (e)(8)(ii)). In response to reports that subsistence users had 
difficulty harvesting enough salmon to meet their needs, the Alaska Board of Fisheries, at its fall 2004 
meeting, adopted a proposal to open the Chignik River to subsistence fishing. To protect spawning 
Chinook salmon, a closure was maintained from a point 300 feet upstream of the ADF&G weir to Chignik 
Lake for July 1 through August 31. During its January 2006 meeting, the Federal Subsistence Board 
adopted a similar proposal (FP 06-08) to align Federal subsistence regulations with State regulations by 
allowing Federal subsistence users to harvest salmon in Chignik River. The Federal Subsistence Board 
also adopted the July 1 to August 31 closure 300 feet upstream of the weir to protect spawning Chinook 
Salmon.

To allow additional harvest of late season sockeye salmon and provide a means to harvest an occasional 
fresh salmon for immediate consumption, the Alaska Board of Fisheries, at its 2008 meeting, adopted a 
proposal to open Clark River and Home Creek upstream to one mile from their confluence with Chignik 
Lake (ADF&G 2008). Both the Clark River and Home Creek had traditionally been used by a small 
number of subsistence users. Opening the rivers above their confluences permitted additional subsistence 
fishing opportunity while still protecting spawning salmon. 

In 2008, Bristol Bay Regional Advisory Council submitted Proposal FP 09-11, which sought to align 
Federal and State subsistence regulations by allowing Federally qualified subsistence users to fish for 
salmon in Clark River and Home Creek upstream one mile from their confluence with Chignik Lake. 
The Federal Subsistence Board adopted the regulatory change with an amendment at its January 2009 
meeting. The amendment allowed the harvest of salmon in Clark River and Home Creek one mile 
upstream from their confluences with Chignik Lake without a permit when snagging (using handline 
or rod and reel), or when using spear, bow and arrow, or capture by hand. To address concerns over 
harvesting without a permit, the Federal Subsistence Board further modified the regulation to include a 
daily harvest and possession limit of 5 salmon per day and 5 in possession when snagging (handline or 
rod and reel), or using spear, bow and arrow, or capture by hand. 

During the 2011 regulatory cycle, the Chignik Lake Traditional Council submitted parallel proposals to 
the Alaska Board of Fisheries (Proposal 96) and the Federal Subsistence Board (Proposal FP 11-10). The 
proponents sought to liberalize fishing areas and methods and means to take salmon for subsistence in the 
Chignik Area. The Federal Subsistence Board took action on Proposal FP 11-10 during its January 2011 
meeting, but the Alaska Board of Fisheries took no action on Proposals 96 at its January 2011 meeting. 
The Federal Subsistence Board adopted the proposal with modification. The modified proposal opened 
Black Lake and its tributaries and the tributaries to Chignik Lake to Federal subsistence fishing, but 
prohibited the use of gill nets in those areas with the exception of the lower one mile of Home Creek and 
Clark River. These closures were kept in place because of a conservation concern for resident species 
in Black Lake and its tributaries; public testimony indicated gillnets have not been traditionally used 
in Black Lake and its tributaries (FSB 2001:401). During deliberations the Federal Subsistence Board 
elected to keep the Chignik River between the weir and Chignik Lake closed to Federal subsistence 
fishing from July 1 through August 31 to protect spawning Chinook salmon.

Harvest History

Residents of the Chignik Area take salmon through subsistence, commercial, and sport fishing 
opportunities with seines, gillnets, and/ or rod and reel. In a 2003 ADF&G subsistence survey, 
information collected by gear type documented that subsistence nets or seines accounted for 74% of all 



242 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

salmon harvested, rod and reel or hook and line gear accounted for 8%, and retention from commercial 
harvests accounted for 18%. While subsistence nets or seines are the preferred method of harvest for 
most salmon species in the Chignik Area, the survey documented only 9% of the Chinook salmon harvest 
was taken by this method. Most Chinook salmon were harvested by rod and reel (26%) or retained from 
the commercial harvest (65%), which is directed at sockeye salmon. Chignik Lagoon residents sport 
fish using rod and reel to harvest Chinook salmon in Chignik River as well as the outlet into the lagoon 
(Hutchinson-Scarbrough et al. 2010). In interviews conducted by ADF&G subsistence staff, some 
respondents indicated that although they had sport fishing licenses and king salmon stamps, they consider 
this fishing to be subsistence fishing (Hutchinson-Scarbrough et al. 2010).

A subsistence permit is required for subsistence salmon fishing [Appendix A], with an annual limit of 
250 salmon per permit. ADF&G has conducted post-season subsistence harvest surveys to collect Chignik 
Area harvest information from households since 1976 (ADF&G 2005). The purpose of the surveys was 
to collect harvest information from households that do not obtain or return permits and to add late season 
harvest information not recorded on permits. The information collected on the surveys was used to 
adjust harvest estimates. Due to budget constraints, post-season surveys were not conducted in 2010 and 
2011, so harvest estimates for those years are based only on returned permits. Comparisons of historic 
household survey data and permit data for 1984 and 1989 suggested that permit data underestimated 
subsistence harvest in the Chignik Area subsistence salmon fisheries (Hutchinson-Scarbrough and Fall, 
1996). This led to local outreach effort by local vendors and ADF&G staff, resulting in more reliable 
estimates of total harvest in recent years (Hutchinson-Scarbrough et al. 2010). In 2010, the subsistence 
salmon harvest was estimated at 8,148 fish (Table 1), which was above both the recent 5 and 10 year 
averages (Anderson and Nichols, 2012). Sockeye salmon comprised most of the harvest. The 2011 
Chignik Area subsistence harvest estimate is not available yet.

Biological Background

All five species of salmon spawn in the Chignik Area, but most of the harvests for both subsistence 
and commercial fisheries are typically comprised of sockeye salmon (Anderson and Nichols 2012). 
Salmon escapement is monitored at a site in the lower Chignik River using a weir and associated video 
equipment, while spawner distribution is documented through aerial surveys of the drainage. The 
Chignik River drainage produces most of the sockeye salmon in the Chignik Area, and the spawning 
population consists of both an early and late run. Since the Chignik River weir is not operated throughout 
the duration of the late run, which extends into September, total escapement has been estimated using 
time-series analysis. ADF&G has set separate sustainable escapement goals for these runs (early run: 
350,000–400,000 sockeye salmon; late run: 200,000–400,000 sockeye salmon) as well as in-river run 
goals to support subsistence fishing for the late run (August: 25,000 sockeye salmon; September: 25,000 
sockeye salmon). No escapement goals have been set for individual tributaries or lakes within the system. 
While sockeye salmon also spawn within other Chignik Area systems, their numbers are relatively small 
(less than 1,000 sockeye salmon are usually counted during aerial surveys), and no escapement goals have 
been set.

In 2011, the total escapement into the Chignik River system was 753,817 sockeye salmon, and was 
comprised of 488,930 early-run and 264,887 late-run sockeye salmon (Anderson and Nichols, 2012). The 
2011 early-run escapement was above the ten-year 2001–2010 average of 412,279 sockeye salmon, while 
the 2011 late-run escapement was below the 2001–2010 average of 314,170 sockeye salmon. Both 2011 
escapements either exceeded or were within the desired escapement goal ranges. 



243Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

Return Commercial Subsistence Inriver Total Recreational
Year Harvesta Harvest Returnb Return Harvestc Escapementd

1978 1,386 50 1,197 2,633 207 990
1979 856 14 1,050 1,920 207 843
1980 929 6 876 1,811 207 669
1981 2,006 0 1,603 3,609 207 1,396
1982 3,269 3 2,412 5,684 207 2,205
1983 3,560 0 1,943 5,503 207 1,736
1984 3,696 23 5,548 9,267 207 5,341
1985 1,810 1 3,144 4,955 207 2,937
1986 2,592 4 3,612 6,208 207 3,405
1987 1,931 10 2,624 4,565 207 2,417
1988 4,331 9 4,868 9,208 233 4,635
1989 3,532 24 3,316 6,872 181 3,135
1990 3,719 103 4,364 8,186 207 4,157
1991 1,993 42 4,545 6,580 207 4,338
1992 3,179 55 3,806 7,040 207 3,599
1993 5,240 122 1,946 7,308 207 1,739
1994 1,804 165 3,016 4,985 207 2,809
1995 3,008 98 4,288 7,394 207 4,081
1996 1,579 48 3,485 5,112 207 3,278
1997 1,289 28 3,824 5,141 207 3,617
1998 1,700 91 3,075 4,866 207 2,868
1999 2,101 243 3,728 6,072 207 3,521
2000 581 163 4,285 5,029 207 4,078
2001 1,142 171 2,992 4,305 207 2,785
2002 920 74 3,028 4,022 207 2,821
2003 2,834 0 6,412 9,246 207 6,205
2004 2,337 88 7,840 10,265 207 7,633
2005 2,442 224 6,486 9,172 449 e 6,037
2006 1,941 258 3,535 5,476 360 f 3,175
2007 641 84 2,000 2,725 325 g 1,675
2008 208 41 1,730 1,979 110 h 1,620
2009 496 54 1,680 2,230 90 i 1,590
2010 1,480 3,673 5,153 267 j 3,406
2011 1,382 2,728 4,110 349 k 2,379
2012 303 na l 1,449 1,752 na l na1

a Source: ADF&G Fish Ticket Database, Commercial Fisheries Division.
b Inriver return  = total weir count.
c Recreational harvest: 1978-1987, 1990-2004  = average harvest from creel census conducted in 1988-1989.
d Escapement = inriver return - recreational harvest.

l2012  not available.

jRecreational harvest =   103 (2005- 2009 avg.) unguided harvest + 164 guided above weir.  Guided 
harvest from sport fish freshwater logbook program.
kRecreational harvest =  103 (2005- 2009 avg.) unguided harvest + 246 guided above weir.  Guided 
harvest from sport fish freshwater logbook program.

Table 1.  Annual estimates of harvest, escapement, and total return of Chignik River Chinook 
Salmon, 1978 - 2012 (Nemeth et al. 2010, Tracy 2012).

eRecreational harvest = 150 unguided + 299 guided above weir.  Guided harvest from sport fish 
freshwater logbook program.
f Recreational harvest = 150 unguided + 210 guided above weir.  Guided harvest from sport fish 
freshwater logbook program.
g Recreational harvest = 135 unguided + 190 guided above weir.  Guided harvest from sport fish 
freshwater logbook program.
hRecreational harvest = 45 unguided + 65 guided above weir.  Guided harvest from sport fish freshwater 
logbook program.
i Recreational harvest = 37 unguided + 53 guided above weir.  Guided harvest from sport fish freshwater 
logbook program.



244 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

Within the Chignik River system, sockeye salmon spawn in Chignik Lake and its tributaries and Black 
Lake and its tributaries. Aerial surveys of Black Lake and its tributaries have documented concentrations 
of early-run spawning sockeye salmon in the Alec River. The most recent five-year average escapement 
estimate for sockeye salmon in Black Lake tributaries (220,540) has been less than either the ten- 
(224,644) or twenty- (293,397) year averages (Anderson and Nichols 2012). Due to sedimentation, 
Black Lake is declining in volume and dissolved oxygen levels over the winter months have been low 
(Westley et al. 2010). This has reduced the capacity of Black Lake to rear juvenile salmon, and a portion 
of the juveniles produced in Black Lake has been migrating to Chignik Lake to rear (Westley et al. 2010, 
Simmons 2009). This is thought to be a factor contributing to greater fluctuations observed in adult 
returns. Although spawning and rearing conditions have been changing due to sedimentation of Black 
Lake, no conservation concerns have been identified for either run.

The Chignik River supports the only Chinook salmon-producing stream within the Chignick Area. 
Chinook salmon escapement is monitored by the ADF&G weir. The run extends from about mid-June 
to late August with a peak in mid-July. Estimates of total run size have shown a decrease in numbers 
since 2005 (Figure 1). The commercial harvest of Chinook salmon in the Chignik Management Area 
occurs incidentally in the sockeye salmon directed fishery, there is no targeted Chinook salmon harvest 
(Hutchinson-Scarbrough, 2010). A biological escapement goal of 1,300–2,700 Chinook salmon has been 
established by ADF&G (Anderson and Nichols 2012, Nemeth et al 2010). The 2012 escapement of 1,449 
Chinook salmon, while slightly above the lower bound of the escapement goal range, was the lowest 
count on record (ADF&G 2012a) and was below both the 5-year average of 2,252 (2008–2012) and the 
10-yearr average of 4,056 (2002–2012) (Table 1). 

Coho salmon spawn in drainages throughout the Chignik Area, and runs extend from mid-August through 
November (Anderson and Nichols 2012). In 2011, 5,293 coho salmon were counted through the Chignik 
River weir, which was lower than the ten-year 2001-2010 average of 12,821. Annual counts for the period 
2001–2010 have ranged from 103 to 37,113 coho salmon. Late season aerial surveys are used to estimate 
coho salmon abundance and incremental weather can affect the accuracy of the estimates. Since the run 
is often still increasing when the weir is dismantled for the season, time-series analysis cannot usually 
be used to estimate the total run. Due to the late season timing and limited direct effort, ADF&G has not 
set an escapement goal for the Chignik River coho salmon run. While aerial surveys have been used to 
monitor escapements into other systems within the Chignik Area, the total number counted is usually less 
than 2,000 coho salmon. ADF&G considers coho salmon runs to be at sustainable levels in the Chignik 
Area.

Both pink and chum salmon spawn in drainages throughout the Chignik Area, and runs generally reach 
their peak abundance in August (Anderson and Nichols 2012). While both species are counted at the 
Chignik River weir, most spawning is scattered among numerous drainages monitored by aerial surveys. 
Pink salmon runs can vary greatly in abundance between odd- and even-years, and ADF&G has set 
area-wide sustainable escapement goals of 200,000 to 600,000 pink salmon for even years and 500,000 
to 800,000 pink salmon for odd years. For the period 2001–2011, the number of pink salmon counted 
through the Chignik River weir has ranged from 1,464 to 22,341 for odd-years and from 2,243 to 22,341 
for even-year runs (Anderson and Nichols 2012). In 2011, the area-wide escapement was estimated to be 
986,248 pink salmon. For chum salmon, the number counted through the Chignik River weir has ranged 
from 48 to 408 for the period 2011–2010. ADF&G has set an area-wide sustainable escapement goal of 
57,400 chum salmon. In 2009, the area-wide escapement was estimated to be 278,145 chum salmon, 
which was well above the escapement goal.



245Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

Current Events Involving Species

Chinook salmon returns throughout Alaska are experiencing a period of reduced productivity and low run 
strength. This was reflected in low numbers of Chinook salmon passing the Chignik River weir in 2012. 
To conserve Chignik River Chinook salmon the Sport Fishery was restricted on July 12, 2012 (ADF&G 
2012e). Sport fishing for Chinook salmon 20 inches and greater was limited to catch-and-release only 
and bait was prohibited in the entire Chignik River drainage downstream to Mensis Point. The closure 
remained in place until August 9 when the sport fishery was closed by regulation. Chignik River weir 
Chinook salmon passage was estimated at 1,449 fish for 2012, which exceeded the lower end of the 
biological escapement goal by 149 fish (ADF&G 2012a). While the escapement estimate was within the 
biological escapement goal, it was below both the 5-year (2,252) and 10-year (4,056) average escapement 
estimates. Other drainages on the Alaska Peninsula (Sapsuk River Drainage) and Kodiak Island ( Karluk 
and Ayakulik river drainages) also experienced low Chinook salmon returns in 2012 indicating an area 
wide decrease in Chinook salmon production (ADF&G 2012b, ADF&G 2012c, ADF&G 2012d).

Effects of the Proposal

If this proposal is adopted as written, it would allow Federally qualified subsistence users to use any gear 
type, including gillnets, to harvest salmon in an area of the Chignik River that is currently closed because 
of conservation concerns. The population of Chinook salmon returning to the Chignik River is small 
and currently is experiencing a decrease in production (Figure 1). The 2012 Chinook escapement to the 
Chignik River was below both the 5-year and 10-year average escapement. Once the Chinook salmon 
migrating through the ADF&G weir, they spawn in a small portion of the river where they are susceptible 
to harvest. Allowing subsistence user to deploy gillnets during a time and in a place of peak Chinook 
salmon spawning activity could result in overharvest of Chinook salmon. In 2012, the lower bound of the 
escapement goal was exceeded by 149 fish. Allowing subsistence users to harvest with nonselective gear 
could result in nonsustainable harvest of Chinook salmon. 

Black Lake and its tributaries are open to gear types that allows for a selective harvest. Allowing 
nonselective harvest by gillnets in Black Lake and its tributaries could result in inadvertent overharvest of 
nontargeted species.

OSM CONCLUSION

Support Proposal FP13-13 with modifications to open Chignik River to the harvest of salmon with rod 
and reel between January 1 and August 9. The harvest limit would match the State sport fish bag limit for 
daily harvest limits and daily possession limits. However, no annual harvest limit would be imposed on 
Federally qualified subsistence users. If adopted the modified proposal deviates from State subsis tence 
regulations and may require a Federal permit.

The modified regulation should read:

§___.27(e)(8) Subsistence taking of fish: Chignik Area 

(i) You may take fish other than salmon, rainbow/steelhead trout, or char at any time, except 
as may be specified by a subsistence fishing permit. For salmon, Federal subsistence fishing 
openings, closings and fishing methods are the same as those issued for the subsistence taking of 
fish under Alaska Statutes (AS 16.05.060), unless superseded by a Federal Special Action. If you 
take rainbow/steelhead trout incidentally in other subsistence net fisheries, you may retain them 
for subsistence purposes. 



246 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

(ii) You may not take salmon in the Chignik River with any gear type except rod and reel, from a 
point 300 feet upstream of the ADF&G weir to Chignik Lake from July 1 through August 31. You 
may not take salmon by gillnet in Black Lake or any tributary to Black or Chignik Lakes. You may 
take salmon in the waters of Clark River and Home Creek from their confluence with Chignik 
Lake upstream 1 mile.

(A) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may take salmon by gillnet under 
the authority of a State permit. 

(B) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may take salmon by snagging 
(handline or rod and reel), spear, bow and arrow, or capture by hand without a permit. The 
daily harvest and possession limits using these methods are 5 per day and 5 in possession. 

(C) You may take salmon in the Chignik River with rod and reel, from a point 300 feet 
upstream of the ADF&G weir to Chignik Lake from January 1 through August 9 without a 
permit. However, Chinook salmon: 20 inches or greater in length, 2 per day, 2 in possession; 
less than 20 inches in length, 10 per day, 10 in possession; other salmon: 5 per day, 5 in 
possession, no size limit.

Justification

Chignik River Chinook salmon are known to spawn in approximately 80% of the 1.8 river miles that 
extend from the outlet of Chignik Lake downstream to the weir. While in this area, the Chinook salmon 
are clustered and highly susceptible to harvest. Currently, to prevent overharvest or harassment of these 
salmon, this area of river is closed to subsistence harvest from July 1 through August 31 under both 
Federal and State regulations. Existing, State sport fishing regulations allow for sport fishing throughout 
the Chignik Area, including this area of the Chignik River. Allowing use of rod and reel above the 
weir for Federal subsistence harvest of salmon would provide harvest opportunity while protecting the 
escapement from overharvest.

Adoption of a modification to FP13-13 would open an area to Federally qualified subsistence users that is 
currently open to those harvesting under State sport fishing regulation. Adopting this modified proposal 
would put into Federal regulation existing fishing practices of local residents while providing a Federal 
subsistence priority from January 1 through August 9. Opening this areas to harvest with rod and reel 
would allow users the ability to harvest small numbers Chinook salmon in an area where harvest by 
gillnets could result in overharvest. Allowing Federally qualified subsistence users the opportunity for 
additional harvest of Chinook salmon is not expected to significantly increase the overall harvest due to 
low anticipated participation.

Because the use of gillnets in Black Lake and its tributaries could result in overharvest, the OSM 
Conclusion is to continue to restrict the use of gillnets to Chignik River, Chignik Lake and in open waters 
of Clark River and Home Creek. Currently, Federally qualified subsistence users can harvest salmon in 
Black Lake and its tributaries with seines, rod and reel and snagging (by handline or rod and reel), using a 
spear, bow and arrow, or capturing by bare hand. 

LITERATURE CITED

ADF&G. 2005. Alaska Subsistence Fisheries 2003 Annual Report. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division 
of Subsistence, Juneau, AK.



247Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

ADF&G. 2008. Staff comments on subsistence, personal use, and commercial finfish regulatory proposals for 
the Chignik Management Area. Proposal 23, January 2008. ADF&G Divisions of Subsistence, Sport Fish and 
Commercial Fisheries. Juneau, AK.

ADF&G. 2012a. Sport Fish Count Data Search http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/FishCounts/index.cfm?ADFG=main.
LocSelectYearSpecies, Retrieved October 1, 2012.

ADF&G, 2012b. Sport Fishing Emergency Order No. 2-KS-4-02-12, Kodiak, AK. March 21, 2012. 

ADF&G, 2012c. Sport Fishing Emergency Order No. 2-KS-4-02-12, Kodiak, AK. March 21, 2012.

ADF&G, 2012d. Sport Fishing Emergency Order No. 2-KS-4-40-12, Kodiak, AK. June 28, 2012.

ADF&G, 2012e. Sport Fishing Emergency Order No. 2-KS-4-40-12, Kodiak, AK. July 12, 2012.

ADF&G. 2010. Alaska Sport Fishing Regulations Summary. Alaska Peninsula and Aleutian Islands ~Fresh Waters. 
<http://www.sf.adfg.state.ak.us/Static/Statewide/regulations/kodiak/ALEUTfresh.pdf>. June 1, 2010.

Alaska Legal Resource Center. 2010. 5 ACC 01.475. Waters closed to subsistence fishing. Internet: <http://www.
touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/aac/title05/chapter001/section475.htm>. Retrieved: June 8, 2012.

Anderson, T.J., and N.W. Nichols. 2012. Chignik Management Area Salmon and Herring Annual Management 
Report, 2011. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Management Report No. 12-18, Anchorage, AK.

BBRAC. 2008. Transcripts of the Bristol Bay Regional Advisory Council proceedings, March 25, 2008 in 
Dillingham, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK. 

FSB. 2011. Transcripts of the Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, January 20, 2011 in Anchorage, Alaska. 
Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.

Hutchinson-Scarbrough, L, T. Lemons, J.A. Fall, D. Holen, and L. Olson. 2010. Chignik area subsistence salmon 
fisheries research report to the Alaska Board of Fisheries, January 2011. Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Division of Subsistence Special Publication No. BOF 2010-06, Anchorage, AK.

Hutchinson-Scarbrough, L, B., and J. A. Fall. 1996. An Overview of Subsistence Salmon and Other Subsistence 
Fisheries of the Chignik Management Area, Alaska Peninsula, southwestern Alaska. ADF&G, Division of 
Subsistence. Technical Paper No. 230. Juneau. AK.

Morris, J.M. 1987. Fish and Wildlife Uses in Six Alaska Peninsula Communities: Egegik, Chignik, Chignik Lagoon, 
Chignik Lake, Perryville, and Ivanof Bay. ADF&G Division of Subsistence. Technical Paper No. 151. Juneau, AK.

Nemeth, M.J., Loewen, M. E., Finkle H., Schmidt J. S., Erickson J.W. Witteveen M. J., and D. Barnard. 2010. 
Review of Salmon Escapement Goals in the Chignik Management Area, Fishery Manuscript Series No. 10-108, 
Anchorage, AK.

Simmons, R.K. 2009. The stock-specific patterns of rearing by juvenile sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) 
under a changing landscape in the Chignik Lake system, Alaska. Master’s Thesis. School of Aquatic and Fishery 
Sciences. University of Washington. Seattle, WA.

Tracy, D. 2012. ADF&G Area Sports Fisheries Manager, Personal communication: email. ADF&G. Kodiak, AK.

Westley, P., Schindler, D., Quinn, T., Ruggerone G., and R. Hilborn. 2010. Natural habitat change, commercial 
fishing, climate, and dispersal interact to restructure and Alaskan fish metacommunity. Oecologia 163: 471–484.



248 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

PERMIT
NUMBER

2012
CHIGNIK SALMON SUBSISTENCE PERMIT          SEQ NUMBER

           (Office Use Only) 

NAME:

SUMMER ADDRESS:

WINTER ADDRESS:

LIMIT TO NUMBERS OF SALMON TAKEN: 250

I CERTIFY THAT I HAVE RESIDED IN ALASKA FOR TWELVE (12) CONSECUTIVE MONTHS

/ _____ 
(PERMITTEE SIGNATURE) (DATE)  

ISSUED BY: _______________________________________________________/________________________
(ADF&G VENDOR SIGNATURE) (DATE)

2012 SUBSISTENCE HARVEST LOG 

TRIP DATE NUMBER OF SALMON HARVESTED BY SPECIES
Day/ Month SPECIFIC LOCATION KINGS SOCKEYE COHO PINK CHUM TOTAL

THIS PERMIT IS VALID FROM DATE OF ISSUE TO DECEMBER 31, 2012

PLEASE RETURN THIS PERMIT (WITH YOUR HARVEST RECORD) BY DECEMBER 31, 2012 TO:

ALASKA DEPARTMENT OF FISH AND GAME
CHIGNIK SUBSISTENCE
211 MISSION RD.
KODIAK, AK  99615                                                                (SEE SUBSISTENCE REGULATIONS ON BACK)



249Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION

BRISTOL BAY SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support Proposal FP13-13 with modification to allow the harvest of 
salmon starting on June 30, from a point 300 feet upstream of the ADF&G weir on the Chignik River. The 
harvest of Chinook salmon would be prohibited after August 9.

The modified regulation should read:

§__.27(e)(8) Subsistence taking of fish: Chignik Area 

(i) You may take fish other than salmon, rainbow/steelhead trout, or char at any time, except 
as may be specified by a subsistence fishing permit. For salmon, Federal subsistence fishing 
openings, closings and fishing methods are the same as those issued for the subsistence taking of 
fish under Alaska Statutes (AS 16.05.060), unless superseded by a Federal Special Action. If you 
take rainbow/steelhead trout incidentally in other subsistence net fisheries, you may retain them 
for subsistence purposes. 

(ii) You may not take salmon in the Chignik River, from a point 300 feet upstream of the ADF&G 
weir to Chignik Lake, starting June 30. from July 1 through August 31. However, you may not 
take Chinook salmon after August 9. You may not take salmon by gillnet in Black Lake or any 
tributary to Black or Chignik Lakes and Chignik River. You may take salmon in the waters of 
Clark River and Home Creek from their confluence with Chignik Lake upstream 1 mile.

(A) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may take salmon by gillnet under 
the authority of a State permit. 

(B) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may take salmon by snagging 
(handline or rod and reel), spear, bow and arrow, or capture by hand without a permit. The 
daily harvest and possession limits using these methods are 5 per day and 5 in possession. 

Justification: The Council noted that there is a sport fishery permitted above the ADF&G weir on the 
Chignik River from June 30 to August 9, while the Federal and State subsistence fisheries are closed. 
Therefore, the Council recommends a modification to the proposal that would permit a subsistence fishery 
during the same time period. The Council had conservation concerns about a completely-open subsistence 
fishery for the location above the weir with no restrictions. The Council did not discuss the Black Lake 
portion of this proposal.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendation and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal. The ISC discussed an alternative due to the conservation 
concerns of using gillnets in the spawning Chinook spawning area upstream of the Chignik River weir. 
An alternative to the recommendation in the OSM conclusion could be to double the harvest limit for 
Chinook salmon with rod and reel to 4 per day, 4 in possession and no annual harvest limit.



250 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

ADF&G Comments on FP13-13 
Page 1 of 5 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-13:  Open closed areas in the Chignik River drainage for the taking of 
spawned out sockeye salmon by gillnet.  
 
Introduction:  The Chignik Traditional Council submitted this proposal in order to obtain 
additional opportunities to harvest spawned-out sockeye salmon for subsistence and stipulates 
the following: 
 
1. Eliminate the 300-foot closure upstream of Chignik River weir.  
2. Eliminate the July 1 through August 31 subsistence fishery closure in Chignik River.   
3. Expand legal gear types for federal subsistence fishing in Black Lake or tributaries of Black 

and Chignik lakes and Chignik River to include gillnets.   
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  If adopted as proposed, federally-qualified subsistence users 
would be allowed to subsistence fish in the Chignik River watershed with a gillnet under the 
authority of a federal subsistence fishing permit.  If adopted, federal subsistence users who 
choose to use a gillnet would be restricted to Chignik River, Chignik Lake, the lower one mile of 
Clark River and Home Creek, and Black Lake or tributaries of Black and Chignik lakes.  The 
Federal Subsistence Board authorized expanded methods and means, and eliminated some permit 
and reporting requirements in the Chignik River watershed.  If this proposal is adopted, federal 
regulations would allow federally-qualified subsistence users to utilize methods and means 
significantly different from those allowed under state regulations in the tributaries of Chignik 
and Black lakes (with the exception of Clark River and Home Creek, neither of which require a 
federal subsistence permit or other reporting method).  Though this proposal does not request 
that all gear types be allowed for federal subsistence fishing in the tributaries of Chignik and 
Black lakes, as allowed in the Clark River and Home Creek, state regulations prohibit using 
spears and hook and line for subsistence fishing.  Adoption of this proposal would expose 
federally-qualified users to state citation because there are no federal public lands in the Chignik 
River watershed.  Fishermen using methods and means not authorized under state law or who 
fish in areas closed to subsistence fishing in state regulations would risk being cited while 
standing on state and private land, including state-owned submerged lands and shore lands.  
 
Impact on Other Users:  Increased harvests of Chignik River Chinook salmon by federally-
qualified subsistence users resulting from adoption of this proposal may affect management 
strategies for local sport and commercial fisheries.  Future restrictions on these users may 
periodically be necessary to ensure escapement needs for the run are achieved.  
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  Gillnets and purse seines are allowable gear under state 
subsistence regulations.  The State of Alaska provides a subsistence preference on all lands and 
provides liberal salmon subsistence fisheries on the Alaska Peninsula.  Subsistence fisheries in 
the Chignik area provide an annual household limit of 250 salmon, and subsistence fishermen 
can be authorized to take more if needed.  For the Chignik area subsistence salmon fishery, gear 
types allowed include gillnets and seines, except purse seines may not be used in Chignik Lake.  
Gillnets may be used in Clark River and Home Creek one linear mile upstream from their 



251Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

ADF&G Comments on FP13-13 
Page 2 of 5 

confluences with Chignik Lake.  Additional gear types can be added to the state subsistence 
permit (5 AAC 01.470).1 
 
State subsistence permits for each management area carry stipulations specific to that area, such 
as timing restrictions to separate subsistence and commercial fishing, gillnet length limits in 
areas open to commercial fishing, and waters closed to subsistence fishing.  Commercial salmon 
license holders and Commercial Fisheries Entry Commission (CFEC) salmon permit holders in 
this area may subsistence fish for salmon during a commercial salmon fishing period 
(5AAC01.485), but may not subsistence fish 12 hours before or 12 hours after each commercial 
fishing period.  Commercial salmon license holders and CFEC permit holders in the Chignik 
Management Area that subsistence fish in Chignik Lagoon, Chignik Lake, or Chignik River are 
required to contact department staff at the Chignik weir in order to separate the reporting of 
subsistence and commercial harvests. 
 
The Alaska Board of Fisheries (BOF) established a combined amount reasonably necessary for 
subsistence (ANS) for communities in the Alaska Peninsula area as 34,000–56,000 salmon 
annually.  The combined ANS for the Chignik Area (Chignik Bay and the Central and Eastern 
districts of the Chignik Management Area) is 7,700–14,250 salmon annually.  Liberal state 
subsistence fisheries are allowed on all lands (state, federal, and private), so adoption of this 
proposal is not necessary to provide a meaningful subsistence opportunity. 
 
Conservation Issues:  No salmon stocks on the Alaska Peninsula are currently listed as “stock 
of concern” by the BOF.  Recent late-run sockeye salmon returns, which return primarily to 
Chignik Lake and its tributaries, have decreased slightly recently.  The Chignik River Chinook 
salmon run has also recently declined from historical abundance levels, to the extent that the 
2012 weir count was the lowest on record, and totaled less than 40% of the most recent 10 year 
average count.   If the Federal Subsistence Board approves this proposal, but does not require a 
federal permit, increases in undocumented in-tributary exploitation would not be detectable due 
to the lack of a federal reporting requirement.  Significant increases of unreported harvest in 
Chignik River watershed may lead to conservation issues that would not be detected in a timely 
manner and may require severe fishery restrictions when detected. 
 
The July 1 through August 31 subsistence fishery closure was established by the BOF in Chignik 
River many years ago to prevent inadvertent harvest and harassment of spawning Chinook 
salmon.  Reopening the Chignik River to subsistence fishing with gillnets would have immediate 
impacts on the Chinook salmon population that spawns in approximately 80% of the 1.8 river 
miles that extends from the outlet of Chignik Lake downstream to the department’s Chignik weir 
and near the outlet of Chignik Lake.  Chinook salmon have not been found to habitually transit 
beyond Chignik Lake.  
 

                                                 
1 5 AAC 01.470. Lawful gear and gear specifications  

(a) Salmon may be taken by seines and gillnets, or with gear specified on a subsistence fishing permit, 
except that in Chignik Lake salmon may not be taken with purse seines. 
 (b) Fish other than salmon may be taken by gear listed in 5 AAC 01.010(a) , unless restricted under the 
terms of a subsistence fishing permit. 



252 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

ADF&G Comments on FP13-13 
Page 3 of 5 

The Federal Subsistence Board recently liberalized allowable methods and means for federal 
subsistence fisheries, and eliminated permitting and reporting requirements for federally-
qualified users who utilize rod and reel, bow and arrow, spear, bare-hand capture, and snagging.  
Elimination of permitting and reporting requirements by federally-qualified users causes the 
department serious concern about localized depletion of sockeye salmon stocks in Chignik River 
watershed tributaries, especially if a significant increase of harvest results.  Since the Federal 
Subsistence Board does not monitor the federal subsistence fishery in this area, authorizing 
additional freshwater subsistence fisheries that target unmonitored wild stocks is not consistent 
with principles of sound management and conservation of fish and wildlife resources. 
 
Three Federal Subsistence Board members discussed their support of proposal FP08-11 at the 
December 2007 meeting because the expected increase in harvest was estimated to be reasonably 
small and the proponent’s intent was to harvest one or two fish at a time (Federal Subsistence 
Board Transcripts, December 20, 2007, pages 228 and 229).  Further discussion by the Federal 
Subsistence Board and Regional Advisory Council chairs also focused on liberalizing federal 
subsistence users’ methods and means to allow for harvests of individual salmon for immediate 
sustenance while traveling lightly in the course of camping, berry picking, or hunting.  
Discussions did not consider impacts that adoption of FP08-11 would have on sockeye salmon 
stocks within Clark River and Home Creek, because both were closed to federal subsistence 
fishing at the time.  The impacts of cumulative unreported harvests from creeks that are near 
communities and easily accessible were also not considered by the Federal Subsistence Board. 
 
The Federal Subsistence Board approved FP08-11, which liberalized methods and means to 
allow snagging, bare-hand capture, and similar means for light travelers on the Alaska Peninsula 
and eliminated reporting requirements, based on information that suggested the level of harvest 
would be a small number of fish by subsistence users traveling lightly in the field.  During 2008, 
the department received reports of federal subsistence users harvesting their winter supply of 
salmon from these tributaries of concern by federal methods and means and without the benefit 
of permits and harvest reporting.  As stated in objections to FP08-11, the department has serious 
conservation concerns with unreported harvests and the liberalized methods and means.  Those 
concerns increase with consideration of FP09-11 and FP11-10 and the potential of significant 
federal subsistence harvests in Home Creek and Clark River. 
 
Enforcement Issues:  None noted at this time. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  While standing on state and private lands (including state-owned 
submerged lands and shore lands), persons must comply with state laws and regulations.  If this 
proposal is adopted, detailed maps are needed that depict land ownership and specific boundaries 
of areas where federal regulations are claimed to apply in order to reduce risk of violation for 
federal subsistence fishermen.  During the December 2007 Federal Subsistence Board meeting, 
Alaska wildlife trooper testimony (Federal Subsistence Board Transcripts December 11, 2007, 
pages 89-91) explained the importance of users understanding and knowing jurisdiction and land 
status.  When an enforcement officer encounters an individual conducting an activity that is 
prohibited by state regulations while standing on state or private lands, including state-owned 
submerged lands, the person may be cited. 
 



253Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

ADF&G Comments on FP13-13 
Page 4 of 5 

Other Issues:  An identical proposal (#96) was submitted to the BOF for consideration during 
the January 16–18, 2011, meeting in Anchorage.  Proposal 96 was supported unanimously by the 
Chignik Advisory Committee, it was supported with modifications by the USFWS/Federal 
Subsistence Management Program, and the BOF voted to take “no action” on this proposal. 
 
A similar Fisheries Proposal (FP) 11-10, submitted by the Chignik Lake Traditional Council to 
the Federal Subsistence Board, requested the same changes to Federal subsistence fishing 
regulations for the Chignik Management Area as State Proposals 95 and 96. In addition, FP 11-
10 requests elimination of the July 1 through August 31 salmon fishing closure in the Chignik 
River from a point 300 feet upstream from the Chignik weir to Chignik Lake. 
 
The Federal Subsistence Management Program is concerned that opening the tributaries of Black 
and Chignik lakes to subsistence salmon fishing with nonselective fishing gear types, such as 
gillnets, could potentially result in unsustainable harvests of other nontarget  species (for 
example, Dolly Varden/char).  These other species may be more susceptible to overfishing than 
the more abundant salmon species, but fishing effort is expected to be low.  If either of these 
proposals is adopted, harvest of nontarget species would need to be monitored to ensure they 
remain within sustainable limits. 
 
The Bristol Bay Federal Subsistence Regional Advisory Council (Council) met September 23, 
2010, and recommended to support FP11-10 with modifications including retaining the July 1 
through August 31 closure of the Chignik River. During that meeting, the Council did not 
express any concerns about overharvest of nonsalmon species if the area is open to subsistence 
salmon fishing because effort is expected to be low.  The Council recommended opening these 
areas to subsistence use, and pointed out that these areas are already open to sport fishing.  
Finally, the Council was concerned about the potential need of multiple or dual federal/state 
permits and preferred seeing the same changes in both federal and state regulations, if possible, 
to avoid the need for separate/dual permits. 
 
The Office of Subsistence Management (OSM) staff recommendation to the Federal Subsistence 
Board is to support FP11-10 with modifications including but not limited to:  1) opening the 
areas of Black Lake and its tributaries to subsistence fishing, but excluding the use of gillnets 
and seine gear; 2) removing the requested restriction for using "hook and line" gear in the 
Chignik River; 3) retaining the existing July 1 through August 31 fishing closure in the Chignik 
River above the ADF&G weir; and 4) retaining the prohibition of purse seine (both power and 
hand) in Chignik Lake. 
 
The Federal Subsistence Board considered FP11-10 during its January 19-21, 2011, meeting in 
Anchorage and approved it as modified by the Regional Advisory Council. 
The 300-foot closure upstream of Chignik River weir was established for safety reasons and to 
prevent interference with weir operations; this closed area should be retained.   The July 1 
through August 31 subsistence fishery closure in Chignik River was established to protect 
spawning Chinook salmon and these closure dates should be retained.  The Department 
recommends against adopting gillnets as a legal gear type for federal subsistence fishing in Black 
Lake and Chignik River because opening these tributaries to subsistence salmon fishing with 



254 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-13

ADF&G Comments on FP13-13 
Page 5 of 5 

nonselective fishing gear types such as gillnets could potentially result in unsustainable harvests 
of other nontarget species (for example, Dolly Varden/char).  
 
Recommendation:  Oppose.   



255Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-14

FP13-14 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP 13-14 requests modification to the Federal subsistence 

king and Tanner crab fisheries regulations for the Kodiak area. The 
proponent requests establishing definitions for king (Paralithodes 
camtschaticus) and Tanner (Chionoecetes bairdi) crab pots, 
modifying gear marking requirements, and clarifying crab pot limits 
per vessel. Submitted by the Alaska Department of Fish and Game

Proposed Regulation §_.28 (e)(4)(i)(C) You may only use one crab pot, which may be of 
any size, to take king crab. You may only use one king crab pot per 
person with a maximum of only one pot per vessel, to take king 
crab; a king crab pot is a pot that is not more than 10 feet long by 
10 feet wide by 42 inches high with rigid tunnel eye openings that 
individually are no less than five inches in any one dimension with 
tunnel eye opening perimeters that individually are more than 36 
inches or a pot that is no more than 10 feet long by 10 feet wide 
by 42 inches high and that tapers inward from its base to a top 
consisting of one horizontal opening of any size. The king crab pot, 
in addition to marking requirements in 5 AAC 02.010 (e), shall have 
legibly inscribed on the keg or buoy attached to the pot “king crab”.

§_.28 (e)(4)(v) (A) You may not use more than five crab pots to take 
Tanner crab. You may not use more than five Tanner crab pots or 
ring nets per person to take Tanner crab with a maximum of 10 
pots or ring nets per vessel; a Tanner crab pot may be no more than 
10 feet long by 10 feet wide by 42 inches high with rigid tunnel eye 
openings that individually are less than 5 inches in one dimension 
with tunnel eye opening perimeters that individually are more than 
36 inches; or a pot that is no more than 10 feet long by 10 feet wide 
by 42 inches high and that tapers inward from its base to a top that 
consists of one horizontal opening of any size. Tanner crab pots, in 
addition to marking requirements in 5 AAC 02.010 (e), shall have 
legibly inscribed on the keg or buoy attached to the pot “Tanner 
crab”.

OSM Conclusion Oppose

Kodiak/Aleutians Regional 
Council Recommendation Oppose

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Support

Written Public Comments None



256 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-14

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-14

ISSUES

Proposal FP 13-14, submitted by the Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADF&G), requests 
modification to the Federal subsistence king and Tanner crab fisheries regulations for the Kodiak area. 
The proponent requests establishing definitions for king (Paralithodes camtschaticus) and Tanner 
(Chionoecetes bairdi) crab pots, modifying gear marking requirements, and clarifying crab pot limits per 
vessel. 

DISCUSSION

The proponent seeks to align Federal subsistence regulations for the harvest of king and Tanner crab 
with current State subsistence regulations within the Kodiak Area. King crab is the local name used to 
refer to red king crab in the Kodiak Area. Fishery managers assume that all king crabs harvested in the 
subsistence fishery are red king crab, since other king crab species are not widely distributed or readily 
available in the Kodiak Area. In March 2011, the Alaska Board of Fisheries adopted Proposal 308 with 
modification, which changed the State regulations governing subsistence king and Tanner crab pots 
for the Kodiak Area and established crab pot vessel limits for the Kodiak Area. The proponent states 
that adoption of this proposal will simplify enforcement of both State and Federal subsistence harvest 
regulations by decreasing the amount of red king crab illegally harvested in the Kodiak Area. The 
proponent also states that by changing pot size regulations, handling mortality of adult red king crab 
would decrease, resulting in more mature male red king crab to assist with rebuilding the population, 
as there is a conservation concern for the king crab population. Fishery managers assume that all king 
crabs harvested in the subsistence fishery are red king crab, since other king crab species are not widely 
distributed or readily available in the Kodiak Area.

In proposal FP13-14, the proponent incorrectly references §_.28 (k)(4)(i), §_.28 (k)(4)(iv), §_.28 (k)(4)
(v) as the Federal regulations to be modified. The correct Federal regulations are §_.28 (e)(4)(i), §_.28 (e)
(4)(iv) and §_.28 (e)(4)(v) with modifications to §_.28 (e)(4)(iv) and §_.28 (e)(4)(v).

Existing Federal Regulations

§__.28 subsistence taking of shellfish.

(e)(4) Kodiak Area. 

(i) You may take crab for subsistence purposes only under the authority of a subsistence 
crab fishing permit issued by the ADF&G.

(iv) In the subsistence taking of king crab:

(A) The annual limit is three crabs per household; only male king crab with shell width of 
7 inches or greater may be taken or possessed.

(B) All crab pots used for subsistence fishing and left in saltwater unattended longer than 
a 2-week period must have all bait and bait containers removed and all doors secured 
fully open.



257Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-14

(C) You may only use one crab pot, which may be of any size, to take king crab.

(D) You may take king crab only from June 1 through January 31, except that the 
subsistence taking of king crab is prohibited in waters 25 fathoms or greater in depth 
during the period 14 days before and 14 days after State open commercial fishing seasons 
for red king crab, blue king crab, or Tanner crab in the location.

(E) The waters of the Pacific Ocean enclosed by the boundaries of Womens Bay, Gibson 
Cove, and an area defined by a line ½ mile on either side of the mouth of the Karluk 
River, and extending seaward 3,000 feet, and all waters within 1,500 feet seaward of the 
shore-line of Afognak Island are closed to the harvest of king crab except by Federally 
qualified users.

(v) In the subsistence taking of Tanner crab:

(A) You may not use more than five crab pots to take Tanner crab.

(B) You may not take Tanner crab in waters 25 fathoms or greater in depth during the 14 
days immediately before the opening of a State commercial king or Tanner crab fishing 
season in the location.

(C) The daily harvest and possession limit per person is 12 male crabs with a shell width 
5 ½ inches or greater.

Proposed Federal Regulations

§__.28 subsistence taking of shellfish.

(e)(4) Kodiak Area. 

(i) You may take crab for subsistence purposes only under the authority of a subsistence 
crab fishing permit issued by the ADF&G.

(iv) In the subsistence taking of king crab:

(A) The annual limit is three crabs per household; only male king crab with shell width of 
7 inches or greater may be taken or possessed.

(B) All crab pots used for subsistence fishing and left in saltwater unattended longer than 
a 2-week period must have all bait and bait containers removed and all doors secured 
fully open.

(C) You may only use one crab pot, which may be of any size, to take king crab. You may 
only use one king crab pot per person with a maximum of only one pot per vessel, to 
take king crab; a king crab pot is a pot that is not more than 10 feet long by 10 feet 
wide by 42 inches high with rigid tunnel eye openings that individually are no less than 
five inches in any one dimension with tunnel eye opening perimeters that individually 
are more than 36 inches or a pot that is no more than 10 feet long by 10 feet wide by 42 
inches high and that tapers inward from its base to a top consisting of one horizontal 
opening of any size. The king crab pot, in addition to marking requirements in 5 AAC 



258 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-14

02.010 (e), shall have legibly inscribed on the keg or buoy attached to the pot “king 
crab”.

(D) You may take king crab only from June 1 through January 31, except that the 
subsistence taking of king crab is prohibited in waters 25 fathoms or greater in depth 
during the period 14 days before and 14 days after State open commercial fishing seasons 
for red king crab, blue king crab, or Tanner crab in the location.

(E) The waters of the Pacific Ocean enclosed by the boundaries of Womens Bay, Gibson 
Cove, and an area defined by a line ½ mile on either side of the mouth of the Karluk 
River, and extending seaward 3,000 feet, and all waters within 1,500 feet seaward of the 
shore-line of Afognak Island are closed to the harvest of king crab except by Federally 
qualified users.

(v) In the subsistence taking of Tanner crab:

(A) You may not use more than five crab pots to take Tanner crab. You may not use more 
than five Tanner crab pots or ring nets per person to take Tanner crab with a maximum 
of 10 pots or ring nets per vessel; a Tanner crab pot may be no more than 10 feet long 
by 10 feet wide by 42 inches high with rigid tunnel eye openings that individually 
are less than 5 inches in one dimension with tunnel eye opening perimeters that 
individually are more than 36 inches; or a pot that is no more than 10 feet long by 10 
feet wide by 42 inches high and that tapers inward from its base to a top that consists 
of one horizontal opening of any size. Tanner crab pots, in addition to marking 
requirements in 5 AAC 02.010 (e), shall have legibly inscribed on the keg or buoy 
attached to the pot “Tanner crab”.

(B) You may not take Tanner crab in waters 25 fathoms or greater in depth during the 14 
days immediately before the opening of a State commercial king or Tanner crab fishing 
season in the location.

(C) The daily harvest and possession limit per person is 12 male crabs with a shell width 
5 ½ inches or greater.

Relevant State Regulations

5 AAC 02.420. Subsistence king crab fishery 

(a) In the subsistence taking of king crab 

(1) the annual limit is three king crab for a household;

(2) all king crab pots used for subsistence fishing and left in saltwater unattended longer 
than a two-week period shall have all bait and bait containers removed and all doors 
secured fully open;

(3) notwithstanding 5 AAC 02.010(i) , no more than one king crab pot per person or per 
vessel may be used to take king crab; in addition to the marking requirements specified in 5 
AAC 02.010(e), a king crab pot must have “king crab” legibly inscribed on the keg or buoy 
attached to the king crab pot; 



259Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-14

(4) king crab may be taken only from June 1 through January 31, except that the subsistence 
taking of king crab is prohibited in waters 25 fathoms or more in depth during the 14 days 
immediately before the opening of a commercial king or Tanner crab fishing season in the 
location;

(5) only male king crab seven inches or greater in width of shell may be taken or possessed

(b) In this section, “king crab pot” is a pot that is no more than 10 feet long by 10 feet wide 
by 42 inches high with rigid tunnel eye openings that individually are no less than five inches 
in any one dimension, with tunnel eye opening perimeters that individually are more than 36 
inches or a pot that is no more than 10 feet long by 10 feet wide by 42 inches high and that 
tapers inward from its base to a top consisting of one horizontal opening of any size. 

5AAC 02.425. Subsistence Tanner crab fishery

(a) In the subsistence taking of Tanner crab 

(1) no more than five Tanner crab pots or ring nets per person may be used to take Tanner 
crab with a maximum of 10 Tanner crab pots or ring nets per vessel; in addition to the 
marking requirements specified in 5 AAC 02.010(e), a Tanner crab pot must have “Tanner 
crab” legibly inscribed on the keg or buoy attached to the Tanner crab pot;

(2) the subsistence taking of Tanner crab is prohibited in waters 25 fathoms or more in 
depth during the 14 days immediately before the opening of a commercial king or Tanner 
crab fishing season in the location;

(3) the daily bag and possession limit is 12 crab per person and only male crab may be 
taken; 

(4) only male Tanner crab five and one-half inches or greater in width of shell may be taken 
or possessed.

(b) In this section, “Tanner crab pot” is a pot that is no more than 10 feet long by 10 feet wide 
by 42 inches high with rigid tunnel eye openings that individually are less than five inches in 
one dimension, with tunnel eye opening perimeters that individually are more than 36 inches 
or a pot that is no more than 10 feet long by 10 feet wide by 42 inches high and that tapers 
inward from its base to a top consisting of one horizontal opening of any size. 

Extent of Federal Public Waters

For the purposes of this discussion, the phrase “Federal public waters” is defined as those waters 
described under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR 100.3 This proposal will pertain to Federal marine waters of 
the Pacific Ocean enclosed by the boundaries of Womens Bay, Gibson Cove, an area defined on either 
side of the mouth of the Karluk River extending seaward 3,000 feet from shoreline, and all waters within 
three nautical miles of Afognak Island (Map 1). 

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

Residents of the Kodiak Area have a customary and traditional use determination for the harvest of Tanner 
crab in the Kodiak Area. Residents of the Kodiak Island Borough except those residents of the Kodiak 



260 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-14



261Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-14

Coast Guard Base have customary and traditional use determination for king crab in the Kodiak Area, 
except for the Semidi Island, the North Mainland, and the South Mainland Sections.

Regulatory History 

King Crab

In 1994, ADF&G submitted a proposal to the Federal Subsistence Board to restrict harvest of red king 
crab to males with a shell size greater than or equal to seven inches for Federal subsistence users. The 
Board did not adopt the size limit, but they did close Federal public waters to non-Federally qualified 
users as per the recommendation of the Interagency Staff Committee (FSB 1994). 

In 2002, the Kodiak National Wildlife Refuge submitted proposal FP01-07, which requested a decrease in 
the annual harvest limit, from six male king crab per household to three per household with a minimum 
shell width of seven-inches (FSB 2002). Based on the recommendation of the Kodiak/Aleutians 
Subsistence Regional Advisory Council, the Board adopted the minimum shell width requirement along 
with a gear reduction limit of one pot of any size, but did not reduce the harvest limit. This action aligned 
State and Federal regulations for shell size and gear, while maintaining the closure to non-Federally 
qualified users. 

In the Fall of 1983 the State closed commercial fishing of red king crab in the Kodiak Area, but 
continued to allow subsistence fishing. In 1996 the Alaska Board of Fisheries reduced the subsistence 
daily bag and possession limit for red king crab from six per household to three per household yearly 
due to conservation concerns. Subsequently, in 2011, the Federal Subsistence Board reduced the annual 
allowable Federal subsistence harvest of red king crab in the Kodiak Area from six per household to three 
per household per year.

Tanner Crab

In 1998 under State subsistence regulations, the taking of Tanner crab from July 15 to February 10 
was prohibited in waters 25 fathoms or greater in depth, unless the commercial Tanner crab fishing 
season is open in the location. In 1999, the Federal subsistence Tanner crab regulations were changed, 
so that Tanner crab may not be harvested in waters 25 fathoms or greater in depth during the 14 days 
immediately before the opening of a commercial king or Tanner crab fishing season in the location. 
Additionally, a minimum shell width size was adopted, so a person may only harvest Tanner crab with a 
shell width of five and one-half inches or greater. 

Biological Background

King Crab

Since 1982 the king crab population has size has decreased and remains at historically low numbers. 
Relatively few red king crabs are captured in the State trawl survey each year, it is not possible to 
accurately determine trends since small differences in catches result in large differences in population 
estimates (Spalinger 2009). However, these surveys show that the red king crab stock in the Kodiak Area 
has remained at very low abundance levels with no indication of rebuilding. 

A total threshold abundance of 5.12 million fertilized females for reopening the king crab commercial 
fishery within the Kodiak Area (Pengilly and Schmidt 1995) has been set by ADF&G. State trawl survey 
estimates have continued to remain well below this level. The 2010 population estimate for red king crab 



262 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-14

in the Kodiak Area was estimated at 133,055 crab, which is an increase from the estimate of 28,257 crab 
in 2009 (Spalinger 2011). Spalinger (2011) states that these abundance estimates likely reflect an uneven 
king crab distribution, resulting in high annual sampling variability and fluctuating population estimates 
from year to year.

The Kodiak road system provides ready access to marine waters under Federal jurisdiction in Womens 
Bay. These waters serve as a red king crab nursery area for the larger Chiniak Bay complex, and studies 
have shown that Womens Bay has much higher numbers of juvenile red king crabs than nearby Anton 
Larson Bay and the Trident Basin (Cummiskey et al. 2008, Dew 1991, Dew et al. 1992, and FSB 2002). 
After first settling in Womens Bay as larvae, red king crabs tend to remain there for six or seven years 
before leaving for the more open waters of Chiniak and Kalsin bays. Most red king crabs leaving Womens 
Bay have not yet attained a carapace width of 7 inches, which is the minimum legal size limit for males 
that can be harvested in subsistence fisheries.

Tanner Crab 

In 1988, a trawl survey was implemented as the primary population assessment of crab populations. In 
2007, the crab population was estimated at 186 million which was an all-time high since the trawl survey 
was implemented. The Tanner crab population in the Kodiak District decreased in 2010 and was estimated 
at 76.3 million crabs (Spalinger 2011). 

Harvest History

King Crab

Small amounts of red king crab were caught in Kodiak in 1936; however no harvests were recorded 
until 1950. Initially the fishery was more exploratory as fisherman were developing gear, locating crab, 
and expanding markets. Once the fishery became established it grew rapidly. In 1960, the fishing season 
was open year-round and 21 million pounds of crab was harvested. Harvest peaked at 94 million pounds 
during the 1965/66 season. The 1966/67 commercial season was reduced to 10 months. From 1967 to 
1982 the catches fluctuated between 11 and 74 million pounds. Starting in 1982 commercial harvest 
began to sharply decline. This combined with increased effort and low catches and decreasing abundance 
estimates resulted in a closure of the commercial red king crab fishery in Kodiak just prior to the 1982/83 
fishing season. The commercial king crab fishery in Kodiak has not reopened since 1982/83 season 
(Sagalkin and Spalinger 2011). 

An ADF&G subsistence permit is required to participate in the Federal subsistence king crab fishery. 
Reported King crab harvests in the Kodiak Area have been very small since the collapse of stock in the 
1980s (FSB 2002). During the 1990s, annual estimated subsistence harvests of king crab by Kodiak Area 
communities ranged from 0 (Karluk) to 4,646 (Kodiak City) (Table 1). Harvest among the communities 
appears to be decreasing. Between 1990 and 1995 the Chiniak Area annual total harvests were 
approximately 1,000 king crabs. Between, 1996–2011, the annual harvest dropped to approximately 100 
or less king crab (Table 2). 

Tanner Crab

In 1967, the commercial Tanner crab fishery began with a small harvest of 110,961 pounds. From 1968 
through the 1971/72 season, the Tanner crab fishery annual average harvest was 7 million pounds per 
year. The harvest peaked at 33 million pounds in 1977/78 and in the 1980s abundance and harvest began 
to decline. Due to a decline in a harvestable surplus of Tanner Crab in 1994/95 the commercial fishery 



263Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-14

Year  Akhiok Karluk
 Kodiak 

City 
 Kodiak 
Road 

 Kodiak Coast 
Guard Station 

 Larsen 
Bay 

 Old 
Harbor  Ouzinkie 

 Port 
Lions 

1982 499 35 17,997 259 858 1,820 1,774
1986 71 28 41 124 315 1,231
1989 280 0 61 84 65 199
1990 0 67
1991 0 3,470 2,945 202 53 115 9
1992 66 5,653 157 9
1993 4,646 194 16 92
1994
1997 9 174 3
2003 71 6 45 0 4

Table 1.  Kodiak Management Area estimated community king crab subsistence harvests from the 1980s throughout 
2003 (ADF&G 2010). No subsistence survey was conducted on years which are blank or after 2003.

Year Number of Permits Total Harvested Per Permit
1990 537 1,530 2.8
1991 448 1,028 2.3
1992 392 1,671 4.3
1993 553 1,300 2.4
1994 444 931 2.1
1995 393 1,190 3
1996 187 204 1.1
1997 221 94 0.4
1998 230 56 0.2
1999 72 48 0.7
2000 111 63 0.6
2001 187 109 0.6
2002 143 79 0.6
2003 195 62 0.3
2004 224 77 0.3
2005 186 70 0.4
2006 150 77 0.5
2007 103 62 0.6
2008 80 42 0.5
2009 117 116 1
2010 151 41 0.3
2011 134 21 0.2

Table 2.  King crab subsistence permits and harvests reported from permits for the 
Chiniak Area, which includes Womens Bay, 1990–2011 (Yuhas 2012, Pers. Comm).



264 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-14

closed and remained closed for six years. During this time ADF&G developed a new harvest strategy 
based on a more conservative management approach, which aimed at preventing overharvest and 
localized depletions of Tanner crab populations. Crab populations are sampled annually through trawl 
surveys and a biological threshold and management threshold must be achieved prior to opening the 
fishery. The fishery reopened for the 2000/2001 season and has remained open since

An Alaska Department of Fish and Game subsistence permit is required to participate in the Federal 
subsistence Tanner crab fishery. Reported Tanner crab harvests are relatively small in the Kodiak Area 
and have fluctuated over the years (Table 3). Recorded harvests are very sporadic and none have been 
reported since 2003; so it is not possible to track recent harvest trends or make estimates of recent harvest 
levels (FSB 2002). 

Year  Akhiok Karluk
 Kodiak 

City 
 Kodiak 
Road 

 Kodiak Coast 
Guard Station 

 Larsen 
Bay 

 Old 
Harbor  Ouzinkie 

 Port 
Lions 

1982 73 33 11,026 145 283 228 553
1986 0 0 468 746 252 457
1989 0 49 531 453 128 364
1990 0 292
1991 0 8,224 8,224 1,712 1,080 591 179
1992 40 11,657 11,657 1,316 541
1993 11,518 11,518 1,382 374 878
1994
1997 447 607 100
2003 15 843 734 365 732

Table 3.  Kodiak Management Area estimated community Tanner crab subsistence harvests from the 1980s 
throughout 2003 (ADF&G 2010). No subsistence survey was conducted on years which are blank or after 2003.  

Current Events

On March 22, 2012 at the Kodiak/Aleutians Federal Subsistence Regional Advisory Council (Council) 
meeting, ADF&G informed the Council that State subsistence regulations for allowable gear for the 
harvest king and Tanner crab in the Kodiak area had been changed (KA RAC, 2012). During the meeting, 
the council members stated that in the subsistence users typically have multiple people from various 
households travel by boat together to harvest king and Tanner crab. Because of this, more than one crab 
pot for the harvest of king crab may be aboard the vessel. This is done because of the high price of fuel, 
the need of a seaworthy boat, and the weather. Subsistence users travel out in smaller boats and skiffs, and 
have to use smaller crab pots. If this regulation was adopted it could make the current crab pots utilized 
by subsistence users illegal and force them to either modify these pots or purchase new ones. Those 
unable to purchase new crab pots or modify existing ones would not be able to harvest crab. Because 
of the hardships this regulation would place on qualified Federal subsistence users, the council was 
concerned about aligning Federal with State subsistence regulations for the harvest of king and Tanner 
crab (KA RAC, 2012). 

At that same meeting a member of the State of Alaska, Kodiak Fish and Game Advisory Committee 
reported that a concern about illegal subsistence harvests of king crab was raised during one of their 
meetings. During this meeting people reported having heard of or witnessing charter vessels, commercial 
fishing vessels, and personal hunters with large boats going to the south side of the island, specifically 



265Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-14

Olga Bay, and using Tanner pots to harvest king crab (KA RAC 2012). The new State regulations, 
described above, will help protect the king crab population by reducing the illegal harvest of king crabs in 
the State subsistence crab fishery (KA RAC, 2012). In waters under Federal subsistence jurisdiction only 
Federally qualified users are allowed to harvest crab in Federal marine waters, adding a level of protection 
to the king and Tanner crab fisheries.

Effects of the Proposal

If this proposal were adopted it could limit harvest opportunities for Federally qualified subsistence users 
to harvest king and Tanner crab limiting the number of king crab pots to one pot per vessel. This could 
force users to make several trips to harvest household limit of crabs, which would increase the amount 
of fuel needed to harvest king and Tanner crabs. In order to comply with regulations, some Federally 
qualified users would also be forced to modify existing crab pots or purchase new ones. Those unable to 
do this would be unable to harvest crab. In 2011 within the Chiniak Area, including Womens Bay, 134 
king crab were harvested in both Federal and State waters. If this proposal were adopted there may be a 
decrease in crab harvest in Federal waters.

OSM CONCLUSION

Oppose Proposal FP13-14

Justification

 There is a well-documented conservation concern for king crab in the Kodiak Area, which includes 
Federal public waters in Womens Bay, Gibson Cove, and near shore waters around the Karluk River 
mouth and Afognak Island. The Kodiak Area king crab stock remains at very low levels of abundance 
with no indication of improvement over the near term. Marine waters under Federal jurisdiction in 
Womens Bay is a known nursery area for the larger Chiniak Bay, and is easy to access from the Kodiak 
road system. However, Federal public waters contain only about 2% of the available crab habitat in the 
Kodiak area (Stovall 2001, Pers. Comm) and the subsistence harvest in those waters is small. Maintaining 
the current Tanner and king crab regulations in the Kodiak area would provide for subsistence harvest of 
crab, with minimal impacts to the crab stocks. 

LITERATURE CITED

Cummiskey, P, Munk, E and Foy, R. 2008. Alaska Fisheries Science Center, National Marine Fisheries Service-
NOAA Fisheries, Resource Assessment & Conservation Engineering (RACE) Division, Shellfish Assessment 
Program — Kodiak Laboratory. The Kodiak Laboratory Dive Program. Quarterly Research Report, April-May-June 
2008. 

Dew, C. B. 1991. Characterization of preferred habitat for juvenile red king crab in three Kodiak bays. Final report 
to the Kodiak Island Borough. Contract Number 89-226. National Marine Fisheries Service, Kodiak Laboratory, 
Kodiak, Alaska.

FSB. 2002. Transcripts of Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, December 18, 2002. Office of Subsistence 
Management, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Anchorage, Alaska. 

FSB. 1994. Transcripts of Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, November 14, 1994. Office of Subsistence 
Management, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Anchorage, Alaska.



266 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-14

KA RAC. 2012. Transcripts of Kodiak/Aleutians Federal Subsistence Regional Advisory Council proceedings, 
March, 22, 2012 in Kodiak, AK. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, Alaska.

Knauer, B. 2002. Personal Communication. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Office of Subsistence Management. 
Anchorage, Alaska.

Pengilly, D. and D. Schmidt. 1995. Harvest strategy for Kodiak and Bristol Bay red king crab and Saint Mathew 
Island and Pribilof blue king crab. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Commercial Fisheries Management and 
Development Division, Special Publication No. 7, Juneau, Alaska.

Sagalkin, N. H., and K. Spalinger. 2011. Annual management report for shellfi sh fi sheries in the Kodiak, Chignik, 
and Alaska Peninsula Areas, 2010. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Management Report No. 11-43, 
Anchorage, Alaska. 

Spalinger, K. 2010. Bottom trawl survey of crab and groundfi sh: Kodiak, Chignik, South Peninsula, and Eastern 
Aleutians Management Districts, 2009. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Management Report No. 
10-23, Anchorage, Alaska.

Spalinger, K. 2011. Bottom trawl survey of crab and groundfish: Kodiak, Chignik, South Peninsula, and Eastern 
Aleutians Management Districts, 2010. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Fishery Management Report No. 
11-40, Anchorage, Alaska.

Stovall, R. 2001. Personal Communication. Kodiak National Wildlife Refuge. Kodiak, Alaska. 

Yuhas, J. 2012. Personal Communication. Alaska Department of Fish and Game. Anchorage, Alaska.



267Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-14

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION

KODIAK/ALEUTIANS SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: Any of the proposed changes will be detrimental and cause hardship to subsistence users.  
The Council strongly supports the existing regulatory language.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



268 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-14

ADF&G Comments on FP13-14 
Page 1 of 2 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-14:  This proposal establishes size limits for subsistence crab pots in 
the Kodiak Island area to eliminate discrepancies between state and federal regulations and 
alleviate complications of this discrepancy for subsistence users. 
 
Introduction:  This proposal was submitted by the Alaska Department of Fish and Game to 
alleviate contradictions in existing state and federal Regulation for subsistence users, 
enforcement authorities and management personnel.  The proposal aligns the size and marking 
requirements for king and Tanner crab subsistence pots in the Kodiak Area for state and federal 
regulations. 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  Adoption of this proposal will eliminate the discrepancies 
between state and federal regulations which are currently confusing and leave subsistence users 
vulnerable to unintentional violation citations. Subsistence users who haul more than one king 
crab pot per vessel will be affected.  Adoption of this proposal will require federal subsistence 
users to add the word “King Crab” or “Tanner Crab” on their pot buoys.  
 
Impact on Other Users:  Adoption of this proposal will eliminate confusion for subsistence 
users who participate in both the state and federal subsistence fisheries.  Adoption of this 
proposal could assist with rebuilding of red king crab stocks over time, eventually leading to 
additional harvestable surplus for other user groups 
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  The Alaska Board of Fisheries (BOF) adopted a modified 
proposal #308 at the March 2011 meeting, resulting in several changes to subsistence crab 
fishery regulations for the Kodiak Island area.  The BOF adopted the same commercial king and 
Tanner crab pot definitions for the Kodiak king and Tanner crab state subsistence fisheries, 
found in Alaska regulations 5 AAC 02.420 and 5 AAC 02.425.  Previously, subsistence king and 
Tanner crab pots were not defined in state regulation even with pot limits for the taking king and 
Tanner crab.   
 
The BOF also specified that both pots and ring nets may be used for subsistence Tanner crab, 
and the Tanner crab pot/ring net limit of five crab applies per person or a maximum of 10 crab 
per vessel.  Abuses of the red king crab subsistence fishery have been documented and some 
fishermen are suspected of retaining king crab from pots in addition to their one allowed king 
crab pot. 
 
The BOF also adopted subsistence king and Tanner crab pot buoy marking requirements to assist 
with enforcing pot limits and to help identify crab pots from which a person may legally retain 
subsistence-harvested crab.  New regulations require that subsistence fishermen mark the pot 
buoy with the word “King Crab” or “Tanner Crab” to identify which type of pot is being fished 
 
Conservation Issues:  Conservation concern for the red king crab population prompted the BOF 
to adopt regulations for enforcement of the one king crab pot per person limit by modifying gear 



269Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-14

ADF&G Comments on FP13-14 
Page 2 of 2 

marking requirements and by clarifying that the pot limit also applies as one king crab pot per 
vessel.  
 
The BOF specified definitions of king and Tanner crab pots, including maximum crab pot 
dimensions, and established tunnel-eye opening perimeters which differentiate king from Tanner 
crab pots.  The new maximum crab pot dimensions for both king and Tanner crab pots is 10 feet 
long by 10 feet wide by 42 inches high or a pot that is no more than 10 feet long by 10 feet wide 
by 42 inches high that tapers inward from its base to a top consisting of one horizontal opening 
of any size.  The new subsistence crab pot definitions include tunnel-eye opening perimeters for 
king crab pots (greater than 5” in one dimension) and Tanner crab pots (less than 5” in one 
dimension).  Restricting the tunnel-eye opening to less than 5” in Tanner crab pots excludes legal 
king crab from entering a Tanner crab pot.  Excluding king crab from Tanner crab pots will assist 
with conservation efforts by reducing handling mortality and illegal king crab harvest caught in 
Tanner crab pots.   
 
Enforcement Issues:  Adoption of this proposal will assist enforcement personnel to 
differentiate between subsistence users and those operating illegally configured or incorrectly 
marked gear by eliminating minute differences in state and federal regulations which currently 
create confusion.  
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  The Federal Subsistence Board authorized a subsistence red king crab 
fishery near Kodiak Island in the marine waters of the Pacific Ocean enclosed by the boundaries 
of Womens Bay, Gibson Cove, and an area defined by a line ½ mile on either side of the mouth 
of the Karluk River, extending seaward 3,000 feet.  Additionally, federal subsistence users can 
fish for red king crab in the marine waters within three miles of Afognak Island, and the waters 
within 1,500 feet seaward of the Afognak Island shoreline are closed to red king crab harvest by 
the non-federally qualified users.  Detailed maps are needed in order to assure non-federally 
qualified and federal subsistence users can identify the boundaries and avoid risk of enforcement 
actions. 
 
Other Issues:  None identified at this time. 
 
Recommendation:  Support.   
 



270 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-15

FP13-15 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-15 requests that the expiration date for the community 

fish wheel salmon fishery on the Kasilof River be removed from 
regulation allowing continued operation of the community fish wheel.  
Submitted by Darrel Williams on behalf of Ninilchik Traditional 
Council

Proposed Regulation §___.27(e)(10)(iv)(H) (8) This regulation expires December 31, 
2011, or 3 years after the fi rst installation of the fi sh wheel, which-
ever comes fi rst, or unless renewed by the Federal Subsistence 
Board.

See the analysis for the full regulation.

OSM Conclusion Support

Southcentral Regional 
Council Recommendation Support

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Oppose

Written Public Comments None



271Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-15

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-15

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-15, submitted by Darrel Williams on behalf of Ninilchik Traditional Council requests that 
the expiration date for the community fish wheel salmon fishery on the Kasilof River be removed from 
regulation allowing continued operation of the community fish wheel. 

DISCUSSION

In 2008, the Federal Subsistence Board adopted Proposal FP08-09 to allow for a temporary community 
fish wheel. The new regulation was adopted to determine the feasibility of operating a fish wheel to 
harvest salmon on the Kasilof River. The fishery regulation expired in 2011. In 2012, the Ninilchik 
Traditional Council requested an emergency special action to allow for continued operation of one 
fish wheel in the upper mainstem of the Kasilof River beginning July 1 through August 29, 2012. This 
proposal would remove the expiration date from the current regulation allowing the operation of the 
community fish wheel to continue beginning in 2013.

Existing Federal Regulation

§___.27(e)(10)(iv) You may take only salmon, trout, Dolly Varden, and other char under authority 
of a Federal subsistence fi shing permit. Seasons, harvest and possession limits, and methods 
and means for take are the same as for the taking of those species under Alaska sport fi shing 
regulations (5 AAC 56 and 5 AAC 57) unless modifi ed herein. Additionally for Federally managed 
waters of the Kasilof and Kenai River drainages:

(A) through (G)

(H) Residents of Ninilchik may harvest sockeye, Chinook, coho, and pink salmon through a 
fi sh wheel fi shery in the Federal public waters of the upper mainstem of the Kasilof River. 
Residents of Ninilchik may retain other species incidentally caught in the Kasilof River 
except for rainbow/steelhead trout, which must be released and returned unharmed to the 
water.

(1) Only one fi sh wheel can be operated on the Kasilof River. The fi sh wheel must have a 
live box, must be monitored when fi shing, must be stopped from fi shing when it is not 
being monitored or used, and must be installed and operated in compliance with any 
regulations and restrictions for its use within the Kenai National Wildlife Refuge.

(2) One registration permit will be available and will be awarded by the Federal in-season 
fi shery manager, in consultation with the Kenai National Wildlife refuge manager, 
based on the merits of the operation plan. The registration permit will be issued to 
an organization that, as the fi sh wheel owner, will be responsible for its construction, 
installation, operation, use, and removal in consultation with the Federal fi shery 
manager. The owner may not rent or lease the fi sh wheel for personal gain. As part of the 
permit, the organization must: 

(i) Prior to the season, provide a written operation plan to the Federal fi shery manager 



272 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-15

including a description of how fi shing time and fi sh will be offered and distributed among 
households and residents of Ninilchik;

(ii) During the season, mark the fi sh wheel with a wood, metal, or plastic plate at least 
12 inches high by 12 inches wide that is permanently affi xed and plainly visible, and 
that contains the following information in letters and numerals at least 1 inch high: 
registration permit number; organization’s name and address; and primary contact 
person name and telephone number;

(iii) After the season, provide written documentation of required evaluation information 
to the Federal fi shery manager including, but not limited to, persons or households 
operating the gear, hours of operation and number of each species caught and retained 
or released.

(3) People operating the fi sh wheel must:

(i) Have a valid Federal subsistence fi shing permit in their possession;

(ii) If they are not the fi sh wheel owner, attach an additional wood, metal or plastic plate 
at least 12 inches high by 12 inches wide to the fi sh wheel that is plainly visible, and that 
contains their fi shing permit number, name, and address in letters and numerals at least 1 
inch high; 

(iii) Remain on site to monitor the fi sh wheel and remove all fi sh at least every hour;

(iv) Before leaving the site, mark all retained fi sh by removing their dorsal fi n and record 
all retained fi sh on their fi shing permit; and

(v) Within 72 hours of leaving the site, report their harvest to the Federal fi sheries man-
ager.

(4) The fi sh wheel owner (organization) may operate the fi sh wheel for subsistence purposes 
on behalf of residents of Ninilchik by requesting a subsistence fi shing permit that:

(i) Identifi es a person who will be responsible for operating the fi sh wheel;

(ii) Includes provisions for recording daily catches, the household to whom the catch was 
given, and other information determined to be necessary for effective resource manage-
ment by the Federal fi shery manager.

(5) Fishing will be allowed from June 15 through October 31 on the Kasilof River unless 
closed or otherwise restricted by Federal special action.

(6) Salmon taken in the fi sh wheel fi shery will be included as part of dip net/rod and reel 
fi shery annual total harvest limits for the Kasilof River and as part of dip net/rod and reel 
household annual limits of participating households.

(7) Fishing for each salmon species will end and the fi shery will be closed by Federal special 
action prior to regulatory end dates if the annual total harvest limit for that species is 
reached or superseded by Federal special action.



273Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-15

(8) This regulation expires December 31, 2011, or 3 years after the fi rst installation of the fi sh 
wheel, whichever comes fi rst, or unless renewed by the Federal Subsistence Board.

Proposed Federal Regulation

§___.27(e)(10)(iv) You may take only salmon, trout, Dolly Varden, and other char under authority 
of a Federal subsistence fi shing permit. Seasons, harvest and possession limits, and methods 
and means for take are the same as for the taking of those species under Alaska sport fi shing 
regulations (5 AAC 56 and 5 AAC 57) unless modifi ed herein. Additionally for Federally managed 
waters of the Kasilof and Kenai River drainages:

(A) through (G)

(H) Residents of Ninilchik may harvest sockeye, Chinook, coho, and pink salmon through a 
fi sh wheel fi shery in the Federal public waters of the upper mainstem of the Kasilof River. 
Residents of Ninilchik may retain other species incidentally caught in the Kasilof River 
except for rainbow/steelhead trout, which must be released and returned unharmed to the 
water.

(1) Only one fi sh wheel can be operated on the Kasilof River. The fi sh wheel must have a 
live box, must be monitored when fi shing, must be stopped from fi shing when it is not 
being monitored or used, and must be installed and operated in compliance with any 
regulations and restrictions for its use within the Kenai National Wildlife Refuge.

(2) One registration permit will be available and will be awarded by the Federal in-season 
fi shery manager, in consultation with the Kenai National Wildlife refuge manager, 
based on the merits of the operation plan. The registration permit will be issued to 
an organization that, as the fi sh wheel owner, will be responsible for its construction, 
installation, operation, use, and removal in consultation with the Federal fi shery 
manager. The owner may not rent or lease the fi sh wheel for personal gain. As part of the 
permit, the organization must: 

(i) Prior to the season, provide a written operation plan to the Federal fi shery manager 
including a description of how fi shing time and fi sh will be offered and distributed among 
households and residents of Ninilchik;

(ii) During the season, mark the fi sh wheel with a wood, metal, or plastic plate at least 
12 inches high by 12 inches wide that is permanently affi xed and plainly visible, and 
that contains the following information in letters and numerals at least 1 inch high: 
registration permit number; organization’s name and address; and primary contact 
person name and telephone number;

(iii) After the season, provide written documentation of required evaluation information 
to the Federal fi shery manager including, but not limited to, persons or households 
operating the gear, hours of operation and number of each species caught and retained 
or released.

(3) People operating the fi sh wheel must:

(i) Have a valid Federal subsistence fi shing permit in their possession;



274 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-15

(ii) If they are not the fi sh wheel owner, attach an additional wood, metal or plastic plate 
at least 12 inches high by 12 inches wide to the fi sh wheel that is plainly visible, and that 
contains their fi shing permit number, name, and address in letters and numerals at least 1 
inch high; 

(iii) Remain on site to monitor the fi sh wheel and remove all fi sh at least every hour;

(iv) Before leaving the site, mark all retained fi sh by removing their dorsal fi n and record 
all retained fi sh on their fi shing permit; and

(v) Within 72 hours of leaving the site, report their harvest to the Federal fi sheries man-
ager.

(4) The fi sh wheel owner (organization) may operate the fi sh wheel for subsistence purposes 
on behalf of residents of Ninilchik by requesting a subsistence fi shing permit that:

(i) Identifi es a person who will be responsible for operating the fi sh wheel;

(ii) Includes provisions for recording daily catches, the household to whom the catch was 
given, and other information determined to be necessary for effective resource manage-
ment by the Federal fi shery manager.

(5) Fishing will be allowed from June 15 through October 31 on the Kasilof River unless 
closed or otherwise restricted by Federal special action.

(6) Salmon taken in the fi sh wheel fi shery will be included as part of dip net/rod and reel 
fi shery annual total harvest limits for the Kasilof River and as part of dip net/rod and reel 
household annual limits of participating households.

(7) Fishing for each salmon species will end and the fi shery will be closed by Federal special 
action prior to regulatory end dates if the annual total harvest limit for that species is 
reached or superseded by Federal special action.

(8) This regulation expires December 31, 2011, or 3 years after the fi rst installation of the 
fi sh wheel, whichever comes fi rst, or unless renewed by the Federal Subsistence Board.

Extent of Federal Public Water

Federal public waters are defined and described under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR100.3. For the Kasilof 
River, Federal public waters under consideration include all waters of the Kasilof River within and 
adjacent to the exterior boundaries of the Kenai National Wildlife Refuge (Map 1). This includes 
approximately the upper 7 miles of the Kasilof River from the outlet of Tustumena Lake downstream to 
Silver Salmon Rapids.

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations

Residents of the community of Ninilchik have a positive customary and traditional use determination for 
all fish in the Kasilof River.



275Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-15

M
ap

 1

Ar
ea

 o
f f

is
h 

w
he

el
 p

la
ce

m
en

t.



276 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-15

Regulatory History

Pre- and Early Statehood Fisheries

Until 1952 freshwater streams in the Kenai Peninsula were open to subsistence fishing, but poorly 
managed commercial fisheries decimated salmon runs. In 1952, as part of efforts to rebuild salmon runs, 
all streams and lakes of the Kenai Peninsula were closed to subsistence fishing under Territory of Alaska 
regulations. Only rod and reel fishing was allowed for “personal use” (Fall et al. 2004).

Contemporary State Fisheries

A State regulatory management plan for Upper Cook Inlet salmon (5 AAC 21.363) provides the Alaska 
Board of Fisheries guiding principles and provisions to use when adopting management plans for specific 
stocks. The State classified most of the Cook Inlet Area, including the Kasilof River drainage, as a 
nonsubsistence area in 1992 (5AAC 99.015(3)). The only State subsistence fisheries in Cook Inlet occur 
in areas that are not accessible from the road system, including the Tyonek, Windy Bay, Port Chatham, 
Kyuktolik, and Port Graham subdistricts, as well as portions of Seldovia Bay and the Yentna River 
drainage.

Commercial and sport fisheries are complex and intensively managed. There are three main management 
plans that apply to Kasilof river salmon stocks: Upper Cook Inlet Management Plan (5 AAC 21.363), 
Kenai River and Kasilof River Early-Run King Salmon Conservation Management Plan (5 AAC 57.160), 
and Kasilof River Salmon Management Plan (5 AAC 21.365). These plans provide goals for sustained 
yield, guidance for mixed-species and mixed-stock fisheries, and instructions for allocation between 
competing fisheries.

The State also has a regulatory management plan for Upper Cook Inlet personal use salmon fisheries 
(5 AAC 77.540). This plan established four personal use fisheries in Cook Inlet: Kasilof River dip net, 
Kasilof River set gillnet, Kenai River dip net, and Fish Creek dip net. Unlike subsistence fisheries, 
personal use fisheries do not have a priority over other existing uses. Personal use fisheries are open to 
all residents of Alaska, require a household permit, and occur in marine and intertidal waters outside 
of Federal public lands. These fisheries target sockeye salmon, the species of greatest abundance and 
for which the best stock assessment information is available. Annual harvest limits are 25 salmon and 
10 flounder for the head of each household and 10 salmon for each additional household member. 
Incidentally caught coho, pink, and chum salmon may be retained as part of the annual limit. Each 
household is limited to one Chinook salmon in the Kenai River dip net fishery. No retention of Chinook 
salmon is allowed in the Kasilof River dip net fishery, but any Chinook salmon caught in the Kasilof 
River set gillnet fishery may be retained as part of the annual limit. 

Finally, the State administers several educational fisheries in Cook Inlet under the provisions of 5 AAC 
93.200 – 93.235 (Nelson et al. 1999 and Fall et al. 2004). Educational fishery permits are only available 
in nonsubsistence areas. The purpose of educational fisheries is to allow groups to practice traditional 
harvest and use methods so that these practices and knowledge are not lost. Educational fisheries, unlike 
subsistence fisheries, do not have priority over other fisheries. Therefore, during times of resource 
shortages, educational fisheries could be restricted before or at the same time as commercial and sport 
fisheries are restricted. 



277Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-15

Federal Subsistence Fisheries in the Cook Inlet Area

In 2002, Federal subsistence regulations for harvest in the Cook Inlet Area were established for salmon, 
trout, and Dolly Varden and other char. A Federal subsistence permit was required and seasons, harvest 
and possession limits, and methods and means for take were the same as those in Alaska sport fishing 
regulations. This fishery was established as an interim measure to provide some subsistence opportunity 
in the Cook Inlet Area for Federally qualified rural residents.

In January 2006, the Board made positive customary and traditional use determinations for Hope and 
Copper Landing residents for all fish in the Kenai River Area, and for Ninilchik residents for all fish 
within the Kasilof River drainage within the Kenai National Wildlife Refuge. In November 2010, the 
Board made a final positive customary and traditional use determination for Ninilchik residents for all 
fish in the Kenai River Area. 

During their May 2007 meeting, the Board adopted proposals that established dip net/rod and reel salmon 
fisheries on the Kasilof and Kenai Rivers; increased previously established harvest, possession, and 
annual limits for salmon and selected resident species for existing rod and reel fisheries on the Kasilof 
and Kenai River drainages; and allowed use of up to two single or treble hooks and bait for rod and reel 
fishing during specified dates for both systems. Also during the May 2007 meeting, the Board adopted a 
proposal to establish a winter season subsistence fishery in Tustumena Lake with jigging through the ice 
and gillnets fished under the ice for lake trout, rainbow trout and Dolly Varden/Arctic char.

In 2007, the Southcentral Regional Advisory Council submitted Proposal FP08-09 to establish a 
temporary community fish wheel on both the Kenai and Kasilof Rivers. The Council contended that the 
fish wheels would provide a more effective means for Federally qualified subsistence users to harvest 
salmon. They requested the establishment of fish wheel as a gear type be temporary to examine the 
feasibility of operating this type of gear. The Federal Subsistence Board, at its January 2008 meeting, 
adopted the proposal with modification to allow fish wheel to be classified as a gear type, but only in 
the Kasilof River. The Board specified that only one fish wheel with a live box was allowed in the upper 
mainstem of the Kasilof River. A permit would be required to fish the fish wheel and before the permit 
was awarded an operation plan must be submitted to and approved by the inseason manager. Individuals 
operating the fish wheel would need to have a Federal subsistence fishing permit and all harvest limits on 
the permit would apply to the fish wheel. Salmon harvested by the fish wheel will be included as part of 
each household’s annual limit and all fish harvested must be reported to the in-season manager with 72 
hours of leaving the fishing location.

Biological Background and Harvest History

Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Subsistence Division completed a study (OSM study 03-045) 
documenting past, present and potential noncommercial harvests and uses of fish in waters of Cook Inlet 
Management Area. One of the project objectives was to identify potential areas and gear types for Federal 
subsistence fishing opportunities. Subsistence Division personnel completed key respondent interviews 
and held focus group meetings to gather public input. Community fish wheels were among the ideas 
suggested for potential Federal subsistence fisheries in the Cook Inlet Management Area (Fall et al. 2004).

The total number of sockeye salmon returning to Upper Cook Inlet, in 2011, was estimated at 6,293,845 
well above the 10-year average of 4,160,322 ( 2002 –2011). Salmon populations in the Kasilof River are 
healthy, and harvests, while large, have been within sustainable limits. In 2011, Kasilof River sockeye 
salmon escapement was estimated at 245,721, well within the optimal escapement goal range of 160,000 
– 390,000 ( Shields 2012). The temporary fish wheel fishery share Federal household and annual total 



278 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-15

harvest limits for all species with the dip net/rod and reel fisheries in the Kasilof River. While residents 
of Ninilchik made efforts to operate a fish wheel in 2010, 2011 and 2012 no fish have been harvested to 
date (Palmer 2012 and Williams 2012). Currently, most of the effort has been focused on designing and 
implementing an effective fish wheel and searching for a productive site. 

In 2011, a total of 131 Federal subsistence fishing permits were issued and 71 were actively used for 
subsistence fishing. Of the active Federal permits, 82% were used on Kenai River to harvest 1089 
sockeye salmon and 18% were used on the Kasilof River resulting in 1 sockeye being harvested (FSPS 
2012 and Palmer 2012 pers. comm.). 

In 2012, the community fish wheel was operational for a total of 12 day starting July 5 and continuing 
through August 3. Each fishing day consisted of assembling the fish wheel and launching the wheel into 
Kasilof River, setting the fish wheel in position to fish and installing a fish weir to guide fish into the 
wheel. Once operation of the wheel was completed for the day, the fish wheel and weir were removed 
from the river. The fish wheel was fished between six and ten hours each time it was launched into the 
Kasilof River (Williams 2012).

Current Events Involving Species

To protect low returns of late-run Chinook salmon, both the Alaska Department of Fish and Game and the 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service moved to close Chinook fishing in the Kasilof River. The Federal Cook 
Inlet Area Inseason Manager closed waters downstream from the outlet of Tustumena Lake beginning 
July 19, 2012 through August 15, 2012 to all subsistence fishing for Chinook salmon (USFWS 2012). The 
State Cook Inlet Area Management Biologist closed the waters of the Kasilof River to sport fishing for 
Chinook salmon including catch –and-release fishing from July 19, 2012 through July 31, 2012 (ADF&G 
2012).

A total of 133 Federal subsistence fishing permits were issued for the Cook Inlet Area during 2012, 13 
of those permits were issued to residents of Ninilchik for use in the Kasilof River. As of October 12, 
2012, the preliminary harvest reported from the Kasilof River was 24 sockeye salmon. The total reported  
harvest occurred in the Kasilof River Dip Net Fishery (Palmer 2012).

Effects of the Proposal

To date, the temporary fish wheel fishery has had no effect on existing fishery resources but its future 
effects remain unknown. Overharvest of small stocks could arise if the fish wheel becomes a viable 
capture technique and harvest levels increase beyond sustainable levels. Research funded by OSM (Gates 
et al 2010) noted differences in migratory timing between most populations of coho salmon spawning in 
Tustumena Lake tributaries and the Kasilof River main stem. Several of the lake tributary populations 
appear to be small (a few hundred fish), but they comprise the majority of the early portion of the run. 
These populations may be susceptible to overexploitation in fisheries that target the early component of 
the run. In addition, Tustumena Lake tributaries support small numbers of steelhead trout that migrate 
seasonally through the upper Kasilof River. While the fish wheel is required to have a live box that will 
be monitored regularly allowing most incidentally caught fish to be released unharmed, there is a concern 
over the effects of handling contributing to mortality or misidentification of captured steelhead being 
accidentally harvested. The in-season manager can take action, if necessary, to address these potential 
concerns.

Ninilchik Tribal Council has submitted an operation plan for the fish wheel during all years and has 
complied with the provisions in regulation. They have continued to implement the fish wheel and attempt 



279Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-15

to locate a desirable fishing site. The fish wheel, as well as its associated cables and anchoring devices 
have been situated and visibly marked so that they did not constitute a navigational hazard to boat.

OSM CONCLUSION

Support Proposal FP13-15. 

Justification

Community fish wheels were among the types of gear suggested for potential Federal subsistence 
fisheries harvest in Cook Inlet Management Area (Fall et. al. 2004). Since a fish wheel fishery has not 
been fully implemented on the Kasilof River, possible effects of the fishery are not fully understood. 
It is possible that the fish wheel fishery could provide an effective means of harvesting salmon while 
conserving healthy fish populations by keeping harvests within sustainable levels; avoiding excessive 
mortality of nontarget species; and allowing for species, stock, and size-selective management. The 
developing fishery will need to be closely monitored. The Ninilchik Traditional Council has demonstrated 
their interest in developing a community fish wheel fishery by submitting annual operational plans, 
complying with all regulations and continuing to deploy their fish wheel. The fish wheel could increase 
Federal subsistence harvest opportunities for residents of Ninilchik and should continue to be allowed as 
gear type in regulation.

LITERATURE CITED

ADF&G 2012. Sport Fishing Emergency Order No. 2-ks-1-43-12. Alaska Department of Fish and Game. Soldotna, 
AK.

Fall, J. A., R. T. Stanek, B. Davis, L. Williams, and R. Walker. 2004. Cook Inlet customary and traditional 
subsistence fisheries assessment. U.S. fish and Wildlife Service, Office of Subsistence Management, Fisheries 
Resource Monitoring Program, Final Report (Study No. 03-045). Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of 
Subsistence, Technical Paper No. 285. Juneau, Alaska. 245 pages.

Gates, K. S., J. K. Boersma, D. E. Palmer and J. F. Bromaghim. 2010. Run Timing, Abundance, and Distribution 
of Adult Coho Salmon in the Kasilof River Watershed, Alaska, 2007–2009. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Alaska 
Fisheries Data Series Report Number 2010-03, Kenai, AK.

Federal Subsistence Permit System (FSPS), 2012 . U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Office of Subsistence 
Managment. July 2012.

Nelson, D., D. Athons, P. Berkhahn, and S. Sonnichsen. 1999. Area management report for the recreational 
fisheries of the Kenai Peninsula, 1995–1997. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Sport Fish, Fishery 
Management Report No. 99-3. Anchorage, AK. 244 pages.

Palmer, D. 2012. Federal Subsistence Board Special Action Number 10-RS-01-12, May 7, 2012.

Palmer, D. 2012. Fishery Biologist. Personal Communication, Kenai, AK. 

Shields, P. 2012. Upper Cook Inlet commercial fisheries area management report, 2011. Alaska Department of Fish 
and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries. Fishery Management Report No. 12-25. Anchorage, AK. 142 pages.

Williams, D. 2012. Ninilchik Traditional Council Fish Wheel Operation Report. Ninilchik Traditional Council, 
Resource Management and Conservation, Kenai, AK.



280 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-15

USFWS, 2012. Subsistence Fishing Special Action No. 6-KS-04-12. US Fish and Wildlife Service, Soldotna, AK.



281Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-15

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION

SOUTHCENTRAL ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL 

Council Recommendation: Support.

Justification:  There are no conservation concerns associated with this proposal.  The temporary fish 
wheel has shown to be a benefit to subsistence users.  The community has shown a strong motivation and 
support for making the wheel more successful and efficient.  It has the potential to have less impact on 
fish than the use of rod and reel.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



282 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-15

ADF&G Comments on FP13-15 
Page 1 of 3 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-15:  Revise the Kasilof River fish wheel fishery from a temporary 
three-year fishery to a permanent fishery for residents of Ninilchik.  
 
Introduction:  Adoption of this Ninilchik Traditional Council proposal would change the status 
of the fish wheel subsistence fishery on the Kasilof River from a temporary fishery which must 
be reevaluated for continued use every three years to a permanent fishery.  All other regulatory 
requirements for this fish wheel fishery would remain the same.   
 
Only residents of Ninilchik may harvest salmon from the Kasilof River under federal subsistence 
fishing regulations.  Only one fish wheel will be allowed in the upper mainstem of the Kasilof 
River and this fish wheel fishery is for residents of Ninilchik.  An operating plan must be 
submitted by the organization regarding who is responsible for construction, installation, 
operation, use, and removal of the fish wheel.  The plan must be approved by the inseason 
fishery manager, in consultation with the Kenai National Wildlife Refuge (NWR) manager, and 
must also include how fishing time and fish will be offered and distributed among households 
and residents of Ninilchik.  Fishing for sockeye, Chinook, coho, and pink salmon will be closed 
by Special Action prior to regulatory end dates if the annual total harvest limit for the species is 
reached or superseded by other Federal Special Action.  Salmon taken in the Kasilof River dip 
net or fish wheel fisheries will be included as part of each household’s annual limit for the Kenai 
River.  After 200 rainbow/steelhead trout have been taken in the dip net fishery, or after August 
15, all rainbow/steelhead trout must be released unless otherwise provided.  Rainbow/steelhead 
trout cannot be kept in the fish wheel fishery.  All fish harvested as part of the household limit in 
the dip net or fish wheel fisheries in the Kasilof River must be reported to the inseason manager 
within 72 hours of leaving the fishing location.  Failure to respond to reporting requirements or 
return this completed harvest permit by the due date listed on the permit may result in issuance 
of a violation notice and will make you ineligible to receive a subsistence permit during the 
following regulatory year. 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  The proponent anticipates that this proposal will allow Ninilchik 
federal subsistence users to continue to harvest fish where the community has a customary and 
traditional determination. 
 
Impact on Other Users:  None noted at this time, because the harvest of fish has been zero. 
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  The Kasilof River is located in the Anchorage-MatSu-Kenai-
Nonsubsistence Area designation under state law (5 AAC 99.015. (3)).  The state provides a 
broad array of personal use, recreational, and educational fisheries that provide more opportunity 
than is used by Ninilchik to meet needs for personal and family consumption as well as cultural 
purposes. 
 
Conservation Issues:  The department continues to express conservation concerns about the fish 
stocks in Kasilof River.     
 



283Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-15

ADF&G Comments on FP13-15 
Page 2 of 3 

Incidental handling of rainbow/steelhead trout, Arctic char/Dolly Varden, lake trout, and other 
resident species is a concern.  Although harvest of rainbow/steelhead trout will be prohibited in 
the fish wheels, handling mortality of resident species caught and released from a fish wheel may 
be greater than that caused in the sport fishery.   
 
The department is particularly concerned about the potential of handling mortality caused by the 
catch and release of captured rainbow/steelhead trout during the migration timing of steelhead 
trout in Kasilof River.  Operation of a fish wheel for six weeks after the proposed season closure 
for retention of Chinook salmon may induce unnecessary handling mortality of incidentally- 
captured weakened Chinook salmon well into their spawning phase.  The reporting of the 
number of Chinook salmon released during the spawning season needs to be a permit stipulation.  
The Department of Fish and Game staff conduct fisheries research projects on Kasilof River.  
Requiring the reporting of captured tagged fish would assist the agencies with understanding the 
impacts a new fishery will have on populations of fish which little is known. 
 
Enforcement Issues:  None noted at this time. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  The department requests detailed maps showing the boundaries within 
which federal regulations would apply and the justification for claiming those boundaries.  A 
detailed land status map is needed that distinctly illustrates land ownership, easements, and exact 
boundaries of legal federal jurisdiction.  If this proposal is adopted, subsistence users will have to 
know exactly where federal regulations apply to install a fish wheel and to keep from violating 
state regulations. 
 
Other Issues:  The use of community fish wheels raises a number of issues, in addition to 
conservation and jurisdiction.  For example, coordination between operators of the community 
fish wheels and households receiving the fish will have to be carefully planned to prevent 
harvesting more fish than needed at a given time and to ensure that individuals do not exceed 
household limits.  Ensuring that overall community limits are not exceeded may be difficult, 
even though the rod and reel and dipnet fishermen are required to report harvests in a timely 
manner.  If this proposal is adopted, individuals catching and receiving the fish should be issued 
a federal fish wheel permit to identify them as federally-qualified subsistence users.  Frequent 
catch reporting must be required.  Given the lack of stock status information and the harvest 
potential of this fishery, the department recommends a 24-hour, rather than 72-hour, reporting 
requirement to ensure compliance with established limit.  A reporting period longer than 48 
hours could result in significant overharvest. 
 
There is a need to better define cumulative harvest limits between the subsistence fisheries gear 
types.  The proposal presents challenges to a Federal Designated Individual regarding the ability 
to manage multiple gear types with specific harvest limits in a timely manner.   
 
The department recommends that language be inserted into the regulation which would prohibit 
installation of a fish wheel within 500 yards downstream of a department fish wheel.  The 
department is concerned that if a fish wheel is installed within 500 yard downstream of a 
research fish wheel, fish migration patterns may be altered, which would impact project results 
and disrupt long term data sets. 



284 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-15

ADF&G Comments on FP13-15 
Page 3 of 3 

During the 3+ years since the Kasilof River fish wheel fishery was established, no fish have been 
harvested (G. E. Pappas, State Subsistence Liaison, USFWS OSM, Anchorage, personal 
communication).  Since this gear type has not proven to be an efficient or effective harvest 
method, the department recommends that this fish wheel fishery be discontinued.  If it is allowed 
to continue, we recommend that it be approved on a temporary basis for an additional three years 
and not be approved as a permanent fishery.  Approval on a temporary basis, would allow the 
fishery to be reevaluated in the future to determine if it is meeting its objectives.  
 
Recommendation: Oppose.   



285Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-17

FP13-17 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-17 requests that unless noted on a Federal fishing 

permit, there would be no harvest limits for salmon that are handled 
without the use of refrigeration, freezing, or ice in the Southeastern 
and Yakutat Areas. Submitted by Mr. Mike Jackson of the Organized 
Village of Kake

Proposed Regulation §___.27(e)(13) (xxi) Unless noted on a Federal subsistence fishing 
permit, the harvest limits of this section do not apply for salmon that 
are transported, processed, and stored without use of refrigeration, 
freezing or ice prior to consumption.

OSM Conclusion Oppose

Southeast Regional Council 
Recommendation Oppose

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Oppose

Written Public Comments 2 Oppose



286 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-17

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-17

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-17, submitted by Mr. Mike Jackson of the Organized Village of Kake, requests that unless 
noted on a Federal fishing permit, there would be no harvest limits for salmon that are handled without 
the use of refrigeration, freezing, or ice in the Southeastern and Yakutat Areas.

DISCUSSION 

The proponent believes that having no limits on salmon handled without refrigeration, freezing or ice 
better recognizes the traditional practices of some users and better recognizes a subsistence priority for 
those users. 

After publication of this proposal, the proponent asked to modify his proposal to make it clear that no 
harvest limits would apply for salmon if handled without refrigeration, freezing or ice, harvest limits 
listed on Federal harvest permits would also not apply. This analysis discusses the aspects of this proposal 
as originally proposed and published, since this is the version presented for public review. The proponent 
could provide comments on their proposal at the Southeast Regional Advisory Council meeting.

Existing Federal Regulations

Yakutat Area

§___.27(e)(12) (ii) You may take salmon, trout (other than steehead) and char only under the 
authority of a subsistence fishing permit. You may take steelhead trout only in the Situk and 
Ahrklin Rivers and only under the terms of a Federal subsistence fishing permit.

Southeastern Area

§___.27(e)(13) (xii) If a harvest limit is not otherwise listed for sockeye in paragraph (e)(13) of 
this section, the harvest limit for sockeye salmon is the same as provided for in adjacent State 
subsistence or personal use fisheries. If a harvest limit is not established for the State subsistence 
or personal use fisheries, the possession limit is 10 sockeye and the annual harvest limit is 20 
sockeye per household for that stream.

§___.27(e)(13) (xiv) You may take Chinook, sockeye, and coho salmon in the mainstem of the 
Stikine River only under the authority of a Federal subsistence fishing permit. Each Stikine River 
permit will be issued to a household. Only dip nets, spears, gaffs, rod and reel, beach seine, or 
gillnets not exceeding 15 fathoms in length may be used. The maximum gillnet mesh size is 51/2; 
inches, except during the Chinook season when the maximum gillnet mesh size is 8 inches.

(A) You may take Chinook salmon from May 15 through June 20. The annual limit is 5 Chinook 
salmon per household.

(B) You may take sockeye salmon from June 21 through July 31. The annual limit is 40 sockeye 
salmon per household.



287Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-17

(C) You may take coho salmon from August 1 through October 1. The annual limit is 20 coho 
salmon per household.

(D) You may retain other salmon taken incidentally by gear operated under terms of this 
permit. The incidentally taken salmon must be reported on your permit calendar.

(E) The total annual guideline harvest level for the Stikine River fishery is 125 Chinook, 600 
sockeye, and 400 coho salmon. All salmon harvested, including incidentally taken salmon, will 
count against the guideline for that species.

§___.27(e)(13) (xv) You may take coho salmon with a Federal salmon fishing permit. There is no 
closed season. The daily harvest limit is 20 coho salmon per household. Only dip nets, spears, 
gaffs, handlines, and rod and reel may be used. There are specific rules to harvest any salmon on 
the Stikine River, and you must have a separate Stikine River subsistence salmon fishing permit to 
take salmon on the Stikine River.

Existing State Regulation

Pink, chum, coho and sockeye salmon are managed by ADF&G under a Subsistence and Personal Use 
salmon permit and harvest limits are listed on the permits. Chinook salmon are not allowed to be taken for 
subsistence or personal use except incidentally or by Emergency Order.

Proposed Federal Regulation

Yakutat Area

§___.27(e)(12) (ii) You may take salmon, trout (other than steehead) and char only under the 
authority of a subsistence fishing permit. You may take steelhead trout only in the Situk and 
Ahrklin Rivers and only under the terms of a Federal subsistence fishing permit. 

Southeastern Area

§___.27(e)(13) (xii) If a harvest limit is not otherwise listed for sockeye in paragraph (e)(13) of 
this section, the harvest limit for sockeye salmon is the same as provided for in adjacent State 
subsistence or personal use fisheries. If a harvest limit is not established for the State subsistence 
or personal use fisheries, the possession limit is 10 sockeye and the annual harvest limit is 20 
sockeye per household for that stream.

§___.27(e)(13) (xiv) You may take Chinook, sockeye, and coho salmon in the mainstem of the 
Stikine River only under the authority of a Federal subsistence fishing permit. Each Stikine River 
permit will be issued to a household. Only dip nets, spears, gaffs, rod and reel, beach seine, or 
gillnets not exceeding 15 fathoms in length may be used. The maximum gillnet mesh size is 51/2; 
inches, except during the Chinook season when the maximum gillnet mesh size is 8 inches.

(A) You may take Chinook salmon from May 15 through June 20. The annual limit is 5 Chinook 
salmon per household.

(B) You may take sockeye salmon from June 21 through July 31. The annual limit is 40 sockeye 
salmon per household.



288 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-17

(C) You may take coho salmon from August 1 through October 1. The annual limit is 20 coho 
salmon per household.

(D) You may retain other salmon taken incidentally by gear operated under terms of this 
permit. The incidentally taken salmon must be reported on your permit calendar.

(E) The total annual guideline harvest level for the Stikine River fishery is 125 Chinook, 600 
sockeye, and 400 coho salmon. All salmon harvested, including incidentally taken salmon, will 
count against the guideline for that species.

§___.27(e)(13) (xv) You may take coho salmon with a Federal salmon fishing permit. There is no 
closed season. The daily harvest limit is 20 coho salmon per household. Only dip nets, spears, 
gaffs, handlines, and rod and reel may be used. There are specific rules to harvest any salmon on 
the Stikine River, and you must have a separate Stikine River subsistence salmon fishing permit to 
take salmon on the Stikine River.

§___.27(e)(13) (xxi) Unless noted on a Federal subsistence fishing permit, the harvest limits of 
this section do not apply for salmon that are transported, processed, and stored without use of 
refrigeration, freezing or ice prior to consumption.

Extent of Federal Public Waters

For purposes of this discussion, the phrase “Federal public waters” is defined as those waters described 
under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR 100.3. This regulation, if adopted, would apply to all Federal public 
waters in the Southeastern Alaska Area between a line projecting southwest from the westernmost tip of 
Cape Fairweather to Dixon Entrance. 

The regulation would also apply to all Federal public waters in the Yakutat Area, between Cape Suckling 
and Cape Fairweather. Bureau of Land Management lands in these areas are open to subsistence fishing 
only on non-navigable waters. Subsistence uses are not permitted in the following National Park Service 
lands: Glacier Bay National Park, Klondike Gold Rush National Historical Park and Sitka National 
Historical Park. 

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

All customary and traditional use determinations for salmon in the Southeastern Alaska and Yakutat areas 
apply (See Appendix A in FP13-16).

Regulatory History

The Board adopted FP05-24, which specified the same limit for sockeye salmon as provided for in 
adjacent State subsistence or personal use fisheries unless specified elsewhere in §___.27(e)(13) and, if a 
harvest limit is not established for the State subsistence or personal use fisheries, the possession limit is 
10 sockeye and the annual harvest limit is 20 sockeye per household for that stream.

The original proposal to establish a Federal subsistence salmon fishery on the Stikine River (FP01-27) 
was submitted in 2000 by Mr. Dick Stokes, a resident of Wrangell. That proposal specified a Chinook 
salmon fishery from June 1 to August 1, a sockeye salmon fishery from June 15 to September 1, and 
a coho salmon fishery from July 15 to October 1. The Board deferred action on this proposal, pending 
coordination with the Pacific Salmon Commission (PSC).



289Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-17

The Board made a positive customary and traditional use determination for salmon, Dolly Varden, 
trout, smelt and eulachon for residents living in or near the communities of Wrangell, Petersburg and 
Meyers Chuck (FP04-29) in 2004. The Board also adopted methods, a season, and guideline harvest 
limits for Chinook, sockeye, and coho salmon (FP04-40). The Transboundary River Panel (TBR) and 
the PSC concurred with the Board and a subsistence fishery for sockeye salmon was opened during the 
2004 season, but with a season starting date of July 1 instead of June 15. By action of the Board, and in 
coordination with the TBR and PSC, directed fisheries for Chinook and coho salmon were added prior 
to the 2005 season. The Board approved (with concurrence of the PSC) a change in the mesh size from 
5 ½ inches to 8 inches (FSA05-01) for the new Chinook salmon fishery effective for the 2005 season. 
Regulatory changes for the 2006 season included an increase in the mesh size of gillnets during the 
Chinook fishery to 8 inch stretched mesh (FP06-27) and an earlier starting date for the sockeye fishery 
(FP06-28 and 29). There were no changes in subsistence fishing regulations or permit conditions for 
the 2007 fishing season. In 2008, two regulatory changes were made to the subsistence fishery. The 
first change made subsistence fishing permits valid for the length of the fishing season, May 15 through 
October 1. The second change moved the start date of the subsistence coho salmon fishery from August 
15 to August 1 (FP08-03). Changing the coho fishery start date allowed continuous subsistence fishing 
between May 15 and October 1. There were no subsequent changes to the regulations for the 2009-2011 
seasons. 

In 2000, the Board established coho regulations in the Southeastern Alaska Area that allowed permits 
to be issued to take coho salmon in Sections 3(A), 3(B) and 3(C) on Prince of Wales Island. The daily 
harvest limit was 20 coho salmon per household and could be taken using spear, dip net, or rod and reel. 
Bait was allowed from September 15 through November 15 and there was no closed season. 

The current regulation for coho salmon harvest was the result of the Board adopting proposal FP02-35 
which broadened the fishery to the entire Southeastern Alaska Area and established an annual harvest 
limit. 

The Taku River is closed to subsistence fishing by regulation. 

Harvest History

The harvest of salmon reported on Federal permits is listed in Table 1 (USFWS 2012).

Cultural Background

The focus of this section is salmon and how past patterns of use are influencing the pattern of use today. 
Continuing into the commercial era that began in 1880, salmon streams were among the most important 
types of property owned by Tlingit and Haida families (see Langdon 2006, Paige et al. 2009, Thornton 
et al. 1990, Turek et al. 2005). Salmon stream property rights, also known as tenure, were traditionally 
asserted and confirmed during potlatches by hosting families and audiences. Sustaining salmon runs 
depended on respectful practices (or right behaviors) by people. Tenure and other respectful practices 
contributed to long term stability of salmon returns to specific streams. Many Tlingit and Haida continue 
to engage salmon though respectful practices in order to sustain salmon runs (Langdon 2006). 

Before 1924, Tlingit and Haida harvested salmon primarily from estuaries, streams, and lakes in late 
summer and fall. The salmon were easier to dry and smoke because of their lower oil content. People 
preserved salmon so that they would not spoil during long periods stored in underground caches. People 
generally harvested salmon using a variety of traps and weirs. Preservation methods depended on the oil 
content of the salmon, humidity and rainfall, and how long salmon were to be preserved (Langdon 2006). 



290 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-17

Table 1.  Harvest of salmon as reported on Federal subsistence permits for Southeast Alaska 
and Yakutat Areas by community (USFWS 2012). 

Salmon
Harvested by 
Community 

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Total 

Coffman Cove  
Coho   10  18  24 81 27 26 186 
Pink        8   8 
Sockeye        12 2 26 40 
Craig
Chinook         26  26 
Chum     13     10  23 
Coho  332 108 48 11 44 245 240 369 291 1688 
Pink   5 5 8  2 50 31  101 
Sockeye  24  58 22 66 115 174 121 58 638 
Excursion Inlet  
Coho         2  2 
Sockeye    34     13  47 
Hollis  
Chum         1   1 
Coho  57     76 78 13 2 226 
Pink      50 13 23   86 
Sockeye  11     5   110 126 
Hoonah  
Chum     7       7 
Coho    20  36    10 66 
Pink    46       46 
Sockeye      50    60 110 
Hydaburg  
Chum       1     1 
Coho    2 6    20 8 36 
Pink    47 18 11    80 156 
Sockeye    4 21 50 40 45 30 10 200 
Kake
Pink      6     6 
Sockeye    20       20 
Kasaan  
Coho       7    7 
Ketchikan  
Sockeye       9 1   10 
Klawock
Chinook    6     7  13 



291Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-17

Salmon
Harvested by 
Community 

2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Total 

Coho  76 32 30 15 56 37 50 102 32 430 
Pink      12     12 
Sockeye  5   0 4 40 134 234 77 494 
Naukati Bay  
Coho       2 1  3 6 
Sockeye    5   15 51 18  89 
Petersburg  
Coho    3 4 3 1 5 17 3 36 
Pink    12 6 6 9 15  14 62 
Sockeye     23 35  14 40 112 224 
Sitka
Chinook       4    4 
Chum  4  4        8 
Coho   1 21 12 2  15   51 
Pink         4  4 
Sockeye 124 11 20 7 45  3   25 235 
Thorne Bay  
Chinook          4 4 
Chum      2   8  3 13 
Coho  44 19 57 29 66 160 280 76 226 957 
Pink  3 4 35 4 115 20 162 67 93 503 
Sockeye  10 68 24 62 91 100 208 102 122 787 
Whale Pass  
Coho         22  22 
Sockeye    2   5    7 
Wrangell  
Coho        7 13  20 
Pink        8 4 5 17 
Sockeye    4 3 1  1 42 2 53 
Yakutat
Chinook     26 6 14 1  2 49 
Coho       19 2  22 43 
Pink     8 106     114 
Sockeye     59 178 50 37  102 426 
No Community 
Listed 

 10         10 

Pink  10         10 
Total 128 583 271 510 402 995 1015 1712 1412 1528 8556 

Table 1. Continued



292 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-17

In 1924 in-stream weirs and traps were prohibited, and Tlingit and Haida have harvested salmon primarily 
from marine waters since then (Wolfe 1989). 

In addition to regulatory changes, beginning in about 1880, cannery employment affected salmon 
harvest and use patterns of Tlingit and Haida. People moved to cannery sites for summer employment. 
While some family members worked in the cannery, men commercial fished. Salmon were processed 
in smokehouses built in seasonal villages that grew around canneries (Thornton et al. 1990, Turek et 
al. 20005). It was while living at the canneries that people began canning salmon. Later, jars became 
available and are commonly used today to preserve salmon in Southeast villages. Canning allowed 
the preservation of the higher oil content salmon harvested from marine waters. Salmon continued to 
be smoked and then were canned for increased shelf life. For a number of reasons, Southeast cannery 
closures were common in the 1960s and 1970s. People who once gathered near the canneries in summer 
villages chose to stay in their more permanent villages. Salmon harvest pressure increased in freshwaters 
as well as marine waters within the territory of their kwáans (Thornton et al. 1990, Turek et al. 2005). 

From early in the commercial era, Tlingit and Haida have been involved in commercial salmon fishing 
either as crew members or boat owners. Since the 1990s, due to many factors, participation in commercial 
fishing has declined. As a consequence, people have been relying more on harvesting salmon within the 
territory of their kwáans (Langdon and Sanderson 2009, Turek et al. 2005). Today, Tlingit and Haida 
families continue to preserve salmon without refrigeration by drying, smoking, pickling, brining, and 
fermenting. Smoking salmon is a particularly intensive, lengthy process. Many families prefer salmon 
preserved using these methods. However, the use of freezers, refrigeration and ice is common in rural 
communities in the Southeastern and Yakutat areas. 

Effects of the Proposal

This proposal has an extremely broad scope and it is impossible to analyze all the possible effects given 
there are about 330 sockeye and roughly 3,200 coho salmon systems in Southeast Alaska. There would 
likely be many unintended consequences due to the lack of specificity in the proposal. It is also unclear 
if establishing different harvest limits based on how the catch is processed after it is “taken” within the 
authority of the Board which is authorized to regulate the “taking” of fish and wildlife on Federal Public 
lands and waters. 

The proposed regulation would have little effect in the Yakutat area since there are no salmon harvest 
limits in regulation; harvest limits are only on State or Federal subsistence permits. Limits are written in 
on Federal Permits by the Federal In-Season Manager commensurate with the individual user’s need and 
conservation of the salmon resource.

The proposed regulation would have no effect in the Southeast Alaska Area on Chinook (except the 
Stikine River), or pink and chum salmon limits since there are no limits for those species listed in 
regulation or on Federal permits. 

The regulation would have no effect on most sockeye systems since those limits are listed on Federal 
permits. Sockeye systems that do not are managed by a regulation that limits the possession of sockeye 
salmon to 10 daily with an annual limit of 20 per system per household. That regulation would not apply 
if refrigeration, freezing, or ice is not used to preserve sockeye catches. 

Further, a coho salmon harvest limit of 20 fish per day is specified in regulation. That regulation would 
not apply if refrigeration, freezing, or ice is not used to preserve coho catches. 



293Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-17

There are harvest limits in regulation specific to the Stikine River. Those harvest limits would not apply 
if refrigeration, freezing, or ice is not used to preserve salmon catches. Changing the limits on the Stikine 
River would have US/Canada Salmon Treaty implications. In the past, all proposals for subsistence 
fishing regulatory changes on the Stikine River for Chinook, sockeye, and coho salmon that require 
changes to the Treaty are authorized by the Federal Subsistence Board (Board) with implementation 
contingent upon concurrence by the Pacific Salmon Commission (PSC).

The top priority of managers is to ensure the conservation of the salmon resource consistent with sound 
recognized scientific principles of fish management under ANILCA Sec. 802. Through the Fisheries 
Resource Monitoring Program (FRMP), stock assessment projects are conducted to ensure adequate 
spawning while providing as much harvest opportunity as possible for subsistence users. This regulation 
would not apply to the monitored sockeye systems since harvest limits for those systems are listed on 
Federal permits. 

The vast majority of coho and sockeye systems are not monitored for escapement. Where there are no 
stock assessments, salmon harvest must be managed more conservatively. FRMP funding has diminished 
over the last five years—a trend likely to continue. It is unlikely that stock assessments would expand 
sufficiently to identify if conservation concerns are being created by this proposal, especially for coho 
salmon. 

Managers use seasons, gear type, and harvest limits to control salmon harvest to insure conservation of 
the resource and to distribute the available harvest amongst multiple subsistence users. Harvest limits are 
not imposed to limit cultural practices. They are used to control harvest based on the productivity of each 
system balanced with the harvest pressure. Low harvest limits are placed on streams that produce low 
numbers of salmon and/or have high harvest pressure. Without harvest limits as tools, managers would be 
forced to limit gear types, reduce the season, or add individual systems to Federal permits. This proposal 
would increase the risk of conservation concerns in unmonitored systems which would negatively affect 
subsistence users. For salmon species which are prolific and for which there are no conservation concerns 
(typically pink and chum salmon) no harvest limits are imposed by Federal regulation. 

Although relatively few salmon are reportedly taken in Federal jurisdiction under the Federal permit, 
this proposal may result in a shift from fishing in State waters to Federal jurisdiction. There are some 
systems where unlimited harvests could create conservation concerns resulting in more in-season actions 
and restrictions to users. If this shift in use does not happen, the proposal will have little effect on salmon 
harvests from Federal public waters since the vast majority of most salmon take by Federally qualified 
users occurs in waters under State jurisdiction. 

This proposal would complicate law enforcement as it would require tracking the fish until they are 
preserved to ensure no refrigeration, freezing, or ice was used in the process. 

OSM CONCLUSION

Oppose Proposal FP13-17.

Justification

This proposal has an extremely broad scope, and it is impossible to analyze all the possible effects on the 
approximately 330 sockeye and 3,200 coho systems in Southeast Alaska. Additionally, changing the limits 
on the Stikine River would have US/Canada Treaty implications. The top priority of managers is to ensure 
the conservation of the salmon resource consistent with sound recognized scientific principles of fish 



294 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-17

management under ANILCA Sec. 802. Most coho and sockeye systems are not monitored for escapement. 
Where there are no conservation or use concerns, such as for pink and chum salmon, there are currently 
no harvest limits.

Managers use seasons, gear type and harvest limits to control salmon harvest to insure conservation of the 
resource and to distribute the available harvest amongst multiple subsistence users. Without harvest limits 
as tools, managers may be forced to limit gear types, reduce or close seasons, or add individual systems to 
Federal permits. This proposal would increase the risk of conservation concerns in unmonitored systems 
which would negatively affect subsistence users. This proposal would complicate law enforcement as it 
would require tracking the fish until they are preserved to ensure no refrigeration, freezing or ice was used 
in the process. 

LITERATURE CITED

Langdon, S.J. 2006. Traditional knowledge and harvesting of salmon by Huna and Hinyaa Tlingit. FWS, Office of 
Subsistence Management, Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program, Final Report (Project No. 02-104), Anchorage. 
194 pages. http://alaska.fws.gov/asm/fisreportdetail.cfm?fisrep=26

Langdon, S.J., and R. Sanderson. 2009. Customary and traditional knowledge of sockeye salmon Systems of the 
K’iis Xaadas (Hydaburg Haida). FWS, OSM, Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program, Final Report (Project No. 
07-651), Anchorage, AK.

Paige, A.W., S. Churchill, N. Ratner, M. Turek, and P. Coiley-Kenner. 2009. Local knowledge, harvest patterns, and 
community use of salmon in Wrangell, Alaska.ADF&G Division of Subsistence Technical Paper No. 323, Juneau. 
105 pages. http://alaska.fws.gov/asm/fisreportdetail.cfm?fisrep=26

Thornton, T.F, R.F. Schroeder, and R.G. Bosworth. 1990. Use of sockeye salmon at Sitkoh Bay, Alaska. ADF&G 
Division of Subsistence, Technical Paper No. 174. Juneau. 78 pages. http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/publications/
index.cfm?ADFG=addLine.home

Turek, M., A. Paige, E. Cheney, J. Dizard and N. Soboleff . 2005. Kake Subsistence Salmon Harvest Use Pattern. 
FWS, OSM, Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program, Final Report No. FIS01-104, Anchorage. 85 pages. http://
alaska.fws.gov/asm/fisreportdetail.cfm?fisrep=26

USFWS (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service). 2012. Subsistence harvest database. On file, Office of Subsistence 
Management, Anchorage.

Wolfe, R.J. 1989. Historic Methods for Harvesting Non-Commercial Salmon in Southeast Alaska. Report to the 
Alaska Board of Fisheries meeting, Juneau, Alaska, February 1989. ADF&G Division of Subsistence. Juneau. 



295Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-17

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION

SOUTHEAST ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL 

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: There is clearly a conservation concern with eliminating possession limits for subsistence 
taken salmon and that concern is unrelated to the method of take or preservation.  The high demand 
for sockeye salmon does not allow an unrestricted harvest.  The current regulations already allow for 
unlimited harvest of pink and chum salmon where the demand is low and the abundance his high.  
Adopting this proposal would not allow subsistence users to harvest additional sockeye salmon because 
in-season special actions would be required to restrict harvest and provide for conservation.  There would 
need to be a significant increase in funding for population assessment studies to harvest additional fish 
while preventing overharvest of some stocks.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



296 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-17

ADF&G Comments on FP13-17 
Page 1 of 2 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-17:  Eliminate harvest limits for subsistence-caught salmon in the 
Yakutat and Southeast Alaska areas.  
 
Introduction:  This proposal by the Organized Village of Kake would eliminate harvest limits in 
the Yakutat and Southeast Alaska areas for subsistence-caught salmon transported, processed, 
and stored without use of refrigeration prior to consumption.  
 
The proponent states this proposal “better recognizes the subsistence priority need of subsistence 
users with strong customary, traditional, and economic dependence on salmon resources.  These 
subsistence users fish where there are fish and take only what they need (i.e., what they can eat 
fresh or put away for future consumption by drying, salting, smoking, or canning).  They do this 
without waste and without ice, refrigeration, or freezers.  They depend on subsistence salmon for 
food and this is their way of life”. 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  If this proposal is adopted, federal subsistence users would have 
no harvest limits for subsistence-caught salmon in the Yakutat or Southeast Alaska areas.  The 
proponent anticipates federal subsistence users would benefit from alleviation of harvest limits 
since citations from enforcement officers for harvest limit violations when engaged in customary 
and traditional (C&T) fishing for salmon would not occur. 
 
However, the potential unintended negative impacts imposed upon subsistence users by the 
adoption of this regulation could reasonably manifest in the loss of sustainability of the resource 
as some federally-qualified subsistence users with less knowledge of the history of the resource 
may unfortunately exploit the resource without restraint. 
 
Impact on Other Users:  In the event of an unsustainable exploitation of this resource, all users 
would suffer. 
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  Under state regulations, subsistence is the priority 
consumptive use and salmon may be harvested throughout most of the Yakutat and Southeast 
Alaska areas.  State subsistence fishing opportunity is directly linked to abundance and is not 
restricted unless run size is inadequate to meet escapement needs. 
 
Conservation Issues: There are no stocks of concern in Southeast Alaska at this time.  
 
Without harvest limits on the many small sockeye salmon stocks throughout the Yakutat and 
Southeast Alaska areas, harvests in subsistence fisheries would be expected to increase and could 
increase beyond sustainable levels.  In that instance, for locations where salmon escapement data 
is available, State of Alaska fishery managers would report stock status to the Alaska Board of 
Fisheries (BOF) and request stock of concern designation.  Action plans would be developed that 
would either reduce or preclude any further harvest for significant periods of time until each 
stock in question is rebuilt to a sustainable level.   
 



297Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-17

ADF&G Comments on FP13-17 
Page 2 of 2 

Enforcement Issues:  Federally-qualified subsistence salmon users may put themselves at risk 
of receiving a citation if they catch salmon on state or private land or on state-managed marine 
waters and do not comply with terms specified on their subsistence fishing permits.  Passage of 
this proposal creates divergent federal and state regulations which are difficult for enforcement 
and a burden to users. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  The Federal Subsistence Board does not have the authority to regulate the 
nonfederally-qualified users participating in fisheries on waters outside of federal subsistence 
jurisdiction.  While standing on state and private lands (including state-owned submerged lands), 
or when fishing in state-managed marine waters, persons must comply with state law and cannot 
harvest under conflicting federal regulations.   
 
Enforcement difficulties and user confusion -- concerning where and how federal regulations that 
are different than state regulations apply -- will result unless detailed maps and explanations 
specific to the area are provided.  
 
Other Issues:  On state or private lands or state-managed marine waters where federal 
subsistence fisheries are not authorized to occur, the federal board does not have authority to 
supersede to state commercial and subsistence fisheries regulations unless a full closure is 
required for conservation purpose within water of claimed federal jurisdiction.  Changes to state 
commercial and subsistence fisheries must be submitted to the BOF for coordination.  The 
federal program currently provides for designated fishers to harvest for others above their 
personal limit.  Users who expect a plentiful harvest who wish to share above their established 
amounts reasonably necessary for subsistence have this option available to them to avoid 
citation.  A decision by the Federal Subsistence Board (FSB) on this issue is important as it will 
be carried to the Transboundary River Panel of the Pacific Salmon Commission as the FSBs 
recommendation for adoption.  Additional action is required by both the Transboundary River 
Panel and Pacific Salmon Commission before these changes can be implemented.  
 
Recommendation:  Oppose.  Subsistence harvest limits are necessary.  When there is a 
harvestable surplus, harvest limits are designed to provide for user’s needs and establish 
guidelines to prevent unnecessary waste of the resource.  During lean years, harvest limits may 
need to be reduced or eliminated in order to protect the resource. 
 
 



298 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-17

WRITTEN PUBLIC COMMENTS

We oppose this proposal as written. We understand the desire of the proposer for a traditional way of life 
but unfortunately as the population of Southeast Alaska and Yakutat grows our most important concern 
is the safeguard of the individual systems and sustainability of the resource for the future. Salmon in 
Southeast Alaska is highly desired and fully utilized. While we understand and support a priority for 
subsistence, there also needs to be reasonable subsistence limits in order to provide for protection of the 
individual systems. Without limits and reporting of harvest within 24 hours of harvest it is easy to damage 
the run by overharvest by unexpected harvest by amount taken individually and then cumulative total 
harvests.  Individual drainages/systems need to be looked at, not blanket regulations for the region.

Kathy Hansen, Executive Director
Southeast Alaska Fishermen’s Alliance

Oppose. The Wrangell-St. Elias National Park Subsistence Resource Commission unanimously opposes 
the proposal. Fish processing practices vary from place to place, and a region-wide regulation is not a 
good idea.

Wrangell-St. Elias National Park Subsistence Resource Commission



299Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-22

FP13-22 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-22 requests that unless noted on a Federal fishing 

permit that there be no harvest limits for salmon harvested by 
residents of Kake. Submitted by Mr. Mike Jackson of the Organized 
Village of Kake

Proposed Regulation §___.27(e)(13) (xxi) Unless noted on a Federal subsistence fishing 
permit, the harvest limits listed in this section do not apply for the 
residents of Kake.

OSM Conclusion Oppose

Southeast Regional Council 
Recommendation Oppose

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Oppose

Written Public Comments 1 Oppose



300 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-22

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-22

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-22, submitted by Mr. Mike Jackson of the Organized Village of Kake, requests that unless 
noted on a Federal fishing permit that there be no harvest limits for salmon harvested by residents of 
Kake.

DISCUSSION

The proponent believes that having no limits on salmon better recognizes a subsistence priority for the 
residents of Kake. The proponent asked to modify his proposal after it was published so that no harvest 
limits would apply for salmon for residents of Kake whether listed in regulation or on Federal subsistence 
fishing permits. This analysis will focus on the proposal as published, since this is the version presented 
for public review. The proponent could provide comments on their proposal at the Southeast Regional 
Advisory Council meeting.

Existing Federal Regulation

§___.27(e)(13) (xii) If a harvest limit is not otherwise listed for sockeye in paragraph (e)(13) of 
this section, the harvest limit for sockeye salmon is the same as provided for in adjacent State 
subsistence or personal use fisheries. If a harvest limit is not established for the State subsistence 
or personal use fisheries, the possession limit is 10 sockeye and the annual harvest limit is 20 
sockeye per household for that stream.

§___.27(e)(13) (xv) You may take coho salmon with a Federal salmon fishing permit. There is no 
closed season. The daily harvest limit is 20 coho salmon per household. Only dip nets, spears, 
gaffs, handlines, and rod and reel may be used. There are specific rules to harvest any salmon on 
the Stikine River, and you must have a separate Stikine River subsistence salmon fishing permit to 
take salmon on the Stikine River.

Proposed Federal Regulation

§___.27(e)(13) (xii) If a harvest limit is not otherwise listed for sockeye in paragraph (e)(13) of 
this section, the harvest limit for sockeye salmon is the same as provided for in adjacent State 
subsistence or personal use fisheries. If a harvest limit is not established for the State subsistence 
or personal use fisheries, the possession limit is 10 sockeye and the annual harvest limit is 20 
sockeye per household for that stream.

§___.27(e)(13) (xv) You may take coho salmon with a Federal salmon fishing permit. There is no 
closed season. The daily harvest limit is 20 coho salmon per household. Only dip nets, spears, 
gaffs, handlines, and rod and reel may be used. There are specific rules to harvest any salmon on 
the Stikine River, and you must have a separate Stikine River subsistence salmon fishing permit to 
take salmon on the Stikine River.

§___.27(e)(13) (xxi) Unless noted on a Federal subsistence fishing permit, the harvest limits 
listed in this section do not apply for the residents of Kake.



301Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-22

Existing State Regulation

Pink, chum, coho and sockeye salmon are managed by ADF&G under a Subsistence and Personal use 
salmon permit. Harvest limits for pink, chum, and sockeye salmon are established by local managers 
based on productivity and user demand. Chinook salmon are not allowed to be taken for subsistence or 
personal use except incidentally or by Emergency Order.

Extent of Federal Public Waters

For purposes of this discussion, the phrase “Federal public waters” is defined as those waters described 
under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR 100.3. This regulation, if adopted, would apply to all Federal public 
waters in the Customary and Traditional Use Determination Area for Kake. 

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

Residents of Kake are included in the Customary and Traditional Use Determination for salmon within 
District 5—north of a line from Point Barrie to Boulder Point, District 6 and waters draining into that 
District, District 7, and waters draining into that District, District 9—Section 9A and 9B and District 
10—west of a line from Pinta Point to False Point Pybus and the remainder of Alaska where there are no 
specific Customary and Traditional Use Determinations.

Regulatory History

In 2000, the Board approved coho regulations in the Southeastern Alaska Area to take coho salmon in 
Sections 3(A), 3(B) and 3(C) on Prince of Wales Island. The daily harvest limit was set at 20 coho salmon 
per household that could be taken using spear, dip net, or rod and reel. Bait was allowed from September 
15 through November 15 and there was no closed season. The current regulation for coho salmon harvest 
was the result of the Board adopting proposal FP02-35 which modified harvest limits and provided for a 
coho salmon fishery throughout the Southeastern Alaska area. 

The Board adopted FP05-24, which set the same limit for sockeye salmon as provided for in adjacent 
State subsistence or personal use fisheries. If a harvest limit is not established for a State subsistence or 
personal use fisheries, the possession limit is 10 sockeye and the annual harvest limit is 20 sockeye per 
household for that stream. The sockeye salmon limits listed on the 2012 Federal Permit for residents of 
Kake are listed in Table 1. 

Harvest History

The Federal Subsistence Permit Database from 2002 to 2011 shows a resident of Kake harvested 
20 sockeye salmon from Kutlaku Lake in 2005 with a gillnet. (USFWS 2012) In addition, six pink 
salmon were reported harvested on Prince of Wales Island by a resident who later moved to Kake. For 
comparison, Kake residents harvested 1,652 sockeye salmon under State subsistence permits in 2005. 
(Naves, Turek, and Simeone, 2010) There are no other records of fish harvested by residents of Kake by 
Federal Subsistence Permit since most subsistence harvests occur in State jurisdiction. 

Cultural Background

Harvest pressure has increased on some salmon runs near the village of Kake for several reasons. The 
population of Kake is 557 people living in 213 households (U.S. Census 2012). The kwáans associated 
with the modern community of Kake are the Keex’ kwáan, Shtax’éen kwáan, and Kooyu kwáan. Today, 



302 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-22

the Tlingit at Kake are commonly associated with Keex’ kwáan. The interference of canneries in Tlingit 
seasonal migration patterns within their perspective kwáan territories has been a common theme in 
fisheries research in Southeast Alaska (see Langdon 2006, Paige et al. 2009, Thornton et al. 1990, 
Turek et al. 2005). It’s important to note that while patterns of salmon use have evolved since the start 
of the commercial fishing era, Keex’ kwáan retains a strong sense of place to its traditional territory. 
The fisheries used by Keex’ kwáan have long been recognized as traditional fisheries, and Keex’ kwáan 
has claimed rights to fisheries in its territory through legal venues since 1867 culminating in passage 
of ANILCA in 1980 (Goldschmidt and Haas 1998 [1946]). The traditional tenureships of salmon runs 
practiced by Tlingit, before their ownership was superseded by canneries, have evolved into demonstrated 
familiarity with a wide range of streams in their areas, especially by people who grew up under the 
tutelage of elders within traditional clan territories (Langdon 2006). While the traditional management 
practices that conserved salmon runs in Southeast Alaska no longer include tenureships, many Keex’ 
kwáan continue to engage salmon through respectful practices in order to promote salmon sustainability. 

Before canneries, Keex’ kwáan harvested lower-oil-content salmon from estuaries and streams because 
it was easier to smoke and preserve. It was imperative that salmon not spoil during long periods stored 
in underground caches. People generally harvested salmon using a variety of in-stream traps and weirs. 
Salmon was eaten fresh, dried, dried and half-smoked, dried and hard smoked, and fermented. Eventually, 
in 1924, in-stream weirs and traps used by Tlingit to harvest salmon were prohibited (Wolfe 1989) and 
has resulted in Tlingit taking most of their salmon from marine waters. 

Keex’ kwáan began staying at the early canneries at Pillar, Saginaw, Pybus and Washington bays drawn 
by employment (Firman and Bosworth 1990). It was at this time that canning salmon became common. 
Canning allowed the preservation of the higher oil content salmon harvested from marine waters. Salmon 
continued to be smoked but then were canned for increased shelf life. Today, jars are commonly used to 
preserve salmon in Southeast villages. 

Table 1. Sockeye Harvest Limits as listed on the Federal Permit for Residents of Kake.
Location Daily Possession Limit Annual Limit

Thoms Lake 20 40
Virginia Lake Mill Creek 20 40

Red Bay Lake 30 30
Salmon Bay Lake 30 30
Hatchery Creek Closed (June 21 August 13)
Alecks Creek 50 50
Kutlaku Lake 50 50
Kushneahin 10 20
Falls Lake 25 25

Gut Bay Lake 10 20
Big Ratz Creek 10 10
Luck Lake 10 10

Sweetheart Creek (Gilbert Bay) 25 none
McDonald Lake 20 20
Fillmore Lake 12 none



303Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-22

Cannery closures in the 1960s and 1970s led to increased harvest pressure on traditional fishing sites 
nearest to Kake as people no longer moved to cannery sites for the summer. Additionally, in about 1990, 
many Kake residents found themselves unable to make adequate incomes by commercial salmon fishing 
and began selling their commercial fishing permits. The number of commercial salmon limited entry 
permits fell 64% in Kake between 1980 (99 permits) and 2011 (36 permits) (ACFEC 2012). Therefore, 
less salmon was retained from commercial catches, and as a consequence, harvest pressure again 
increased on salmon runs nearest to Kake. 

The importance of salmon in the diet is demonstrated in the Table 2. In 1996, the year of the most recent 
household harvest survey, salmon contributed 24% to the harvest of all wild resources, in pounds edible 
weight, at Kake (ADF&G 2012). 

Table 2. Kake 1996: the harvest and use of wild resources based on household harvest surveys.

Percentage of Households 

Resource Category Using  
Attempt
-ing to 

Harvest 
Harvest

-ing
Giving 
Away  

Receiv-
ing

Per Capita 
Lbs 

Harvested  

Percentage
of Total 
Harvest 

All Resources  99% 89% 85% 75% 96% 179 
Salmon 99% 67% 62% 43% 75% 44 24%
Non-Salmon Fish  99% 62% 58% 34% 77% 42 23%
Land Mammals  80% 52% 49% 23% 41% 52 29%
Marine Mammals  48% 14% 12% 15% 37% 10 6%
Birds and Eggs  29% 23% 23% 6% 6% 1 <1%
Marine Invertebrates  86% 49% 48% 38% 78% 22 12%
Vegetation 90% 77% 74% 44% 69% 9 5%

Other Relevant Proposals

Action on one other fish proposal currently under consideration may affect decisions on this proposal. 
Proposal FP13-17 requests that harvest limits be eliminated for any subsistence user in Southeast and 
Yakutat preserving salmon without refrigeration, freezing or ice.

Effect of the Proposal

In Districts 5, 9, and 10, Kake has an exclusive customary and traditional use determination. Under 
ANILCA, an unlimited salmon harvest may be established by the Board for only Kake residents, for only 
fi sheries in these parts of Districts 5, 9 and 10. 

Kake’s customary and traditional use determination for Districts 6, 7 and areas with no specifi c determi-
nation are shared with other communities and is not exclusive. The Board cannot provide a harvest limit 
to residents of one community with C&T that is higher than the harvest limits for residents of other com-
munities with the same C&T unless the area has been closed to non-Federally qualifi ed subsistence users 
and the Board has made fi ndings pursuant to ANILCA section 804. 

If this proposal is adopted it would have no effect on harvest limits in the Kake C&T areas for Chinook, 
pink and chum salmon since there are no limits for those species listed in regulation or on Federal 
permits. 



304 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-22

Additionally, if adopted this proposal would have no effect on most sockeye salmon systems since those 
limits are listed on Federal permits. The sockeye salmon systems that do not have limits listed on Federal 
permits are managed by a regulation that limits the possession of sockeye salmon to 10 with an annual 
limit of 20 per system per household unless specified elsewhere. These sockeye salmon streams would 
have no harvest limit for residents of Kake. 

If this proposal is adopted, Coho salmon harvest limits which are specified by regulation, would no longer 
be applicable to residents of Kake.

If adopted this proposed regulation would not apply to the monitored sockeye systems since harvest limits 
for those systems are listed on Federal permits. 

Managers use seasons, gear type and harvest limits to control salmon harvest to insure conservation of the 
resource and to distribute the available harvest amongst multiple users. Harvest limits are not imposed to 
limit cultural practices; they are used to control harvest based on the productivity of each system balanced 
with the harvest pressure. For example, lower harvest limits are placed on streams that produce low 
numbers of salmon and have high harvest pressure. Without harvest limits as tools, managers would be 
forced to limit gear types, reduce the season or add individual systems to Federal permits. If this proposal 
is adopted it would eliminate harvest limits for the residents of Kake and could increase the risk of 
conservation concerns in unmonitored systems which would negatively affect subsistence users.

If adopted this proposal may result in a shift from fishing in State waters to Federal jurisdiction. This may 
or may not happen since the location of harvest is controlled more by where fish are efficiently harvested 
than what the harvest limit is. Because of efficiency considerations, most salmon in this area are harvested 
in State jurisdiction (marine waters) and under State regulations. If this shift in use does not happen, the 
proposal will have no effect since the vast majority of salmon taken by Kake residents are taken in waters 
under State jurisdiction. There are some systems where unlimited harvests could create conservation 
concerns resulting in more in-season actions and restrictions to users. 

OSM CONCLUSION

Oppose Proposal FP13-22 .

Justification

There are no closures to non-Federally qualified users within the customary and traditional use areas for 
Kake (Districts 5, 6, 7, 9, 10 and the areas that have no specific community determination). Some of these 
same areas are also within the customary and traditional use areas of other rural communities. Increases to 
harvest limits in these areas cannot be considered without first closing the areas to non-Federally qualified 
users (815 (3)) and then conducting an 804 analysis to provide a greater priority to residents of Kake.

The proposed regulation would only affect coho and sockeye salmon harvest limits since there are no 
limits for Chinook, pink, and chum salmon in regulation or on Federal permits issued to Kake residents. 

Only 20 sockeye and no coho salmon have been reported taken by residents of Kake under the Federal 
permit; therefore, Kake residents do not appear to be restricted by current Federal harvest limits. Because 
of efficiency considerations, Kake residents prefer to harvest coho and sockeye salmon in this area in 
marine waters, which are under State jurisdiction and regulation.



305Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-22

The top priority of managers is to ensure the conservation of the salmon resource consistent with sound 
recognized scientific principles of fish management under ANILCA Sec. 802. Managers use seasons, gear 
type and harvest limits to control salmon harvest to insure conservation of the resource and to distribute 
the available harvest amongst multiple users. Harvest limits are not imposed to limit cultural practices; 
they are used to control harvest based on the productivity of each system balanced with the harvest 
pressure. Without harvest limits as tools, managers may be forced to limit gear types, reduce the season or 
add individual systems to Federal permits. 

LITERATURE CITED

ACFEC. 2012. Alaska Commercial Fisheries Entry Commission. Fishery statistics, participation and earnings. www.
cfec.state.ak.us/, accessed June 12, 2012. State of Alaska, Juneau.

Firman, A.S., and R.G. Bosworth. 1990. Harvest and use of fish and wildlife by residents of Kake, Alaska. ADF&G 
Division of Subsistence Technical Paper No. 145. Juneau. 164 pages. http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/publications/
index.cfm?ADFG=main.home

Goldschmidt, W.R., and T. Haas. 1998. Haa Aani: Our Land. Tlingit and Haida land rights and use. University of 
Washington Press, Seattle and London; and Sealaska Heritage Foundation, Juneau, Alaska, 219 pages.

Langdon, S.J. 2006. Traditional knowledge and harvesting of salmon by Huna and Hinyaa Tlingit. FWS, Office of 
Subsistence Management, Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program, Final Report (Project No. 02-104), Anchorage. 
194 pages. http://alaska.fws.gov/asm/fisreportdetail.cfm?fisrep=26

Naves, L.C., M.F. Turek, and W.E. Simeone. 2010. Subsistence-personal use salmon harvest, Southeast-Yakutat 
management region, 1996-2006. ADF&G Division of Subsistence Technical Paper No. 350. Juneau. 202 pages. 
http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/publications/index.cfm?ADFG=main.home

Paige, A.W., S. Churchill, N. Ratner, M. Turek, and P. Coiley-Kenner. 2009. Local knowledge, harvest patterns, 
and community use of salmon in Wrangell, Alaska. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Subsistence 
Technical Paper No. 323, Juneau. 105 pages. . http://alaska.fws.gov/asm/fisreportdetail.cfm?fisrep=26

Thornton, T.F, R.F. Schroeder, and R.G. Bosworth. 1990. Use of sockeye salmon at Sitkoh Bay, Alaska. ADF&G 
Division of Subsistence, Technical Paper No. 174. Juneau. 78 pages. http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/publications/
index.cfm?ADFG=addLine.home

Turek, M., A. Paige, E. Cheney, J. Dizard and N. Soboleff . 2006. Kake subsistence salmon harvest use pattern. 
ADF&G Division of Subsistence Technical Paper No. 309. Juneau. 202 pages. http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/
publications/index.cfm?ADFG=main.home

USFWS (U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service). 2012. Subsistence harvest database. On file, Office of Subsistence 
Management, Anchorage.

Walker, R. 2009. The validity and reliability of fisheries harvest monitoring methods, Southeast Alaska. ADF&G 
Division of Subsistence Technical Paper No. 286. Anchorage.

Wolfe, R.J. 1989. Historic Methods for Harvesting Non-Commercial Salmon in Southeast Alaska. Report to the 
Alaska Board of Fisheries meeting, Juneau, Alaska, February 1989. ADF&G, Division of Subsistence. Juneau.



306 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-22

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION

SOUTHEAST ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: The reasoning was much the same as used to justify not supporting FP13-17.  Adopting 
the proposal would not benefit subsistence users because there is only a finite number of streams and 
a limited number of fish that can be harvested from each stream.  Adopting this proposal would not 
provide for any new fishing opportunities or increased harvest without causing a conservation concern.  
Forcing the allocation of fish through an 804 process in areas with shared customary and traditional use 
determinations is unnecessary and not beneficial to subsistence users.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



307Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-22

ADF&G Comments on FP13-22 
Page 1 of 2 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-22:  Eliminate subsistence salmon harvest limits for Kake, AK 
residents.  
 
Introduction:  This proposal by the Organized Village of Kake would establish a new regulation 
that unless noted on a federal subsistence fishing permit, there would be no harvest limits for 
salmon harvested by the residents of Kake, Alaska.  
 
The proponent states this proposal “better recognizes and accepts the subsistence priority need of 
individual and households in the community of Kake.  This regulation helps provide residents of 
Kake with a meaningful priority for the customary and traditional (C&T) take of fish.  These 
subsistence users fish where there are fish and take only what they need because they rely on 
salmon for food and this is their way of life”. 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  If this proposal is adopted, federal subsistence users from Kake 
would have no harvest limits for subsistence-caught salmon.  The proponent anticipates federal 
subsistence users residing in Kake would benefit from alleviation of harvest limits since citations 
from enforcement officers for harvest limit violations when engaged in C&T fishing for salmon 
would not occur. 
 
However, the potential unintended negative impact imposed upon subsistence users by adoption 
of this regulation could reasonably manifest in the loss of sustainability of the resource, as 
unrestrained exploitation the resource without restraint may occur.  This would result in loss of 
subsistence opportunity not only for subsistence users from Kake, but subsistence users that do 
not reside in Kake, as well.   
 
Impact on Other Users:  In the event of an unsustainable exploitation of this resource, all users 
would suffer. 
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  Under state regulations, subsistence is the priority 
consumptive use and salmon may be harvested throughout most of the Southeast Alaska area.  
Under the state subsistence salmon permit, limits and seasons can vary by system depending on 
the productivity and run-timing of the system.  These limits and seasons are determined by the 
state to be necessary to ensure the long-term sustainability of the resource.  State subsistence 
fishing opportunity is directly linked to abundance and is only closed to subsistence users if 
necessary to meet escapement needs. 
 
Conservation Issues:  There are no stocks of concern in Southeast Alaska at this time.  Based on 
harvests reported on state subsistence salmon permits, subsistence users from Kake harvest 
sockeye salmon primarily at Falls Lake and Gut Bay Lake on Baranof Island, and Kutlaku Lake 
on Kuiu Island.  These systems represent 46%, 24%, and 31% of the total sockeye harvested by 
Kake residents, respectively.  Approximately 90% of the total Falls Lake sockeye harvest is by 
subsistence users from Kake.  There are no escapement goals for these systems and only Falls 
Lake has had a long-term escapement project that began in 2001.  The average escapement at 



308 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-22

ADF&G Comments on FP13-22 
Page 2 of 2 

Falls Lake since 2001 was 2,867 sockeye and average harvest was 1,564 sockeye salmon.  In 
2002 and 2008, based on onsite creel surveys, the subsistence fishery harvested 2,600 and 1,530 
sockeye salmon, respectively, while escapements were only 1,090 and 700, respectively.  These 
two years provide examples of the potential for subsistence harvests to compromise desired 
escapement levels.  The Falls Lake subsistence fishery was closed early by emergency order in 
2002, 2004, 2010, and 2011 due to low sockeye returns.         
 
Provided there is a continuation of healthy salmon stocks in the Southeast Alaska area, combined 
with responsible harvest, this proposal would present little negative impact to the long-term 
sustainability of the resource.  However, the risk to benefit ratio associated with this proposal 
dictates state opposition lest our managers abrogate their responsibilities.  Should one or more of 
these factors fall short, a long-term risk to sustainability of the resource is inherently 
unavoidable. 
 
Enforcement Issues:  Passage of this proposal would create divergent federal and state 
regulations which are difficult for enforcement and a burden to users.  
 
Federally-qualified subsistence salmon users may put themselves at risk of receiving a citation if 
they catch salmon on state or private land or marine waters under state jurisdiction and do not 
comply with terms specified on their subsistence fishing permits.  An example is adherence to 
harvest limits during years when there is a conservation concern for fish stocks in a particular 
area required by state regulation.   
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  The Federal Subsistence Board does not have the authority to regulate 
nonfederally-qualified users participating in fisheries on waters outside of federal subsistence 
jurisdiction.  While standing on state and private lands (including state-owned submerged lands), 
persons must comply with state law and cannot harvest under conflicting federal regulations.   
 
Enforcement difficulties and user confusion -- concerning where and how federal regulations that 
are different than state regulations apply -- will result unless detailed maps and explanations 
specific to the area are provided.  At Falls Lake, Gut Bay and Kutlaku, the majority of the 
subsistence harvesting occurs in marine waters under state jurisdiction.   
 
Other Issues:  On state or private lands where federal subsistence fisheries are not authorized to 
occur, the federal board does not have authority to supersede state commercial and subsistence 
fisheries regulations unless a full closure is required for conservation purpose within water of 
claimed federal jurisdiction.  Changes to state commercial and subsistence fisheries regulations 
must be submitted to the Alaska Board of Fisheries for coordination.  The federal program 
currently provides for designated fishers to harvest for others above their personal limit.  Users 
who expect a plentiful harvest who wish to share above their established amounts reasonably 
necessary for subsistence  amount have this option available to them to avoid citation.  Passage 
of this proposal creates divergent federal and state regulations which are difficult for 
enforcement and a burden to users.  
 
Recommendation:  Oppose.   
 



309Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-22

WRITTEN PUBLIC COMMENTS

Oppose Proposal FP13-22. See comments on Proposal 13-17. This proposal allows for an unlimited 
amount of harvest by a select set of subsistence users/residents of Kake but doesn’t provide for protection 
of the individual systems.

Kathy Hansen, Executive Director
Southeast Alaska Fishermen’s Alliance



310 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

FP09-05 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP09-05 seeks to close the Federal public waters in 

the Makhnati Island area near Sitka to the harvest of herring and 
herring spawn except for subsistence harvests by Federally qualified 
subsistence users. This proposal was deferred for a period not to 
exceed two years by the Federal Subsistence Board in January 
2009 and for another period of two years again in January of 2011. 
Submitted by the Sitka Tribe of Alaska

Proposed Regulation §___.27(i)(13)(xxii) The Federal public waters in the Makhnati 
Island area, as defined in 36 CFR 242.3(b)(5) and 50 CFR 
§100.3(b)(5) are closed to the harvest of herring and herring spawn 
except for subsistence harvests by Federally qualified subsistence 
users.

OSM Conclusion Oppose

Southeast Regional Council 
Recommendation Oppose

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Oppose

Written Public Comments 4 Oppose



311Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP09-05

ISSUES

Proposal FP09-05, submitted by the Sitka Tribe of Alaska, seeks to close the Federal public waters in the 
Makhnati Island area near Sitka (Maps 1 and 2) to the harvest of herring and herring spawn except for 
subsistence harvests by Federally qualified subsistence users. This proposal was deferred for a period not 
to exceed two years by the Federal Subsistence Board (Board) in January 2009 and for another period of 
two years again in January of 2011. 

DISCUSSION

The proponent believes a closure of these waters is necessary to ensure the continuation of subsistence 
uses by Federally qualified subsistence users and to provide a meaningful preference for qualified 
subsistence users of herring. The proponent states that subsistence users were unable to harvest 
the amount of herring spawn necessary for subsistence uses in 2005 , 2007, 2008, 2011, and 2012 
(Feldpausch 2012, pers. comm.). 

The proponent believes that the commercial fishing effort in and near subsistence herring spawn 
harvest sites and its adverse effect on subsistence harvests cannot be overstated. The proponent believes 
that herring have not consistently spawned in traditional subsistence areas. The proponent states that 
traditional ecological knowledge and local observation support that the commercial harvest of herring 
displaces subsistence users from traditional harvesting sites; disrupts herring spawning leading to poor 
quality deposition of herring eggs at traditional sites; causes herring to spawn away from subsistence 
sites; and may seriously reduce the biomass of spawning herring upon which subsistence users depend.

The commercial fishery precedes the subsistence fishery and is completed prior to the time subsistence 
users realize they are unable to harvest herring eggs. Therefore, in-season management to protect 
subsistence uses is impossible, which is the reason the proponent believes that a closure is necessary to 
ensure subsistence uses can continue in the Federal public waters. 

Existing Federal Regulation

Under existing Federal regulations, all rural residents of Alaska are eligible to harvest herring and herring 
spawn from Federal public waters in southeast Alaska. There are no closed seasons, harvest limits or 
closed areas in regulation.

Proposed Federal Regulation

§___.27(i)(13)(xxii) The Federal public waters in the Makhnati Island area, as defined in 36 
CFR 242.3(b)(5) and 50 CFR §100.3(b)(5) are closed to the harvest of herring and herring 
spawn except for subsistence harvests by Federally qualified subsistence users.

Extent of Federal Public Waters

The Federal subsistence program has jurisdiction of the waters near Makhnati Island as described in 36 
CFR 242.3(b)(5) and 50 CFR 100.3(b)(5). The Makhnati Federal Waters area encompasses approximately 
800 acres as described in two Executive Orders: EO 8877 (August 29, 1941), approximately 610 acres, 



312 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05



313Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

A
pp

ro
xi

m
at

e
Fe

de
ra

l S
ub

si
st

en
ce

Fi
sh

er
ie

s 
Ju

ris
di

ct
io

n
M

ak
hn

at
i I

sl
an

d 
A

re
a

Ex
ec

ut
iv

e 
O

rd
er

82
16

88
77

0
0.

5
1

0.
25

M
ile

s
A

ug
us

t 2
00

8
¹

FP
09

-0
5 

M
ap

 2
M

ak
hn

at
i I

sl
an

d
Fe

de
ra

l P
ub

lic
 W

at
er

s 
Ar

ea



314 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

and EO 8216 (July 25, 1939), approximately 190 acres (Map 2). The Makhnati Island area is described in 
the Federal Register (74 FR 34696) as follows:

Southeastern Alaska—Makhnati Island Area: Land and waters beginning at the southern point 
of Fruit Island, 57°21′35″ north latitude, 135°21′07″ west longitude as shown on United States 
Coast and Geodetic Survey Chart No. 8244, May 21, 1941; from the point of beginning, by metes 
and bounds; S. 58° W., 2500 feet, to the southern point of Nepovorotni Rocks; S. 83° W., 5600 
feet, on a line passing through the southern point of a small island lying about 150 feet south 
of Makhnati Island; N. 6° W., 4200 feet, on a line passing through the western point of a small 
island lying about 150 feet west of Makhnati Island, to the northwestern point of Signal Island; N. 
24° E., 3000 feet, to a point, 57°03′15″ north latitude, 135°23′07″ west longitude; East, 2900 feet, 
to a point in course No. 46 in meanders of U.S. Survey No. 1496, on west side of Japonski Island; 
Southeasterly, with the meanders of Japonski Island, U.S. Survey No. 1496 to angle point No. 35, 
on the Southwestern point of Japonski Island; S. 60° E., 3300 feet, along the boundary line of 
Naval reservation described in Executive order No. 8216, July 25, 1939, to the point beginning, 
and that part of Sitka Bay lying south of Japonski Island and west of the main channel, but not 
including Aleutski Island as revoked in Public Land Order 925, October 27, 1953, described 
by meets and bounds as follows: Beginning at the southeast point of Japonski Island at angle 
point No. 7 of the meanders of U.S. Survey No. 1496; thence east approximately 12.00 chains 
to the center of the main channel; thence S. 45° E. along the main channel approximately 20.00 
chains; thence S. 45° W. approximately 9.00 chains to the southeastern point of Aleutski Island; 
thence S. 79° W. approximately 40.00 chains to the southern point of Fruit Island; thence N. 60° 
W. approximately 50.00 chains to the southwestern point of Japonski Island at angle point No. 
35 of the U.S. Survey No 1496; thence easterly with the meanders of Japonski Island to the point 
of beginning including Charcoal, Harbor, Alice, Love, Fruit Islands and a number of smaller 
un-named islands. 

For purposes of this discussion, the phrase “Federal public waters” is defined as those waters described 
under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR 100.3.

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

The Board has not made a customary and traditional use determination for herring in this area; therefore, 
all rural residents of Alaska may harvest herring and herring spawn under Federal subsistence regulations 
in this area. 

Regulatory History

Federal Regulatory History

In January 2007, the Board considered two proposals regarding the subsistence herring egg harvest in 
the Makhnati Federal public waters near Sitka (FSB 2007a). FP07-18 was submitted by the Southeast 
Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council (Council) and FP07-19 was submitted by the Sitka Tribe 
of Alaska. Both proposals sought to close the Makhnati Federal public waters to commercial herring 
fishing during the months of March and April. The proponents believed that the closure would be a 
constructive step toward ensuring adequate subsistence harvests of herring and herring spawn. The Board 
deferred action on proposal FP07-18 and took no action on FP07-19 (FSB 2007a). The Board asked the 
Council to form a subcommittee to recommend criteria which would govern decisions to open or close 
the commercial herring fishery in the Makhnati Federal public waters and possible alternate solutions. 
The subcommittee did not reach consensus on all recommendations. However its report was presented 



315Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

to the Council in September 2007. The Council accepted the report and distributed it to the public. At 
its September meeting, the Council developed closure language for the Makhnati Island area based on 
the subcommittee report. The Council recommended the closure of Federal public waters near Makhnati 
Island to non-Federally qualified subsistence users when the forecast herring biomass is less than 
35,000 tons for the Sitka Sound area or when Amounts Necessary for Subsistence are not met for two 
consecutive years (SESRAC 2007). In comparison, the State of Alaska’s herring management plan used 
a threshold level of 20,000 tons, below which no commercial sac roe harvest would occur. The Board 
considered the Council’s recommendation during a December 2007 public meeting as part of proposal 
FP08-18. Following considerable oral testimony from Tribal representatives, professional managers and 
staff, the Board rejected the Council’s recommendation. The Board’s rationale for rejection was that there 
was not substantial evidence of a conservation concern or a need for a closure to insure the continuance of 
subsistence uses (FSB 2007b). 

On March 25, 2008, a special action request (FSA07-03) was received by the Board from the Sitka Tribe 
of Alaska requesting that the Federal public waters in the Makhnati Island area, as defined in 36 CFR 
242.3(b)(5) and 50 CFR §100.3(b)(5), be closed to the harvest of herring and herring spawn except for 
subsistence harvests by Federally qualified subsistence users from March 24, 2008 through April 30, 
2008. The Board responded by letter dated April 3, 2008. The Board informed the Sitka Tribe of Alaska 
that the commercial fishery was completed prior to the Board action and consequently the matter was 
moot.

Also on March 25, 2008 a letter was received by the Secretaries of Agriculture and the Interior from 
the Sitka Tribe of Alaska requesting that they exert extra-territorial jurisdiction authority to close the 
commercial herring fishery in the area shown in Map 3. In a letter to the Sitka Tribe of Alaska, the 
Secretaries denied the Sitka Tribe of Alaska’s request, and stated that the Secretaries “only exercise their 
authority to impose Federal jurisdiction outside of Federal public land under extraordinary circumstances. 
The threshold for such a decision is extremely high, and is not met in this case. With such a healthy 
herring biomass, there is clearly no conservation concern with regard to the herring stocks and the 
associated fishery in Sitka Sound. Given the spawning characteristics of herring, closing State marine 
waters as is being requested would not significantly increase the likelihood of Federally qualified users 
harvesting their desired amounts in the Makhnati Island Federal public waters.” 

In January of 2009 (FSB 2009) and again in January of 2011 (FSB 2011), the Board deferred proposal 
FP09-05 until no later than the next fisheries regulatory cycle. 

Reasons for Board Deferral in 2009

In January of 2009, the Board deferred this proposal until the next fisheries cycle to allow s l the Alaska 
Board of Fisheries on to act on a variety of proposals that could change State regulations for the Sitka 
Sound herring fisheries and to obtain results from two projects. 

One project , conducted by Heather Meuret-Woody of the Sitka Tribe of Alaska and Nate Bickford of the 
University of Great Falls, was an was based on the use trace chemical signatures of adult herring otoliths 
to identify discrete spawning areas within Sitka Sound (Meuret-Woody and Bickford 2009). The Board 
was particularly interested in whether herring spawning in Federal waters are a distinct population or 
stock. While the sampling strategy was very limited, the investigators detected a difference between adult 
herring in Salisbury Sound and Sitka Sound, but not among spawning herring within Sitka Sound ,which 
includes the Makhnati Federal public waters. 



316 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05



317Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

The other project, conducted by the Sitka Tribe of Alaska, was conducted to determine the amount of 
subsistence use of herring roe in the Federal Waters near Makhnati Island (Fisheries Resource Monitoring 
Program project 08-651, Makhnati Island Subsistence Herring Fishing Assessment). 

Reasons for Board Deferral in 2011

Immediately prior to the Council meeting, the Sitka Tribe of Alaska submitted a letter to Federal 
Subsistence Board Chairman Mr. Tim Towarak dated September 21, 2010 requesting FP09-05 be 
deferred. The Sitka Tribe of Alaska cited three reasons for deferral.

1. The Sitka Tribe of Alaska was conducting a study, commissioned by the Bureau of Indian 
Affairs, of current herring management in Sitka Sound. However, this study has not been 
peer reviewed for publication and is not anticipated to be ready for review by the Council 
or by the Board before its January 2013 meeting (Feldpausch 2012, pers. comm.). 

2. The Sitka Tribe of Alaska wanted results of project 08-651 to be available to the Council 
and Board. 

3. The Sitka Tribe of Alaska had formed a Herring Planning Research Priority Group, and 
the work of that group is not anticipated to be ready for review by the Council or by the 
Board before its January 2013 Board (Feldpausch 2012, pers. comm.)

State Regulatory History

In response to a poor subsistence herring egg harvest in 2001, the Sitka Tribe of Alaska submitted a 
proposal to the Alaska Board of Fisheries in 2002. The proposal requested that the herring sac roe fishery 
be dispersed to avoid concentrating the commercial harvest in traditional subsistence egg harvesting 
areas. The Alaska Board of Fisheries amended the proposal by removing a suggested requirement for 
a subsistence permit for all subsistence harvest in favor of face to face surveys to estimate subsistence 
herring egg harvest. The Alaska Board of Fisheries also established the ANS for herring roe in Sitka 
Sound, Section 13-A and13-B north of the latitude of Aspid Cape at 105,000 to 158,000 pounds (5AAC 
01.716(7) (b)) (Turek 2003). Regulations limit customary trade in herring roe on kelp (5AAC 01.717 
and 5 AAC 01.730 (g)). Other than spawn on kelp, there are no harvest limits for herring or herring 
spawn. When issuing a herring spawn on kelp subsistence fishing permit, the annual possession limit 
for herring spawn on kelp is 32 pounds for an individual or 158 pounds for a household of two or more 
persons. There are no regulations regarding subsistence reporting requirements, or specific allocations for 
subsistence (Turek 2006).

In November of 2002 a Memorandum of Agreement was signed by the Chairman of the Alaska Board 
of Fisheries, the Commissioner of the Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADF&G) and the Sitka 
Tribe of Alaska Chairman. The State and the Sitka Tribe of Alaska agreed to collaborate, communicate, 
and collect and share data (STA 2006). The Memorandum of Agreement contained provisions for 
in-season collaboration which included daily contact between the Sitka Tribe of Alaska and ADF&G 
and stipulated that the Sitka Tribe of Alaska would be consulted as to whether a proposed commercial 
opening might affect subsistence opportunity. If the Sitka Tribe of Alaska concluded there was a potential 
for the subsistence fishery to be adversely effected by a proposed opening, the Sitka Tribe of Alaska 
would provide this conclusion and reasoning to ADF&G verbally and in writing. A formal objection to a 
proposed opening did not necessarily result in a commercial closure, as ADF&G maintained discretion as 
to whether or not to open the commercial fishery. In June of 2009 the ADF&G sent a letter to Sitka Tribe 



318 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

of Alaska withdrawing from the Memorandum of Agreement because of the perception that the Sitka 
Tribe of Alaska had access to information and input into decision making that was not readily available to 
the general public and other user groups. 

The ADF&G is required to “distribute the commercial harvest by fishing time and area if the department 
[ADF&G] determines that is necessary to ensure that subsistence users have a reasonable opportunity to 
harvest the amount of herring spawn necessary for subsistence uses” (5AAC27.195(a)(2)). Additionally, 
commercial herring vessels permit holders, and crew members may not take or possess herring for 
subsistence 72 hours prior to or following a commercial herring fishing period.

In February of 2009 the Alaska Board of Fisheries created new regulations for the Sitka Sound herring 
fisheries which were in effect beginning with the 2010 season. Descriptions of those actions follow:

1. Section 13-A south of the latitude of Point Kakul (57°21.75’ N. lat) in Salisbury Sound will 
formally be included in the Sitka Sound sac roe seine area [5AAC 27.110(b)(1)(d)].

2. The threshold mature biomass below which no fishery would occur in Sitka Sound was 
increased from 20,000 tons to 25,000 tons. The harvest rate when the biomass is above 
25,000 tons does not change from the harvest rate previously established in regulation except 
that the minimum harvest rate, when the forecast biomass is at 25,000 tons, will be 12% 
[5AAC 27.160(g)].

3. The range of the amount of herring roe reasonably necessary for subsistence in Section 
13-A and Section 13-B north of Aspid Cape was increased from 105,000–158,000 pounds to 
136,000–227,000 pounds [5AAC 01.716(b)].

On February 28, 2012, the Alaska Board of Fisheries took action to define a subsistence only or non-
commercial sac-roe zone in Sitka Sound that is north and west of the Eliason Harbor Breakwater and 
Makhnati Island causeway from the western most tip of Makhnati Island to the eastern most point on 
Belie Rock to the southern-most tip of Gagarin Island to a point on the eastern shore of Crow Island at 57° 
6.430′  W. longitude to a point on the western shore of Middle Island at 57° 6.407′ N. Latitude 135°28.105′ 
W. longitude to a point on the southeast shore of Middle Island at 57˚5.557′ North latitude 135˚26.227′ W. 
Longitude to the green day marker northeast of Kasiana island, to the Baranof Island shore at 57˚5.258′ 
North latitude, 135˚ 22.951′ West longitude (Figure 1).

Biological Background

The following is excerpted from the ADF&G Wildlife Notebook Series (ADF&G 2000): 

Pacific herring generally spawn during the spring. In Alaska, spawning is first observed in the 
southeastern archipelago during mid-March. Spawning is confined to shallow, vegetated areas in 
the intertidal and subtidal zones. 

The eggs are adhesive, and survival is better for those eggs which stick to intertidal vegetation 
than for those which fall to the bottom. Milt released by the males drifts among the eggs and 
fertilizes them. The eggs hatch in about two weeks, depending on the temperature of the water. 

Herring spawn every year after reaching sexual maturity at 3 or 4 years of age. The number of 
eggs varies with the age of the fish and averages 20,000 annually. Average life span for these fish 
is about 8 years in Southeast Alaska. 



319Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

Figure 1.  January 2012 Alaska Board of Fisheries action to create a non-commercial 
herring sac-roe fishery zone (indicated by diagonal lines) in Sitka Sound that includes 
part of the Makhnati Federal waters. 



320 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

Mortality of the eggs is high. Young larvae drift and swim with the ocean currents and are preyed 
upon extensively by other vertebrate and invertebrate predators. Following metamorphosis of the 
larvae to the juvenile form, they rear in sheltered bays and inlets and appear to remain segregated 
from adult populations until they are mature. 

Herring are located in distinctly different environments during different periods of the year. After 
spawning, most adults leave inshore waters and move offshore to feed primarily on zooplankton 
such as copepods and other crustaceans. They are seasonal feeders and accumulate fat reserves 
for periods of relative inactivity. Herring schools often follow a diel vertical migration pattern, 
spending daylight hours near the bottom and moving upward during the evening to feed. 

The biomass of herring returning to spawn in Sitka Sound has been trending higher over the last 41 years 
of commercial fishing (Figure 2). The 2010 forecast estimate of herring biomass in the Sitka Area was 
estimated at 91,467 tons and the 2011 forecast was 97,449 tons. The 2012 forecast was the largest to date 
at 144,143 tons (Thynes et al., 2012).

Figure 2. Trend line illustrating herring escapement in Sitka Sound from 1971 to 2011. 

0

20000

40000

60000

80000

100000

120000

140000

He
rr
in
g
Re

tu
rn

(T
on

s)

Year

Estimated Return of Herring to Sitka Sound in Tons with
Trendline

Estimated Escapement

Trendline

Harvest History

Subsistence Harvest Methods

The subsistence herring egg harvest is a complex and time intensive process. According to Schroeder and 
Kookesh (1990), this customary and traditional harvest is conducted using a variety of egg deposition 
strata including hemlock branches and trees, kelp, seaweed and occasionally man-made materials. In 
the spring (late March–April), seal, sea lion, and sea gull feeding activity are indicators for subsistence 
harvesters that the herring have arrived in Sitka Sound. There are many “superhouseholds” who harvest 
herring eggs for multiple households in addition to their own. Herring eggs are a highly valued item in 
subsistence trade and sharing networks. Detailed examination of the subsistence herring egg harvest is 
described by Schroeder and Kookesh (1990). 



321Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

Subsistence Harvest

The ADF&G Division of Subsistence conducted research on the subsistence harvest of herring eggs in 
Sitka Sound as part of household harvest surveys conducted in Sitka in 1997 (ADF&G 2003). At the 
January 2002 meeting, the Alaska Board of Fisheries requested that ADF&G Division of Subsistence 
work with the Sitka Tribe of Alaska and conduct harvest surveys for the Sitka Sound herring egg fishery. 
In 2002 and 2003, the ADF&G provided field survey and interview project support, and data analysis. 
The Sitka Tribe of Alaska, working with ADF&G staff conducted interviews in person with harvesters 
and provided harvest data to ADF&G for analysis in 2002 and 2003. Research conducted by ADF&G 
and the Sitka Tribe of Alaska in 2002 and 2003 produced harvest estimates of the total pounds of herring 
eggs-on-hemlock-branches and the total pounds of herring eggs harvested on Macrocystis, hair seaweed 
and other substrate. The Sitka Tribe of Alaska also collected harvest data from 2004 through 2008 (STA 
2006 and Turek 2008). In 2008 the Fisheries Resource Monitoring Program funded project 08-651, 
Makhnati Island Subsistence Herring Fishing Assessment, to determine the total harvest of herring spawn 
from Federal public waters in Sitka Sound. 

Subsistence users are allowed to harvest herring and herring eggs anywhere in and around Sitka Sound. 
The location and intensity of herring spawn in Sitka Sound varies from year to year. From 1978 to 2012, 
the amount of spawn deposition has varied from 13 to 104 nautical miles of beach per year and has not 
occurred in the same areas every year. Spawn deposition is more consistent in some areas, but spawning 
is not assured in any area every year. Spawn and subsistence harvest occurs in most years within Federal 
public waters. However, where people harvest herring eggs is ultimately determined by where the herring 
spawn. In 2012, the observed spawn deposition was quite extensive in the traditional subsistence harvest 
areas (Figure 3).

For the available years of data (1997, 2002–2011), the average annual total harvest of eggs in Sitka Sound 
on all substrates was 168,471 pounds (Table 1). When compared to the amounts necessary for subsistence 
established by the Alaska Board of Fisheries, subsistence needs were not met in 2005, 2007, 2008 and 
2011 (Holen et al. 2011).

Table 1. Subsistence Harvest of Herring 
Roe on All Substrates, Sitka Sound 
(Coonradt 2012).
Year Total Roe Harvest (lbs.)
1997 127,174
2002 151,717
2003 278,799
2004 381,226
2005 83,985
2006 219,356
2007 87,211
2008 71,936
2009 213,712
2010 154,620
2011 83,443
2012 Pending
Average 168,471



322 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

Commercial Harvest

The following is excerpted from Woodby et al. (2005): 

Sac roe fisheries harvest herring just before spawning using either purse seine or gillnet. The roe 
is salted and packaged as a product that sometimes sells for over $100/lb ($220/kg) in Japan. In 
recent years the Alaska sac roe harvest has averaged about 50,000 tons (45,500 mt), almost all of 
which ends up in the Japanese marketplace. 

The Southeast Alaska Sac Roe Herring Fishery is managed by ADF&G under a management plan 
(Gordon et al 2010). Table 2 displays the fisheries statistics for the Sitka Sound commercial sac roe 
herring fishery from 1971 through 2012 (Coonradt 2012).

The area where the commercial sac roe herring fishery occurs varies widely from year to year. From 
1992 to 2012, the Federal public waters near Makhnati Island have made up part of the areas open to 
commercial sac roe herring fishing 7 out of 21 years (1993, 1999, 2001, 2003, 2005, 2006 and 2011). In 
1993, the entire area was part of a larger area open to commercial fishing. In 1999, 2001 and 2005, only 

Figure 3.  2012 cumulative herring spawn in Sitka Sound. (Coonradt 2012)



323Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

Table 2.  Sac Roe Herring Harvest and Herring Spawn Information, Sitka Sound  (Coonradt 2012).

Sac Roe Date of Nautical 
Forecast Quota Harvest Roe *Estimated Fishing First Miles

Year Biomass (tons) (tons) Percent Escapement Dates Spawn Spawn
1971 - 750 278 8.3 4,798 - 6-Apr 9.0
1972 - 850 603 - 7,620 - 28-Apr 14.0
1973 - 600 537 8.5 5,645 - 11-Apr 10.0
1974 - 600 712 12 5,645 - 13-Apr 10.0
1975 6,400 550 1,484 11 4,516 - 18-Apr 8.0
1976 7,300 780 795 10.2 3,477 4/16 15-Apr 13.0
1977 5,650 0 0 - 5,904 - 8-Apr 11.0
1978 4,500 250 238 11 3,850 4/5 8-Apr 13.0
1979 20,300 2,000 2,559 9.3 23,144 4/12 13-Apr 41.0
1980 39,500 4,000 4,445 10.8 41,750 4/4, 4/5 3-Apr 63.0
1981 27,000 3,000 3,506 11.0 42,306 3/24, 3/26 22-Mar 60.0
1982 30,000 3,000 4,363 11.7 28,478 3/30 24-Mar 40.8
1983 32,850 5,500 5,416 11.1 33,673 3/26, 3/29 21-Mar 68.0
1984 30,550 5,000 5,830 11.1 41,628 3/26 - 3/28 21-Mar 65.0
1985 38,500 7,700 7,475 11.3 33,417 3/29, 4/1, 4/5 29-Mar 60.5
1986 30,950 5,029 5,443 11.9 27,025 4/2, 4/8 27-Mar 51.6
1987 24,750 3,600 4,216 9.9 45,133 3/31 21-Mar 86.0
1988 46,050 9,200 9,390 9.5 56,544 4/4 - 4/14 23-Mar 104.0
1989 58,500 11,700 11,831 9.4 33,052 3/31 - 4/8 19-Mar 65.5
1990 27,200 4,150 3,804 10.6 23,311 4/5 - 4/6 31-Mar 39.1
1991 22,750 3,200 1,838 8.9 30,693 4/10 - 4/13 1-Apr 44.5
1992 23,450 3,356 5,368 9.4 47,833 4/6 28-Mar 72.5
1993 48,500 9,700 10,186 10.7 25,702 3/27 - 4/3 24-Mar 55.3
1994 28,450 4,432 4,758 11.0 17,824 3/29, 3/31 28-Mar 58.1
1995 19,700 2,609 2,908 11.8 28,546 3/25, 3/27 21-Mar 37.3
1996 42,265 8,144 8,144 9.6 32,251 3/23. 3/31-4/8 22-Mar 45.6
1997 54,500 10,900 11,147 11.5 35,175 3/18-21, 23 19-Mar 41.0
1998 39,200 6,900 6,638 10.2 39,398 3/16,3/18,3/19 19-Mar 64.5
1999 43,600 8,476 9,217 10.7 47,226 3/22, 3/24, 3/26-27 22-Mar 59.5
2000 33,365 5,120 4,630 9.9 52,360 3/19, 3/22 19-Mar 54.5
2001 52,985 10,597 11,974 11.3 55,732 3/22, 3/26, 3/27 23-Mar 61.0
2002 55,209 11,042 9,788 10.9 71,358 3/27-4/15 24-Mar 42.6
2003 39,378 6,969 7,051 10.7 65,142 3/22,3/23,3/26 23-Mar 47.1
2004 53,088 10,618 10,490 10.8 78,546 3/21,3/25,3/27 27-Mar 79.8
2005 55,962 11,192 11,366 11.5 76,718 3/23,3/25,3/27-29 24-Mar 39.5
2006 52,059 10,412 9,967 10.5 79,580 3/24,3/26,3/27,3/29 23-Mar 57.4
2007 59,519 11,904 11,571 11.4 80,683 3/26,3/30,4/1,4/3 28-Mar 50.2
2008 87,715 14,723 14,386 11.5 90,102 3/25,3/26,3/31 27-Mar 55.3
2009 72,521 14,504 14,776 11.8 79,862 3/22,3/24,3/28,3/31,4/2 2-Apr 65.6
2010 91,467 18,293 17,874 12.5 NA 3/24,3/27,3/30,4/2 2-Apr 87.7
2011 97,449 19,490 19,429 13.3 132,000 3/31,4/1,4/4,4/7,4/9 3-Apr 78.3
2012 144,143 28,829 10,795 11.8 3/31,4/2,4/7 31-Mar 55.9

Average
1971-2012 40,625 6,606 6,839 10.8 40,941 49.7

* Pre-1980 Estimated Escapement based on either hydroacoustic surveys or applying a conversion of approximately 45

* 1980 to present estimated escapement from current year ASA model



324 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

the Whiting Harbor side (north side) was included and in 2003, 2006 and 2011 only the Nepovorotni 
side (south side) was included. In 2011, one commercial opening occurred in the southern portion of the 
Makhnati Federal public waters (Figure 4). In 2012, all commercial sac roe harvest occurred well north 
of the Makhnati Federal waters (Figure 5). Since the area of Federal public waters has been a part of 
larger areas open to commercial fishing, there is no way to apportion harvest from only Federal public 
waters. The most of the commercial harvest has been taken well away from Federal public waters and 
traditional subsistence harvest areas, yet adequate subsistence harvests were not obtained in 2005, 2007, 
2008 and 2011.

Effects of the Proposal

This proposal would close the Federal public waters in the Makhnati Island area near Sitka to all uses of 
herring and herring spawn except for subsistence harvest by Federally qualified users. All rural residents 
of Alaska would be eligible to harvest herring and herring spawn for subsistence purposes, but there 
would be no State subsistence, sport or commercial harvest in Federal public waters. 

Under ANILCA 815(3), a Federal closure of a fishery may only be exercised when it is necessary to 
conserve fish stocks or to continue subsistence uses. The Board determined in December of 2007 that 
there was no conservation concern with herring in this area at recent biomass levels and that closing 
Federal public waters to non-Federally qualified users would not benefit subsistence users (FSB 2007b). 

Federal fisheries managers have been delegated the authority to close or re-open Federal public waters 
to non-subsistence fishing. This delegation may be exercised only when it is necessary to conserve fish 
stocks or to continue subsistence uses. Although the ADF&G forecasts the herring biomass before the 
season starts, the actual return and spawning success of herring is not known until after the commercial 
and subsistence fisheries are completed. Therefore, Federal actions to close waters to non-Federal uses 
would only take place in years for which the herring biomass was forecasted to be below the threshold 
needed to support commercial uses. Otherwise, since the commercial fishery usually takes place well 
before the subsistence fishery, managers would usually not know that subsistence harvests were poor until 
long after the commercial fishery ended.

 Adequate subsistence harvests were obtained in 2009 and in 2010. In years when subsistence harvests 
were less than adequate, it is unlikely that a closure to other users in Federal public waters would have 
made a difference. For example, in the Federal public waters in 2008, no commercial harvest occurred 
and the spawn deposition was extremely minimal; therefore, a closure would not have been effective. 
Spawn location is a prime factor affecting harvesters’ success. Additionally, inclement weather, spawn 
timing, loss of sets, and the amount of participation by high harvesters are other likely contributors to 
subsistence harvesters not meeting their desired harvest level. The size of the stock, the commercial 
harvest levels, and the effective dispersion of the commercial fishery necessitates identifying other factors 
responsible for subsistence harvesters not meeting their desired harvest level. Closing Federal marine 
waters, as is being requested, would do little to help Federally qualified users meet their desired harvest 
levels for herring.

The Alaska Board of Fisheries has taken several steps to improve harvest opportunities for subsistence 
users. In 2009, they took action to increase the minimum biomass threshold for conducting a commercial 
sac roe fishery from 20,000 to 25,000 tons. This action adds a measure of conservation if the biomass 
decreases. It has no effect currently since biomass levels are more than four times that amount. Second, 
they added Salisbury Sound to the commercial fishery area. However, this had little or no effect on 
subsistence users since no subsistence harvest of herring eggs occurs there. Third, they raised the 
Amounts Necessary for Subsistence range for the subsistence harvest of herring roe in recognition of 



325Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

Figure 4. The second opening of the 2011 herring sac-roe fishery encompassing the 
southern portion of the Makhnati Federal public waters (Coonradt 2011). 



326 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

Figure 5. 2012 Sitka Sound commercial sac-roe herring openings (Coonradt 2012). 



327Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

historical use, and the new amount better represents the needs of subsistence users. Lastly, in February 
of 2012, they set aside a sac-roe exclusion area that encompassed the northern portion of the Makhnati 
Federal public waters and included a large portion of the core subsistence areas near Kasiana, Crow and 
Middle Islands. While this area is smaller than the area requested by the Sitka Tribe of Alaska, it did set 
aside some of the most important waters for subsistence use. The Sitka Tribe of Alaska did not include the 
southern portion of the Federal Public waters in their request to the Alaska Board of Fisheries. 

OSM Conclusion

Oppose Proposal FP09-05.

Justification

This proposal is similar to the proposal considered by the Board at its December 2007 meeting. At that 
time the Board determined there was no conservation concern in this area for herring and that closing 
Federal public waters to non-Federally qualified users would not benefit subsistence users. The biomass 
in Sitka Sound has been trending higher since 1971, and the greatest estimated biomass occurred in 2011. 

No commercial harvest has occurred in Federal public waters from 2007 through 2010 or in 2012. 
Most of the commercial harvest has been taken well away from Federal public waters and traditional 
subsistence harvest areas, and there have been no restrictions on subsistence uses.

In years when subsistence harvests were not adequate it is unlikely that a closure to other users in the 
Makhnati Federal Public waters would have made a difference. 

Recent actions by the Alaska Board of Fisheries have created a non-commercial sac-roe fishing zone that 
protects subsistence uses in the more productive portions of the Makhnati Federal Public waters. 

Adoption of this proposal would result in further area closures to non-Federally qualified users, which do 
not appear to be needed for either conservation purposes or to protect Federally qualified uses. 

LITERATURE CITED

ADF&G. 2000. ADF&G Wildlife Notebook Series: Pacific Herring. Internet: www.state.ak/ADF&G/notebook/fish.
htm.

ADF&G. 2003. Community profile database. Microcomputer database, ADF&G Div. of Subsistence, updated 2003.

Coonradt, E. 2011. ADF&G Div. of Commercial Fisheries. Personal communication: (email) Sitka, AK.

Coonradt, E. 2012. ADF&G Div. of Commercial Fisheries. Personal communication: (email) Sitka, AK.

Feldpausch, J. 2012. Sitka Tribe of Alaska. Natural Resources Protection Director. Personal Communication: (email) 
Sitka, AK,

FSB. 2007a. Transcripts of the Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, January 10, 2007. Office of Subsistence 
Management,FWS. Anchorage, AK.

FSB. 2007b. Transcripts of the Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, December 12, 2007. Office of Subsistence 
Management,FWS. Anchorage, AK. 



328 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

FSB. 2009. Transcripts of Federal Subsistence Board Proceedings, January 2009. Office of Subsistence Management 
FWS. Anchorage, AK.

FSB. 2011. Transcripts of Federal Subsistence Board Proceedings, January 20, 2011. Office of Subsistence 
Management FWS. Anchorage, AK.

Gordon, Dave, W. Davidson, K. Monagle, T. Thynes, S. Walker. 2010. 2010 Southeast Alaska Sac Roe Herring 
Fishery Management Plan, Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Regional Information Report Series No. 1J10-03, 
Douglas, AK

Holen, D. J. Stariwart, T. Lemons, V. Ciccone and M. Turek. 2011. The Subsistence Harvest of Herring Spawn in 
Sitka Alaska 2002-2010. ADF&G Division of Subsistence Technical Paper No. 343. Anchorage.

Meuret-Woody, H. and N. Bickford. 2009. Identifying essential habitat (source vs. sink habitat) for Pacific Herring 
(Clupea pallasi) in Sitka Sound using otolith microchemistry, Exxon Valdez Oil Spill Restoration Project Final 
Report (Restoration Project 080834), Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Habitat and Restoration Division, 
Anchorage, Alaska.

Schroeder, R. F., M. Kookesh. 1990. The subsistence harvest of herring eggs in Sitka Sound, Alaska. Tech. Paper 
No.173. ADF&G Div. of Subsistence. Juneau, AK.

SESRAC. 2007. Transcripts of the Southeast Alaska Subsistence Regional Advisory Council proceedings, 
September , 2007 in Haines, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK. 

STA. 2006. 2005 Post-season herring harvest report. Unpublished report. Sitka Tribe of Alaska. Sitka, AK. 12 pages. 

Thynes, T., D. Gordon, K. Monagle and S. Walker. 2012. 2012 Southeast Alaska sac roe herring Fishery 
Management Plan. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division of Commercial Fisheries, Regional Information 
Report 1J12-02, Douglas.

Turek, M. F., 2003. Sitka Sound herring roe fishery 2003. Unpublished. report. ADF&G Div. of Subsistence. 
Douglas, AK. 

Turek, M. F., 2006. Subsistence herring roe harvests near Sitka, Alaska. Report to the Alaska Board of Fisheries 
January 2006 for Proposal 81. Unpublished report, ADF&G Div. of Subsistence. Douglas, AK.

 Turek, M.F. 2008. ADF&G Div. of Subsistence. Personal communication: (email) Douglas, AK.

Woodby, D., D. Carlile, S. Siddeek, F. Funk, J. H. Clark, and L.Hubert. 2005. Commercial fisheries of Alaska. 
ADF&G. Special Publication No. 05-09. Anchorage, AK.



329Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION

SOUTHEAST ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification: The majority of the Council agreed there was no conservation concern for the Sitka 
Sound herring stock.  The stock has shown an increasing population trend for many years and even with 
the erroneous high forecast in 2012, the stock is at a high abundance level.  The recent decision by the 
State Board of Fish to close a significant portion of Sitka Sound (including most of the Federal Public 
Waters) to commercial fishing was an important factor in the decision to not support the proposal.  The 
decision by the State Board of Fish was a consensus, arrived at through a public process with all the 
stakeholders participating.  The Council should honor that process.  Several council members noted that 
herring eggs are typically harvested by residents of many communities and shared widely throughout the 
State.  Residents of urban communities (specifically Juneau and Ketchikan) have a long history of use of 
this resource and this proposal would unnecessarily prevent harvesting in this area by residents of urban 
communities.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



330 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

ADF&G Comments on FP09-05 
Page 1 of 3 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Updated 11/30/2010 Comments to Federal Subsistence Board1 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP09-05:  Close Makhnati Island Area to harvest of herring by non-
federally qualified users.   
 
Introduction:  Proposal FP09-052 requests closure of marine waters of Makhnati Island and 
Whiting Harbor, which are subject to federal claims of jurisdiction, to harvest of herring by non-
federally qualified users.  The closure would only allow subsistence herring fishing by federally-
qualified users and would bar state subsistence, sport, and commercial fisheries for herring or 
herring spawn in the area.  The proposed closure area is not where the primary subsistence 
herring fishing has occurred, and commercial harvest rarely occurs in the area.  In 2012, the 
Alaska Board of Fisheries adopted regulations closing a large area of Sitka Sound to commercial 
herring harvest for the purpose of providing for subsistence opportunity.  This closure area 
includes about half of the Makhnati Island Federal public waters and also includes areas of Sitka 
Sound more heavily used by subsistence harvesters than the Makhnati federal waters.  The total 
area closed by the Alaska Board of Fisheries is approximately 25 square kilometers compared to 
the 3 square kilometers of the Makhnati federal waters (see attached map).  There is no new 
information provided that would support the proposed closure.3 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  The proposed closure would prohibit subsistence and sport 
harvest in this area by non-federally qualified individuals.  A closure in this small area (3 square 
kilometers) would have little or no impact on the total subsistence, sport, or commercial harvests. 
 
Impact on Other Users:  None noted at this time. 
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  For the majority of subsistence herring egg harvest, the 
department does not restrict fishing periods, seasons, or amount of herring harvested for 
subsistence purposes in this area.  Harvest of spawn on hemlock boughs or spawn on hair kelp is 
unrestricted, and no state permit is required.  The Alaska Board of Fisheries, in February 2012, 
closed approximately 25 square kilometers of Sitka Sound to the commercial harvest of herring 
for the purpose of providing for subsistence herring egg harvesting opportunity.  This closure 
encompasses areas most heavily used by subsistence harvesters and includes a portion of the 
Makhnati federal public waters north of the causeway.  Post-season evaluation of subsistence 
harvest is accomplished by a harvest monitoring program conducted by Sitka Tribe of Alaska in 
cooperation with the Department’s Division of Subsistence. The results of this monitoring 
program have indicated little subsistence harvesting effort occurs in the Makhnati federal waters.  

                                                 
1 Source:  USFWS (U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service).  2011.   Federal Subsistence Board meeting: review of fisheries 
proposals  January 18-20, 2011, discussion and develop approach to tribal consultation  January 21, 2011.  Office of 
Subsistence Management,  Anchorage,  AK, pp.272-274. 
2 Proposal FP09-05 was deferred by the Federal Subsistence Board at its January 2009 meeting.  FP09-05 was 
originally Proposal FP07-18, which was deferred by the Federal Subsistence Board at its January 2007 meeting, 
renumbered, and resubmitted for consideration at the Federal Board’s December 2007 meeting, where it was 
rejected, 1-5. 
3 Information presented to the Southeast Regional Advisory Council meeting on September 24, 2008, did not 
provide evidence that closing Makhnati Island area to non-federally qualified users would meet the requirements of 
the Federal Subsistence Board’s closure policy (i.e., necessary for conservation or provide subsistence uses). 



331Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

ADF&G Comments on FP09-05 
Page 2 of 3 

 
The Alaska Board of Fisheries found that 136,000 to 227,000 pounds of herring spawn is the 
amount reasonably necessary for subsistence uses in Sections 13-A and Section 13-B north of 
Aspid Cape.  The Department requires a permit that may limit harvest of spawn on Macrocystis 
kelp and requires harvest reporting following the season.  (See 5 AAC 01.730(g)) Harvest of 
Macrosystis kelp accounts for an average of only two percent of the subsistence harvest on all 
substrate types, so state requirements for spawn on kelp harvest is not a significant limitation. 
 
The limited non-commercial exchange for cash of subsistence-harvested herring roe on kelp, 
harvested in Districts 1-16 under terms of a permit, is allowed as customary trade.  The annual 
possession limit for spawn-on-kelp is 32 pounds for an individual and 158 pounds for a 
household of two or more people.  The Department has authority to issue additional permits for 
herring spawn-on-kelp above the annual possession limit if harvestable surpluses are available.  
Commercial herring vessels, permit holders, and crew members may not take or possess herring 
72 hours prior to or following a commercial herring fishing period. 
 
Conservation Issues:  There are no conservation or management concerns for the Sitka Sound 
herring stock that potentially spawn in waters of the Makhnati Island area.  From 1979 through 
present, the Sitka Sound herring resource has been above the current 25,000 ton threshold every 
year, with only one exception, and the run has averaged 105,000 tons per season in the ten-year 
period (2002-2011).   Herring are managed under a conservative management strategy that sets 
threshold biomass levels below which commercial harvest is not allowed and limits harvest rates 
to 12-20 percent of total mature spawning biomass.  This is a time-proven strategy that provides 
for conservation benefits above the threshold level and harvest rate, especially given the highly 
variable nature of herring spawning behavior. 
 
Enforcement Issues:  None noted at this time. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  The Federal Subsistence Board does not have authority to close this area 
solely to commercial herring fishing as suggested by some closure proponents.  Instead, the 
Federal Subsistence Board would have to close the area to herring harvest by all non-federally 
qualified users, which would include all subsistence, personal use, sport, commercial, and other 
harvests occurring under state regulations.  Such a closure is not necessary to provide for 
continued federal subsistence and would violate section 815 of ANILCA.   
 
Other Issues:  Herring biomass in Sitka Sound has shown a long-term increase and is considered 
healthy.   The State closure applies only to the commercial harvest of herring allowing the 
continued use of this area by non-federally qualified subsistence, personal use and sport 
harvesters.   
 
The 2012 herring biomass forecast was 144,143 tons and the commercial guideline harvest level 
was 28,829 tons.  The commercial harvest in 2012 was 13,215 tons taken during 3 openings. The 
spawning biomass after the 2012 fishery, as estimated by spawn deposition surveys, is not 
available at this time, though the observed spawn indicated that the return of spawning herring to 
Sitka Sound was substantially less than forecast.  In 2012, the total shoreline mapped with 



332 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05

ADF&G Comments on FP09-05 
Page 3 of 3 

herring spawn was 55.9 nautical miles.  The average spawn mileage for the period of 1979-2011 
is 58.8 nautical miles.  
 
Recommendation: Oppose. 
 
 

 
 
Map of commercial herring closure area adopted by the Alaska Board of Fisheries (2012) and the 
Makhnati federal public waters.   



333Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05 Written Public Comments

WRITTEN PUBLIC COMMENTS

Oppose. Sitka Herring Association represents the interests of commercial herring sac roe fishery permit 
holders and opposes the seemingly endless efforts by the Sitka Tribe of Alaska to eliminate the State 
managed commercial fishery for herring in Federally owned waters surrounding Makhnati Island. Since 
no new information has been presented by the Sitka Tribe of Alaska in proposal FP09-05 and that it is 
effectively the same as previous proposals FP07-18 and FP08-18, review of this proposal for the third 
consecutive year is unnecessary and overly burdensome to the affected parties. Consequently, Sitka 
Herring Association requests that the Federal Subsistence Board to deny further hearings on this subject.

This spring, Sitka Herring Association and a number of processing companies joined together to provide 
and pay for a transport vessel which was used to support subsistence efforts. In addition, one local 
processor independently provided a vessel and support for subsistence gatherers to harvest herring eggs 
on branches in excess of their own needs for those interested in obtaining the product. Both projects were 
designed to provide subsistence foods to those who—for one reason or another—were unable to obtain 
their own.

In spite of over 50 linear miles of herring spawn throughout Sitka Sound this season (2008), there have 
been reports of inadequate harvest for subsistence gatherers. Much of the spawn deposition appeared to 
occur outside of easily accessible areas with very little around Makhnati Island. While the utility of the 
Makhnati Island area for subsistence use is questionable under the best of circumstances, given this year’s 
spawn distribution, withdrawal and closure of the Makhnati Island group would have had no affect on the 
outcome of subsistence gathering efforts.

Together, permit holders and processors are working to resolve legitimate issues as they arise with 
subsistence users. With Sitka Sound herring roe issues on the Alaska Board of Fisheries’ agenda in 
January 2009, it would be helpful for the Federal Subsistence Board to refuse consideration of FP09-05 so 
that more thorough airing of subsistence issues relating to the entirety of the Sitka Sound area can be dealt 
with through the State regulatory process.

Submitted by Scott Mcallister, President, Sitka Herring Association

Oppose. United Fishermen of Alaska (UFA), a trade association of 37 Alaska commercial fishing 
organizations as well as individual members representing commercial fishermen throughout the state 
and its offshore waters, has monitored actions taken by the Federal Subsistence Board since 1999 when 
Federal management of subsistence fisheries through ANILCA was effected. Commercial fishing is above 
all dependent on access to marine fishery resources, and UFA has a general obligation to address any 
Federal Subsistence Board action that can compromise that access. Although UFA is aware of ANILCA 
mandates that provide a priority for Federally qualified subsistence users, we are concerned that proposal 
FP09-05, which would close Federal waters near Makhnati Island in Sitka Sound to commercial herring 
fishing, does little or nothing for subsistence users while usurping State jurisdiction in the commercial 
fishery. The Alaska Board of Fisheries-approved management plan for the Sitka herring fishery has been 
designed with a herring biomass threshold that provides subsistence opportunities before any commercial 
fishery can take place, ensuring opportunity for subsistence harvest. We oppose proposal FP09-05 as an 
unnecessary intrusion into State fisheries management.

A similar measure was proposed in the 2007 cycle, deferred to 2008 and turned down by the Federal 
Subsistence Board. Commercial herring seiners, as indicated in testimony before the Board, provided 
transportation of subsistence users to and from Makhnati Island in the spirit of cooperation between 
commercial and subsistence fishing communities during the 2008 fishery.



334 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05 Written Public Comments

UFA urges the Federal Subsistence Board to reject proposal FP09-05 or any related RAC variations 
that can compromise well-managed and sustainable commercial fisheries in waters that—except for an 
oversight in title transfer related to statehood—would clearly be State of Alaska territorial waters.

Mark Vinsel, Executive Director, United Fishermen of Alaska

Oppose adoption of Proposal FP09-05. Southeast Herring Conservation Alliance (SHCA) represents 
Sitka Sound Sac Roe permit holders, crew members, tender operators and pilots. SHCA opposes Proposal 
FP09-05 requesting the closure to non-federal users of the marine waters near Makhnati Island and 
Whiting Harbor.

In March 2012, the State of Alaska Board of Fish closed an area in Whiting Harbor and near Makhnati 
Island to commercial fishing to recognize subsistence users. Half of the area requested in proposal FP09-
05 is now closed due to the 2012 Board of Fish action. In addition, the BOF closed a much larger area that 
is contiguous with the area requested in the federal subsistence proposal. This area continues north along 
Kasiana and Middle Islands, where much of the subsistence herring egg harvest occurs. Additional area is 
not necessary at this time to provide for a subsistence priority.

Furthermore, the Makhnati area is not where herring spawn in most years and closing it could have a 
detrimental effect on subsistence harvest by shifting fishing effort toward more important and heavily 
used subsistence harvest beaches. Currently ADF&G manages the fishery in such a way to conduct 
openings away from the ‘Core Area’ for subsistence and Makhnati is not in the Core Area.

The Sitka Sound herring stock remains healthy and robust. Herring stocks throughout southeast 
Alaska behaved abnormally in 2012. It remains to be seen what the sampling data will reveal about the 
populations.

Subsistence needs are being met as evidenced by delivery of herring eggs to the dock in Sitka during 
2009, 2010, and 2012 seasons when some 30,000 lbs of weighed and measured herring eggs were 
provided. Eggs were provided each year until community members stopped coming to the dock. Eggs 
were provided to supplement what individual harvesters provided on their own, or to people who could 
not harvest for themselves. Herring eggs on hemlock branches were distributed to anyone that wanted 
them and it was truly a joyous community event for five continuous days each year.

We agree with ADF&G’s comments of December 2, 2008 and updated on August 31, 2010, pages 122 – 
124 in the FSB proposal comment document. No information has been provided that justifies closing the 
Makhnati Island area; and therefore the proposal should remain withdrawn and no changes made to the 
federal waters.

Southeast Herring Conservation Alliance

Oppose. Southeast Alaska Fishermen’s Alliance continues to oppose this proposal. The State of Alaska 
Board of Fish took action during the winter of 2011–2012 and closed an area to commercial fishing for 
the use by subsistence users. Approximately ½ of the area requested in the federal subsistence proposal 
was closed as well as substantially more area where subsistence fishermen testified as to fishing. 
Additional area is not necessary at this time to provide for a subsistence priority. Attached is a map 
showing the area closed by the Board of Fish compared to the area requested in this proposal.

Kathy Hansen, Executive Director
Southeast Alaska Fishermen’s Alliance



335Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP09-05



336 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-02

FP13-02 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-02 requests a change in the marking of Chinook 

salmon taken for subsistence purposes in Districts 1, 2, and 3 on 
the Yukon River. Submitted by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, 
Fairbanks Fish and Wildlife Field Office

Proposed Regulation §___.27(e)(3)(xx) In Districts 1, 2, and 3, from June 1 through 
July 15, you may not possess Chinook salmon taken for subsistence 
purposes unless the dorsal fin has both tips (lobes) of the tail fin 
have been removed immediately after landingbefore the person 
conceals the salmon from plain view or transfers the salmon from 
the fishing site.

OSM Conclusion Support

Yukon/Kuskokwim 
Delta Regional Council 
Recommendation

Support

Western Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation Support

Seward Peninsula Regional 
Council Recommendation Support

Eastern Interior Regional 
Council Recommendation Support

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Support

Written Public Comments 2 Support (See Tanana Chiefs Conference memo following the 
analysis of FP13-11)



337Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-02

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-02

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-02, submitted by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Fairbanks Fish and Wildlife Field 
Office, requests a change in the marking of Chinook salmon taken for subsistence purposes in Districts 1, 
2, and 3 on the Yukon River.

DISCUSSION

Marking requirements for Yukon River Chinook salmon were initially adopted by the Federal Subsistence 
Board to be consistent with State regulations current at the time of adoption. However, this marking 
requirement was not changed in response to the State’s action in 2007, and the State and Federal 
regulations currently are inconsistent in regards to Chinook salmon marking requirements in Districts 1, 
2, and 3 on the Yukon River. Changing the Federal marking requirement for Chinook salmon will align 
the Federal regulations with the existing State regulation.

Existing Federal Regulation

Yukon-Northern Area — Salmon (Special Provisions)

§___.27(e)(3)(xx) In Districts 1, 2, and 3, you may not possess Chinook salmon taken for 
subsistence purposes unless the dorsal fin has been removed immediately after landing.

Proposed Federal Regulation

Yukon-Northern Area — Salmon (Special Provisions)

§___.27(e)(3)(xx) In Districts 1, 2, and 3, from June 1 through July 15, you may not possess 
Chinook salmon taken for subsistence purposes unless the dorsal fin has both tips (lobes) of the 
tail fin have been removed immediately after landingbefore the person conceals the salmon 
from plain view or transfers the salmon from the fishing site.

Relevant State Regulations

Yukon-Northern Area — Salmon

5 AAC 01.240. Marking and use of subsistence-taken salmon.

(c) In Districts 1–3, from June 1 through July 15, a person may not possess king salmon taken 
for subsistence uses unless both tips (lobes) of the tail fin have been removed before the person 
conceals the salmon from plain view or transfers the salmon from the fishing site. A person 
may not sell or purchase salmon from which both tips (lobes) of the tail fin have been removed. 

5 AAC 05.377. Unlawful possession of subsistence-taken salmon.

It is unlawful to purchase salmon from which the dorsal fin has been removed as required by 
5 AAC 01.240. Possession of salmon taken for subsistence purposes from which the dorsal fin 



338 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-02

has not been removed is prima facie evidence that the salmon was taken and possessed for 
commercial purposes.

These existing state regulations are inconsistent and could cause diffi culties for Federally qualifi ed 
subsistence users.

Extent of Federal Public Waters

For purposes of this discussion, the phrase “Federal public waters” is defined as those waters described 
under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR 100.3. The Federal public waters addressed by this proposal are those 
portions of the Yukon River located within, or adjacent to, the external boundaries of the Yukon Delta 
National Wildlife Refuge in Districts 1, 2 and 3. 

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations 

For salmon other than fall chum salmon, residents of the Yukon River drainage, and the community of 
Stebbins have a positive customary and traditional use determination. For fall chum salmon, residents 
of the Yukon River drainage, and the communities of Stebbins, Scammon Bay, Hooper Bay, and Chevak 
have a positive customary and traditional use determination.

Regulatory History

In February 2007, the Alaska Board of Fisheries adopted a proposal changing the marking requirement 
for subsistence-taken salmon in Districts 1–3 from removal of the dorsal fin to removal of both tips of 
the tail fin (5 AAC 01.240. Marking and use of subsistence-taken salmon). The rationale cited in the 
subcommittee report was to foster better compliance because marking would be easier, to make the 
regulation consistent with other areas of the state, to clarify when subsistence marking requirements 
would be in place, to use a more sanitary mark, and to discourage subsistence caught fish from entering 
the State’s commercial fisheries. The Federal Subsistence Management Program comment to the Alaska 
Board of Fisheries for that proposal was to support the change. 

Chinook Salmon Subsistence Harvests

Chinook salmon subsistence harvests have been approximately 50,000 fish annually in the Alaskan 
portion of the Yukon River over the past 20 years. However, subsistence harvest levels of Chinook salmon 
have declined since 2007 due to declining run abundance and resultant harvest restrictions. The proposed 
regulatory change to marking will have no effect on the level of harvest.

Effects of the Proposal

This marking requirement change is not expected to alter salmon harvest because subsistence caught fish 
are currently required to be marked. Removal of both tips of the tail fin should be easier to accomplish 
than removal of the dorsal fin, would not result in any damage to the flesh of the salmon, and would result 
in an easily seen mark that would help discourage sales of subsistence caught salmon to commercial 
buyers.

Currently there are many regulations subsistence users must be aware of on the Yukon River including 
boundaries, methods and means, and season dates. Aligning State and Federal marking requirements 
regulations will provide a modest reduction in regulatory complexity. 



339Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-02

OSM CONCLUSION

Support Proposal FP13-02.

Justification

By aligning Federal salmon marking requirements with existing State requirements, regulatory 
complexity will be modestly reduced and subsistence harvest of salmon will not be affected. Adoption 
of this regulation will not impose any additional burden on Federally qualified subsistence users since 
they are already required to mark the salmon they take. In fact, the new marking requirement may make 
marking salmon easier and more sanitary.



340 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-02

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATIONS

YUKON KUSKOKWIM-DELTA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support.

Justification: The Council was in agreement with OSM’s conclusion.

WESTERN INTERIOR ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support.

Justification: The proposed action will make it easier for subsistence users to not have to follow 
regulations that are conflicting with the state. 

SEWARD PENINSULA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support.

Justification: Simplifying salmon marking requirements by making the State and Federal requirements 
the same would ease regulatory burden on subsistence users. 

EASTERN INTERIOR ALASKA SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Support.

Justification: The Council expressed that aligning Federal salmon marking requirements with existing 
State requirements would reduce regulatory complexity, making it easier on subsistence salmon 
harvesters. The Council concurred with the OSM analysis that adoption of this regulation is not 
anticipated to impose any additional burden on Federally qualified subsistence users since they are 
already required to mark the salmon they take. The council viewed this action as an easy housekeeping 
item and voted to support it unanimously.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



341Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-02

ADF&G Comments on FP13-02 
Page 1 of 3 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-02:  Revise the marking requirement for subsistence-caught Chinook 
salmon in Yukon River Districts 1, 2, and 3 from removal of the dorsal fin immediately after 
landing to removal of both tips (lobes) of the tail fin before the person conceals the salmon from 
plain view or transfers the salmon from the fishing site.  
 
Introduction:  This proposal, submitted by the U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service (Service) Fairbanks 
Field Office, seeks to revise the marking requirement for subsistence-caught Chinook salmon in 
Yukon River districts 1, 2, and 3.   
 
Federal marking requirements for Yukon River Chinook salmon were initially adopted to be 
consistent with state regulations current at the time.  However, due to an oversight, this 
requirement was not amended in follow-up to the state’s 2007 action.  Changing the federal 
marking requirement at this time will bring this regulation back in line with the state regulation.   
 
Impact to Subsistence Users:  If this proposal is adopted, the marking requirement change is 
not expected to alter salmon harvest because subsistence-caught fish are still required to be 
marked.     
 
Yukon River subsistence users are required to be aware of many regulations, including 
boundaries, equipment, and season dates.  Aligning state and federal marking requirements in 
regulation will alleviate burden to subsistence users by reducing regulatory complexity between 
federal and state management. 
 
Impact to Other Users:  If this proposal is adopted, it will also simplify commercial fish buying 
operations by reducing the variety of fish markings crews must look for when accepting 
deliveries. 
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  Salmon may be harvested under state regulations throughout 
the majority of the Yukon River watershed, including a liberal subsistence fishery.  Gear types 
allowed are gillnet, beach seine, hook and line attached to a rod or pole, handline, and fish wheel.  
Although all gear types are not used or allowed in all portions of the Yukon River drainage, drift 
and set gillnets, and fish wheels harvest the majority of fish taken for subsistence uses.  Under 
state regulations, subsistence is the priority consumptive use.  Therefore, state subsistence 
fishing opportunity is directly linked to abundance and is not restricted unless run size is 
inadequate to meet escapement needs.  When the Yukon River Chinook salmon run is below 
average, state subsistence fishing periods may be conducted based on a schedule implemented 
chronologically throughout the Alaska portion of the drainage, which is consistent with 
migratory timing as the salmon run progresses upstream.  Federal regulations under Special 
Actions to restrict federally-eligible users have been rare and mirrored the state inseason actions 
necessary to meet escapement goals, except where state and federal regulations differ in 
subdistricts 4-B and 4-C.  Amounts reasonably necessary (ANS) for subsistence Chinook salmon 
(5AAC 01.236 (b)), as determined by the Alaska Board of Fisheries (BOF), have not been met in 
the Yukon River drainage the last four years. 



342 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-02

ADF&G Comments on FP13-02 
Page 2 of 3 

 
In February 2007, the BOF adopted a similar action in regulation 5 AAC 01.240(c). Marking and 
use of subsistence taken salmon:  In Districts 1-3, from June 1 through July 15, a person may not 
possess king salmon taken for subsistence uses unless both tips (lobes) of the tail fin have been 
removed before the person conceals the salmon from plain view or transfers the salmon from the 
fishing site.  A person may not sell or purchase salmon from which both tips (lobes) of the tail 
fin have been removed. 
 
The rationale cited in the BOF committee report was to foster better compliance because 
marking would be easier.  The regulation would be consistent with other areas of the state, it 
clarified when subsistence marking requirements would be in place, and it was thought to be a 
more sanitary mark that was still needed for enforcement to discourage subsistence-caught fish 
from entering the state’s commercial fisheries.  The Federal Subsistence Management Program 
comment to the BOF at the time was in support of the proposed change 
 
Conservation Issues:  The Yukon River Chinook salmon stock is currently classified as a yield 
concern.  Subsistence harvest levels have not reached the ANS the last four years (2008–2011).  
A majority of the Yukon River drainage escapement goals have been met since 2000, including 
the Chena and Salcha rivers, which are the largest producers of Chinook salmon in the U.S. 
portion of the drainage.  The agreed-to escapement objective for the Canadian mainstem was met 
every year from 2001 through 2006, with 2001, 2003, and 2005 being the three highest spawning 
escapement estimates on record.  However, the escapement objective for the Canadian mainstem 
was not met in 2007, 2008, and 2010.  Exploitation rate on the Canadian-origin stock by Alaskan 
fishermen has changed from an average of about 55% (1989–1998) to an average of about 44% 
from 2004–2008 (Howard et al. 2009)1.  Although the subsistence harvest was stable at nearly 
50,000 Chinook salmon annually through 2006, the recent five-year average (2007–2011) was 
43,900.  Commercial harvests have decreased over 90% from an average of 100,000 annually 
(1989–1998) to the recent five-year average (2007–2011) of nearly 9,700 fish. 
 
Enforcement Issue:  None noted at this time. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  The Federal Subsistence Board does not have authority to regulate the 
nonfederally-qualified users participating in fisheries on waters outside of federal subsistence 
jurisdiction.  While standing on state and private lands (including state-owned submerged lands), 
persons must comply with state law and cannot harvest under conflicting federal regulations.   
Enforcement difficulties and user confusion -- concerning where and how federal regulations that 
are different than state regulations apply -- will result unless detailed maps and explanations 
specific to the area are provided. 
 
Other Issues:  (1) Maps are needed showing the specific boundaries and areas where federal 
regulations are claimed to apply, along with providing the justification for claiming those 
boundaries; (2) A large percentage of the lands along the Yukon River are state or private lands 

                                                 
1 Howard, K. G., S. J. Hayes, and D. F. Evenson.  2009.  Yukon River Chinook salmon stock status and action plan 
2010; a report to the Alaska Board of Fisheries.  Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Special Publication No. 09-
26, Anchorage. 
 



343Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-02

ADF&G Comments on FP13-02 
Page 3 of 3 

where federal subsistence fisheries are not authorized to occur; (3) The federal board does not 
have authority to supersede state commercial and subsistence fisheries regulations unless a full 
closure is required for conservation purpose within water of claimed federal jurisdiction; and 4) 
Changes to state commercial and subsistence fisheries must be submitted to the BOF for 
coordination.  
 
Recommendation:  Support.  In February 2007, the BOF adopted a similar action in regulation 
5 AAC 01.240.  Marking and use of subsistence taken salmon.  Changing the federal marking 
requirement at this time will bring the Federal regulation back in line with the state regulation 
and be less confusing to the public. 
 
 



344 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

FP13-12 Executive Summary
General Description Proposal FP13-12 was submitted to clarify the location and method 

of traditional and historic subsistence salmon harvest in the Chignik 
Area and align State and Federal regulations. In addition, the 
proponent wishes to exclude rod and reel as a gear type for Federal 
subsistence harvest to prevent conflict with the sport users and 
resource management. Submitted by Bruce Barrett on behalf of 
Chignik Regional Aquaculture Association

Proposed Regulation §__.27 (e)(8) (vi) You may take salmon by seines, gillnets, rod and 
reel, or with gear specified on a subsistence fishing permit, except 
that in Chignik Lake, Chignik River from Mensis Point upstream to 
Chignik Lake you may not use purse seines, and you may not take 
salmon using gillnet or seine upstream of a point 1 mile from the 
stream mouth in both Home Creek and Clark River. Also, you may 
not take salmon using gillnet or seine in all other Chignik Lake 
tributaries, and in Black River and its tributaries, Black Lake, and 
Black Lake tributaries. Further, you may not take salmon at any 
time within 300 feet of the Chignik River weir or in the Chignik 
River upstream of the Chignik River weir from July 1 through 
August 31. You may not use purse seines. You may also take salmon 
without a permit by snagging (by handline or rod and reel), using a 
spear, bow and arrow, or capturing by bare hand except within 300 
feet of the Chignik River weir, in the Chignik River upstream of the 
weir from July 1 through August 31, and upstream of a point 1 mile 
from the stream mouths of both Clark River and Home Creek.

OSM Conclusion Oppose

Bristol Bay Regional Council 
Recommendation Oppose

Interagency Staff Committee 
Comments

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a 
thorough and accurate evaluation of the proposal and that it provides 
sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and 
Federal Subsistence Board action on the proposal.

ADF&G Comments Oppose

Written Public Comments None



345Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

STAFF ANALYSIS
FP13-12

ISSUES

Proposal FP13-12, was submitted by Bruce Barrett on behalf of Chignik Regional Aquaculture 
Association (CRAA), to clarify the location and method of traditional and historic subsistence salmon 
harvest in the Chignik Area and align State and Federal regulations. In addition, the proponent wishes to 
exclude rod and reel as a gear type for Federal subsistence harvest to prevent conflict with the sport users 
and resource management.

DISCUSSION

The proponent requests several changes to existing Federal regulatory language; some of the proposed 
language restates existing regulatory language without changing its intent. The proponent requests the 
area upstream of Mensis Point be closed to the taking of salmon with purse seines. This area is under both 
State and Federal jurisdiction (Map 1). As proposed, the restrictions on power purse seine gear in Chignik 
River from Mensis Point upstream would exclude only Federally qualified subsistence users from the area 
under Federal subsistence fisheries jurisdiction. State subsistence users would be allowed to fish in both 
Federal public waters and State waters within this area. The proponent also requests several restrictions 
that already exist under current Federal regulations: 1) closing Home Creek and Clark River one mile 
from the stream mouth; 2) restricting gillnets and seines in Chignik Lake tributaries, Black River and its 
tributaries, Black Lake and its tributaries; 3) closing fishing within 300 feet of the Alaska Department 
of Fish and Game (ADF&G) weir; and 4) closing salmon fishing from July 1 through August 31 in the 
Chignik River upstream of the weir and upstream of a point one mile from the stream mouths of both 
Clark River and Home Creek. Finally, the proponent requests that rod and reel gear be prohibited in the 
Chignik River, in order to exclude a method used in sport fishing. Federal regulations currently allow 
snagging (by handline or rod and reel) in the Chignik Area.

Existing Federal Regulations

§__.27 (e)(8) Subsistence taking of fish: Chignik Area 

(i) You may take fish other than salmon, rainbow/steelhead trout, or char at any time, except 
as may be specified by a subsistence fishing permit. For salmon, Federal subsistence fishing 
openings, closings and fishing methods are the same as those issued for the subsistence taking of 
fish under Alaska Statutes (AS 16.05.060), unless superseded by a Federal Special Action. If you 
take rainbow/steelhead trout incidentally in other subsistence net fisheries, you may retain them 
for subsistence purposes. 

(ii) You may not take salmon in the Chignik River, from a point 300 feet upstream of the ADF&G 
weir to Chignik Lake from July 1 through August 31. You may not take salmon by gillnet in Black 
Lake or any tributary to Black or Chignik Lakes. You may take salmon in the waters of Clark 
River and Home Creek from their confluence with Chignik Lake upstream 1 mile.

(A) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may take salmon by gillnet under the 
authority of a State permit. 



346 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

FP
12

-1
3 

M
ap

 1

A
la

sk
a 

Pe
ni

ns
ul

a 
N

at
io

na
l W

ild
lif

e 
R

ef
ug

e
Fe

de
ra

l S
ub

si
st

en
ce

 F
is

he
rie

s 
Ju

ris
di

ct
io

n
Ex

cl
ud

ed
 S

al
tw

at
er

 A
re

a

0
2.

5
5

7.
5

1.
25

M
ile

s
A

re
a 

of
 d

et
ai

l

M
en

si
s 

Po
in

t

H
um

e 
Po

in
t

Pi
le

ra
ck

 P
oi

nt

Clar
k R

ive
r

Home C
ree

k



347Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

(B) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may take salmon by snagging 
(handline or rod and reel), spear, bow and arrow, or capture by hand without a permit. The daily 
harvest and possession limits using these methods are 5 per day and 5 in possession. 

(iii) You may take salmon, trout, and char only under the authority of a subsistence fishing permit. 

(iv) You must keep a record on your permit of subsistence-caught fish. You must complete the 
record immediately upon taking subsistence-caught fish and must return it no later than October 
31.

(v) If you hold a commercial fishing license, you may only subsistence fish for salmon as specified 
on a State subsistence salmon fishing permit. 

(vi) You may take salmon by seines, gillnets, rod and reel, or with gear specified on a subsistence 
fishing permit, except that in Chignik Lake, you may not use purse seines. You may also take 
salmon without a permit by snagging (by handline or rod and reel), using a spear, bow and arrow, 
or capturing by bare hand. 

(vii) You may take fish other than salmon by gear listed in this part unless restricted under the 
terms of a subsistence fishing permit. 

Proposed Federal Subsistence Regulations

§__.27(e)(8) Subsistence taking of fish: Chignik Area 

(i) You may take fish other than salmon, rainbow/steelhead trout, or char at any time, except 
as may be specified by a subsistence fishing permit. For salmon, Federal subsistence fishing 
openings, closings and fishing methods are the same as those issued for the subsistence taking of 
fish under Alaska Statutes (AS 16.05.060), unless superseded by a Federal Special Action. If you 
take rainbow/steelhead trout incidentally in other subsistence net fisheries, you may retain them 
for subsistence purposes. 

(ii) You may not take salmon in the Chignik River, from a point 300 feet upstream of the ADF&G 
weir to Chignik Lake from July 1 through August 31. You may not take salmon by gillnet in Black 
Lake or any tributary to Black or Chignik Lakes. You may take salmon in the waters of Clark 
River and Home Creek from their confluence with Chignik Lake upstream 1 mile.

(A) In the open waters of Clark River and Home Creek you may take salmon by gillnet under the 
authority of a State permit. 

(B) In the open waters lower 1 mile of Clark River and Home Creek you may take salmon by 
snagging (handline or rod and reel), spear, bow and arrow, or capture by hand without a permit. 
The daily harvest and possession limits using these methods are 5 per day and 5 in possession. 

(iii) You may take salmon, trout, and char only under the authority of a subsistence fishing permit. 

(iv) You must keep a record on your permit of subsistence-caught fish. You must complete the 
record immediately upon taking subsistence-caught fish and must return it no later than October 
31.



348 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

(v) If you hold a commercial fishing license, you may only subsistence fish for salmon as specified 
on a State subsistence salmon fishing permit. 

(vi) You may take salmon by seines, gillnets, rod and reel, or with gear specified on a subsistence 
fishing permit, except that in Chignik Lake, Chignik River from Mensis Point upstream to 
Chignik Lake you may not use purse seines, and you may not take salmon using gillnet or 
seine upstream of a point 1 mile from the stream mouth in both Home Creek and Clark River. 
Also, you may not take salmon using gillnet or seine in all other Chignik Lake tributaries, and 
in Black River and its tributaries, Black Lake, and Black Lake tributaries. Further, you may 
not take salmon at any time within 300 feet of the Chignik River weir or in the Chignik River 
upstream of the Chignik River weir from July 1 through August 31. You may not use purse 
seines. You may also take salmon without a permit by snagging (by handline or rod and reel), 
using a spear, bow and arrow, or capturing by bare hand except within 300 feet of the Chignik 
River weir, in the Chignik River upstream of the weir from July 1 through August 31, and 
upstream of a point 1 mile from the stream mouths of both Clark River and Home Creek.

(vii) You may take fish other than salmon by gear listed in this part unless restricted under the 
terms of a subsistence fishing permit. 

Existing State Subsistence Regulation

5AAC 01.470 Lawful gear and gear specifications: Chignik Area

(a) Salmon may be taken by seines and gillnets, or with gear specified on a subsistence fishing 
permit, except that in Chignik Lake salmon may not be taken with purse seines. A gillnet may not 
be set, staked, anchored, or otherwise fixed in a stream while it obstructs more than one-half of 
the width of the waterway and any channel or side channel of the waterway. 

5 AAC 01.475. Waters closed to subsistence fishing: Chignik Area

Salmon may not be taken 

(1) from July 1 through August 31, in the Chignik River from a point 300 feet upstream from the 
Chignik weir to Chignik Lake; 

(2) in Black Lake, or any tributary to Black Lake or Chignik Lake, except the waters of Clark 
River and Home Creek, from each of their confluences with Chignik Lake to a point one mile 
upstream. 

5 AAC 01.480. Subsistence fish permit: Chignik Area

(a) Salmon, trout and char may only be taken under the authority of a subsistence fishing permit.

(b) Not more than 250 salmon may be taken for subsistence purposes unless otherwise specified 
on the subsistence fishing permit.

(c) A subsistence fisherman shall keep a record of the number of subsistence fish taken by that 
subsistence fisherman each year. The number of subsistence fish taken shall be recorded on the 
reverse side of the permit. The record must be completed immediately upon landing subsistence-



349Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

caught fish, and must be returned to the local representative of the department by December 31 of 
the year the permit was issued.

State Sport Fishing Regulations

5 AAC 65.010. Fishing seasons for Alaska Peninsula and Aleutian Islands Area

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this section and 5 AAC 65.051, sport fishing is permitted year 
round in the Alaska Peninsula and Aleutian Islands Area.

(b) King salmon may be taken in fresh waters only from January 1 through July 25, except that 
king salmon may be taken in the Chignik River from January 1 through August 9.

5 AAC 65.020. Bag limits, possession limits, and size limits for Alaska Peninsula and 
Aleutian Islands Area

(a) Except as otherwise provide in this section, bag limits, possession limits, and size limits for 
finfish and shellfish in the Alaska Peninsula and Aleutian Islands Area are as follows:

Species: (1) king salmon: in fresh waters: 20 inches or greater in length, 2 per day, 2 in 
possession; 5 fish annual limit; harvest record is required as specified in 5 AAC 75.006; less than 
20 inches in length, 10 per day, 10 in possession; no annual limit. (2) other salmon: 5 per day, 5 
in possession, no size limit.

Extent of Federal Public Waters

For purposes of this discussion, the phrase “Federal public waters” is defined as those waters described 
under 36 CFR 242.3 and 50 CFR 100.3. Federal public waters within the Chignik Management Area 
include all waters within or adjacent to the Alaska Peninsula National Wildlife Refuge, Aniakchak 
National Monument and Preserve, and Alaska Maritime National Wildlife Refuge. Chignik Lake, Chignik 
River, Black Lake, Clark River, and Home Creek are all within the boundary of the Alaska Peninsula 
National Wildlife Refuge. As such, the Federal Subsistence Management Program has responsibility and 
jurisdiction to provide for subsistence uses for Federally qualified users (Alaska Peninsula and Chignik 
Areas Map 9).

Customary and Traditional Use Determinations

Residents of the Chignik Area which include the communities of Perryville, Chignik Bay, Chignik 
Lagoon, Chignik Lake, and Ivanof Bay, have a customary and traditional use determination to harvest 
salmon in the Chignik Area. Ivanof Bay has no residents at present.

Regulatory History 

Prior to 2005, the Chignik River was closed to subsistence salmon fishing by both State and Federal 
regulations ( 5 AAC 01.475, §100.27 (e)(8)(ii)). In response to reports that subsistence users had difficulty 
harvesting enough salmon to meet their needs, the Alaska Board of Fisheries, at its fall 2004 meeting, 
adopted a proposal to open the Chignik River to subsistence fishing. To protect spawning Chinook 
salmon, a closure was maintained from a point 300 feet upstream of the ADF&G weir to Chignik Lake 
for July 1 through August 31. During its January 2006 meeting, the Federal Subsistence Board adopted 
a similar proposal (FP06-08) to align Federal subsistence regulations with State regulations by allowing 



350 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

Federal subsistence users to harvest salmon in Chignik River. The Federal Subsistence Board also adopted 
the July 1 to August 31 closure 300 feet upstream of the weir to protect spawning Chinook Salmon.

To allow additional harvest of late season sockeye salmon and provide a means to harvest an occasional 
fresh salmon for immediate consumption, the Alaska Board of Fisheries, at its 2008 meeting, adopted a 
proposal to open Clark River and Home Creek upstream to one mile from their confluence with Chignik 
Lake (ADF&G 2008). Both the Clark River and Home Creek had traditionally been used by a small 
number of subsistence users. Opening the rivers above their confluences permitted additional subsistence 
fishing opportunity while still protecting spawning salmon. 

In 2008, Bristol Bay Regional Advisory Council submitted Proposal FP09-11, which sought to align 
Federal and State subsistence regulations by allowing Federally qualified subsistence users to fish for 
salmon in Clark River and Home Creek upstream one mile from their confluence with Chignik Lake. 
The Federal Subsistence Board adopted the regulatory change with an amendment at its January 2009 
meeting. The amendment allowed the harvest of salmon in Clark River and Home Creek one mile 
upstream from their confluences with Chignik Lake without a permit when snagging (using handline 
or rod and reel), or when using spear, bow and arrow, or capture by hand. To address concerns over 
harvesting without a permit, the Federal Subsistence Board further modified the regulation to include a 
daily harvest and possession limit of 5 salmon per day and 5 in possession when snagging (handline or 
rod and reel), or using spear, bow and arrow, or capture by hand. 

During the 2011 regulatory cycle, the Chignik Lake Traditional Council submitted parallel proposals to 
the Alaska Board of Fisheries (Proposal 96) and the Federal Subsistence Board (Proposal FP11-10). The 
proponents sought to liberalize fishing areas and methods and means to take salmon for subsistence in the 
Chignik Area. The Federal Subsistence Board took action on Proposal FP11-10 during its January 2011 
meeting, but the Alaska Board of Fisheries took no action on Proposals 96 at its January 2011 meeting. 
The Federal Subsistence Board adopted the proposal with modification. The modified proposal opened 
Black Lake and its tributaries and the tributaries to Chignik Lake to Federal subsistence fishing, but 
prohibited the use of gill nets in those areas with the exception of the lower one mile of Home Creek and 
Clark River. These closures were kept in place because of a conservation concern for resident species 
in Black Lake and its tributaries; public testimony indicated gillnets have not been traditionally used 
in Black Lake and its tributaries (FSB 2001:401). During deliberations the Federal Subsistence Board 
elected to keep the Chignik River between the weir and Chignik Lake closed to Federal subsistence 
fishing from July 1 through August 31 to protect spawning Chinook salmon. 

Harvest History

Residents of the Chignik Area take salmon through subsistence, commercial, and sport fishing 
opportunities with seines, gillnets, and/ or rod and reel. In a 2003 ADF&G subsistence survey, 
information collected by gear type documented that subsistence nets or seines accounted for 74% of all 
subsistence salmon harvested, rod and reel or hook and line gear accounted for 8%, and retention from 
commercial harvests accounted for 18%. While subsistence nets or seines are the preferred method of 
harvest for most salmon species in the Chignik Area, the survey documented only 9% of the Chinook 
salmon harvest was taken by this method. Most Chinook salmon were harvested by rod and reel (26%) 
or retained from the commercial harvest (65%), which is directed at sockeye salmon. Chignik Lagoon 
residents sport fish using rod and reel to harvest Chinook salmon in Chignik River as well as the outlet 
into the lagoon (Hutchinson-Scarbrough et al. 2010). In interviews conducted by ADF&G subsistence 
staff, some respondents indicated that although they had sport fishing licenses and king salmon stamps, 
they consider this fishing to be subsistence fishing (Hutchinson-Scarbrough et al. 2010).



351Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

A subsistence permit is required for subsistence salmon fishing [Appendix A], with an annual limit of 250 
salmon per permit. ADF&G has conducted post-season subsistence harvest surveys to collect Chignik 
Area harvest information from households since 1976 (ADF&G 2005). The purpose of the surveys was 
to collect harvest information from households that do not obtain or return permits and to add late season 
harvest information not recorded on permits. The information collected on the surveys was used to 
adjust harvest estimates. Due to budget constraints, post-season surveys were not conducted in 2010 and 
2011, so harvest estimates for those years are based only on returned permits. Comparisons of historic 
household survey data and permit data for 1984 and 1989 suggested that permit data underestimated 
subsistence harvest in the Chignik Area subsistence salmon fisheries (Hutchinson-Scarbrough and Fall, 
1996). This led to local outreach effort by local vendors and ADF&G staff, resulting in more reliable 
estimates of total harvest in recent years (Hutchinson-Scarbrough et al. 2010). In 2010, the subsistence 
salmon harvest was estimated at 8,148 fish (Table 1), which was above both the recent 5 and 10 year 
averages (Anderson and Nichols, 2012). Sockeye salmon comprised most of the harvest. The 2011 
Chignik Area subsistence harvest estimate is not available yet. 

Biological Background

All five species of salmon spawn in the Chignik Area, but most of the harvests for both subsistence 
and commercial fisheries are typically comprised of sockeye salmon (Anderson and Nichols 2012). 
Salmon escapement is monitored at a site in the lower Chignik River using a weir and associated video 
equipment, while spawner distribution is documented through aerial surveys of the drainage. The 
Chignik River drainage produces most of the sockeye salmon in the Chignik Area, and the spawning 
population consists of both an early and late run. Since the Chignik River weir is not operated throughout 
the duration of the late run, which extends into September, total escapement has been estimated using 
time-series analysis. ADF&G has set separate sustainable escapement goals for these runs (early run: 
350,000–400,000 sockeye salmon; late run: 200,000–400,000 sockeye salmon) as well as in-river run 
goals to support subsistence fishing for the late run (August: 25,000 sockeye salmon; September: 25,000 
sockeye salmon). No escapement goals have been set for individual tributaries or lakes within the system. 
While sockeye salmon also spawn within other Chignik Area systems, their numbers are relatively small 
(less than 1,000 sockeye salmon are usually counted during aerial surveys), and no escapement goals have 
been set.

In 2011, the total escapement into the Chignik River system was 753,817 sockeye salmon, and was 
comprised of 488,930 early-run and 264,887 late-run sockeye salmon (Anderson and Nichols, 2012). The 
2011 early-run escapement was above the ten-year 2001–2010 average of 412,279 sockeye salmon, while 
the 2011 late-run escapement was below the 2001–2010 average of 314,170 sockeye salmon. Both 2011 
escapements either exceeded or were within the desired escapement goal ranges. 

Within the Chignik River system, sockeye salmon spawn in Chignik Lake and its tributaries and Black 
Lake and its tributaries. Aerial surveys of Black Lake and its tributaries have documented concentrations 
of early-run spawning sockeye salmon in the Alec River. The most recent five-year average escapement 
estimate for sockeye salmon in Black Lake tributaries (220,540) has been less than either the ten- 
(224,644) or twenty- (293,397) year averages (Anderson and Nichols 2012). Due to sedimentation, 
Black Lake is declining in volume and dissolved oxygen levels over the winter months have been low 
(Westley et al. 2010). This has reduced the capacity of Black Lake to rear juvenile salmon, and a portion 
of the juveniles produced in Black Lake has been migrating to Chignik Lake to rear (Westley et al. 2010, 
Simmons 2009). This is thought to be a factor contributing to greater fluctuations observed in adult 
returns. Although spawning and rearing conditions have been changing due to sedimentation of Black 
Lake, no conservation concerns have been identified for either run.



352 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

Year Issued Returned Chinook Sockeye Coho Chum Pink
1977 NA NA 50 9700 2400 600 1800
1978 NA NA 50 6000 500 600 2100
1979 NA NA 14 7750 34 0 262
1980 82 37 6 12475 32 169 478
1981 29 7 0 2049 0 0 0
1982 59 15 3 8532 12 0 2
1983 32 21 0 3078 1319 850 1250
1984 77 64 23 8747 464 204 330
1985 59 48 1 7177 50 25 26
1986 74 38 4 10347 205 77 98
1987 NA NA 10 7021 278 204 261
1988 80 34 9 9073 1455 142 54
1989 68 23 24 7551 384 147 81
1990 72 23 103 8099 210 115 470
1991 95 58 42 11483 13 81 275
1992 98 19 55 8648 709 145 305
1993 201 141 122 14710 3765 642 1265
1994 219 122 165 13978 4055 382 1720
1995 111 95 98 9563 1191 150 723
1996 119 104 48 7357 2126 355 2204
1997 126 103 28 13442 2678 840 2035
1998 104 72 91 7750 1390 186 1007
1999 106 88 243 9040 1679 136 1191
2000 130 112 163 9561 1802 517 1185
2001 135 122 171 8633 1859 213 2787
2002 120 86 74 10092 1401 23 390
2003 146 127 267 10989 2256 286 1597
2004 104 57 88 7029 1981 202 1047
2005 119 100 224 8171 2112 353 730
2006 113 79 259 8079 1539 275 1035
2007 128 83 84 10191 1936 165 996
2008 89 69 41 7189 877 57 619
2009a 95 82 104 6785 1174 137 707

2010a 124 90 188 8148 1820 222 656
NA = Data not available

Permits Estimated Subsistence Harvest

Table 1. Number of subsistence permits issued and returned. Estimated subsistence salmon
harvest by spieces and year from 1977 through 2010. (Modified from Anderson 2012 and
Hutchinson Scarbrough 2010).

a From 1993 through 2008, postseason household surveys were conducted to supplement
harvest data collected through returned permits. Limited budgets prevented administering
the surveys for 2009 and 2010, likely resulting in an underestimate of subsistence harvests.



353Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

The Chignik River supports the largest Chinook salmon run in the Chignik Area, and the run extends from 
about mid-June to late August with a peak in mid-July. ADF&G has set a biological escapement goal of 
1,300–2,700 Chinook salmon for this run (Anderson and Nichols 2012). The 2011 escapement of 2,728 
Chinook salmon was slightly above the upper bound of the escapement goal range, although subsistence 
and sport harvests estimates are yet to be calculated (Anderson and Nichols 2012). The 2011 escapement 
was below the 2001–2010 ten-year average of 3,993 Chinook salmon. 

Coho salmon spawn in drainages throughout the Chignik Area, and runs extend from mid-August through 
November (Anderson and Nichols 2012). In 2011, 5,293 coho salmon were counted through the Chignik 
River weir, which was lower than the ten-year 2001–2010 average of 12,821. Annual counts for the 
period 2001–2010 have ranged from 103 to 37,113 coho salmon. Late season aerial surveys are used to 
estimate coho salmon abundance and incremental weather can affect the accuracy of the estimates. Since 
the run is often still increasing when the weir is dismantled for the season, time-series analysis cannot 
usually be used to estimate the total run. Due to the late season timing and limited direct effort, ADF&G 
has not set an escapement goal for the Chignik River coho salmon run. While aerial surveys have been 
used to monitor escapements into other systems within the Chignik Area, the total number counted is 
usually less than 2,000 coho salmon. ADF&G considers coho salmon runs to be at sustainable levels in 
the Chignik Area.

Both pink and chum salmon spawn in drainages throughout the Chignik Area, and runs generally reach 
their peak abundance in August (Anderson and Nichols 2012). While both species are counted at the 
Chignik River weir, most spawning is scattered among numerous drainages monitored by aerial surveys. 
Pink salmon runs can vary greatly in abundance between odd- and even-years, and ADF&G has set 
area-wide sustainable escapement goals of 200,000 to 600,000 pink salmon for even years and 500,000 
to 800,000 pink salmon for odd years. For the period 2001–2011, the number of pink salmon counted 
through the Chignik River weir has ranged from 1,464 to 22,341 for odd-years and from 2,243 to 22,341 
for even-year runs (Anderson and Nichols 2012). In 2011, the area-wide escapement was estimated to be 
986,248 pink salmon. For chum salmon, the number counted through the Chignik River weir has ranged 
from 48 to 408 for the period 2011–2010. ADF&G has set an area-wide sustainable escapement goal of 
57,400 chum salmon. In 2009, the area-wide escapement was estimated to be 278,145 chum salmon, 
which was well above the escapement goal.

Current Events Involving Species

Due to low Chinook salmon counts at the Chignik River weir, the Chinook salmon sport fishery was 
restricted on July 12, 2012 (ADF&G 2012e). Sport fishing for Chinook salmon 20 inches and greater was 
limited to catch-and-release only and bait was prohibited in the entire Chignik River drainage downstream 
to Mensis Point. The closure remained in place until August 9 when the sport fishery was closed by 
regulation. Chignik River weir Chinook salmon passage was estimated at 1,449 fish for 2012, which falls 
above the lower end of the biological escapement goal (ADF&G 2012a). Other drainages on the Alaska 
Peninsula (Sapsuk River Drainage) and Kodiak Island ( Karluk and Ayakulik river drainages) are also 
experiencing low Chinook salmon returns possibly indicating an area wide decrease in Chinook salmon 
production (ADF&G 2012b, ADF&G 2012c, ADF&G 2012d).

Effects of the Proposal

If adopted, this proposal would not allow purse seine gear use by Federally qualified subsistence users in 
the Chignik River from Mensis Point upstream while continuing to allow harvest with purse seine gear 
under State subsistence regulations. Adoption of this proposal also would not allow Federally qualified 
subsistence users to use rod and reel, which is currently a legal gear type under Federal subsistence 



354 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

regulations. These restrictions would unnecessarily decrease harvest opportunities currently available 
to Federal subsistence user in the Chignik Area since there are no conservation concerns that cannot be 
addressed through in-season management actions. Other proposed regulation changes are unnecessary 
because they restate language in the current regulations. 

OSM CONCLUSION

Oppose Proposal FP13-12 

Justification

Restricting subsistence users from harvesting fish with a rod and reel would be an unnecessary restriction 
to existing fishing practices and would decrease current Federal subsistence opportunities for residents of 
the Chignik Area. Under current Federal subsistence regulations, rod and reel is a recognized method of 
harvesting subsistence fish. Currently in the Chignik Area, Federally qualified subsistence users harvest 
salmon using rod and reel in areas open to fishing under State sport fishing regulations. Restricting 
subsistence users from harvesting fish with a rod and reel would be an unnecessary restriction to existing 
fishing practices and would decrease current Federal subsistence opportunities for residents of the 
Chignik Area. 

If adopted Federal subsistence users would be more restricted than State subsistence and sport users. 
While most of the area upstream of Mensis Point is under Federal subsistence fisheries jurisdiction, the 
remaining area is under State jurisdiction. Restricting the use of purse seine gear in the Chignik River 
from Mensis Point upstream restricts only those harvesting under Federal subsistence regulations in 
Federal waters. Those fishing under State subsistence regulations still would be permitted to harvest fish 
throughout the area. Closing the portion of this area under Federal subsistence fisheries jurisdiction to 
purse seine gear would decrease Federal subsistence opportunities for residents of Chignik Area. 

The other proposed changes already exist in current Federal regulations and are not needed. 

LITERATURE CITED 

ADF&G. 2005. Alaska Subsistence Fisheries 2003 Annual Report. Alaska Department of Fish and Game, Division 
of Subsistence, Juneau, AK.

ADF&G. 2008. Staff comments on subsistence, personal use, and commercial finfish regulatory proposals for 
the Chignik Management Area. Proposal 23, January 2008. ADF&G Division of Subsistence, Sport Fish and 
Commercial Fisheries. Juneau, AK.

ADF&G. 2010. Alaska Sport Fishing Regulations Summary. Alaska Peninsula and Aleutian Islands ~Fresh Waters. 
<http://www.sf.adfg.state.ak.us/Static/Statewide/regulations/kodiak/ALEUTfresh.pdf>. Retrieved June 1, 2010.

ADF&G. 2012a. Sport Fish Count Data Search http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/sf/FishCounts/index.cfm?ADFG=main.
LocSelectYearSpecies, Retrieved October 1, 2012.

ADF&G, 2012b. Sport Fishing Emergency Order No. 2-KS-4-02-12, Kodiak, AK. March 21, 2012. 

ADF&G, 2012c. Sport Fishing Emergency Order No. 2-KS-4-02-12, Kodiak, AK. March 21, 2012.

ADF&G, 2012d. Sport Fishing Emergency Order No. 2-KS-4-40-12, Kodiak, AK. June 28, 2012.

 ADF&G, 2012e. Sport Fishing Emergency Order No. 2-KS-4-40-12, Kodiak, AK. July 12, 2012.



355Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

Alaska Legal Resource Center. 2010. 5 ACC 01.475. Waters closed to subsistence fishing. Internet: <http://www.
touchngo.com/lglcntr/akstats/aac/title05/chapter001/section475.htm>. Retrieved: June 8, 2012.

Anderson, T.J., and N.W. Nichols. 2012. Chignik Management Area Salmon and Herring Annual Management 
Report, 2011. ADF&G, Fishery Management Report No. 12-18, Anchorage, AK.

BBRAC. 2008. Transcripts of the Bristol Bay Regional Advisory Council proceedings, March 25, 2008 in 
Dillingham, Alaska. Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK. 

FSB. 2011. Transcripts of the Federal Subsistence Board proceedings, January 20, 2011 in Anchorage, Alaska. 
Office of Subsistence Management, FWS. Anchorage, AK.

Hutchinson-Scarbrough, L, T., Lemons, J.A. Fall, D. Holen, and L. Olson. 2010. Chignik area subsistence salmon 
fisheries research report to the Alaska Board of Fisheries, January 2011. ADF&G, Division of Subsistence. Special 
Publication No. BOF 2010-06, Anchorage, AK.

Hutchinson-Scarbrough, L, B., and J. A. Fall. 1996. An Overview of Subsistence Salmon and Other Subsistence 
Fisheries of the Chignik Management Area, Alaska Peninsula, southwestern Alaska. ADF&G, Division of 
Subsistence. Technical Paper No. 230. Juneau. AK.

Morris, J.M. 1987. Fish and Wildlife Uses in Six Alaska Peninsula Communities: Egegik, Chignik, Chignik Lagoon, 
Chignik Lake, Perryville, and Ivanof Bay. ADF&G Division of Subsistence. Technical Paper No. 151. Juneau, AK.

Simmons, R.K. 2009. The stock-specific patterns of rearing by juvenile sockeye salmon (Oncorhynchus nerka) 
under a changing landscape in the Chignik Lake system, Alaska. Master’s Thesis. School of Aquatic and Fishery 
Sciences. University of Washington. Seattle, WA.

Westley, P., Schindler, D., Quinn, T., Ruggerone G., and R. Hilborn. 2010. Natural habitat change, commercial 
fishing, climate, and dispersal interact to restructure and Alaskan fish metacommunity. Oecologia 163: 471–484.



356 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL RECOMMENDATION

BRISTOL BAY SUBSISTENCE REGIONAL ADVISORY COUNCIL

Council Recommendation: Oppose.

Justification:  Primarily, this proposal would be detrimental to the satisfaction of subsistence needs.  
Many subsistence users prefer to use rod and reel, particularly when they want to limit the amount of 
salmon taken.  This proposal would cause a hardship on those users, and could potentially lead to over-
harvest by eliminating a method that allows for selective harvest.

INTERAGENCY STAFF COMMITTEE COMMENTS

The Interagency Staff Committee found the staff analysis to be a thorough and accurate evaluation of 
the proposal and that it provides sufficient basis for the Regional Council recommendations and Federal 
Subsistence Board action on the proposal.



357Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12



358 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

ADF&G Comments on FP13-12 
Page 1 of 5 

Alaska Department of Fish and Game 
Comments to Federal Subsistence Board 

 
Fisheries Proposal FP13-12:  Revise salmon methods & means for the lower 1 mile of the 
Clark River and Home Creek and the Chignik River from Mensis Point upstream to Chignik 
Lake.  
 
Introduction:  The Chignik Regional Aquaculture Association submitted this proposal seeking 
to eliminate the use of the following gear types: 

 rod and reel in the lower one mile of Clark River and Home Creek; and eliminate the use 
of rod and reel in Chignik Lake;  

 rod and reel, purse seines, gillnets, or seines in the Chignik River from Mensis Point 
upstream to Chignik Lake;  

 purse seines, and gillnet or seine for salmon upstream of a point one mile from the stream 
mouth in both Home Creek and Clark River;  

 gillnet or seine for salmon in all other Chignik Lake tributaries, and in Black River and 
its tributaries, Black Lake, and Black Lake tributaries; and  

 take of salmon without a permit by rod and reel  within 300 feet of the Chignik River 
weir, in the Chignik River upstream of the weir from July 1 through August 31, and 
upstream of a point 1 mile from the stream mouths of both Clark River and Home Creek. 

 
The proposal states further that:  salmon may not be taken at any time within 300 feet of the 
Chignik River weir or in the Chignik River upstream of the Chignik River weir from July 1 
through August 31. 
 
Impact on Subsistence Users:  If adopted as proposed, federally-qualified subsistence users 
would be allowed to subsistence fish in the Chignik River watershed, with the exception of the 
above mentioned exclusions. 
 
Impact on Other Users:  If this proposal is adopted it will restrict or prohibit sport and 
recreational users from using rod and reel in the above mentioned areas. Adoption of this 
proposal (amended or otherwise) could have significant impacts on other users, particularly 
anglers but potentially the commercial fishery. Additional inriver harvesting (either documented 
or perceived) of king salmon by subsistence fishers is likely to result in more conservative 
inseason management of the sport fishery in order to ensure escapement objectives are met, 
which at least occasionally will result in decreased sport fishing opportunity. Likewise, concern 
over achievement of the king salmon escapement goal as a result of increased inriver harvest 
may impact  status quo management of the commercial salmon fishery in Chignik Bay. 
 
Opportunity Provided by State:  Gillnets and purse seines are allowable gear under state 
subsistence regulations.  The State of Alaska provides a subsistence preference on all lands and 
provides liberal salmon subsistence fisheries on the Alaska Peninsula.  Subsistence fisheries in 
the Chignik area provide an annual household limit of 250 fish, and subsistence fishermen can be 
authorized to take more, if needed.  For the Chignik area subsistence salmon fishery, gear types 
allowed include gillnets and seines, except purse seines may not be used in Chignik Lake.  
Gillnets may be used in Clark River and Home Creek one linear mile upstream from their 



359Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

ADF&G Comments on FP13-12 
Page 2 of 5 

confluences with Chignik Lake.  Additional gear types can be added to the state subsistence 
permit (5 AAC 01.470).1 
 
State subsistence permits for each management area carry stipulations specific to that area, such 
as timing restrictions to separate subsistence and commercial fishing, gillnet length limits in 
areas open to commercial fishing, and waters closed to subsistence fishing.  Commercial salmon 
license holders and Commercial Fisheries Entry Commission (CFEC) salmon permit holders in 
this area may subsistence fish for salmon during a commercial salmon fishing period 
(5AAC01.485), but may not subsistence fish 12 hours before or 12 hours after each commercial 
fishing period.  Commercial salmon license holders and CFEC permit holders in the Chignik 
Management Area that subsistence fish in Chignik Lagoon, Chignik Lake, or Chignik River are 
required to contact department staff at the Chignik weir in order to separate the reporting of 
subsistence and commercial harvests. 
 
The Alaska Board of Fisheries (BOF) established a combined amount reasonably necessary for 
subsistence (ANS) for communities in the Alaska Peninsula area as 34,000–56,000 salmon 
annually.  The combined ANS for the Chignik Area (Chignik Bay and the Central and Eastern 
districts of the Chignik Management Area) is 7,700–14,250 salmon annually.  Liberal state 
subsistence fisheries are allowed on all lands (state, federal, and private), so adoption of this 
proposal is not necessary to provide a meaningful subsistence opportunity.  
 
Conservation Issues:  No salmon stocks on the Alaska Peninsula are currently listed as “stock 
of concern” by the BOF.  Recent late-run sockeye salmon returns, which return primarily to 
Chignik Lake and its tributaries, have decreased slightly recently.  If the Federal Subsistence 
Board approves this proposal, but does not require a federal permit, increases in undocumented 
in-tributary exploitation would not be detectable due to the lack of a federal reporting 
requirement.  Significant increases of unreported harvest in Chignik River watershed may lead to 
conservation issues that would not be detected in a timely manner and may require severe fishery 
restrictions when detected. 
 
The July 1 through August 31 subsistence fishery closure was established by the BOF in Chignik 
River many years ago to prevent inadvertent harvest and harassment of spawning Chinook 
salmon.  Reopening the Chignik River to subsistence fishing with gillnets would have immediate 
impacts on the Chinook salmon population that spawns in approximately 80% of the 1.8 river 
miles that extends from the outlet of Chignik Lake downstream to the department’s Chignik weir 
and near the outlet of Chignik Lake.  Chinook salmon have not been found to habitually transit 
beyond Chignik Lake.  
 
The Federal Subsistence Board recently liberalized allowable methods and means for federal 
subsistence fisheries and eliminated permitting and reporting requirements for federally-qualified 
users who utilize rod and reel, bow and arrow, spear, bare-hand capture, and snagging.  

                                                 
1 5 AAC 01.470. Lawful gear and gear specifications  

(a) Salmon may be taken by seines and gillnets, or with gear specified on a subsistence fishing permit, 
except that in Chignik Lake salmon may not be taken with purse seines. 
 (b) Fish other than salmon may be taken by gear listed in 5 AAC 01.010(a) , unless restricted under the 
terms of a subsistence fishing permit. 



360 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

ADF&G Comments on FP13-12 
Page 3 of 5 

Elimination of permitting and reporting requirements by federally-qualified users causes the 
department serious concern about localized depletion of sockeye salmon stocks in Chignik River 
watershed tributaries, especially if a significant increase of harvest results.  Since the Federal 
Subsistence Board does not monitor the federal subsistence fishery in this area, authorizing 
additional freshwater subsistence fisheries that target unmonitored wild stocks is not consistent 
with principles of sound management and conservation of fish and wildlife resources. 
Three Federal Subsistence Board members discussed their support of proposal FP08-11 at the 
December 2007 meeting because the expected increase in harvest was estimated to be reasonably 
small and the proponent’s intent was to harvest one or two fish at a time (Federal Subsistence 
Board Transcripts, December 20, 2007, pages 228 and 229).  Further discussion by the Federal 
Subsistence Board and Regional Advisory Council chairs also focused on liberalizing federal 
subsistence users’ methods and means to allow for harvests of individual salmon for immediate 
sustenance, while traveling lightly in the course of camping, berry picking, or hunting.  
Discussions did not consider impacts that adoption of FP08-11 would have on sockeye salmon 
stocks within Clark River and Home Creek, because both were closed to federal subsistence 
fishing at the time.  The impacts of cumulative unreported harvests from creeks that are near 
communities and easily accessible were also not considered by the Federal Subsistence Board. 
 
The Federal Subsistence Board approved FP08-11, which liberalized methods and means to 
allow snagging, bare-hand capture, and similar means for light travelers on the Alaska Peninsula 
and eliminated reporting requirements, based on information that suggested the level of harvest 
would be a small number of fish by subsistence users traveling lightly in the field.  During 2008, 
the department received reports of federal subsistence users harvesting their winter supply of 
salmon from these tributaries of concern by federal methods and means and without the benefit 
of permits and harvest reporting.  As stated in objections to FP08-11, the department has serious 
conservation concerns with unreported harvests and the liberalized methods and means.  Those 
concerns increase with consideration of FP09-11 and FP11-10, and the potential of significant 
federal subsistence harvests in Home Creek and Clark River. 
 
Enforcement Issues:  None noted at this time. 
 
Jurisdiction Issues:  While standing on state and private lands (including state-owned 
submerged lands and shore lands), persons must comply with state laws and regulations.  If this 
proposal is adopted, detailed maps are needed that depict land ownership and specific boundaries 
of areas where federal regulations are claimed to apply in order to reduce risk of violation for 
federal subsistence fishermen.  During the December 2007 Federal Subsistence Board meeting, 
Alaska wildlife trooper testimony (Federal Subsistence Board Transcripts December 11, 2007, 
pages 89-91) explained the importance of users understanding and knowing jurisdiction and land 
status.  When an enforcement officer encounters an individual conducting an activity that is 
prohibited by state regulations while standing on state or private lands, including state-owned 
submerged lands, the person may be cited. 
 
Other Issues:  An identical proposal (#96) was submitted to the BOF for consideration during 
the January 16–18, 2011, meeting in Anchorage.  Proposal 96 was supported unanimously by the 
Chignik Advisory Committee, it was supported with modifications by the USFWS/Federal 
Subsistence Management Program, and the BOF voted to take “no action” on this proposal. 



361Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

ADF&G Comments on FP13-12 
Page 4 of 5 

 
A similar Fisheries Proposal (FP)11-10, submitted by the Chignik Lake Traditional Council to 
the Federal Subsistence Board, requested the same changes to federal subsistence fishing 
regulations for the Chignik Management Area as  proposals 95 and 96 brought before the BOF in 
2011.  In addition, FP11-10 requests elimination of the July 1 through August 31 salmon fishing 
closure in the Chignik River from a point 300 feet upstream from the Chignik weir to Chignik 
Lake. 
 
The Federal Subsistence Management Program has stated concern that opening the tributaries of 
Black and Chignik lakes to subsistence salmon fishing with nonselective fishing gear types, such 
as gillnets, could potentially result in unsustainable harvests of other, nontarget, species (for 
example, Dolly Varden/char).  These other species may be more susceptible to overfishing than 
the more abundant salmon species, but fishing effort is expected to be low.  If either of these 
proposals is adopted, harvest of nontarget species would need to be monitored to ensure they 
remain within sustainable limits. 
 
Alaska Statute 16.05.258. 'Subsistence Use and Allocation of Fish and Game', defines a 
subsistence priority for state-managed fisheries in the context of resource abundance (and not the 
context of parity based on geographic location of fishing effort) and also directs the Board of 
fisheries when adopting regulations to provide a "reasonable opportunity" for subsistence use. 
There are numerous examples under both state and federal regulations where 'reasonable 
opportunity' is provided for subsistence use without also matching the open waters boundaries of 
subsistence fishing with those of angling (e.g., all freshwaters of Afognak Island are closed to 
state/federal subsistence but open to sport fishing).  The Department cautions the board to avoid 
confusing “priority use” with “reasonable opportunity” as it considers this proposal. 
 
The Bristol Bay Federal Subsistence Regional Advisory Council (Council) met  
September 23, 2010, and recommended to support FP11-10 with modifications, including  
retaining the July 1 through August 31 closure of the Chignik River.  The Council recommended 
opening these areas to subsistence use, and pointed out that these areas are already open to sport 
fishing.  Finally, the Council was concerned about the potential need of multiple or dual 
federal/state permits and preferred seeing the same changes in both federal and state regulations, 
if possible, to avoid the need for separate/dual permits. 
 
The Office of Subsistence Management (OSM) staff recommendation to the Federal Subsistence 
Board is to support FP11-10 with modifications including but not limited to:  1) opening the 
areas of Black Lake and its tributaries to subsistence fishing, but excluding the use of gillnets 
and seine gear; 2) removing the requested restriction for using "hook and line" gear in the 
Chignik River; 3) retaining the existing July 1 through August 31 fishing closure in the Chignik 
River above the ADF&G weir; and 4) retaining the prohibition of purse seine (both power and 
hand) in Chignik Lake. 
 
The Federal Subsistence Board considered FP11-10 during its January 19–21, 2011, meeting in 
Anchorage and approved it as modified by the Regional Advisory Council [ 
The 300-foot closure upstream of Chignik River weir was established for safety reasons and to 
prevent interference with weir operations; this closed area should be retained.   The July 1 



362 Federal Subsistence Board Meeting

FP13-12

ADF&G Comments on FP13-12 
Page 5 of 5 

through August 31 subsistence fishery closure in Chignik River was established to protect 
spawning Chinook salmon and these closure dates should be retained.  The Department 
recommends against adopting gillnets as a legal gear type for federal subsistence fishing in Black 
Lake and Chignik River because opening these tributaries to subsistence salmon fishing with 
nonselective fishing gear types such as gillnets could potentially result in unsustainable harvests 
of other nontarget species (for example, Dolly Varden/char).  
 
Recommendation:  Oppose.   
 
 


